SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND

REGISTRY: Brisbane
NUMBER: 3383 of 2013

Applicants: RAYMOND EDWARD BRUCE AND
VICKI PATRICIA BRUCE
AND
First Respondent: LM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LIMITED

{(ADMINISTRATORS APPOINTED)
ACN 077 208 461 IN ITS CAPACITY AS
RESPONSIBLE ENTITY OF THE LM FIRST
MORTGAGE INCOME FUND
AND

Second Respondent: THE MEMBERS OF THE LM FIRST

MORTGAGE INCOME FUND
ARSN 089 343 288

GINETTE DAWN MULLER, Chartered Accountant and Official Liquidator, care of FTI
Consulting (Australia) Pty Ltd, 22 Market Street, Brisbane in the State of Queensland,

states on oath:

1. I am a Chartered Accountant and Official Liquidator. I am a senior
Managing Director of FII Consulting (Australia) Pty Ltd. John Richard Park and

I were appointed administrators of the First Respondent (“LMIM”) on 19 March, 2013.
LMIM is the Responsible Entity of the LM First Mortgage Income Fund ARSN 089 343

288 (“the EMI Fund”).

)
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2. I make this Affidavit also on behalf of Mr Park.

3. Now produced and shown to me and marked “GDM1” — “GDM14” is an
indexed and paginated bundle of documents referred to in more detail in this

Affidavit.

4, The Applicants, Mr and Mrs Bruce, are the registered holders of 144,514
units, which they acquired on 17 November, 2004. There are approximately 5,172
unit holders (with husbands and wives and other joint holders counted as one
holder). There are a total of 488,000,231 units on issue. Mr and Mrs Bruce therefore

hold 0.029% of the units on issue.

5. The Applicant Mr Shotton is recorded as holding 270,741 units,

representing 0.055% of the units on issue.

6. Moreover, there are three unit holders in the FMI Fund, which are known
as feeder funds, the sole assets of which are units in the FMI Fund. The Applicants’
proposed temporary Responsible Entity is Trilogy Funds Management Limited
(“Trilogy”). It is the holder of approximately 20% of the units in the FMI Fund, in its
capacity as Responsible Entity of the LM Wholesale First Mortgage Income Fund (“the

Wholesale Fund”). There are approximately 232 members of the Wholesale Fund.

7. The other two feeder funds are the LM Institutional Currency Protected
Australian Income Fund, of which there are approximately 40 unit holders. Finally,
there is the LM Currency Protected Australian Income Fund, in which there are

approximately 2,656 investors, mostly resident overseas. LMIM is Responsible Entity

of both of those feeder funds.
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Application for Adjournment

8. I understand that the Applicanis intend to serve a further Affidavit (by

Ms Banton). At the time of swearing this Affidavit, I have not seen any further
material from the Applicants, apart from the Affidavit of Mr Bruce. This Affidavit will,
therefore, need to be supplemented, once I and Mr Park have had an opportunity to

read, consider and respond to the Applicants’ evidence.

9. Piper Alderman did not serve on LMIM the proceedings they instituted in
the Federal Court of Australia on 12 April, 2013. I am not aware of the reason why

these proceedings were commenced and discontinued and not served.

10. Piper Alderman filed the present proceedings on 15 April, 2013 but did not
serve the Originating Application and the Affidavit of Mr Bruce until Friday afternoon,
19 April, 2013. Iam not aware of any reason why these proceedings were not served

promptly.

11. 1 understand that the Constitution of the FMI Fund and the Corporations
Act make provision for meetings of members when any members wish to change the

Responsible Entity of the FMI Fund.

12. Given the serious consequences of the proceedings, I and our solicitors
immediately consulted officers of Australian Securities and Investments Commission
in the week of 22 April, 2013. Mr Park and I are anxious not only to protect the
interest of members in relation to the current proceedings (as to the possible
replacement of LMIM as Responsible Entity), but also to ensure that our conduct and
that of LMIM was, to the extent possible, satisfactory to ASIC, A meeting was
convened and took place on Tuesday afternoon, 23 April, 2013, attended by me and
Ms Dunn from my office, our solicitors and senior officers of ASIC including

Ms Gubbins and Ms Hayden.
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13. Mr Park and I then immediately discussed the matter. We also sought legal

and other business advice.

14. On 25 April, 2013, Mr Park and I resolved on behalf of LMIM to convene a
meeting of members of the FMI Fund to permit them to consider and, if thought fit,
replace LMIM as Responsible Entity with Trilogy Fund Management Limited. At least
one of the advantages of such a proposal will be that Trilogy (which is a member of
the FMI Fund, in its capacity as Responsible Entity for the LM Wholesale First
Mortgage Income Fund) which holds 19.98% of the units in the FMI Fund, will be

able to atte1_1d and address the meetiilg, answer questions, and vote.

15. I understand that Trilogy could itself have convened a meeting of members
(since it holds more than 5% of the units in the FMI Fund). I do not know why it

chose not to do so.

16. Further, Mr Park and I have been discussing with ASIC a proposal for
undertakings to meet any concerns of ASIC and any (bona fide) concerns of members

in relation to the conduct of this Fund.

17. The Notice of Meeting and accompanying documents are marked “GDM1”

and are at pages 1 to 12 of my exhibits.

18. As appears from the Notice of Meeting we have convened the meeting of
members to take place on Thursday, 30 May, 2013. I and Mr Park were conscious
that although the meeting could have been convened a little more quickly, on only 21
days notice, we wished to afford Trilogy sufficient time for it to secure a copy of the
Register of Members and to post to the members whatever materials it wishes, to

advocate its case for it becoming the Responsible Entity of the FMI Fund.

“
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19. I refer also to the order of de Jersey CJ made on 12 April, 2013, whereby
His Honour extended the time for the administrators to convene the second meeting
of creditors of LMIM until 25 July, 2013. As appears from the material supporting
that Application, these matters are complex. Mr Park and I simply needed more time
to make proper investigations into the affairs of LMIM, this Fund, and the other
managed investment schemes of which it is Responsible Entity. The written
submissions of Mr Sullivan SC and Ms Muir relied upon on that occasion is marked
“GDM2", are at pages 13 to 21 of my exhibits. The Application for the order
extending the convening period is marked “GDM3”, are at pages22 to 25 of my

exhibits.

20. I believe His Honour the Chief Justice accepted these propositions and

submissions when he extended the time for the convening period.

21. Mr Park and I are engaged on a detailed investigation of the affairs of
LMIM and of the FMI Fund; and indeed of the other Funds of which it is Responsible
Entity. Although it is difficult to be precise about these things, my present expectation
is that we will not require the whole of the three months period the subject of the
Chief Justice’s extension order, and that we may be able to conclude our
investigations and convene meetings of creditors within two months — by the end of
June or perhaps into early July. This assumes we are not distracted by further

litigation.

Assets not in Jeopardy

22. I am not aware of any substantial transactions or decisions that must be
taken in respect of any of the assets of the FMI Fund between now and early to
mid-June, 2013. The principat assets of the FMI Fund are loans to companies and

other entities, secured, for the most part, by first registered mortgage. The assets so

mortgaged in favour of the FMI Fund comprise:- ﬂ
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(a) Vacant land the subject of development proposals:

(b} Completed or partially completed residential developments;

(©) Commercial properties;

(d) Operating Retirement Villages;

(e) Completed and partially completed industrial and retail developments.
23. A schedule summarising the nature of those assets and briefly recording

their current position, entitled “Briefing: FMIF Summary” is marked “GDM4” are at

pages 26 to 34 of my exhibits.

24, There are no current offers from any person interested in acquiring any of
the en globo assets. 1 am not aware of any circumstances which would cause me to
think that any of the larger and more valuable properties might be the subject of an
offer for purchase in the next several weeks. There are residential units and blocks of
vacant land that are for the sale in the ordinary course but that process has been
underway for years, in the ordinary course of the business of the FMI Fund and are

listed with real estaie agents vey familiar with that stock and the market.

25. I have also made inquiries of all relevant FII staff and the staff of LM
Administration. 1 am not aware of any time limits which might expire in relation to
conditions of Development Approvals or the like; nor of any circumstances of which
time-limits might expire in the next several weeks, for taking action in respect of any

of the trust properties.

26. There are no securities held by LMIM as RE of the FMI Fund, in respect of
which I intend to make any insolvency appointment, to enforce such securities in the
next several weeks. The great majority of loans are in default and action has already
been taken — well prior to the appointment of us as Administrators — to take control of

and, where appropriate, to sell the properties the subject of the syﬁﬁes_ha‘gl by the
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FMI Fund. On our appointment, Mr Park and I reviewed those arrangements and

they are substantially satisfactory to us.

Trilogy’s Australian Financial Services Licence (“AFSL")

27. LMIM holds AFSL number 220281, It is marked “GDMS5”, are at pages 35
to 60 of my exhibits.
28. Upon our appointment as Administrators of LMIM, Mr Park and

I consulted ASIC and on 9 April, 2013, ASIC decided to suspend LMIM's AFSL but
also to take action under section 915H of the Act, to provide that the AFSL continued
in effect as though the suspension had not happened, for certain specified purposes.
ASIC’s Notice, dated 9 April, 2013, setting out the conditions of the continued
subsistence of the AFSL for LMIM is marked “GDMé”, are at pages 61 to 69 of my

exhibits.

29. My solicitors have obtained from the records of ASIC and the AFSL held by
Trilogy, which is AFSL number 261425. It is marked “GDM?7”, are at pages 70 to 93 of
my exhibits. In the course of its business, the FMI Fund, and its feeder funds,
including the CPAI Fund, have engaged in foreign currency transactions and hedge
transactions. Hedges are in place for a defined period (eg 3 months, 6 months, a
defined date), but generally less than one year. They are hedging the spot rate that

the investor swapped their domestic currency into AUD at the time of investment.

30. Because the investment may not be returned for quite a period (eg 3/4/5
years) these hedges must be rolled periodically as the contracts expire to maintain the
original hedge position. As an example:-

(a) Investor A invests EUR70,000 at an exchange rate of 0.7000EUR =

1.0000AUD.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

31.

The FMI Fund hence receives AUD 100,000 from this investor (say, in
June, 2012);

LM then takes out an BUR70,000 hedge contract at AUD1,000 =EUR.07000
expiring 31 Dec 2012 and subsequently rolls this contract to 30th

June, 2013 (still at EUR0.7000).

If the fund is paying AUD5,000 in capital back to the Investor A at end
June, 2013, this would be partially delivered against the hedge and
EUR3,500 paid to the investor (ie AUD5,000 converted at 0.7000 =
EUR3,500).

The balance of the hedge (EUR66,500) is then rolled for a further period
(ideally to match the next capital distribution if known, or otherwise to a

selected date).

This process of rolling and drawing down on the hedge is ongoing over a

period until all of the capital has been repatriated to the investor. With the downward

changes in unit value in EMIF, we also have to adjust the hedges as they are rolled to

reflect the new unit value - so if the unit value declines by 40%, the value of the

hedges outstanding in the above example would similarly be reduced by 40%.

32.

I have prepared a table in respect of the active hedge transactions in

relation to the EMI Fund. Therefore, the table below shows the active hedges with

AFEX (AIF) & HIFX (AIF & FMI Fund).

CPAIF

371

20

Solicitor/



33. The 20 active hedge contracts held by the FMI Fund are subject to an
agreement between LMIM and AFEX and HIFX, extracts of which is marked “GDM8”
are at pages 94 to 100 of my exhibits. LMIM obtained an AFSL from ASIC to
authorise it to engage in foreign exchange trading and derivatives trading.

I understand that Trilogy’'s AFSL contains no such authority.

Assertions of Conflict

34. I understand that the applicants intended to submit that some conflict of
duty and interest, or a conflict of some other kind subsists in relation to the company
LMIM, and the FMI Fund. No one has articulated any such conflict and it is,

therefore, impossible for me and Mr Park to respond.

35. I am, however, aware of assertions by Piper Alderman and Trilogy to the
effect that I and or other members of staff of FTII have some relationship with the

former directors of LMIM. I regret to say that those statements are utterly untrue.

36. The first occasion on which anyone from FTI had any dealings with anyone
from LMIM was on 8 March, 2013, when we received a phone call from Ms Mulder

inquiring about the possibility of us taking some kind of appointment. FTI have never
previously acted for or given any professional advice to LMIM or any of its directors or

other associates, concerning the affairs of LMIM or any of the LM Punds.

37. In October, 2012, KMQ Insolvency Pty Ltd sold its business to FII
Consulting Australia Pty Ltd. Up to that time, I and my colleagues had carried on
practice under the name “KordaMentha (Qld)” pursuant to an Affiliation Agreement
with KordaMentha Pty Ltd. Whilst carrying on practice under that name, the same
position applies — none of us who now work for FII, had any professional or other

business dealings with anyone from LMIM, its directors or any associated companies.
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38. Ironically, Piper Alderman’s other client, KordaMentha Pty Ltd, did have
prior dealings with LMIM and the Managed Performance Funds on bebalf of a bank;

but I do not apprehend that to be relevant to the present application.

39. Statements are made on the Piper Alderman website asserting
apprehension that Mr Park and I will be on “both sides of the fence” when we come to
adjudicate on Proofs of Debt in LMIM. With great respect to Ms Banton, 1 do not

understand this contention.
40. I refer in this regard to paragraphs 18 to 21 of the Affidavit of Mr Bruce.

4]. I do not believe that, in making the statements that Mr Bruce attributes to
me, 1 said or conveyed that Mr Park and I have finally decided that none of the
members of the FMI Fund can prove in the insolvent administration of LMIM.

Mr Park and I do not hold and have never held that view.

42, In the external administration of companies and other bodies, shareholders
and other equity holders - such as the members of the FMI Fund - often seek to
prove, in those external adminisirations, and to vote at meetings of creditors for those
purposes. This is a familiar issue. In relation to companies, the status of such claims is
now dealt with by section 563A of the Corporations Act 2001 —~ commonly referred to

as the Sons of Gwalia amendments.

43, Those provisions are, as I understand the position, confined to Proofs of
Debts by shareholders in companies and do not extend to Proofs of Debt by members
of a Managed investment Scheme in the external administration of Corporate

Responsible Entities of such Schemes.
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44. Mr Park and I conceive that our role in dealing with every Proof of Debt -
whether lodged by a member of the EMI Fund or not — is to consider the Proof of Debt
on its merits and to make a just estimate on the claims made in the Proof of Debt. I
such claims are either not quantified in the Proof of Debt or do not contain
information from which a just estimate can be made, my practice, and I believe a wide
spread practice in the profession, is to admit such persons to vote, but to assign $1.00
value to their proofs of debt for the purposes of attending, speaking at and voting at
meetings of creditors. That was the position on 2 April, 2013; since no member had
lodged a proof of debt articulating any particular claim of this nature. We admitted all
of them to vote, but only for $1.00, since none had articulated any claim for any

greater sum.

45, Before the creditors of LMIM meet, Mr Park and I will take legal advice on
any Proofs of Debt which are out of the ordinary. This is standard practice. If

Ms Banton’s clients lodge Proofs of Debt seeking to vote and participate in the meeting
of creditors of LMIM, I expect that we will take legal advice on the amounts such

_ persons might be admitted to vote. All proofs of debt will be looked at on their Imerits.

46. I refer to paragraph 20 of Mr Bruce’s affidavit. I may have said to

Ms Palmer of Piper Alderman that the administrators had determined that financial
advisors seeking payments of commission were creditors of LMIM. Idid not intend to
convey — and do not believe that I did convey — that Mr Park and I had made a final
decision on that matter. However, it does appear to me that advisors who have claims
for unpaid commission are creditors of LMIM who would be admitted to vote at
meetings of its creditors. The fact that LMIM incurred such obligations in its own
right, or in carrying out its duties as responsible entity of the FMI Fund, is irrelevant —
the debtor is LMIM. It may or may not have a right of indemnity against Scheme

assets.

)
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LM Administration Pty Ltd (“LM Administration”)
47. My investigations to date, including the various financial staternent

exhibited to the atfidavit of Mr Bruce, have led me to believe that LM Administration:-

{a) Is and has only ever been a service company;

{b) Does not hold and has never held property assets;

(c) Is not and has never been a developer;

(d} Has never had any creditors, apart from its employees, and the ATO for

PAYG remittances, and the various superannuation funds for those

employees, for superannuation guarantee payments.

48. I and my staff have prepared a statement of position in respect of LM
Administration as at 19 March, 2013, which is marked “GDM9” are at pages 101 to
103 of my exhibits and 30 April, 2013 which is marked “GDM10” are at pages 104 to
106 of my exhibits. I believe they are reasonably accurate summaries of the financial
position of LM Administration of the date of appointment of Administrators. The

position has not substantially changed since 19 March, 2013.

49. Thus, it appears to me that LM Administration has no creditors, aside from
the staff I have mentioned, and that wages and other payments due to other

employees are up to date.

50. The exception I mentioned is that the Statement of Position contains
entries for substantial advances to entities associated with Mr Drake, a former director

of LMIM.

51. Y have not yet established the basis on which those funds were advanced to

Mr Drake and those entities; that is a matter that is currently under investigation.

]
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52. Neither Mr Park nor I, nor anyone else at FII has any connection to
Mr Drake. There is no impediment in pursuing him or those entities in respect of

those payments. We have made demands for repayment.

53. I refer to paragraph 16 and in particular to subparagraph 16.10 of

Mr Bruce’s Affidavit. I do not understand the reference to the LM Administration
owing the FMI Fund “approximately $5.7 million in prepaid management fees”.

I believe that Mr Bruce {or whoever prepared his affidavit) has subtracted the sum of
$2,470,000 from $8,209,841 at page 181 of his exhibits. However, the small sum was
recorded as owing to LM Administration and the larger as owing by another entity

altogether, Australian International Investments.

54. However, I do not believe that any such transactions between the two
companies would give rise to a conflict of duty and interest, at least in the
circumstances presently known to us if only because the state of the account js not
controversial - if management fees had been “pre-paid”, then provided LM
Administration continues to render its services to 30 June, 2013, I would tentatively

be of the view that the pre-payment as at 30 June, 2012 would cease to have any

significance.

55. In any event, LM Administration has never held any property assets and, if
it acquired cash in advance which ought to be refunded to FMI Fund, then we as
administrators would be in a position to pursue other assets of LM Administration —
predominantly the sums that appear to be due from Mr Drake and his entities — with
which we have never had any connection and in pursuing which we have had no

difficulty.

56. LM Administration has minimal cash assets and indeed LMIM has been

funding its operations for quite some time. In any event, any such pre-payment has
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now reduced to nil — as at 30 April, 2013, the balance of cash on hand in LM

e Administration had been reduced to approximately $50,000.

57. It very frequently occurs in practice that the same external administrators

are in office in respect of companies in a group (either a formal or an informal group),
w and there have been loan or other transactions between them. Ido not regard the fact
that an entity in the LM Funds Group has advanced monies to another entity in the
LM Funds Group, as necessarily giving rise to such an acute conflict of duty and duty,
or of duty and interest that the administrators must not continue in office as the

administrators of each entity.

o 58. I acknowledge of course that circumstances may develop so that there is a
L controversy so acute that the potential for such conflict would then require us to

either seek the appointment of other administrators or to approach the court for

directions. No such circumstances presently exist.

Lo 59. I emphasise that this is a tentative view, because I have not received
! i material from the applicants (Ms Banton’s affidavit) in which the facts allegedly giving

rise to these asserted conflicts are set out.

LM Managed Performance Fund
- : 60. LMIM is no longer the trustee of the LM Managed Performance Fund and
» I therefore understand that any potential for conflict in respect of that Fund'’s

o relationship with the FMI Fund has ceased.

Deed of Company Arrangement (DOCA)?
61. None of the directors of LMIM or of LM Administration have had any

discussions with me or Mr Park concerning any proposal for a DOCA. No other

person has made any such proposal. / W

Solicitor/Bassister Justice-of tite Peace
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62. As presently advised, I do not expect that any person will make a proposal
for a DOCA. This is principally because most of the assets in the group of entities
under our administration are held in registered managed investment schemes; and
LMIM itself holds few assets and has few, if any, external creditors. I understand that
LMIM holds those assets for the principal purpose of satisfying the net tangible asset

requirements of its AFSL.

Complexity and Volume of Material
63. I refer to Mr Park’s affidavit filed in the proceeding BS2859 of 2013, in

support of our application for an extension of the convening period.

64. I do not propose to repeat what is said there. I add, however:-
(a) There are over 2,400 archived boxes of records in storage;
(b) LM Administration has provided all of the managerial, administrative and

secretarial services to the various Schemes;

{c) LM Administration currently has approximately 42 employees (and will be
looking to make retrenchments where appropriate;

(d) There is not an easily identifiable grouping of staff, or documents, whereby
the documents and information in relation to the individual funds can
easily be separated; |

(e) On the contrary, there is very considerable overlap amongst staff and
documentation, and the filing system within LM Administration, which
would make it practically exceedingly difficult for a hand-over to a new

Responsible Entity, should that occur.

65. I am not contending that it would be impossible to hand-over all
documents and information; rather, that that would be a costly me-consuming
exercise.

Solicitor/ Baﬁsferﬂtrsti‘(té‘é‘f‘tﬁé’?lf&te




66. Even if LMIM ceases to be Responsible Entity of the FMI Fund, in my view,
Mr Park and I may still need to investigate the affairs of the FMI Fund for the purposes
of our report to the creditors of LMIM. Iam conscious of the provisions of section
601FS of the Act, whereby, for the most part, the liabilities of an outgoing
responsibility are transferred to an incoming Responsible Entity. However, liabilities
of an outgoing Responsible Entity that are not the subject of indemnity irom Scheme
Property are not transferred to the new Responsible Entity. At this stage, it is not
known whether there are or would be any such liabilities. I note, however, that Piper
Alderman are investigating some kind of class action into the “demise of the Fund”,
but that is the extent of any information that has been given to me and Mr Park in

relation to such claims.

Material Published by Trilogy and Piper Alderman
67. A bundle of emails and other material circulated by Piper Alderman and by

Trilogy appear at pages is marked “GDM11” are at pages 107 to 121 of my exhibits.

68. LMIM wishes to contend that numerous statements in that material are

either false or misleading.

Financial Condition of Trilogy
69. 1 have obtained from my solicitors various documents that they have

obtained by searching the registry of this Honourable Court and ASIC.

70. It appears that Trilogy was sued in a trial recently concluded before
Applegarth J. It has made provision in its financial statements as at 30 June, 2012, for

a contingent liability of $81 million in the event that it fails in that litigation.
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71. More recently, the Scheme of which Trilogy is the Responsible Entity,
Pacific Mortgage Fund, has made identical provision in its six monthly financial

statements to 31 December, 2012.

72. The documents from the Supreme Court proceedings is marked “GDM12”
are at pages 122 to 240 of my exhibits. The documents from ASIC is marked

“GDMI13" are at pages 241 to 302 of my exhibits.

73. Immediately that litigation and contingent liability came to our notice,

Mr Park and I retained Mr Hellen of Pilot Partners, an official liquidator experienced
in these matters, to provide an opinion based on the material presently available as to
the finandial condition of Trilogy and in particular whether, if it suifers a judgment in

that litigation, it will be able to continue as a going concern.

74. Having reviewed the documents provided to Mr Hellen (including the
audited financial statements of Trilogy itself), and Mr Hellen's report, I believe that if
Trilogy suffers a judgment in that litigation, it will be unable to pay that debt (it being
presumably immediately due and payable) and indeed will have very considerable
difficulty paying the debt in full, even if given a protracted period of time to pay such a

debt.

75. I also refer to Ms Copley’s atfidavit in this regard, which shows that Trilogy
is party to numerous facility agreements and securities. I apprehend that if it suffers a
judgment to the extent of $81 million, there is a real prospect that those secured

creditors will move against Trilogy.

LMIM Itself

76.
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conscious of any circamstances that gives rise to any conflici in relation to the

= company.

Summary of Present Position

77. Mr Park and I have taken legal advice on these proceedings. I apprehend

: that based on the present state of Applicants’ evidence, and our searches and enquiries
to date, the matters of fact that will need to be resolved in the present proceedings

Ll include the following:-

i (a) Whether the Application is brought for a collateral purpose;

. (b) The financial stability of the proposed temporary Responsible Entity,

r : Trilogy;

. (c) Whether the conduct of Piper Alderman and/or Trilogy, in their

;L i communications with members of the FMI Fund and the financial press,
T has involved false or misleading statements, such that, in the exercise of

the Court’s discretion, it would withhold any relief which it might

otherwise be minded to grant on the Application;

(d) Whether the proposed nominee holds an Australian Financial Services
L 5 Licence that would permit it to act as temporary Responsible Entity;
Lo (e) That a substantial body of members is in favour of the First Respondent
remaining as Responsible Entity;
(f) That a substantial body of members is opposed to Trilogy becoming a
temporary or permanent Responsible Entity;
L ) (2) That if Trilogy is appointed a temporary or permanent Responsible Entity,
there will be a substantial duplication and wastage of costs;
{h) That there are no currently subsisting conflicts of interest issues which the
Applicants, I understand from Ms Banton, wish to agitate, based on claims
in correspondence and in the media, albeit not yet in evidence, which

would justify immediate removal of LMIM as Responsible Entity, before the

meeting;
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(i) Whether the same solicitors - Piper Alderman - intend to represent all of
the following parties at the same time:-
A, Members of the FMI Fund, in litigatidn contemplated against
LMIM, its auditors, its advisors and others associated with what
is said to be “the demise of the FMI Fund”;
B. The new Responsible Entity, Trilogy in similar litigation;
C. The current trustees of the LM Managed Performance Fund;

despite the submissions made to de Jersey CJ on 12 April, 2013;

D. Members of the LM Managed Performance Fund in similar
litigation.
78. All the facts and circumstances deposed to are within my own knowledge

save such as are deposed to from information only and my means of knowledge and

sources of information appear on the face of this my Affidavit.

SWORN by GINETTE DAWN MULLER on 2 May, 2013 at Brisbane iy the presence

of:

Depconent Solicitor/BzFristerFustice-af the Peace
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With respectioa Proposal to appol

“GDM1”

LM FIRST MORTGAGE INCOME FUND
ARSN 089 343 288

NOTICE OF MEETING

- &
EXPLANATORY INFORMATION

nt Trilogy Funds Management Limited

as the responsible entity of the Fund in place of LM Investment
Management Limited (Administrators Appointed)

This notice is issued to Members of the

LM First Mortgage Income Fund
ARSN 089 343 2338

important

important information and requires your immediate attention.

the LM First Mortgage

This Booklet contains

it contains information about a Proposal to change the responsible entity for
income Fund (the Fund)

it should be read in its entirety. If you do not understand the documents in this Booklet or are in doubt
r financial adviser immediately.

as to what you should do, itis recommended you consult you

Your vote is important. The Meeting of Members is to be held at 11.00 am (AEST) on
hartered Accountants, Level 32, Central Plaza

Thursday, 30 May, 2013 at the institute of C
One, 345 Queen Street, Brisbane, Queensland, 4000. if you cannot attend in person,
form to Computershare at the address

please complete and return the enclosed proxy
stated on the proxy form as soon as possible and by the latest 11.00am (AEST) on

Tuesday, 28" May, 2013.

A

'-\coRuua_11unuaa_n1o.dos
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A PROXY FORM IS ENCLOSED WITH THIS BOOKLET. UNLESS YOU WILL ATTEND THE MEETING TO
HAVE YOUR SAY AND TO MAKE YOUR VOTE COUNT YOU NEED TO COMPLETE AND RETURN THE
PROXY FORM.

This Booklet and the Notice of Meeting it contains are dated 26™ April, 2013.

The Mesting is being cailed by LM Investment Management Limited (Administrators Appointed), the current
Manager of the Fund (LM). LM decided to call the Meeting because, following receipt from two unitholders of
an application bﬂmSupmmeCouﬁonueenslandhrngyFmdsMamgememmited(Trﬂogy)m be
appointed as the Manager of the Fund in replacement of LM, and immediate consultations with ASIC, LM
wished to consult Members in the proper forum, with adequate notice.

LM is strongly of the view that it is in the best interests of Members fhat they have the opporfunily to determine
whether or not they wish to remove LM and appoint Triogy. LM aiso wishes to avoid the costs and delay of
multiple Court appearances, perhaps appeals, and muliiple meefings which are the practically inevitable result
of Trilogy's Court application. For example, it is doubdful that the Court has, or will exercise the power fo
appoint a temporary manager. Appeals are possible. This Mesting is considered preferable to a court
determined outcome where there is no meeting, no vote and where, at present, over 99% of Members, by
value, will have no say in the outcome unless they wish to participate in legal proceedings.

Please refer to the following Explanatory Memorandum for general background and additional details as fo
why LM has convened the meeting of Members.



SECTION 1 — NOTICE OF MEETING FOR LM FIRST MORTGAGE INCOME FUND

TAKE NOTICE that a meeting (the Meeting) of Members of LM First Mortgage Income Fund ARSN 089 343
288 will be held at the time, date and place detailed below, or such later time and date as notified to Members,
to consider and vote on the Resolutions in this Notice of Meeting:

Time: 11.00 am (AEST)
Date: Thursday, 30 May, 2013
Place; Institute of Chartered Accountants

Level 32, Central Plaza One
345 Queen Strest, Brisbane, Queensland, 4000

LM Investment Management Limited (Administrators Appointed) (LM) in accordance with Section 2528(1) of
the Corporations Act {Cth) intends to appoint the Chair of the Meeting.

The Chair intends fo vote any undirected proxies appoiniing the Chair as proxy against the Resolutions.
BUSINESS OF MEETING

Resolution 1 — Extraordinary Resolution to remove current responsible entity

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as an exiraordinary resolution:

“That, subject to the passage of Resolution 2, LM Investment Management Limited (Administrators Appointed)
280;[' 077 208 461 be removed as the responsible entity of the LM First Marigage Income Fund ARSN 089 343
Resolution 2 — Extraordinary Resolution o appoint new responsible entity

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as an exiraordinary resolution:

_*That, subject & the passage of Resolution 1, Trilogy Funds Management Limited ACN 080 383 679 be

appointed as the responsible entity of the LM First Mortgage Income Fund ARSN 089 343 288.°
PROXIES

Each Member of LM First Mortgage income Fund has a right fo appoirit a proxy. The proxy does not need to
be a Member. If a Member appoints two proxies, the Member may specify the proportion or number of votes
the proxy is appointed to exercise. :

RECOMMENDATION

LM strongly befieves that the Resolutions are not in Members’ best interests and recommends Members vote
AGAINST the Resolutions which would see Trilogy appointed as Manager of the Fund for the reasons as
outlined in the Notice of Meeting.

Dated 26 April, 2013

Ginetie Muller , John Park

Voluntary Administrator Voluntary Administrator
LM investment Management Limited (Administrators Appointed)



SECTION 2 - EXPLANATORY INFORMATION

21 GENERAL BACKGROUND TO THE RESOLUTIONS

The purpose of the Meeting is for Members to consider a Proposal whereby Trilogy will replace LM as the
Manager of the Fund. -

Each of the Resolutions is considered below.

2.2 BACKGROUND TO RESOLUTIONS 1 AND 2 (REPLACEMENT OF MANAGER)
Resolution 1 seeks to remove LM as the Manager of the Fund.

Resolution 2 seeks to appoint Trilogy as the replacement Manager of the Fund.

Resolutions 1 and 2 are interiinked. Unless both resolutions are approved, neither resolution can be approved.
This means that even if the resolution to remove LM is passed, the resolution falls away if Trilogy is not
appointed as the replacement Manager.

LM has included some publicly available information on Trilogy in section 2.7 below. LM will provide a copy of
the register of Members to Trilogy so that Trilogy can, if they wish, provide further information on the Proposal
to Members. ‘

The date of the scheduled Members’ Meeting is longer than the period required for such meefings by the
Corporations Act. LM has undertaken this action so that Trilogy has ample fime, if it wishes, to provide
information to Members and for Members to consider and make a considered decision on how to vate.

Resolutions 1 and 2 are extraordinary resolutions which require at least 50% of the total votes that may be cast
by eligible Members in the Fund (including Members not present in person or by proxy) to vote in favour in
order for each resolution to be passed. I you are entitied fo vote but do not attend the Meeting and do not
appointapmxytovoteonyombehalf,ﬂ:enyouwiileﬁecﬁvelybemmﬂedashavhgvoted against Resolutions
1and 2.

To vote on the Resolutions, you may either attend the meeting or simply sign and return the enclosed
proxy form. :

The proxy form must be sent to Computershare at the address shown on the form.
2.3 WHY HAS LM ISSUED THE NOTICE OF MEETING?

An application has been made (albeit by only iwo Members) to the Supreme Court of Queensiand with a
request that the Court appoint Trilogy as temporary Responsible Entity of your Fund. The application to
appoint Trilogy was made without any prior consultation or notice by those two Members, or Trilogy or their
lawyers with LM or the Administrators; without any resort to the Complaints Proceduse in the Constitution ; and
without any attempt to call a meeting of Members.

While the Court has power to appoint a temporary Responsible Entity, it is not clear that this power can or
should be exercised in the circumstances refied upon by Trilogy in its Court application, LM is strongly of the
view that it is in the best interests of Members that they have the opportunity to determine whether or not they
wish to remove LM and appoint Trilogy.

Even if Trilogy were to succeed In its application to be appointed temporary Responsible Entity, under the
Corporations Act (Cth) a meeting of Members must within 3 months be called to choose a new Manager. Ifa
new Manager is not chosen then, the Fund is required to be wound up by Trilogy as the temporary responsibie
entity. Thus, in the situation of a court appointment, investors may have no effective cholce as fo whether
Trilogy shouid manage the winding up of the Fund (which is already effectively underway).

Further, in a recent court action involving another Fund managed by LM where there was a proposal to change
the Trustee, the court ordered that the full legal costs of each party to the court proceedings should be met



from the assets of the underlying Fund (even though the lawyers had promised they would not charge thelr
clients).

Thus by calling a meeting to vote on the appointment of Trilogy as a replacement Responsible Entity, LM is
also cognisant that such a move is likely to save significant legal costs for the Fund.

24  WHYLM? ST

The Fund continues fo be managed by LM at the direction of John Park and Ginette Muller as voluntary
administrators.

The LM Group infrastructure and staff, who have extensive knowledge of the Fund and Fund assets, are
engaged by LM and have and will continue to provide ongoing service in relation to investor communication
and asset management.

Among its diverse business segments, FTl is one of the world's leading corporate finance and restructuring
firms with specific expertise in real estate restructuring and advisory. FT! is regularly engaged o provide
services that minimise holding costs and realise distressed real estate assets for the benefit of stakeholders.
Additiona! information can be accessed from its web page (www.fticonsulting-asia.com).

25 DOES LM HAVE THE LICENCE TO MANAGE THE FUND?

Yes. LM holds Australian Financial Services Licence {(AFSL) No 220281 which entities it to continue to
manage the Fund for specific purposes.

As you may be aware, on 9 April, 2013, the Australian Securities & Investments Commission temporarily
suspended LM's AFSL for a period of 2 years. However ASIC allowed LM's AFSL fo continue in effect as
though the suspension had not happened for all relevant provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) so as to
permit LM, under the control of FT1 as Administrators, to remain as the responsible entity of all LM's registered
managed investment schemes for certain purposes which include investigating and preserving the assets and
affairs of, or winding up, LM's registered managed investment schemes.

ASIC's decision to suspend the AFSL but allow LM and FT1 to continue in this way, ensures that FTl as
administrators may perform their statutory and other duties.

LM has, of course, taken legal advice on its position. LM is confident that its AFSL adequately authorises LM
through FTt to coniinue fo control the Fund®

26 WILL LM FIRE SALE THE ASSETS?

No. Trilogy has mischievously and wrongly suggested that because LM is under the control of FTi, this will
lead to a fire sale of the assets of the Fund and destroy value.

This is not the case. The assets of the Fund are primarily loans. It is not the intention of the LM to sell the
loans but rather to endeavour to recover the amounts outstanding under the loans. The sale of the asseis
provided as security for the loans made by the Fund will either be undertaken by the borrowers, orby LM as
mortgagee.

if Trilogy is appointed as Manager, it will be in the same position. The difference is that as LM is now under
the controf of FT1, Members have the benefit of FTl's exiensive experience managing distressed assets, as
deiailed above. :

Accordingly, the fact that LM is under adminisfration will have no adverse impact on the value of the sale of the
assets.

2.7  TRILOGY - THE PROPOSED NEW MANAGER

Trilogy Funds Management Limited (ACN 080 383 879) is a funds management company and holds Australian
Finanoial Services Licence No. 261425. It is the responsible entity for a number of mortgage investment trusts
and property frusts with fotal assets under management of approximately $300m (as reported in

QOctober, 2012).



LM has taken legal advice on the adequacy of Trilogy's AFSL. LM is confident that Trilogy's AFSL. does not
authorise it to operate the Fund.

LM has previously noted that Trilogy's Licence does not cover management of foreign currencies. Managing
foreign currencies is necessary for the management of your Fund. Trilogy stated on 25 October, 2012 that it
had lodged an application to vary the authorisations on its licence to cover foreign currencies. As at

24 April, 2013, no variation of Trilogy’s Australian Financial Services Licence has yet been shown on the ASIC
register of licences.

For further information on Trilogy, Members are encouraged to refer io the Trilogy web page

- http:/iwww trilogyfunds.com.au.

At the time of dispatch of this Notice of Meeting, LM has provided Trilogy with a copy of the Notice of Meeting
and all related documents. An up to date electronic copy of the unitholder register for your Fund was also
provided. '

LM has encouraged Trilogy to provide Members with information to assist them in making a decision as to
whether to vote for the resolutions to see Trilogy replace LM as Manager of your Fund.

To ensure that Trilogy does not feel that Members have insufficient time to consider its appointment as
Manager, LM has scheduled the Members’ meeting fonger than the period required for such meetings by the
Corporations Act.

28 OTHER CONSEQUENCES OF REPLACING LM WITH TRILOGY AS MANAGER
No change to existing Arrangements between the LM First Mortgage Income Fund and third parties

if Resolutions 1 and 2 as set out in the Notice of Meeting are approved and Trilogy is registered as the
responsible entity of LM First Mortgage Income Fund, under the Corporations Act

i Trilogy will assume those rights, obligations and Fabilities of LM which were incurred in its role as
responsible entity of the Fund; and

ii. There will be a statutory novation of agreements and other documents to which LM is a party as
responsible entity of the Fund.

Such arrangements between the Fund and third parties will therefore not be affected by the change of
responsible entity.

Financing Consequences

Deutsche Bank has provided the Fund with a secured loan facility since 2010. LM'’s obligations under the
Deutsche Bank facility are secured in favour of Deutsche Bank under an ASIC registered charge over all of the
assets and undertaking of the Fund. The facility has been progressively reduced by approximately $0.5m per
month and now has a loan balance of approximately $26.5m.

If the resolutions are approved in this Notice of Meeting, that will be an Event of Default under the facility
agreement with Deutsche Bank, entitling it, for example, to appoint receivers to the Fund. The consequences
upon the existing financial arrangements with Deutsche Bank are unknown at this stage.

FTI has the ongoing operational support of Deutsche Bank following the appointment as Voluntary
Administrators (even though the appointment of administrators was an Event of Default).

Clawback Provisions under the Corporations Act

There are only three possible outcomes of the administration of LM — a Deed of Company Arrangement, a
creditors’ voluntary winding-up, or (unlikely) LM is returned to the control of the directors. If LM is wound up,
its liquidators will have access to the claw-back provisions of the Act — for example, recovery of unreasonable
director-related transactions etc. There is room for debate as to whether these provisions could be invoked for
the benefit of the Fund; and the administrators have not yet completed the invesfigation as fo any transactions
which might be available for the benefit of Members. On 12 April, 2013, the Chief Justice extended the time
for the administrators to convene a second meeting of creditors untii 25 July, 2013.



While those matters are not clear, what is clear is that if Trilogy replaces LM as the Responsible Entity of the
Fund, it will have no access at all to those provisions for the benefit of Members.

29 LMor TRILOGY?

Set out in the table below is a simple comparison of Trilogy and LM.

Voting Intentions

Voting In Favour means you
support Trilogy as the new
responsible entity

| Voting Against means you support

LW/FT1 remaining as responsible

entity

Appropriate AFSL Trilogy does not have the requisite | LM has the appropriate AFSL to
AFSL, aithough they indicated at operate the Fund in the manner
the last mesting of invesiors that proposed.
they would be obtaining the
required AFSL authorisations.

Whether it has made any such
application is unknown.

Changeover costs There will be legal and other costs | If LM remains the Manager, there
associated with appoeinting Trilogy | will be no changeover costs. .
as the new Manager.

Time to complete wind up of Tritogy is not familiar with the LM siaff know the assets well. FTI

Fund and return surplus assets of the Fund and would need | have since their appointment on

monies to Members fo spend considerable fime and 19 March become increasingly
cost becoming familiar with the familiar with the assets.
assets. This will delay the
realisation of the assets of the Through the overall management
Fund and the return of the surpius | of the voluntary administrators and
monies to Members. _ | the existing retained management

of LM, the voluntary administrators
will continue the existing strategy
of LM to actively realise all
remaining assets of the Fund and
endeavour to recover loan monies.
All surplus monies will be promptly
returned to investors.

Changing Managers will slow the
process as inevitably Trilogy will
need time to review the asseis and
realisation sirategies.

Impact on Borrowers from the
Fund of a change of Manager

As the assets of the Fund include
loans made to third parties it is
possible (indeed likely) that the
borrowers will seek to fake
advantage of the more limited
(historical) knowledge of a new
Manager such as Trilogy. A
change in management of a lender
very often works to the advantage
of defaulters.

FTI, in conjunction with the existing
LM staff, are very familiar with the
loans and will be readily able to
deal with any unmeritorious claims
by borrowers.




Voting In Favour means you Voting Against means you support
R support Trilogy as the new LM/FT! remaining as responsible
Vofing Intentions responsible entity entity
Financing Consequences Appointment of Trilogy is an Event | Not applicable — despite the
| of Default under the Deutsche appointment of the administrators,
Bank Facility LM and FTI have enjoyed a
cooperative relationship with
Deutsche Bank.
Access to the Claw-Back No chance Possible
Provisions under the
Corporations Act?

Members are encouraged to complete and lodge the attached proxy forms once they have received
further information from Trifogy and have had time to fully consider all information avaifable.

210 ONGOING INFORMATION

By visiting the LM web page at hitp:/iwww. Iminvestmentadministration.com, this and all subsequent
communications to both investors and financial advisers (both as groups) can be found. In addition, subject to
LM receiving copies of the correspondence, all communications which Trilogy may send to all investors will
also be lodged on that web page.

If you are unable to access that web page, please contact LM who will forward hard copies of all documents
lodged on the web page to you. :



SECTION 3 ~ GLOSSARY

The following terms are used in this Booklet: _—

Booklet This Bookiet, including the Notice of Mesting, dated 26 April, 2013

Constitution The LM First Mortgage Income Fund consfitution, as amended from time
totime

Fund LM First Mortgage Income Fund ARSN 089 343 238

LM LM Investment Management Limited (Administrators Appointed)
ACN 077 208 461

Manager A person who acts as responsible entity of a registered managed
investment scheme under Chapter 5C of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
A Manager manages and administers the scheme on behaif of its
Unitholders

Meeting The Meeting of the Members of the Fund that s called by the Notice of
Meeting contained in this Bookist _

Notice of Meeting The Notice of Meeting contained on page 3 of this Booklet, together with
the additionat information in this Bookiet

Proposal The proposal whereby Trilogy will replace LM as the Manager of the Fund.
The proposal is described in more detail in sections 2.1 10 2.9 of the
Booklet

Resolutions Resolutions 1 and 2 as set out in the Notice of Meeting and as described
in section 2.2 above

Trilogy Trilogy Funds Management Limited ABN 59 080 383 679

Unit A unit, as defined in the Constitution, in the Fund

Unitholder or Member A registered hoider of Units in the Fund

Voluntary

Administrators

John Park and Ginette Muller of FT1 Consulting




SECTION 4 — VOTING PROCEDURE AND ELIGIBILITY

These notes form part -of the Notice of Meefing.

Changing the time and date of the Meeting

LM reserves the right to postpone or adjourn the Meeting to a later time or dats. If such a detemmination is
made, all Members will bé hotified by an announcement on LM's website '
http.//www.Iminvestmentadminisiration.com . LM will endeavour to notify Members of any such postponement

prior to the original date and time of the Meeting, however, the postponement of the Meeting will not be
invalidated by the failure to do so.

Quorum

The quorum necessary for the Meeting is two Members present in person or by proxy.

Chairperson

LM will appoint an individual to chair the Meeting.

Voting '

On a show of hands, each Member has one vote on each resolution.

The number of votes each Member has on a poll will be calculated in accordance with the Constitution and the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) on the business day before the Meeting as being 1 vote for each dollar value of
the total Units they hold in the Fund.

Approvals required

Resolutions 1 and 2 are exiraordinary resolutions. An exiraordinary resolution is passed if it s approved by at
least 50% of the total vofes that may be cast by Members entitied fo vote on the resolution (including Members
who are not present in person or by proxy).

As required by the Corporations Act 2001 {Cth} Resolutions 1 and 2, being extraordinary resoiutions, will be
decided on a poll.

Entitiement to vote

All Members appearing on the register at 11am (AEST) on Thursday 30 May, 2013 are entitied to attend and
vote at the Meeting. Accordingly, Unit transfers registered after this time will be disregarded in determining
entitlements to vote at the Meeting.

Under section 253E of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), LM (being the Manager of the Fund) and its
associates are not entitled to vote their interest on a resolution at the Meeting if they have an interest in the
resolution or the matter other than as a Member.

We niote that three of the Fund's members are LM Wholesale First Morigage Income Fund, LM Currency
Protected Australian income Fund and LM Institutional Currency Protected Australian Income Fund, each of
whose fund constitution contains See Through Voting provisions, allowing members of the fund to direct the
responsible entity of that fund to vote their proportionate interests in the Fund in accordance with their voting
direction.

Corporatidns

A Member that is a corporation may appoint an individual fo act as its representative at the Mesting in
accordance with section 253B of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

The corporate representative must bring to the Meeting evidence of his or her appointment, including any
authority under which the appointment is signed.

10
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Jointly held units

If a Unit in the Fund is held jointly, and more than one Member votes in respect of that Unit, only the vote of the
Member whose name appears first in the register of Members counts.

Appointment of proxy : S P

A Member may vote in person at the Mesting or appoint a proxy fo aftend and vote for them.

Each Member has a right to appoint one or two proxies. A praxy need not be a Member. f a Member-
appoints two proxies, the Member may specify the proportion or number of votes that each proxy is appointed
to exercise. 1§ 2 Member appoints two proxies and the appointment does not specify the proportion or number
of the Member’s votes each proxy may exercise, each proxy may exercise haif of the votes,

Voting directions to your proxy

You can direct your proxy how to vote. If you do not direct your proxy how to vote, your proxy will vote as he
or she chooses. If you mark more than one bax relating to the Resolution any vote by your proxy on that item
may be invalid.

Signing instructions

In the case of Members who are individuals, the Proxy Form must be signed:

(a) if the units are held by one individual, by that Member or that Member's attomey; and

(b) if the units are held in joint names, by any one of them.

In the case of Members who are companies, the Proxy Form must be signed:

(@ i it has a sole director wha is also sole company secretary, by that director (and stating that fact next
to, or under, the signature on the Proxy Form); and

(b) in the case of any other company, by either 2 directors or a director and company secretary.

The use of the common seal of the company, in addition to those required signatures, is optional.

1



Please note that in order for your Proxy Form to be effective, your original Proxy Form {and the original or a
certified copy of the power of attorney or authority, if any, under which it is signed) must be completed and
returned to Computershare Investor Services Pty Lid no later than 48 hours before the Mesting (that is on or
before 11am (AEST) on Tuesday 28th May, 2013). Proxy Forms received after that time will not be valid for
the Mesting.

Postal address for retum of proxies:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd
GPO Box 2062
MELBOURNE VIC 8080 Australia

Hand delivery address:
Computershare Investor Services Piy Ltd
452 Johnston Sireet

ABBOTSFORD VIC 3067 Australia

Alternatively, the documents may be faxed to:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Lid
on 03 9473 2145 (within Australia) or +61 3 9473 2145 (ouiside Australia)

Alternatively, the documents may be scanned and emailed to:
guorum@computershare.com.ay

Enquiries:

Australia Toll Free — 1800 062 919
New Zealand Toll Free — 0800 142 818
International +61 7 5584 4500

If the Meeting is adjourned, proxies received by 48 hours prior to the resumph’or\" of the Meeting are effective
for the resumed part of the Meeting.

12
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SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND

Registry: BRISBANE
Number: BS285913 -

IN THE MATTER OF LM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LIMITED
(ADMINISTRATORS APPOINTED) ABN 68 077 208 461 AND

LM ADMINISTRATION PTY LTD (ADMINISTRATORS APPOINTED)
ACN 055 691 426 '

Applicants JOHN RICHARD PARK AND GINETTE MULLER IN
: THEIR CAPACITY AS JOINT AND SEVERAL
ADMINISTRATORS OF LM INVESTMENT
MANAGEMENT LIMITED (ADMINISTRATORS
APPOINTED) AND LM ADMINISTRATION PTY LTD
(ADMINISTRATORS APPOINTED)

SUBMISSIONS ON BE‘EALF OF THE APPLICANTS
Relief Sought
1. 'Rdiei‘kmnglﬂby]dmkidmdmmmmﬂﬁ,ﬂie administrators of each
LM Administration Pty Ltd (administrators appointed) ("LMA”) (collectively, the
LM Companies”) for orders’ that:

(@  pursuant to section 439A(6) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) (the
Act™), that the period within which the Administrators mmust convene the
second meeting of creditors of each of LMA and LMIM be extended up to
and including 25 July 2013; and

(®) pursnant to section 477A(1) of the Act, the second meeting of creditors of
each of LMA and LMIM required by section 439A of the Act may be held
together or separately and at any time during, or within five business days
afier the end of, the convening period as extended by the Court
notwithstanding the provisions of section 439A(2) of the Act.

! Originating Application (Doc 1).

APPLICANTS’ SUBMISSIONS King & Wood Maliesons
Level 33, Waterfront Place, 1 Eagle Street
Brisbane Qld 4000
T+61 7 3244 8000
F+61 7 32448999
DX 311 Brisbane
King & Wood Mallesons' reference
ESC/CAM:0455064221

13



Notice

7.

Orders relating to ancillary administrative matters and costs are also sought.

On 2 April 2013, the first meeting of creditors was held at which the administrators
advised that this application secking an extension to the second mecting had been
listed to which no person in attendance raised an objection’.

On 5 April 2013, the Applicants provided a notice and a copy of the Application
(“the Notice”) tome«htorsof[.l\d]l\dandlMAfurwhomﬂ:.eAppheantshada
cummtpostaladdressoranaﬂaddrﬁs("Credﬂnrs”) 'I'heNohcestatedthatthe
Apphcahonandsuppomngaﬁdawtmatenalweavmlableﬁnwewmgonme
website set up by the administrators’ for the administrations being

www Iminvestmentadministration.com (“Website™)".

On 5 April 2013, a copy of the Application and the supporting affidavit of Johm
Richard Park was uploaded onto the Website®.

On 5 April 2013, the secured creditors were given notice of the Application’.

ASIC were notified of the Application and do ot wish to be heand”.

Relevent Factual Backeround

On 19 March 2013, the administrators were appointed voluntary administrators of
LMIM and LMA by resolution of the board of directors of each of those companies.”

~ According fo the summary of information about the LM Companies' operations and

activities prepared by Mr Park, the operations and activities of the LM Companies
involved the following (zmongst other things):®

(a) LMIM is an Australian fund manager which operates nationally and
internationally from offices on the Gold Coast, Sydney, Hong Kong,
‘London, Dubai, Queenstown, Toronto, Bangkok and Johannesburg with the

B ~ BN W B W

Affidavit of John Richard Pask sworn 5 April 2013 (Park Extension Affidavii) at [22]
First Federico Affidavit of Service filed by leave at [3]1 - [11]

Affidavit of John Richard Park filed by leave (Park Third Affidavif) at [22]

¥irst Federico Affidavit of Serviee af para 11

Affidavit of Philip Yong Pan filed by leave; exhibit PYP - 2

Park Extension Affidavit at [4] and exhibit JRP-1 (1-49).

Park Extension Affidavit at {71, [8], [18]-{19].

14
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international offices operating through wholly owned subsidiaries with the
exception of Bangkok),

LMIM is an unfisted public company which held an Australian Financial
Services Licence (“AFSL”) authorising it to operate managed investment
schemes and to provide financial and life insurance products. That licence
has been suspended by ASIC subject to certain exceptions including, inter
alia, that the administrators are allowed to provide financial services such as
transfer to a new responsible entity, investigating or preserving the assets or
winding up the registered managed investment schemes operated by LM,

LMIM’s principal activity was the provision of specialised Australian
income products and it also offered life risk insurance products for sale;

LMIM is the responsible entity for, and operated as at the date of the
appointment of the administrators, a number of managed fmds ("LM
Funds") which are managed investment schemes registered and regulated
wnsder Chapter 5C of the Act CRegistered LM Funds™);

LMIM also managed a fund known as LM Managed Performance Fand
("MPF™) that was not registered under Chapter 5C as it appears to have
been designed for investors outside of Austrelia, global platform and folio
‘bond opesators, and institational/wholesale investor; "

Before being replaced on 16 November 2012, LMIM was the responsible
enﬁtyofﬂleaﬁmdhmwnasﬂ:eLMWholesaleFirstMortgageInmme

Fund; and

LMA is the service entity to LMIM and has previously provided
administration and finds management services to LMIM in exchange for a
management fee.!!

Park Third Affdavit ( in proceedings 2869/13) [check correct para once settled]

10 Park Extension Affidavit at [8](f)-(g).

- B Park Extension Affidavit at [10].
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The Law

10.

11.

12.

13.

Pursuant to s 439A(1) of the Act, the administrator of a company under
administration must convene 2 meeting of the company’s creditors within the
convening period as fixed by sub-section (5) or extended under sub-section (6).

In the present circumstances, the convening period in relation to the second meeting
of creditors ends on 14 April 2013.

Pursuant to s 439A (6) of the Act, the Court may extend the convening period on an
application made during or after the period referred to in paragraph 5(z) or (b), as the
case requires. Thlssecuongw&snogmdanoemlheCourtasmthegmundsm
which such an extension may be granted.

Recently, in Owen, in the matter of Rivercity Motorway Piy Ltd (Administrators

Appointed) (Receivers and Managers Appointed) v Madden [2011] FCA 295, Justice
Logan summarised the applicable principles and anthorities as follows:

“[1§] Ovanmambaofpmﬂshawbemdevdopedmrdahmmwhdhﬂ-urmt
to extend a conventing period. In Re Diamond Press Austrufia Pty Ltd [2001]
NSWSC313at DOLBmﬁtJohavedﬂm,mmﬁemdmamhm
ﬁ)ranmoftnm,ﬂlemedrs:

.. to strike an appropriate balance between, on the one band, the
expectation that an administration will be a relatively speedy and
sommary matter and, on the other, the requirement that undue speed
should not be allowed to prejudice sensible and consiructive actions
shareholders.

To that observation one might add, in the context of this case, “maximising, if
possible, the return to those who have interests in the stapled securities™. So mmch,
in ferms of underlying philosophy is evident from the object of Pt 5.3A as set out in
s 435A.

[19] Considerations which have proved relevant were summarised, ip a non-exhaustive

way, by Austin J in Re Riviera Group Pty Lid (2009) 72 ACSR 352 at 355, {13}
[14]. At para 13, his Honour noted that the reasons given for an extension in cases
can be grouped into the following broad categories (I omit reference to the
supporting authority cited by his Honour):

(a) the size and scope of the business;

(b) substantial offshore activities;

(c) large number of employees with complex enfitlements;

16



14.

15.

(d) complex corporate group structure and intercompany loans;

(©) complex transactions entered into by the company (for example securities
lending or derivatives fransactions);

i3] complex prospects of recovery proceedings;
(g) lack of access to corporate financial records;
() the time needed to execute an orderly process of disposal of assets;

@) thetimenwdedfortlmmughassessmentofaimpomlforadaedof
company arrangement;

G)  where the cxtcnsion will allow salo of the business as a going concern;

&) more generally, that additional time is likely to enhance the return for
unsecured credifors.

[20] His Honour then added at [14]:

The cases show that where a substantial issue in any of these categories is

established (and a fortiori, where the facts fit into more than one
category), the court tends to grant an extension, and the extension tends
to be for the time sought by the administrator provided that the
evidentiary case has been properdy prepared, there is no evidence of
material prejudice to those affected by the moratorium imposed by an
administration, and the comt is satisfied that the administrator’s estimate
of time has a reasonable basis.”

Whilst it is not necessarily productive to make such comparisons as each case nyust

be approached according to its own circomstances™, it is submitted that the 3 month

extension being sought in the present instance is most reasonable.

In Rivercity” the first extension granted was 9 months (the total extension after
further applications was 33 months)."* In ABC Learning Centres Ltd, in the matter
of ABC Learning Centres Lid: application by Walker (No.5)", the first extension
granted was for a period of 4 months. The total extension (when aggregated with
earlier extensions) was 16 months.®

1z

13

14

15
16

See the comments of Barrett J in Lombe Re Australian Discounts Retail Pty Ltd (2009) NSWSC 110
at [23]; in this case a short adjowmment of 3 weeks was given and then a subsequent extension of 6
months,

Reforred to in paragraph 9 above. -

Re Owen, in the matter of Rivercity Motorway Pty Ltd (Administrators Appointed) (Receivers and
Managers Appointed) v Madder [2012] FCA 1491,

(2008) FCA 1947.

RE ABC Learning Centres Ltd (administrators appointed) (receiver and managers appointed);
application by Walker (zo 8) (2009) 73 ACSR 478.
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16.

17.

Section 447A enables an order to be made altering times fixed by a provision of Part
5.3A." It permits the making of orders which alter how s5.439A (2), (5) and (6)
apply.”® The inclusion of 5.447A in Part 5.3A means that the remaining provisions
are not intended to have a fixed and unchanging operation in relation to all
companies."?

Mr Park®® has stated that if the administrators are in a position to do so, they may
wish (with netice) to convene the second meeting of creditors before the end of the
extended period under s 439A(1). This it is submitted, would enable the

administrators to maximise their flexibility to pursue the most expeditious course. I
ﬂiisistoom,itisnecessﬁyforanorder[assoughthparagraphZofthe .
application’}” under s 447A(1) to be made, so that the administrators can convene
the meeting and hold it at any time during the extended convening period, and
therefore eartier than 5 439A(2) would permit. Such orders were made in Re

Daisytek (Australia) Pty Ltd Tt bas become comman practice for a court to make
an order under s 447A (1).2

Basis of the Request for an Extension

18.

Since their appointment, the administrators have undertaken a variety of activities in
progressing the administration.?? Based on those activities and the relevant ,
documentation, the administrator’s investigations reveal that™

(a) the businesses and affairs of the LM Companies (and its numerous overseas

subsidiaries and global network of financial advisors and intermediaries)
and the various LM Funds that LMIM operates, are significant and
complex;

(b) the affairs of the LM Companies and the LM Funds are intertwined. LMIM
is the responsible entity of the LM Funds (except for MPF) and is otherwise

17
18
19
20
21

N

oR

Australasian Memory Pty Ltd v Brien [20001 200 CLR 270 at pp.278-284.

Australasian Memory Pty Lid v Brien (supra).

Australasian Memory Pty Ltd v Brier (supra).

Park Extension Affidavit at [25].

Doc 1.

(2003) 45 ACSR 446

Riviera Group Pty Ltd (administrators appointed) (receiver and managers appointed) (2009) 72
ACSR 352 at paragraph 20.

Park Extension Affidavit at [20].

Park Extensior Affidavit at [21].

18



19.

20.

()

d

(©

®

the trustee/manager of MPF, while LMA is engaged by LMIM to provide
management services in relation to the LM Funds. Further, some of the
individual LM Funds act as feeder funds to other LM Funds;

there are numerous inter-company loans and other transactions among the
LM Companies and the LM Funds;

there are numerous related party loans and other transactions involving the
LM Companies, the LM Funds, Peter Drake (2 director of LMIM and a
director and shareholder of LMA) and entities associated with Peter Drake.
The administrators are currently considering how those loans and
transactions affect the LM Companies; ‘

the administrators are assisting ASIC with any concerns it has with the LM
Companies and the LM Fends; and

agmiicmtmanammtfe&s,mmsmdohpaymﬂnsmmpectm
the LM Funds.

hﬁgtnofﬁnsemmﬁeadmhﬂmﬁm‘mofﬁemg
period for a period of 3 months to allow the administrators to undertake the further
activities set out in the Park Extension Affidavit at [23](a) to (k) so asto beina
better position to:

@

(®)

consider the consequential effect of those maiters on the projected retumns to

" creditors and investors; and

make informed and considered recommendations at the second meeting of
creditors of each of the LM Companies.

There is no suggestion that the extension will cause anymateria.lprejudice.w the
secured creditors identified in the Park Extension Affidavit at [13] to [16] (Deutsche
and Western Union) as neither have sought to enforce its security, and in the case of
Western Union, the calculation of the final balance owing under its facilities is
complex and yet to be finalised.



Conclusion

£ 21, In all of the circumstances, it is submitted that an order in texms of the attached draft
' ought to be made given:

L | (a) the size and scope of the LM Companics;

! (b) the time needed to execute an orderly process of disposal of assets (in
particular, the need to secure local and foreign assets of the LM Companies

a and EM Funds);

m (¢) theregulatory and compliance issues involved being:
ﬂ eé“j () time required to deal with ASIC concerning LMIM’s obligations
b

L under its suspended AFSL and reporting obligations under Part 2M.3
of the Act in relation to the Registered LM Funds;

(i) the time required for the administrators to ascertain the level of
i | undertaken by LMIM;

‘ 1 (@ the time required to conduct further investigations:
() to determine whether there has been insolvent trading;

‘ ' (i) to determine whether there have been any voidable, uncommercial or
e director-related transactions that may be set aside;

(ifi) to determine whether there are any other causes of actions available
TR to the LM Companies;

(v) as to whether there have beon any breaches, offences or voidable
transactions in relation to the LM Funds;

(v) inrelation to the claims of creditors and investors;

L (e) the time required to consider any proposals for a deed of company
arrangement (DOCA) or restructure of the LM Companies and LM Funds
iy which may preserve their businesses or offer a better return to creditors and

20
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B investors than a winding up. At this point in time no proposal has been put

forward.
A
22. Tt is submitted that a good reason for the extension has been shown.

1
Ly Tom Sullivan SC and CM Muir
L Counsel for the Applicants

12 April 2013

A
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SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND

Regisry: Brishane ) g 5] | |3

IN THE MATTER OF LM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LIMITED
(ADMINISTRATORS APPOINTED) ABN 68 077 208 461 AND
o LM ADMINISTRATION FTY LTD (ADMINISTRATORS APPOINTED)
‘ ACN 655 691 426

Applicants JOHN RICHARD PARK AND GINETTE MULLER IN THEIR
CAPACITY AS JOINT AND SEVERAL ADMINISTRATORS OF

. LM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LIMYTED
. (ADMINISTRATORS APPOINTED) AND LM ADMINISYRATION
T a PTY LTD (ADMINISTRATORS APPOINTED)

e

ORIGINATING AFFLICATION

. To the Respondeats, the creditors of LM Ivestment Management Limited (Aduinistrators
Appeisted) (“LMIM™) and LM Administration Pty Lid (Administrator Appointed)(~LMA~)

TAKE NOTICE that the Applicants are applying to the Court for the following orders:

. " Extession of Convening Pexiod

1 Pursuzat to section 439A(6) of the Corporations Act 2001 (“the Act™), an order that the

- period within which the Applicants nunst convene the second meeting of creditors of each of
%j | LMI and LMA be extended ap to and including 25 Jaly 2013.

N 2 Pursuant to section 447A(1) of the Act, an order that the second mesting of creditors of each
of LMI and LMA required by section 439A of the Act may be held together or separately and

at any time during, or within five business days after the end of, the convening period as
extended by the Court notwithstanding the provisions of section 439A(2) of the Act.

e ORIGINATING APPLICATION King & Wood Mallesoas
; Level 33, Waterfront Place, 1 Bagle Street,
Brishane Qld 4000
T +61 7 3244 8000
F-+61 7 3244 8999
DX 311 Brishane
King & Wood Mallesons’ reference
ESC/CAM:0455064221

22



Adminisirative Matters
3 The Applicants inform those creditors (including persons claiming to be creditors) of LM

7

and LMA for whom the Applicants have a curreat postal address (in Australia), facsimile
mmber or email address ("Creditors™) and the Australian Securities and Investments
Commission {("ASIC") of the orders made pursuant to this application and any further
application (for a further extension of the convening period) of LMI and LMA, by means of
a circular forwarded by post, facsimile or email (as the case may be) within seven days after
the filing of the application or sealed copies of the mdmbeingmadagvaﬂable by the Count.

With respect to all creditors of LMI and LMA for whorn the Applicants do not have a current
posEIaddmss(hAnsha]ia),facsﬁnﬂenmbarwmaﬂaddm&s,theAppﬁm inform those
creditors of the orders made pursuant to this application 2nd any further application (for a
further extension of the convening period) of LMI and 1 MA, by making the applications (and
any supporting affidavit material) or orders available on |

v Ieminrvestmentadministration com within seven days afier the filing of the application or
sealed copies of the orders being made availshie by the Cout.

An order that the following persons have liberty to apply on giving all other interested parties
got less than three business days® notice:

@) ey person who can demonstrate a suffcient interest to modify or discharge any
onders made; and

()  the Applicants for any pupose commectod with. the administrations of LM or LMA.

An order that the costs of and incidental to this application be costs and expenses in the
administrations of and be paid out of the assets of, LMY and IMA.

Such firther or other orders as the Conrt considers appropriate:

This application wi]lbeheardbyﬁgCom'tatBﬁsbane.

O

I8
}0 April 2013 at 10.00 am

Filed in the Brisbane Regisiry on 26 March 2013

Registear: UL

11387683_2

23



Tf you wish to oppose this application or to argue that any different order should be made, you must
appwbeforetheCourtinpersonorbyyowlawyerandyousha]lbeheard. If you do not appear at
the hearing the orders sought may be made without finther notice o you. In addition you may before

 the day for hearing file a Notice of Address for Service in this Registry. The Notice should bein

Form 8 to the Uniform Civil Procedure Rules. Youmnstsarveaéupyofitattheapplicam’s address
for service shown in this application as soon as possible.

On the hearing of the appﬁeaﬁontheAppﬁmnlBintenﬂstorelyonthefoﬂowhgafﬁdavits:

1 Affidavit of Jolm Richard Park to be sworn.

Hmﬂm&mﬁehwhgmrdymmyaﬁdavﬁsmeymbeﬂedmmathg@pﬁmfs
address for service prior to the hearing date.

Emommmmmmwmmmﬂwmm of the Court,yuu
mustapplymﬂ:eComtfordlsmxssalofﬂmpmwadmgs.

THE APPLICANTS ESTIMATE THE HEARING SHOULD BE ALLOCATED hour

PARTICULARS OF THE APPLICANTS

Applicant name: John Richard Park and Ginetie Mnller
Applicant’s residential or business address: 22 Market Strect, Brishane :
Applicant’s solicitor’s name King & Wood Mallesons
and firm name: King & Wood Mallesons
Solicitor's business address: ]’.ﬂvel33 Watmﬁcml‘.l’laoe,lﬁagiesueet,
Brishane Qld 4000
Address for service: Level 33, Waterfront Place, 1 Eagle Street,
‘Brishanc Qld 4000
DX: 311 Brisbane
Telephone +61 7 3244 8000
+61 7 3244 8999

Description: Solicitor for the Applicants

Dated: 26 March 2013

Creditors of LMA. and LMIM

11387683_2
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And
Anstralian Securities and Investment Commission
Attention: Tim Walker

GPO Box 9827
Sydney NSW 2001

11387683_2
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1.

This licence anthorises the licensee to carry ona
financial services business to:

{a) provide financial product advice for the
following classes of financial products:
(i) Yfe products limited to:
(A) hienskmsurmceproductsaswell

©

basic deposity
(3) non-cashpa
(B} derivatives;
{C) foreignexchange contracts,
(D) life products limited to:
(1) life risk insurance producis as
well as any products issued by

to retzil and wholesale clients.

a Registered Life Insurance
Company that are backed by
one or more of is statutory
funds;
interests in managed investment
(1) investor directed portfolio
SErvices;
(F) securities; and
{G) superanmuation;
operateﬂ:efo]luwmghndsofreg:stm’ed
managed investment schemes (cinding the
holding of any incidental property} in its
capacity as respansible entity:

provide the following custodial or depository

services:

(i) operate custodial or depository services
other than investor directed portfolio
services;

ASIC

Australban Seeurilles &
funggtnients Cyniatinzivi
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Lo Key Person Requirements

| 2 Ifanyofﬁlefoﬂowmgofﬁcer(s)orkeypersm(s)ceasetubeofﬁcersofﬂnehcmseeortoperfomduﬁmonbeha]f
‘ b of the licensee with respect to its financial services business:
|
|

{s) Peter Charles DRAKE;
| (b) Eghard VAN DER HOVEN;
L (¢) Simon Jeremy TICKNER;

(d) Michael William SKEGGS; and
| () Wendy Gaye LIST;

L the Hcensee must notify ASIC in writing within 5 business days of the following matters:

.- (f) the date the officer or key person ce ihe an officer of the Hcensee or to perform duties on behalf of the

L Heensee with respect to its financi ess; and

L. (g) the name, address, date of co quahﬁcatimsanqurmenceufanyreplacﬂnent
officer or key person the m duties on behalf of the licensee with respect to its

£ financial services busin

(h) Iﬂhehcaseedoes san, detailed reasons as to why the licensee has

s

y with the Act and the conditions of this

replacement of such person, ceasing o
: w:&lzespecttoﬂsﬁnanualservmes

- 4. 'I‘hehcenseemustfﬁmﬂf

licensee (including the'i

of the licensee (including the licensee if he or ‘she is 2 natural person):

(a) has completed training courses at an appropriate level that are or have been approved by ASIC in writing
that are relevant to those functions and tasks; or

AS5IC

o Australban Seeuritles &
Irvestingnty Cymmizsinn
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6.

Nofification to Cumrent or Former’
8.

{b) hasbeen indjvidually assessed as competent by an assessor that is or has been approved by ASIC in writing;
or

() inrespect of financial product advice on basic deposit products and facilities for making non-cash payments
that are related to a basic deposit product, has completed training courses that are or have been assessed by
&neﬁcmseeasnmeﬁng&teappmpﬁatekvdﬂmtmrdevmtmﬂmeﬁmcﬁmsmdmks.

Condition 5 does not apply in relation to:
(a) anzmrﬂpasmwhoisamshnmmvkempresmhﬁvemdwhopmﬁdesﬁnmdﬂpmdudadvke:
(i) derived from a script approved by a natural person who complies with paragzraphs 5(a), {b) and (c)
("qualified person”); or i

adviser and who provides financial product advice tmder
B ir addition to the licensee, responsible for:

ovided by the para-planner or treinee adviser for
cded in a Statement of Advice that has been reviewed
is given, to ensure that the Statement of Advice

(b) anatural person who is a para:

the direct supervision of a qus

DTOOE ﬂmbﬁem
berson does not provide financial
er specified in this paragraph, and

Where, under Division 8 of Part 7.6 £ £
{a) ASIC makes a banning order agamii{ a
{b) the Court makes an order disqualt

igr former representative of the licensee; or
t or former representative of the licensee;

_ the licensee must, if directed in writing by ASIC, take all reasonable steps to provide the following information in

writing to each refail client to whom the representative had provided personal advice within the 3 years prior to
the date of the banning order or disqualification order:

(c) thename of the representative; and

ASIC

Anntrailin Seurilive &
Investinenls Gymminiva
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o1

1 (d) myauﬁoﬂsedmpresmtaﬁvenmberallocatedtoﬂ-le:epresmtaﬁvebyASIC;and
- (e) the terms of the banning or disqualification order; and
o () contact details of the licensee for dealing with enquiries and complaints regarding the banning or
- disquﬂiﬁcaﬁmmﬂleomductof&lerepresmmﬁwasa:epresmmﬁvecfﬂmﬁcmee.
o '
o Financial Requirements for Market Parlicipanis and Clearing Palicipanis
. 9. Wlmreﬂle'ﬁumseeisamarketparﬁdpantma]icmsedmmket,madeaﬁngparﬁcipantina]imsedCSfad}ity,
| conditions 10 to 20 (inclusive) do not apply to the licensee.
- - i
" 10. Thelicensee must :
L (2) be able to pay all its debts as angk : due and payable; and
(b) cither: :
Tpe {i) have totsl assets 8 in the Hcensee's most recent balance sheet lodged
L with ASIC and B see’s total assets would curvently not exceed its
total lishiliti
P (i) have adj at the balance date shown in the

B no reason to suspect that the licensee’s

i1d reasonably plan; er

(iv) ADI or comparable foreign institution)—a

(A) is a subsidiary of an Aws

of this condition; and L

: (B) reasonably expects that {based:ot access to cash from its related bodies corporate) it will have

: adequate resources (when needed) to meet its liabilities for at least the next three months
(including any additional liabilities that the licensee might incur during that period), taking into
account all adverse commercial contingencies for which the licensee should reasonably plan; and

ASIC

! i anrtralian Seeurilin &
favetmpz Gonintiysivn
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<) msuresﬂlatamsponsibleofﬁcerofﬂlelicenseehasdocummtedﬁutﬁleoﬁﬁcerhasﬁlereasmable
d foratleast&efoﬂowhgﬂueemm&tpaiodhge&mwiﬂx&tereasmsfmfom@gthe
mq)echﬁmumecmtmgmdesbrwhich&leﬁcmseecmsidasitismasmabhmpm&e
assmpﬁmsmdemncmhgmemnﬁngmdesmdmebasisforsdmﬁngmoseassmﬁms;or
{(v) Option5 (parent entity prepares cashﬂowprojecﬁonsmaconsoﬁdatedbasis}—areqﬂremﬂlt&mt the
licensee ensures that
(A) ﬂ\ecashﬂowsofthelicmseeandeadwfitsrehtedbpdimmpmte,oﬂ'te:ﬂ:mnanybody
regulaﬂdbyAPRA(“]icemeegroup"),ammmagedmacm&nﬁdatedhasis;and
{B) maehabodycmpqramWﬂhm&neﬁnmseegwupofwﬁdnnmd&eﬁmseegmupm
subsidiaries that is not a body regulated by APRA. ("parent entity”); and
(C) the parent entity complies pEIRIE ‘mlorOp&mZasifitwere&telioenseqcashﬂowsufany
member i -

of the licensee sh flows of the licensee and any cash held by a member of
the licensee group, othi as trustee of a relevant trust, were so held by the
licensee; and
(D) arepartby the gegiste:edmmpmymdﬂmisgivenmASICwi&\
the hi : 91 of this licence, in relation to each financial
year of th : requests, by a date that ASIC requests, with

1 or Option 2 as they would apply in
at would be required from the auditor of

Iiédnsee should reasonably plan;

d ess to cash from members of the
\éet i fiabilities (including any additional

o 2 nﬂ: tapplies} for at]ﬁﬂst&lenﬂxt&lree

gontingencies for which the licensee should

. Jjfirisee has documented that the officer has the

ast thefpllowing three months together with the reasons

enciegfor which the licensee considers it is reasonable to

[Jugraia

for forming the"
plan, the assumpft & contingencies and the basis for selecting those
assumptions; and

{(F) the licensee has no reasariifo be t the parent entity has not complied with the requirement
at subparagraph (C) or has f2iled o comply in a material respect with its obligations under
Chapter 2M of the Act or, if the'parent entity is not a company, under any other laws (whether law
in Australia or nof) relating to financial reporting that apply toit.

ASIC

Ausiratisn Secrdiic &t
Investmienty Qumatishon
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For 5 years after the end of the last financial year that includes a part of the period to which any document
prepared for subparagraph (c)(iv)(C) or Alternative B in subparagraph (c)(ViE} relates, the licensee must keep the
document and give it to ASIC if ASKC requests.

Financial Requirements for Managed inveshments, Cusiody Services and Margin Lending Factiilies
11 'Ihe]ice.nseemustholdatleast?as:uﬂ]imnetlangibleassets("NTA“),urllessforeadlregiste:edschemewerated
by&e]icenseeatleastmeofﬁefo]lowmgissaﬁsﬁed:
@ ﬂhs&mwopﬁymduﬁauseﬁof&esdnme(s)nﬁhddhymmb&smheﬁbyammmm
appohtedbyﬂmﬁcmsee,tbathas%miﬂimNTAmisaneﬁgi‘nlecmwdiamo!
() all the scheme property and other asse &lesdme(s)nmhe]dbymmbasarespecialcuswdyassetsor
the Tier $500,000 class assets held b oracustndimappoinﬂdbyihelimee(orasnb-
custodian appointed by that cust 'pa:smhuldingﬂ:esdlanepmpertyu:oﬁlerassetsis:

has $500,000 NTA or is an eligible custodian; or
that are not held under paragraph (a) or (b} of

od to have under the remainder of

[A 0f 0.5% of the value of:

(c)iii) of this licence if the only assets it holds
the definition of "special custody assefs” under
account, described in paragraph (d) of the

13. The licensee must have at least $5 mﬂ]JmNTA where the licensee provides a custodial or depository service that:
(a) has custody of client assets other than fricidentally to another financial service provided by the licensee or a
related body corporate; or
(b) holds IDPS property or other assets of an IDPS.

ASIC

———
Auslzlim Seeusiles &
Tewgpungnid Guaathyion
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Australian Financial Services Licence

i ol
& Financial Requirements for Foreign Exchange Dealers
* 14. Where:

' () meﬁcmseemmamsofmmmg,ﬁpﬂmipﬂmmmmm&mmm _
Lo products in Australia; and i
‘ ‘ b) acmmi:erpartymaforeignacmangecon&act&natﬁleﬁcmseeenhersmmasprmdpalmAush‘a]iacovered !
oo by this licence is a person who is not:

! @ manthnﬁseddepnﬂt—ﬂ]dnghsﬁﬂﬁonvﬁﬂﬁn&mmﬁngofﬂmeﬁngAdl%%m
o (i) aperson thatis required under their AFS licence to have $10 million of tier ane capital,
- the licensee must either: _
(o) have $10 million of tier one capital, 4 in the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority's "APRA")
{1 Prudential Standards and Guidances? r- Authorised Deposit-Taking Institutions as in force at the date

‘ of this licenice; or
! (d) have adjusted surplus liquid
s @ $50,000; plus
! ; (ﬁ) 5%0fadju5l‘ed 11 Il.lil
: (iii) 0.5% of adjus 2 ities exceeding $100 million,

}r 1
) -
: L | e Ack; or
o Regulation 7.8.07(2) of the
topney or otherwise;
the licensee must éngure istiquid funds ("SLF") unless the total value

! of the money and property lmng:

. (d) money that has satishied 2 ¢l gntract where the licensee is acting under a

binder or section 985B°6f Gred by investment of that money; or

; {e) the value of property wh ocument of title, and the client has legal title to the
property.

. Financial Requirements for Licensee Transatling

" 16. If the licensee incurs actual or contingent lisbifities of the relevant kind by entering into a transaction witha

v clieni(s) in the course of providing a financial service to the client(s), the licensee must have adjusted surplus
| liquid funds ("ASLF") of the sum of:
P {a) $50,000; plus

AS5IC

o Aostralian Seeuriiles &
Iwveateenty Quimizivn

-1
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(b) 5% of adjusted lisbilities between $1 million and $100 million; plus

(c) 0.5% of adjusted liabilities for any amownt of adjusted liabilities exceeding $100 million,

up to a maximum ASLF of $100 million.

This condition does not apply to the licensee if:

(d) the total of:
. (i) the curvent labilities that would be included in the calculation of the licensee's adjusted liabikities; and
(i) the contingent liabilities that if crystallised would be a current liability and be included in the

calculation of the licensee's adjusted liabilities,

is less than $100,000; or
(e) the licensee hasno: ) ;

(i) HLabilities to clients that wo ; in cala:]atmgrlsad;nswdhabﬂ:hes or

(i) contingent Yabilities to iy would be fncluded in caleulating its adjusted

Habilities,
be - pter 2L of the Act.
Forﬂ:epurposeofp Ay v gard ahabihtyoracmﬂmgmthabﬂﬂyﬂm:
0 i : :
(g
®)
@
@
(3] : @ja}wmﬂhonofha one caplial under
oreign exchange contract as principal; or

O

{iv) the licensee did not enter in! ﬂae deiling on the instructions of another person; or
(m) is under a foreign exchange contractivhere the licensee:
(i} does not make a market in foreign exchange contracts; and

(i) entered into the contract for the purposes of enabling a payment in one of the currencies under the
foreign exchange contract; and
(ifi) did not enter into the foreign exchange contract on the instruction of anot&er person; or

©

ASIC

Auniratian Sygzritivs &
nvestingnta Seatminivn
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(n) occurs in circumstances where a licensee agreestoprovideaedittoano&lerpa'sonmdﬂama:ghlmdjng
facility and the credit remains undrawn or a portion of the credit remains mdrawn.

Tn this condition, a reference to & client includes a person who acquires or disposes of financial products in a

transaction that the licensee mﬁeredhhatapﬂneﬁ:eﬁemseesﬁtedm&lecmmseoimaldngamarket

Reporiing Triggers and Requirements for Financial Requirement Condilions of this Licence
17. meﬁcmseemstmsmﬁereporﬁngreqlmmBmﬂamﬁﬁmslsmdwofﬁﬁsﬁmcemmm
either paragraph (a) or paragraph (b} applies:
(a) the trigger points described in paragraphs (i) and (&) below occur:
(i} the licensee has adjusted liabitities &k e than §1 miltion and less than or equal to $100 million; and
(i) the Licensee has an ASLF of le
(b) the trigger points described in
(i) the licensee has adjusted s ' predikin$100 million; and
(i) the Licensee doesng ‘ G
(fii) the licensee has
16 of this lice

18. ens : a2 Aot enter into any transactions with

ed under condition 18, the
in writing at least monthly that,
to believe that the licensee will

ﬁeenseé.fs‘board or other govemning body umder conditions
‘dte of#tich certification. The licensee must provide ASIC
£#he date of each certification.

18 and 19 of this licence for atleast 5
with a copy of each certification withifi

Audit Opinion on Financial Requirements.: =
21. The licensee must lodge with ASIC an opiziion’by a registered company auditor ("the audit opinion”) addressed
to the licensee and ASIC for the following periods:
(a) for each financial year, at the same time the licensee is required to lodge a balance sheet under Part 7.8 of the
Act; and . ‘
(b) for any period of time that ASIC requests, by the date ASIC requests the audit _gpuuon to be lodged;

ASIC

Auntyatian Soeuriliv e
Inveatmtenty Qemminive

&
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that states whether during:
(c) any part of the period for which the licensee:
(i) relied onbeing a market participant or a clearing participant, an a positive assurance basis, the licensee
was a participant in the market canducted by:
(A) ASX;or
(B) SFE, that restricted its financial services business to participating in the market and incidental
business supervised by SFE; and
() reliedmbeingabodyregulaiedbyAPRA,maposiﬁveassn:amebasis,&\elicenseewasabody
regulated by APRA; and
(d) any remaining part of the period:
(i) in the auditor's opinion, the lig
(A) complied with ali the

nents under conditions 10 to 20 (inclusive) of this licence
e ﬁrmh(e)(fﬂ]ﬂdﬁﬁﬁmof”opﬁml“

wmder this Yo lywiﬂ:t"Opﬁonl";and
(B) exceptfor e licensee purports to comply with subparagraph
IU(C)(iii Tng atleastﬂmfoﬂowingSmonﬂJS)&lat

oraph (a} of the definition of "Option 1" or
cence {depending on which option the

s to comply with subparagraph
of the assurnptions the licensee
is condition; and

#ils licence, has obtained from
it writing by ASIC as an

pay on demand from time to time
licensee is ligble to its creditors at

H10(c)(iv), following an examination of the
licensee complied with subparagraph
Heriod to which the report relates; and

prooiy
e

snﬂa;faragraph 10{c)(v), the licensee complied with

d Subp
(F) for anypenoﬁ%@&x
subparagraph

Alternative A in subparagraph 10(c}{v)E), the parent

(G) for any period whefi the licénsse s
entity has provided atiénforéeable arid unqualified commitment to pay on demand from time to

time an unlimited amouitto the lidénsee or to meet the licensee’s liabilities.
(if) except for any period stated in the'eport when the licensee purports to comply with subparagzaph
10c)(ii), (iv) or (v}, following an examination of the documents the licensee relies on in complying with
"Option 1" or "Option 2" as defined under this licence, the auditor has no reason to believe that:

ASIC
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10

a4



Page 11 of 26 Docld: 010310250 ACN :077 208 461

(A) the licensee did not satisfy the requirements of paragraph 912A(1)(h) of the Act for managing the
risk of having insufficient financial resources to comply with the conditions of this licence; or

{B) &mhcmeefaﬂedtomnplym&&uecashneedsmqmmmﬁusmgei&m@pml“m "Option 2"
as defined under this licence (as applicable) except for:
(1) paragraphs(a), (c) and (€) of the definition of "Option 1" as defined under this licence; or
(2) paragraphs (a) and (c) of the definition of "Option 2" as as defined under this Heence; or

(C) if the licensee relied on "Option 1" as defined under this licence, the assumptions the licensee
adopted for its projection were unreasonable; or

{D) ﬁ&ehcmseerdmdm“OphmZ“asdeﬂnedmderﬂnshcmm,tbebamsfor&msdechonof
assumptions to meet the re ents for its projection adopted was unreasonable; and

(iii) for any period when the lices subparagraphlﬂ(c)(:v),foﬂnwmgmmnahmofﬂle
docummispmpated (iv)(C), the anditor has no reason to believe that:

ts of paragraph 912A{1)(h) of the Act for managing the
mcmnplyw:&ﬂnecmdiﬁonsinﬂmhcence and

ed was mreasenable; and

h 10(c)(v) under Alternative B, following an

e anditor has nio reason fo believe that

9 A(1)(h) of the Act for managing the

h the conditions in this Heence; or
nable.

d §x":r:aud by officers that:
e umder the licence; and

ts, the licensee must be a member of one or more
External Disputes Resolution Scheme { ) witich covers, or together cover, complaints made by retail
clients in relation to the provision of alt'gl fhefmanmal gervices authorised by this licence.

24. Where the licensee ceases to be a member of a‘hy EDRS, the licensee must notify ASIC in writing within 3
business days:
{a) the date the licensee ceases membership of the EDRS(s); and

ASBIC
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Australian

e {2)] thereasonsmeﬁcmsm'smembustdpdmeEDRS(s)humased(mchdmgchcmsmmwhme&mEDRsis
L , nolungeropmmg,faﬂmebymeﬁnmseemrmew&leirmbershipof&leEDRSmwheretheEDRShas
Lo terminated the licensee's membership of the EDRS); and
' , (] dehﬂsof&emeDRS{s)heﬁcmeehﬁndsbmhasjoﬁwd(hﬂudmg&edabmemmbas!ﬁp

P commences and the name of the EDRS); and
Lo (d) delaﬂs&:atpruﬁdeomﬁmaﬁonﬂmt&teﬁmnseeismvaedbyEDRS(s)covai:lgcmipiaintsmadebyreiaﬂ
| dients in relation to the provision of all of the financial services authorised by this licence.

Agreement with Holder of Finuncial Product on Trust
25. If thelcensee: ;
| (a) operates a registered scheme in the, f a responsible entity; or
(b) operates an IDFS as an IDPS ope :
{c) provides a custodial or depg

ro and in the course of operatingd

vice the Hcensee enters info an arrangement:

o (d) with another person (Hlde WEPS propesty or to hold financiat products on trust
-y (e) betweena ("master custodian™)
| person (*subcustodian’) directly or
. ®
o the lic
&

d monitoring of the holder or any

custodian ("master agreement™),
e will be agsessed; and

it, the master custodian will certify that it

- quirements of ASIC Regulatory Guide 133
fead in conjunction with ASIC Regulatory Guides

[}

148 and 167 (formerly
is in force as at the date Of
(iv) how instructions will be gi ‘holder. subcustodian or for a master agreement, the master
custodian; and

. {v) how the client of the licensee will bé'compensated if the client suffers any loss due toa failure by the
b holder, any subcustodian, or for a master agreement, the master castodian, to comply with its duties or
to take reasonable care based on the standards applying in the relevant markets for the assets held and

ASIC
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Australian

(b)

&teexhenttowhichmeholder,mysubcuswdiamorforamasteragremmt,ﬂlemastercusmdim,must
maintainanﬁnhumlevelofprofessimalindmmﬁtymsurmce;and

(vi) ﬂmttheholda,anymbcusmdimandforamasteragreemmtﬂmmizrdmmdmnispmhibitedﬁom
mﬁngadtarge,moﬁgage,ﬁmmoﬂlermcumbmcem,mmreh&mm,&massetsheldmderﬂte
anangmtmﬂessitisform@ms&arndouﬂaysmadewi&m&etermsofthecmtract(hutnut
mdudiugmympaidfeaof&mhdda,masmrmmdimmmmswdim)mmammdmcem&l&m
licensee's instructions; and

(vii)inthemseofarespmsihlemﬁtymmPSuperatawhohasamsmragmmmtwhatshuﬂdbem1.he
wﬂwmcmmm&tmymmmswdimusedmumrdmewimﬂ:semdﬁmsm&udmgﬁeﬁabﬂﬂy
dﬁesubnmbdimbﬂmmsbrmshﬁmmﬂ&eﬁcms&wbmadsmmﬁsﬁmsof&m'mbmﬁm
arehbreadaofﬂ],e pCasSto dix blips o ;md

(viii)how records of the assets I andmainlainedbyﬁehnlder.anysubmswdiHnurfma

master agreement, the mas

5i), (v} o (vi) or to be in writng to the
sracticable for the licensee to:

- or
ldthatptopertyonreasonable

g #xihe e ansible entity, the holder of any scheme
Historysnide 133 (formerly referred to as Policy
- relﬁg to the holding of scheme property and

rugg‘ﬁ% and

thabifie licensee provides other than as the operator of an
1DPS, the holder of any prop #h Tequirements of ASIC Regulatory Guide 133 {formerly
referred to as Policy Statement =% G ‘ements expressed to apply to duties under s601FC(1)(E),
when read with ASIC Regulatory Guides 148%nd 167 (formerly referred to as Policy Statements 148 and 167)
(as each of those Regulatory Guides maintains proper records in
relation to the financial products held.

in relation to any custodial

ASIC
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ra Prohibiiion fo Operate Managed Discretionary Account Service
27. The licensee must not provide an MDA service to a retail client except when operating a registered scheme.

ooy Retention of Financial Services Guides, Statements of Advice and Material Relating to Personal Advice
‘ 28. Whueﬁeﬁcmseeproﬁdesﬁnmdﬂpmdudadﬁcetorehﬂcﬁmﬁ,ﬂmﬁcmseemstamethatcopies
Y (wheﬁlerinmnteﬁal,electmnicuroﬂterfom)of&efollowingdocumenharerelainedfuratleastﬂ!epeﬁod
i speciﬁed:
‘ (a) each Pinancial Services Guide ('FSG") (induding any Supplementary FSG) given by or on behalf of the
- Hcme,mbymyanﬁﬁsedreprmaﬂaﬁved&wﬁcmwﬂeamgh&atﬁpaﬂy-hrapm
! commencing on the date of the F5G andzondin ing for at least 7 years from when the document was last
¢ provided to a person as a retail ch

& provision ufpmaladviceto.aretaﬂcﬁent(u&ler&ian

v personal advice for which a St A") is not required or for which a record of the advice
is kept in accardance with

. @ the client’s releva » meaning of subparagraph 945A(1)(2)(); and

L (i) the inquiries stamces within the meaning of subparagraph

945A(1)(a)(
£ iii) the cons X

M)

subject matter of the advice within the

¢ as aiifwhen required under the Act. The
ad-and monitored.

: es to provisions of the Corporations Act2001

("the Act") untess otherwise specifie 15} ‘this licence are for ease of reference only and do not
affect interpretation. Terms used in thisTitiencétiye the safiie meaning as is given to them in the Act (including, if
relevant, the meaning given in Chapter 7 of the Art) and ‘the following terms have the following meanings:

actual or contingent liabilities of the relevant kind means:
{2) an actual or contingent monetary liability; or

]
.
i

ASIC
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(b) anactual or contingent liability under a non-standard margin lending facility, in the circumstances
determined under the terms of the facility, to transfer marketable securities o the client.

adequately secured means: _
(a) secured by an enforceable charge over financial products (other than financial products issued by the licensee or
jts associate) if:
(i) the financial products are:
(A) regularly traded on:
(1) a financial market (as defined in subsection 767A(1) of the Act and disregarding subsection 767A(2)

of the Act} operated by an 'ura]icenseeuﬂmrﬂnmﬂm]imnseeorﬁsamdmﬂiatm
pmducessuﬁciaﬂyrdiablepﬁcesmassess&levaheofthe

the reasanable opinion of,

SIC Regulatory Guide 72 (formerly referred to as Policy

= V%@ﬁﬁmelves are adequately

gheet at the time of calculation

adjusted assets meansthe.y.
e Act if the licensee were a reporting

made up for lodgement as :)‘Efa

entity: ;

(a) minus the value of exclude

{b) minus the value of any receiv
the licensee has excluded from ac
receivable; and s

(c) minus the value of any assets that would'be includéd in the calculation that are encumbered as a security against
liability to a person that provides a security'bond to ASIC up to the amount of the bond; and

(d) minus the value of any assets that would be included in the calculation that may be required to be applied fo
satisfy a liability under a credit facility that is made without recourse to the licensee up to the amount of that
liability excluded from adjusted liabilities; and

ik éincluded in the calculation, up to the amount that
asis that there is an enforceable right of set-off with that

ASIC
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(e} plus
() the amoums of any eligible undertaking that is not an assef; or
(H) if the eligible undertaking is for an unlimited amoumt, an unlimited amount;
pruvidedmatifﬂteeﬁgiblemdertakhgisgivmbyapersonwhoismeligiblepmvideronlybecauseof
paragraph (b) of the definition of “eligible provider” under this Hcence, the ampunt added may be no more than
unequarlerofﬂmeligibleprovide:’snetassets(ecdudinginhngibleassets)asshovmin&iemostrecentaudited
financial statements lodged with ASIC; and _

() forcalculaﬁngASLF,phsﬁtevahmofmycmmtassetsufmy&ust(o&mﬂnmamg‘steredschme)ofwhich
theiigmseeist'umeasifttmywouldappearon&lebalanmsheetasassetsof&le]icmseeexcepttoﬂ:eactentﬁle
- value exceeds the sum of: 7
() the current liabilities of the trust as i

() =any adjustments to ASLF that are

accounting purposes being in
ke e ! ntage as set ot in paragraphs () and ) of the
adjusts ! value of any current assets that would be acquired
i:l‘llel:m:llforpayinga contE ; Yo (C)ﬁ)md(iﬁ)of&lel Frniti of"smd_ard
Sercentage of the relevant contingent liability.

d appear on the balance sheet as assets of the licencee; and
e w,mmmgmmd&emm
adiust :lu:

adjasted Habilities 2 g a balance sheet at the time of

calcutation made upeter = L.of the Act if the licensee were a

reporting entity; ¥ i Rt N

(a) mi €; and

(b) if the corresponding

(©) rse to the licensee; and

(d) gASLE plis the amonritof: e : iysiriist (other than a registered scheme)
of which the licege is s ey wouldeprens ce shiet as liabilities of the trustee; and

wother person's liability where the licensee

5 _}”’ ity secured or the value of the asseis

encumberedafterdeducmig v adusti s shis Brendiwhichever is lower.

{e) plus the value of any:«“&*saefsf“ i

adjusted surplus liquid funds or ASEE; minus either:
(a) the standard adjustments (refer to . adjustments" under this licence); or
(b) such other adjustments as ASIC may froi time 15 ffme consent to in writing,

clearing participant means a clearing participant in the licensed clearing and setflement facility ("CS Facility") as
defined in the operating rules of Australian Clearing House Pty Limited ("ACH"), as at the date of this licence, that
complies with those operating rules relating to financial requirements, taking into account any walver by ACH.

ASIC
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Australian Financial Services Licence

customer service representative means call centre staff or front desk staff who deal with initial queries from
customers.

derivative means "derivatives” as defined in section 761D of the Act (including regnlation 7.1.04 of the Corporations
Repulations) and:

(a) includes “managed investment warrants” as defined in this licence; and

() excludes "derivatives” that are "foreign exchange coniracts” as defined in this licence.

eligible cusindian means:
(a) an Awusiraliam ADI; or
(b) amarket participant or a clearing p

(c) asubcustodian appointed by a fo in (a) or (b) of this definition.

eligible provider means:
(@)
®) see’s associate is the responsible entity):
ved foreign exchange under ASIC
date of this licence; and
pwn in the most recently
AFamount; or
(c) nent) or a government of a
sdDevelopment (“OECD country
uniry government; or
CY ISELL ate ; regulator; or
(e) i insti i) ; 5 ( purpose; or
® : :
@
1 con
(disreparding any part previously paid or any amount that would be
repayable as a current lisbility o, for calcalating NTA, as a liability by the licensee if money were paid), provided

by an eligible provider in the form of an undértaking to pay the amount of fhe financial commitment o the
licensee, and that:
(i) is an enforceable and unqualified obligation; and

ASIC
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(i) remains cperative [evmif,foracample,&leﬁcmseemasesmholdanAFSﬁcmce) until ASIC consents in
writing to the cancellation of the undertaking; or :
(b) approvedinwriﬁngbyASICasaneligiblemdeﬁaldng.

excluded assets means;
(a) intangible assets (ie. non-monetary assets without physical substance); and
(b) emeptwhena]lowedlmderpa:agraphs(e)or(f)ofﬁﬁsde&ﬁﬁun,assetsowhgorreceivabla("receivables")
from or assets invested in, any person who:
(i) isan associate of the licensee; or
(ii) was an associate of the licensee at the;
(i) becarne lable to the licensee becaus
(c) except when allowed under pa
(i) held as a beneficial inf

liabﬂitywasincuu’edurtheinveshnmtwasmade;or
mmecton mhm&mﬁlamﬂg@d

110
3
43

ESOTHT sd]m;ﬂr
the licensee ar its associate may exercise any

{d) , vables from the trustee of any trust in
: er or control; and

i)

mgﬁ%’i&m, directly or indirectly invested

Fount isf&“kher discounted by 10% of the value after any
thé sieknition of "adjusted surplus liquid funds” in this

(ii) the following apply:
(A) itis receivable from an insurance that is a body regulated by APRA and results from a
transaction entered into by the licensée in the ordinary course of its business on its standard commercial
terms applicable to persons that aré not associated with the licensee on an arm's length basis; and
(B) there isno reason to believe that any amount invested in the licensee would not have been invested if
the transactions that caused the receivable had not taken place or were not at the time of the investment

expected to take place; and

ASIC
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(&) there is no reason to believe that the recoverability of the receivable will materially depend on the value
of an investment by any person in the licensee; and
(D) the total value of the receivables under this subparagraph (i) before any adjustment required by
paragraph(a)or(b)ofﬁledeﬁrﬁﬁmof“adjusmdsurphsﬁquidfmds"mﬂﬁsﬁmisappﬁedisrmt
mnre&anGB%of&eadjusted]iabﬂiﬁesofﬂ:e]icenseediﬂegardingﬂ:issubparagmph(iﬁ);ar
{iv) ASICcmsmbhwﬂﬁngmﬂteﬁcmseemﬁng&leammtowmgasnmbéngma:dudedassebmd
43) despiteparagraphs(b)md(d)ofﬂﬁsdeﬁniﬁmmeﬁcmmnmdudeamceivabkmm&wm&mtit
isowhgbywayoffe&fmm,onmderﬂghmofreimbmemmtfure:q:endihneby&eiicenseeoﬁnfpmperty
nrf,a.supammﬁmaﬂyudnﬁledmﬁeSupmmmaﬁmhdusky(S@aﬁim)Adw%,mmPSma
mgisteredscheme(“sdme")mmeacmtﬂmreceivab]e:
() exceeds amounis invested by the s 3,.0r lent {other than by way of a deposit with an Australian ADI
in the ordinary course of its bankj directly or indirectly by the scheme to, the licensee, a body
the licensee controls controls the ficensee or a body corparate that the
licensee's controller contro .

disallowable legisiative instrument

IDPS property means property acquiré PS other than property held by a client.

incidental propesty means: g e

(a) assets of any kind which are necessary for, or incidental fo the effective operation of the scheme, the total value of
which, and the total liability that may arise from the holding of which, does not exceed 10% of the value of the
assets net of liabilities other than liabilities to members as members of the scheme; and

ASIC
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Australian Financial Services Licence

@)

()

)

()

cashheldfaruptosmon&lsinmaccmtwiﬂtanAustralimADIstyledasatmstaccom‘-tﬂtatisgudi&datleast
onge every 6 months by a registered company auditor where the auditor’s report states that in the anditor's
opinion the account has been operated in accordance with the trust:

(i) pending payment to members; or

(i) tomeetexpected expenses (not including investments) over a 3 month period; or

(i) pendingappﬁcaﬁmhachrhgamortgageandpayingmyfeesmdmslsim:idmizlto&:eacqlﬁsiﬁomand
contractual, lease or licence rights that are not assignable except with the consent of the member or that it would
notbemasmablypnc&cabletoassign(o&ner&umtoamwrespmsiblemﬁty)mdanydocmnentsevidmdng
those contractaal, lease or licence rights; and

assets of trivial value; and

levies of a time sharing scheme which a account with an Australian ADI styled as a trust account that
is audited at least twice annually by a fapany anditor where the report from the auditor is provided

to the respansible entity's board oz 3 ' e and states that in the auditor's opinion the accomnt has

been operated in accordance wil

{®
standard adjustments means: -
{a) discounts as follows: : _
(i} 8% for the vatues that reflect'obli censee a certain sum maturing beyond 12 months unless
the interest rate applicable is re réflect market interest rates at least annually; and

(i) 16% for the values that reflect any assets other than:
(A) an obligation to pay the licensee 4 certain sum; or
(B) a derivative; or
(C) an interest in property held in trust by another Kcensee under Division 3 of Part 7.8 of the Actor the

rights to money held by another licensee in an account under section 9818 of the Act; and
¥*

ASIC
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(b} 8% of the values that reflect others’ obligaﬁonstopaytl’te]icmseeacertainsmmccepttoﬂlemctentﬁlatﬂte asset
isadequatelysecuredorisaﬁgk&agai:nstann&mﬁcmseemrespectofmmeympmpertyhddby&ato&mr
Hcensee in an account under section 981B or held in trust under Division 3 of Part 7.8 of the Act; and

(© ﬂ'tefollowinganmuniﬁfmcmxﬁngmtliabﬂitiesandconﬁngmtliabi]iﬁesofanytrust(o&lerﬂianaregislmed
scheme) of which the licensee is trustee: :
i1} 5%ofmycmﬁngmtﬁabﬂiﬁeshatcmbequm&ﬁedmdammdawﬁﬁngmmb-mderwﬁﬁngof

financial products except: '

{A) duz:ing&te5businessdaysaﬁer&lemmmﬂmentisassumed;and

(B duﬁngmypeﬁodﬁisun]awﬁﬂwaomptappﬁmﬁmsfmﬂ:eﬁnmdalpmducbmwlﬁdlﬂm

it rdates(sudmasmdg;snbsecﬁmm@)msecﬁonlm&)and&tepeﬁodmdingS
business days after the first day; ict it becomes lawfnl to accept applications; and

(C) to the extent that the imde &mnpezsonsseek‘:ngmacqui:eﬂteﬁnancialpmdncts
Suhj&tto&ﬁ u derwrith

5% of the potential Eabitity, 5%

that can be quantified under a derivative other than
ollowing ar a combination of the following:
E1D(1)(c) of the Act; and

@

that they will become liabilities
s of applying the adjustment)

(d) Pt
Hahle for in relation to a contingent Hability
 gieitified; and

f.{,%,!

tie amount of the adjustment that would

T

(e) wherethe hcmseehasﬂggee i

i z‘%
ility will become a liability may be treated as trivial if
licensee as less than 5%.

discounts apply against the value of current assets:

the probability that this will occur i8* ;

For the purposes of paragraphs (a) and (b)of ' : i

(0 usedin calculating “adjusted assets” in this licence; and

{g) of any trust (other than a registered schemel)“bf which the licensee is a trustee (see subparagraph (£)(ii) of the
definition of “adjusted assets” in this licence); and

(h) that are deducted under paragraph (c) of the definition of “adjusted assets” in this licence as assets fo which
recourse may be had for a liability of the licensee where the licensee's liability is limited to those asseis but the

*

&

ASIC
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total discounts applied to those assets shall not exceed any excess of the value of the licensee's assets to which
recourse may be taken over the amount of the liability; and

(i) thatis the applicable percentage of the current assets that would be acquired in refurn for paying a contingent
Hiability referred to in subparagraph (c)(i) or (iti) of this definition including rights against a sub-underwriter (see
paragraph (g) of the definition of “adjusted assets” in this licence).

'I'he]inmseedoesnothavem@plyﬂlediscomtstomevalueofammmlspayable&omac]imtin&mordinarycourse

ufihsﬁnmdalsa'vicesbudnessforﬁnandalpmducts&mt&lediemhasagreedmbuy,ifﬂlemmisreq]ﬂredtn

be—and in the reasonable estimation of the licensee probably will be—paid no more than 5 business days after the
client became liable.

surplus liquid funds or SLF means adj s adjusted Habilities:
(a) plus any non-current lisbilities that e ing Habilities and the vatue of any assets that

s do not secure another person’s current lisbility)
¥1 |:.:

sisted assets; and

ition of"ehgib]aprov‘tdﬂr"underﬁﬁs
sets minus any intangible assets and the

{b) minus any non-current 2
(¢} if the licensee is an elig

() 6months FrEI:

held in a regulated trost
(d) special custody assets.

trigger point means either of the trigg ition 17 of this licence.

value of assets means, for the purpose of condinon 11-0f this licence, the value of assets and other scheme property

and /or IDPS property determined as follows: -

(2) in the case of assets that would be recognised in preparing a balance sheet for members under Chapter 2M of the
Act - their value as if at that time such a balance sheet was being prepared; and

ASIC
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Page 26 of 26 Docld

ed scheme and managed as part of the scheme must be

{b) inthe case ofanyoﬂnerschmepropertyand/orIDPSpmperty-itsmarketvahe.For&lepurpuseof&nis
calculation morigages held by members of a
treated as assets of the scheme,
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Telephone: (12 6260 3800
Mir Park and Ms Muller Facsimile: (1) 2503811

I enclose the weiften sibtios, iy veiEis ff decisio gl @ information sheet tifled
"ASIC Decisions; Your Rights".

Graeme D. Plath . .
Delegate—Ansh‘alianSecnriﬁesmdiaunemsComnnsmon
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Australian Securities and Investments Commission'
Corporations Act 2001 section 915B

Notice of Suspension of Australian Financial Services Licence

To: LM Investment Management Limited ACN 077 208 461
FTI Consulting
Corporate Cezntre One
Level 9
2 Corporate Court
BUNDALL QLD 4217
TAKE NOTICE that under s915B(3)b) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Act), the

Australisn Securities and Investments Commission (ASEC) hereby saspends A
ﬁmanmaimmimmemmba‘ﬂﬂ?.@i' ¢ by!.MImwshnthamagementLMed

ACN 077 208461 (Licensee) until9. Apeil 2615.

Schedule B

(@) The provisions of Chapter S5C
(b) The provisions of Chapter 7, oﬁﬁthmthepmvmmnsml’arts'f.z,73 7.4 and 7.5.

Dated this 9% day oprnl 2013

Signed ... ;
Graeme Darcy Plath, a delegate of the Austrahan Securities and Investments Commission
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3. Usider sﬁaf the Act an “%u

AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES AND INVESTMENTS COMMISSION

In the matter of s915B of the
Corporations Act 2001 and
LM Investment Management
Limited ACN 077 208 461

Date of decision: 9 April 2013

Decision

That Australian financial services licence number 220231 held by LM
$915B(3)(b) of the Corporations Act 2001 vntil 8 April 2015

STATEMENT OF REASONS

Legulative frame-work

N

body cotpordte that is ender 26

3. UndersO15H of the Ack

"I the written nofice of suspension of cgncellation that
licensee, ASIC may specify that the Heence continues e]

‘ ion or cancellation had not Jigppened for pe
provisions of this Act, in relation to specified matters, a specified period or both.”

4. 1amadeclegate 6f ASIC for the purpose of making a decision under s915B of the

Act.
Section 915B of the Act applies to LM Investment Management Limited

5. Under s913B of the Act, on 15 July 2002, ASIC licensed LM Investment
Management Limited ACN 077 208 461 (LMIM) as an Australian financial
services licensee. ASIC issued LMIM with AFS licence no. 220281. This AFS
licence (Licemee) was varied on several occasions and was last varied on 7
September 2012. The Licence authorises LMIM to catry on a financial services
business to:

(a) Provide financial product advice regarding certain classes of financial

products;
(b) Deal in a financial product by engaging in certain activities regarding certain
classes of financial products;
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(c) Operate specified registered manage investment schemes;
(d) Provide specified custodial or depository services.

6. Document no. TE5097309 lodged with ASIC shows that on 19 March 2013 Mr
Park and Ms Muller (Administrators) were appointed by LMIM as joint and
several administrators of LMIM.

7. Accordingly, on 19 March 2013, LMIM became a body corporate to which
'§915B(3)(b) of the Act applied.

Appropriate to exercise discretion under s915B of the Act

8. Under s9.15B(3)(b) of the Act ASIC has a discretion as fo whether to suspend or

or canoel an AFS huence vader sQiSB | éechen C sets out ASIC’s general
@proachaswwhenltmlltake administrative:

! [2008] AATA 901 at [31]
2 Seotion 760A relevanily provides that Chapter 7 — “Financial Services and Markets”, is intended to

promote:

@) conﬁdeﬂmdmfomeddemmnmakmghymmmofﬁnmmﬂmductsmdmeswhﬂe
facilitating efficiency, ﬂexibﬂﬂyanﬂmnnvmonmthaprummofﬁmsepmdumandsm,
and

®) fairness, honesty and professionalism by those who provide financial services; ..

¥ Subsection 1(2) relevantly provides that ASIC must seck to:

(a) mmnﬂm,ﬁcﬂxmemdmpmveﬂ:eperfmmmceofﬂwﬁnmﬂsystemmﬂtheemheswﬂhm
that system in the interests of commercial certainty, reducmgbumnesscosts,andﬂaeefﬁciency
and development of fhe economy; and

(b}promoteﬂleconﬁdentandmformedparﬁmpanonofmvestorsmdconsummmtheﬁnancml

system; ..
* See subs (l)(b), (2)(b), (3){(b), @)
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12. The appointment of the Administrators occurred under s436A of the Act which
operates on a company resolving that:

"(a)in the opinion of the directors voting for the resolution, the company is
" insolvent, or is likely to become insolvent at some fiture time; and
(b) an administrator of the company should be appointed”.

13. It is not appropriate that an entity that is insolvent, or likely to become insolvent,
be licensed, under s 913B of the Act, to carry on a financial services business
given that the entity's:

(a) Feilure to efficiently manage its own affairs causes concern about its ability
to provide financial services efficiently; _ ,

(b) Financial situation canses concera shout its abilily fo finance the provision of
financial services so as they are provided efficieitly.

dvised that "King &

17. In Sovereign Capital Ltd v Australian Securities.and Iivestments Commission’
the Admiinistrative Appeals Tribunal ssid a “Ficence should cuily be suspended or
cancelled if it is necessary to do so in order to acconplish the objects of the
legislative scheme. A suspension will ordinarily be preferable if there is a
reasonable prospect that the lcence-holder can remedy the defects which
prompted the concern. If there is no reasonable prospect of the issues being
resolved, cancellation may be the appropriate course. The power to suspend or
cancel should not be used merely to punish the licence-holder for
transgressions”. :

18. In Story v National Companies and Securities Commission® Young J said in a
“matter concermning a dealer's licence "On the matter as to whether revocation
should follow an opinion of inefficiency, various matters have to be weighed. One
of these is the public interest that people should be permitted to follow a trade or
profession which they are qualified to follow. Another is that the public expect
those who fall short of minimum standards to be removed from the profession, at
Jeast until such time as the regulatory body can be assured that they are able to

5 [2008] AATA 901 at [84]
6 (1988) 13 NSWLR 661 at 686
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perform their finctions efficiently. A third consideration is that the step of
revocation is purely for the public benefit and is not punitive".

19. It is possible that LMIM may cease to be an externally-administered body
corporate and operate as it did pnor to the appointment of the Administrators. It -
may st that time be ap thatLM]lVIholdthemeoeInthese
circumstances 1 will, under s915B(3)(b) of the Act, prepare a writien notice
suspending the Licence for a period of two years.

Making a specification n under s915H of the Act
20. Undaslﬂ;oftheASICAﬂtASICmustseekio prmotethewqﬁdeutaml

oanwestarsmdcamersmtheﬁmdsysm" Itis
: : : sristrators of EMIM to

22, IwﬂmmamﬁmmMW@iﬁBomemmﬂmgthehcm
aufil 9 April 2015, subject to the specifica ion described dbove.

2 P Al

Graeme Darcy Plath
Delegate of thie Australian Securities and Investments
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Australian Securities and Investments Commission - ASIC decisions - your rights Page 1 of 3

ASIC

Anstralizn Secorities & Investments Commssion

About ASIC > Dealing with ASEC > ASIC decisions - your rights

ASIC decisions - your rights

ASIC makes many decisions about corporaftions, securities and financial products and

services that might affect you. If we have made a decision that directly affects you, you may

have rights connegied with the decision, This information sheet sets out an gverview of your

rhighis and how 10 exercise them. You may have other rights in addition o those discussed
ere,

Note: Under certain circumstances ASIC can walve late lodgement fees. Fyourinquiryis
abeut withdrawing.alate lodgement fee, you can find more detalls in the-information sheet, .

Eeo waivers INFO 87).

What can you find cut from us?

28-day time
Get our ffwe have not1old you why we made the-decision whemrwe notified you
reasons in about it, youmay be entitied to ask for a writien Statament-of-reasons.
writing
How fo-apply
Yo must write to the person who made the decision within 28 days of
being told about the decision.
Ask for You may seek access to documents about the decision under the
2:hcess to Freedom of Information Act 1982.
her

documents How fo apply

You must apply to ASIC in writing stating clearly which documents you
want to obtain. Send you application by email to
FOlrequest@asic gov.au or by mail {o:

Senior Manager, Administrative Law Team

Austiralian Securities & investments Commission

GPO Box 9827

SYDNEY NSW 2001

Charges may be imposed for the time spent in searching for and

refriaving relevant documents, decision-making time, photocopying and
postage.

http://www.asic.gov.au!asic/asic.nsﬂbyheadline/ASIC+decisions+—+yourl-ﬁghts+?open... 9/04/2013
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Anustralian Securities and Investments Commission - ASIC decisions - your rights

For more information contact the Administrative Law Team at
FOlrequest@asic.gov.au.

Can you get an independent review?

You may have a right to seek review of ihe detision by the Administrative Appeals Tribunal
(AAT). The AAT is an independent body which can review some of ASIC's decisions. The
AAT can, among other things:

e confirm our decision;
= vary our decision; or

e set our decision aside and replace i with iis own decision,

How to apply to the AAT

Inwriting  Youmustapply to the AAT forveview inwrifing, The AAT hasaform for this
purpase whichyou-can use if you prefer.

Intime

inacopy.

wawiv:aat.gov.au, call he AAT 6n 1300 366 700 orwwiite tohe-AAT at GPOBox 9955 itvyour

if you are unhappy with how we handled your matter

Talktous i youhave a complaint about the way we have handled a matier, you may
wish to bring your concerns to the attention «of amore senior ASIC staff
member than the officer with whom you have bean dealing.

Take it You may also have the right to complain to the Commonwezith

further Ombudsman. However, the Ombudsman usually prefers that you discuss
your complaint with ASIC first. There is an office.of the Commonwealth
Ombudsman In each capital city: see your local White Pages. For further
information call 1300 362 072 or visit www.ombudsman.gov.au.

Applying for compensation under the CDDA scheme

If you are not able to seek a remedy through administrative appeal, litigation or another legal
mechanism, you may also wish to consider an application under the Scheme for
Compensation for Detriment caused by Defective Administration (CDDA scheme). The CDDA
scheme is an administrative scheme that aflows Ausirallan Government agencies to provide
compensation when there is a moral rather than a legal obligation fo do so.

http://www.asic.gov.au/asic/asic.nsf/byhead]ine/ASIC+decisions+—+your+rights+?open... 9/04/2013

Page 2 of 3
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For guidance on how the CDDA scheme operates, the criteria fo be applied and the
caleulation of payments, see the Department of Finance and Deregulation website and the

Commonwealth Ombudsman.

Where can | get more information?
e ASIC on 1300 300 630

« Administrative Appeals Tribunal website at www.aat.gov.au
» Commonwealth Ombudsman website at www.ombudsman.gov.au
o Office of the Australian Information Commissioner websile at www.oaic.gov-au

«» Depariment of Finance and Deregulation website at www.finance.gov.au

o e T

http://www.asic.gov.au/asic/asic.nsf/byheadline/ASIC+decisions+—+your+rights+?open... 9/04/2013
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1
| Page 1 of24 Dacld: 00306653 ACN :080 383 679
HE
L
[
|
T
o 1.  This Hcence sathorises the licenses to carry ana (® financizl assets; and :
L financial services bnsiness in: (C) morigages;
L @ ptﬂﬂﬂeﬁmualpmdnctadmﬁnﬂm o retail and whalesale clients.
following dasses of financial products:
P @ depositand payment products limited
o s
i -
b (A) basic deposit products; and
. (i) interests inmamged investm
: schemes imited to:.
o (A} ownmanaged in
cely;
L
o
. holding of any incidental property) in 3%
L capacity as responsible entity:
() schemes which onty hold the following
: types of property:
(A) direct real properiy;
P
‘ 1
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Key Person Requiremenis
2 Ifanyof&lefu]]nwmgofﬁner(s)orkeype:sm(s)ceasebbeuﬁm:sofﬁ:eﬁcmseemhpe:ﬁomdnﬂesmbehalf
of the licensee with respect to its financial services business:
(s) RodgerIngle BACON;
{t) David John HOGAN; and
(9 TrevorJolm GIBSON;
 the licensee must notify ASIC in writing within 5 business days of the following matters:
d &edam&ecﬁcamkeypmmsedbhemuﬁmof&ehmmmpeﬁmmMmbehaﬁd&e
licensee with respect to its finamrial ses bmmd

@ ........ ricatio and expezicras of any replacement
] to perform duties on behalf of the licencee with respect to #ts
y persan, detafted neasons a5 to wiy the licensee has
with the Art and the eraditions of fidks
bewy myreplmmtufsndlpmmmgb
pf with respect io its financial services
. Complience
3.
Training Requi
4. The Hrensee nynSEfy
* Heensee (including
5. n &prcvidﬁﬁnmcialpmductadvinemretzﬂcﬁmdsonbeha]f

(a} hascomphtedhaﬁﬁngmmesatmapprbpnaialevelthatmmhavebemapprwedby ASIC in writing
that are relevant to those fomctions arid tasks; or

(b) has been individually assessed as competent by an assessor that is or has been approved by ASIC in writing;
or .

AGIC

JnCen Bl &
oLl Gl e
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© mrspeddﬁnmddproduaadﬁmmhdcdepastpmdndsmdﬁdhﬁsimmahgmshpaymm
that are related to a basic deposit product, has completed training comrses that are ar have been assessed by
the licensee as meeting the appropriate level that are relevant to those functions and tasks.

6. Condition 5 does ot apply in relation for
@ anmdpemmwhnisamsmasaﬁmmramhﬁvemdwhnpmﬁdsﬁnmddpmdnaadﬁm
@) derived from a script approved by 2 natural person who complies with paragraphs 5(a), (b) and (c)
("quatifiad person"); or
(i) mﬂzﬁednectsmpmofaqﬁdpmpmtatﬂmmehmﬂm;m
®) amta:alpmwhmsa ara-plam ce adviser and who provides firancis] product advice tnder
the direct snpermmofa f 0 is, 0 addition to the licemsee, responsible for:

() ensuring that any financiz is provided by the para-plmner or trainee adviser for
which a Statement of A flecied in a Statement of Advice that has been reviewed
by the qualified 1 yice i5 given, to ensure that the Statement of Advice

(i) .. il product advice to the cient,

manner specified in this paragraph, and

the Hcensee must, i directed in writing; _&gsrg,- %e all reasonable steps to pravide the following information in
writing to each retail client to whom the ‘epresihtative had provided personal advice within the 3 yeass prior to
fhe date of the banning order or disqualification order:

() thename of the representative; and .

(d) any authorised representative rumber allocated to the representative by ASIC; and

(e) the terms of the banning or disquakification order; and
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{) contact detals of the licensee for dealing with enquiries and complaints regarding the banming or
disquatification or the conduct of the representative as a representative of the licensee.

Anancial Requirements for Market Participants and Clearing Parficipants
9. Mm&eﬁms&hamhtpaﬁdpaHMaﬁmdmuketmadﬂﬁngpuﬁdpmthaﬁmdehﬂﬂy,
conditions 10 o 18 (inclusive) do not apply to the licensee.

Base Leve] Financial Requiremnends
10, Thelicensee must -
(8} beable topay all iis debis as and w

wn in the licensee’s most recent batance sheetlodged
nsee’s total assets wonld correnily not exceed its

ted at the balance date shown in the
ve nin reasan to suspect that the Heensee's

S5 or a trustee for the lcensee's creditors,
months, &aking into account ail

(B) reasonably expects that (basgd giiccess to cash from ifs related bodies corporate) it willhave

Wmm(Mﬂé@)mMMWmammemmm
{including any additional liabififies that the licensee might incur during that period), taking nfo
amm&aﬂadvmecumadﬂcmﬁtgmdwhrwhidtﬂmﬁcmseeshcﬂdmsmahtyplmcmd
<) msu:es&lataresponsibleofﬁcernf&teﬁcmseehasdocumentedﬂlat&leofﬁcerhasﬂlereasonable
expeciaﬁonforatleastﬁiefoﬂcwingtheemmﬂtperiodtoge&termgiﬂlereasmfmﬁormimﬂle
N

ABIC

At il b
[Rpwn -
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e

acpxhﬁm&mcmﬁngmdafmwﬁdl&mﬁmseecmsidmﬁiszeambhmplmﬂm
mﬁmsmademmhg&emnhgmdsmd&ebaﬁsﬁrsdmﬁngﬂmsemﬁms;m
™ Opﬁmﬁ{pMaﬁtyp@mmshﬂnwprqwﬁmsmamsoﬁdmdbads)uamqmmm
licensee ensures that:

(A) the cash flows of the licensee and each of its related bodies corporate, other than any body
mgulatedbyAPRAf'ﬁmeegm@“),mmmagedmaummﬁdaiﬂﬂbasis;and

B) &mhahodympo@ewi&hﬁeﬁmgmnpdwﬁdmﬂmmﬁmnf&eﬁmeegm@m
cubsidiaries that is not a body regulated by APRA (‘parent entity”); and

©) ﬁepma&aﬂymnpﬁswﬂhOpﬁmlmOpﬁmZasﬁﬂmﬂm&mee,mshﬂuwsofany
member of the licensee ¢ ore cash flows of the licensoe and any cash held by a member of

fistee or as trustee of a relevant trust, were so held by the

o

- ng three months with the reasons
for forming the Eigpe which the licensee considers it is reasonable t0
plem, the assmphs ies and the basis for selecting those
agsumptions; and ™

(F) the licensee has 1o reastio ¢ihiat the parent entity has not complied with the requirement
at subparagraph (C) mhaﬁ{a‘iled;ﬁ‘?écmply in a material respect with its obligations wnder
2M of the Act or, if tha parent entity is not a company, under any other laws (whether law
in Australia or not) relating to financial reporting that apply to it.
Far 5 years after the end of the last financial year that includes & part of the period to which any document
prepared for subparagraph (c)(iv)(C) or Alternative Bin subparagraph (c)(v)(E) relztes, the licensee must keep the
document and give it to ASIC if ASIC requests.

ASIC

Axtralun Syl &
I A Gl
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Mcidkequieunaﬂsfornnmgedlnvshneulsundcmwsm
pul mmmmamwmmm@hmmﬂmmmmm@mm@m
by the licensee at least ane of the following is satisfied:
(a) anthesdlmepmpatymdo&ﬂamebufﬁeschane(s)mhddbymmbasmhﬂdbyamhdim
appdnﬁdby&eﬁmseeﬂ:athasﬁnﬂﬁmNTAmismeﬁgib]emsm&‘mum
®) aﬂ&es&mepmpaty@do&aameﬁi&es&me(s)mthdﬂbymbmmqedﬂmsbdywseﬁm
mmﬁﬂﬂﬂmmmmw&eﬁmmammwmm@amb
m@mwmw@,m&mmﬂemmmmmm
() theHicensee and the licensee has SEEEEO00 NTA; o
() the custodian aor sub-custodiag dian has $500,000 NTA or is an eligible enstodiarg or
i me(s) that are not held under paragraph (a) or (b) of

anaged as part of the scheme);

e

Jement of $50,000 and a

P
i

#3(ii) of this licence if the only assets itholds
56 definition of "special custody assets" under
sunt, desexibed in paragraph (d) of the

13. If at any time the licensee:
(@) is required to hold money in a separate: mder Division 2 of Part 7.8 of the Act; or
{b) holdsmnneyoro&mpropertymtustforac]ie:ﬁorisrequiredtodosomderRegulaﬁon?.&G‘?(Z)ofthe
Corporations Regulations or otherwise; ar
© hasthepuwerwdjsposeofadimt’spropertymdupmverofattomeyoru&\erwise;

ASIC

ALl ey urls &
Ptis ey ettt =
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&ehm&mmmematﬁeﬁmsmmalﬁnﬁﬂmmsuphsﬁqmdfmds(m?mﬂmﬂmmtalvalug

of the maney and property for all clierts is less than $100,000 exchuding:

(@ mmeyﬁdhssahsﬁedacha&shabﬂﬂymmmmmdwhﬂe&emmachngmdaa
binder or section 9858 of the Act applies, or praperty acquired by investment of that maney; or

)] &emhedpmpﬂwhmﬁeﬁmmdyhdﬂsadmmtufhﬂgaﬂ&ecﬁm&hashgﬂhﬂem&e
property.

Finuncial Requirements for Licensee Transaciing with Chents
14, Eﬁehms&mmﬂmmmmmhmbymgﬂoawmwﬂhachﬂd@mh
s),ﬂ:ehca:seemnsthaveaﬂ;usledmphs}:qmdfurﬂs

(a) $50,000; plus
(5) 5% of adjusted abiities’
(© 05% of adjusted i

{d) thetotalof

trust for clients; or
(i) isadequately secnred as defined in par aph (a) or (b) of the definition of “adequately secured” undes this
licence; or

(i) is aliability incurred by a-daeringinhoatramactmnonahcensedmarket&mtlstobeseﬂiedumlgadearmg
and settlement facility, the operation of which is anthorised by an Austratian CS facility Licence; or

ASIC

nsipias Sl &
o eudmects e
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(1] kmdﬂahdytm&mgemmmdﬁeﬁms&isreqmdmhwemﬂmﬂﬂmdﬁﬂmmpiﬂm
another condifion of this licence because the licensee has entered a foreign exchange coniract as principal; or
@) isunder a derivative where:
{i) the Licensee does not make a market in derivatives; and
{id) the licensee entered into the dealing for the purposes of managing & financial risk; and
(i) eﬂhﬂﬁeﬁm&ﬁd&ﬁngshdahnﬁvﬁmnﬁaﬁgﬁﬁm&pmdimbnﬁnﬁsmofﬁebushﬁsuf
it and its related bodies corporate taken together; and
fv) the Ecensee did not enter into the dealing an the instructions of another person; or
{m) is under a foreign exchange contract where the licensee:
@ doesnotmake a marketin for e contracts; and
() enteed inin the contract for. 3 enabling a payment in one of the currencies under the
u,mg: .
In this condition, a refere

s of this icence

b ‘minimum ASLF required under condition

x
2

 liabilities or other financial obligati 6 the
-mwﬁﬁngﬂ:at,havingconducﬁedreasonablemquirymto
y “Ezat&teliuenseewiﬂfaﬂtocump}:ywiﬂtiisob]igaﬁmsunder

licensee's board or other governing bo@has :
#ts financial position, there is no reason &5
section 912A of the Act. ’

17. Where the licensee's board or other governing body has made the certification required under condition 16, the
licensee st ensure that the licensee's board or other governing body certifies in writing at least monthly that,
having conducted reasonable enquiry into its financial position, there is no Teason to believe that the Fcensee will

x

o

ASIC

Awtullun Fetarilirs &
Interbmenis Ciramtaber
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ﬁilmmplywﬂhﬁsobﬁgaﬂmsmdasecﬁmmdmeAdmﬂ&eﬁmee'sASIFmdhmmﬂymds
the frigger pointfor a period exceeding one month,
18. mmmmmmﬁmﬁmmwmm'smmmmmdymmﬁm

16mdi?dﬂﬂqﬁmbxaﬂmﬁEymﬁm&edﬂeofmdu&ﬁﬁmﬁmTheﬁmeemﬁpmﬁdeAﬂC
with a copy of each certification within 3 business days of the date of each certification.

Audit Opinion on Financial Requirements

19, TheﬁcmsmmﬂbdgevﬁﬁASICmophﬁmhyamgimdmmpmymﬁmG&emdﬁophﬁm“)m

to the licenses and ASIC for the following pe

{a) for each financial year, at the same i
Act; and .

e is required to lodge a balance sheet under Part 7.8 of the

(t) for any period of time that ASH e ASIC requests the audit opinion o be Indged;

that states whether during:

(C) allypatufﬂle peri
e : maposi&vembasis,ﬂaelimsee

] : 10 t0 18 (inclusive) of this licence
raph (e) of the definition of "Option 1"

b citplaith "Option 1% and

Fieheri i ticensee purports to comply with subparagraph

10(c)i), (iv) et (covering at least the following 3 months) that

orts to, and 971 bk 16 camly with, paragraph (a) of the definition of *Option 1" or

paragraph {g) of &leﬂaﬁmﬁq&‘ftjg,}l@p@@' under this licenca (depending on which option the
licensee purports to be complymig with); and

(C) except for any period statédin th urt when the lcensee purporis to comply with subpatagraph
10{c){i), (iv) or (v), comectly calculated the projections on the basis of the assumptions the Licensee
adopted for the projections described in subparagraph (d)(E)(B) of this conditiors; and

(D) for any period when the licensee relied on subparagraph 10(c){iii) of this licence, has obtained from
an Australian ADI or a foreign deposit-taking institution approved in writing by ASIC as an
eligible provider an enforneableanquua]iﬁedcomnﬁuuetrtﬁupay:ndemmd from time to time

3

i)

ASIC

Aaiaalien Beuatlors b
Fererineiis Cvgminir
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Au

[
oM an wilimited amourt o the licensee, or the amount for which the licensee is Hable to its creditors at
Lo the time of demand o the licensee's creditors or a trustee for the licensee's creditors; and .
(B) fmagpeﬁndwhmﬂteﬁcms&mﬁadmmhpamgnphlﬂ(c)(iv),foﬁmhgmexamimﬁmof&e .
. dmmmhprepmdforsubpmgraphm(c}(h){q,meﬁmemﬁedwﬂsubpmgmph :
I 10(c)(iv)(A) and subparagraph 10{c){iv)(C) for the period to which the report relates; and
| L (F) forany period when the Ecensee relied on subparagraph 10(c) (v}, the licensee complied with
subparagraph 10(c)(v)(A) and (B); and
Cor (G) forany perod the licensee relied on Alternative A in subparagraph 10(c)(v)(E), the parent
L entity has provided an enforceable and unqualified commitment to pay on demand from time to
L time an nmlimited amount to fhe licensee or to meet the licensee's liahitities.
(i) exceptfor any period stated ¢ when the licensee purports to comply with
o 10(c)(is), {iv) ot (v), followd n of the documents the licerwee relies on in complying with
. "Option 1" or "Option 2" a enee, the auditor has no reason to believe that:
(A) thelicensee did paragraph G12A(1)(h) of the Act for managing the
L sk of havi rply with the conditions of fhis licence; or
| e irement using either *Optian 1° or "Opticn 2°
rT
e (@) £
| v
5 (A) thed A(L)(h) of the Act for managing the
risk oF iy ith the conditions in Bxis Heence; and
s (B) thebasish Sadog
(iv) for any period w. 10(c)(v) under Alternative B, following an
examination of 'B,Ii:eanditurhasnoreasmtobelieve&:at
i {A) the licensee did not remisnts of paragraph 912A(1) () of the Act for managing the
1isk of having insufficiert mmmplywiﬂxt’uecmdiiimsm&dsliceme;or
L Professional Indemnily Compensafion Reguirements
) 20, The licensee must maintain an insurance policy covering professional indemnity and fraud by officers that
; @) isadequatehavingrega:dtoﬁtenaﬁueofﬂteacﬁviﬁescaniedoutby&leﬁcmseemdﬂ&lelicmce;and
[ * €

ABIC

il Eraiden b
Invrtbmarity Coettia bt

|
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Lo
o Australian Financial Services Licence
|
|
!
[
(b) covers claims amounting in aggregate to whichever is the lesser of:
(ii) the sum of the value of all IDPS property of all IDPS for which it is the operator and all scheme property
" of all registered schames for which it is the responsible entity.
L)
External Disputes Resolulion Requirements
- 2. mmmmwmmﬁﬁmmmwbﬁm&mmm
‘ EdmﬂDtspuisRmhﬁm&ﬁme(s)CﬂDRS‘jwﬁdxm,mbgﬁhum,mphhﬁmﬂebymﬂﬂ
i clients in relation to the provision of all of the financial services authorized by this licence.
P 22, Whese the Hcensee ceases to bea memb DIRS, the licensee must notify ASIC in writing within 3
v (2) the date the licensee ceases
_ (b} the reasons the licensee's, censed {incinding circumstances wheve the EDRS is
_ no longer operating, nbership of the EDRS ar where the EDRS has _
| i :
by un llll e ﬁedﬁﬂﬂ!ﬂmﬂﬂhﬂﬂl@‘ I
()
1 T Agre
2.
Ll
-
b and in the course of s%&the]icenseembersiﬂnanmmgemm
(d) with another person #IDPS property or to hold financial products on frust
for or on behalf of the or] : i OF it ' .
P (¢) between aresponsible entity GFIDPSbpérator ir apacity and another person ("master custodian”)
i ander which the master custodiziiis atitlicrised arrange for a third person ("subcustodian”) directly or
! indirectly o hold scheme property grIDFS,
P ) with a subcustodian arranged by a
b the licensee must ensure that at all times: . :
(g) the arrangement is covered by a contract that is in writing: and '
() the comdract clearly specifies:

11
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(§1} the nature of the arrangement and the obligations of each party; and

(ii) &mﬂghﬁﬂmtﬂieparﬁeswﬂhavehudaﬁmbmgohgmviewmdmoﬁmﬂngofﬂ:e}mmmmy
submbﬁmmhrmagema&maﬁbyﬁeﬁmseewﬂtamammﬁmcmﬂﬂagmﬂ),
mmmﬁmmmmwmmmmhmm

(iid) hwhhddﬂ,mmbcmﬁmwhammagm&emmmmﬁmwmmﬁfythﬂi

complies with, and will continme to comply with, the of ASIC Policy Statement 133 when
rmdhunﬁmcﬁmwﬂhﬂCPuﬁcySiﬂmﬂsiﬂmd}&?(ﬁmdﬁmePaﬁqSMism
force as at the date of this licence); and

(iv) hmmmmmswﬂbegivmh&ehdﬂa,mbmmmhammﬁem
custodiar; and :

sated if the client sufexs any loss due to a faliare by the

(v} how the client of the licerssee

halder, any subcustodian, o Soraement. the master castodian, o comply with its duties or
o take reasonable care b applymgmﬂ:e:ﬂevantmadne!sfmﬂmasselshddand
the extent to which the ar for a master agreement, the master custodian, mmst

{vi} that theholder, ent, the mster custodian is prohibited from

ar in relation to, the assets held wnder the
 fhe terms of the contract (bt not
ibceustodian) or in accordance with the

s and assistance to eny registered company

@gﬁ&hpmh(ﬁ,(v)m(ﬁ)mbbehwﬁgbﬂm
v éxidence that it is not practicable for the licensee to:

12
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27. The licensee must establish and maintain Tgasftes that ensure, as far as is reasonably practicable, that it and its
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Properly
2 MMMhMaﬁmbammmghwﬁ&&eﬁmmhﬁerﬁpmﬂlﬂﬂﬁy,mMﬁ
all times the halder of any scheme property:
@ ampﬁewﬂhﬂ:ereqnﬁmmdsdASlCPoﬁqShﬂnmﬂSﬂ(mhfmmasatﬁmdaﬁdﬂﬁsﬁme}
relating {o the holding of scheme property; and
{t) maintains proper records identifying the scheme property.

Prohibilion o Operate Managed Discrefionary Account Sewvice

Advice and Mcleriol Relafing o Personal Advice
il clients, the lcensee must ensure that copies
ing documents ere refzined for at leest the period

for a period of at least 7 ygars frifmi

(@ dny SOA provided by or onbghalt
acting in that capacity - for a periot

by any authorised representative of the licensee while
5 from the date the document was provided to the client.

representatives comply with their obligation o give clients an FSG a5 and when recuired under the Act. The
ticensee must keep records about how these measures are implemented and monitored.

ASIC

Awstallin Soypaders &
s Cumi sl
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]
"l .
Lol
o Terms and Definifions i
L I this licence references i sections, Paris and Divisions are references to provisions of he Corporations Act 2001 !
(“the Act") umiless otherwise specified. Headingscmdaﬁxedh&dsﬁcamearefureaseof:eferemeunlyanddomt
| affect interpretation. Terms used in fhis licence have the same meaning as is given o them in the Act (including, if
( ; mbvu&&ememhggivmhdmpﬁr?d&eAﬂ)mdﬁehﬂowhgbmshaveﬂmﬁﬂmvbgmw&ngs:
adequately secured means: :
r @ mdbymenimcaﬂe&ngemﬁnmdﬂpmﬁcb(o&a&mﬂmnﬁﬂmdnﬂhsuedbyﬁeﬁm&em ‘
D its associate) if: !
P () the firemeial producis are:
o ' (A) regularly raded an:
|
; n 767A(1)ofheActmddis:egardingmbse:ﬁm767A(2)
I ali other than the licensee or ifs associate that in
sufficiently reliable prices to assess the value of the
Lo '
o v Staternent 72 as at the date of this ticence; or
Lo
- arly quoted by the responsible
may be effected within 5
) (ATTICYLETT] cwingornotlessthm
i i. at least equal to 120% of the
1‘ e Ao : _ =2~ which themselves axe adequately
= adjusted assets means the value ofitntal a ‘& reisiid apfiear on a balance sheet at the time of calculation
b made up for lodgement as partof a : M of the Act if the licensee were a reporting
: [ Eﬂﬁty: o b
() minms the value of excluded assets thakgvould be jacuded in the calculation; and
(b) minus the value of any receivable of the ;ﬁlatwouldbeindudedinﬂiecalculaﬁmupm&eampmt&tai
_ the licensee has excluded from adjusted liabititie on the basis that there is an enforceable right of set-off with that
- receivable; and
| © m.i.m:sﬁxevalweofanyasseisﬂ:atwmﬂdbemdudedm&tecalcu]aﬁm&mta:ee:mmberedasasecmityagainst
. ].iabi]itytoapa‘sont’natprovidesasecuritybmdtoASICuptot‘neamnuntoft‘nebond;and
oL
"
: ASIC

I rvtmans Coamivter
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{d mhmﬁevahedmwmehﬂ:ﬂwﬂdhehchdsdh&ednﬂa&mﬁﬂmayhemquhedwbeappﬁedw
ﬁﬁﬁyahbﬂﬂymdaamdﬁhdﬂymathmdewﬁtanmb&eﬁms&upmmmﬁﬂm
Hability excluded from adjusted Hahilities; and

(¢) plus
() the amount of any eligible undertaking that is not an asset; or
@) ifﬂ:eeﬁgibleundeﬁnﬁngisfmmunlimﬂedmmﬂ,anmﬁuﬂedmmt
puﬁded&aiﬁeeﬁgmlemdﬂhﬁngisgivmbyapmwhokmdiﬁepmﬁdﬂmlybmuf
pmyaph@)dﬁedaﬁﬁﬂmd“digbkmﬁdm’mdﬂhmmemﬁdedmbemm&m
mmdhmmsmm(mmm)mmmmmmm
ﬁﬂmﬂmlﬂdﬁeﬂmm& 3114

) for caleulating ASTF, pins the value of a
the Heensee is trustee as if they wo
value exceeds the sum of:

5 of any trust (other fhan a registered scheme) of which
amce sheet as assels of the licensee except to the extent the

«om the balance sheet as assets of the licencee; and

et out in paragraphs ()() and (i) of the
Fany current assets that would be acquived
(§if) of the definition of “standard

%&"

without recourse to the licensee; and

fties of any trust {other than 2 registered scheme)
oiffé balarice sheet as liabilities of the frustee; and

ST against another person’s liability where the licensee
person's liability secared or the value of the assets

() mirvus the amonnt of anyifabilty i
(d) for calculating ASLF, plus’ ‘;_. n 2
of which the Heensee is trusted S fHEy Yol
(¢} plus the value of any assets that ar
is not also liable, but orly up to the amion
encumbered after deducting any adj

adjustedsu:plusﬁqaidfmdsurASLFmeanssuxphsﬁqnidﬁmdsmﬁmsd&lm
(a) the standard adjustments (refer to the definition of "stendard adjustments" under this lcence); or
(b) such other adjustments as ASIC may from time o time consent o in writing.

ASIC

Ay Friuston b
Invevim i Crmisiln

15

84



Page 16 0f 24 Dockd: (L0306653 ACN :080 383 679

dlearing participant memsadmﬁngpnﬁdpa&hﬂ:eﬁmmddaﬂngndsetﬂmﬂhcﬁly("@hiﬁifﬁas
-deﬁnedmﬂaeopaathgrﬂesdAushaﬁmdmﬂngHmeHyﬁnﬂEd(“Aﬂf‘),asat&mdaﬁofﬂﬁsﬁcﬂm&lat
mmmmmmmmwmmmmmmwAm

mmmmmﬁvemmﬂmﬁmﬁmaskshﬁwhodalwﬂhtﬁiﬂqmﬁsﬁm
costomers.

(2) e=n Anstralian ADI; or
aﬂ annnietpaﬂiﬁpantumachaﬁmg-.-:--
{d) asubcustodian appointed by & persgl

toin (z) ar (b) of this defingtion.

eligible undertaking means the amount al oo
(@) payableonw:itmdm:nanc_l'by&neﬁcmsgg(dis;gggﬁmgmypaﬂpreﬁmslypaidmanyamm&mtwuddbe
repayable as a current liability or, for calcrilat {¥NTA, as a liability by the licensee if money were paid), provided

calciitafiny
bymdigibhpmﬂdﬂh&lefmmofmmderhkhlgmpay&temnmd&leﬁnmdalmmmﬂmmtm the
licensee, and that:
) is an enforceable and wngualified obligation; and

ASIC

Aasualian Srusiles
Irrritamesty Crmmt e
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(i) mﬁmopaaﬁve(evmiﬁhrampla&xeﬁmseem&hdﬂm%ﬁm)mﬂﬂAﬂCcmmm
writing to the cancellation of the underiaking; or
(b) approved in writing by ASIC as an eligible undertaking.

excleded assebs means:
)] intmgihleasels(i&nmmonehryasseiswiﬂmutphyﬁmlsnbsm);and
b} amptwhmﬂmdmdmmhs(e)m(ﬁdﬂﬁsdﬁnﬁmamﬁowﬁgmmﬁvablsfhﬁdwﬂm“)
from or assels invested in, any person who:
{i) 15 an associate of the licerssee; or
() wasan associate of the licensee at
(i) became liable to the licensee becal

Bty d
e ik

2 =
o BT

ggipitied) is not more than 20% of the assefs less
‘g\’

g

5 farther discounted by 10% of the value after any
definition of "adjusted surptus liguid funds" in this

(iif) the following apply:

(A) itis receivable from an insurance pany thatis a body regulated by APRA and results fom a

comp
transaction entered into by the licensee in the ordinary course of its business on its standard commercial

terms applicable to persons that ate not associated with the licensee on an arm's length basis; and

17
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(B) ﬁmeismreasmbbeﬁmﬂ!atmmmmmmﬁeﬁmseewuﬂdnmhmebmmdﬁ
the transactions that caused the receivable had not taken place or were not at the time of the investment
expected to take place; and :

< &ﬁeismrmsmbbeﬁeveﬂtat&lemcwmbﬂﬂyofﬁemmiﬁhkwmmdmiaﬂydepmdmﬂlewhe
of an investment by any person in the licensee; and

(D) the total value of the receivables under this subparagraph (i) before ary adjustment required by
paragraph (a) or (b) of the definition of "adjusted surplus liquid " in this loence is applied is not
mmﬂ:mﬁﬂ%d&eadjusﬁdﬁabﬂiﬁesd&eﬁmedisegmdingﬂﬁssubpamgmph(ﬁ);m

) AS[CGmsaﬂshwﬁﬁngm&eﬁmmeeuuﬁng&emmﬂwhgasmtbdngmmdedasetmd
{f} despite paragraphs (b) and (d) of this definif the lirensee cam incinde a veceivable amount to the extent that it
is owing by way of fees from, or under righ simbuesement for expenditure by the licensee out of property
Industry (Supervision) Act 1993, an IDFS ora

(b) cash, deposits or current accounts With.an iz ADI or unils in & cash management trust that are held for
nomm:e&mSmmdhspmdthEugmtmasagﬁhwlﬁdn&msdwmrehﬁes,orexpendihn‘eordistibuﬁm
to members; and ’ S

(€} derivatives, where:

(4] t"neva‘tueormountuf&ledaivaﬁvewﬂlulﬁmaialybedetermﬁmed,dmivedorvadedbyreﬁﬂenceto
something else for the purposes of section 761D(1}{c) of the Act which is related to or may significantly and
directly affect the receipts or costs of the fund; and

ASIC

“Dalshn Sevasttvn &
Irpt g Lt
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1
e
Lo
! re @) ﬁedeﬁnﬁvehaquﬁedmdﬁposedofby&leﬁmnsaeasahedgewﬁmmsﬁapﬂmnymmd
i ' wddhgmlhﬁﬂngﬁeﬁnmdﬂwmeqnmofﬂmhaﬁmmhmh&uﬂneoﬂm@smmdﬁe

[ E i

r

- @ aparﬁni;:ardasdeﬁnedhtbeopemﬁngrnlasofASXLhﬁted("ASX“),asatﬂledxleofﬁlis‘licmce('o&tetﬂlma
j M@dTﬁdﬁ,ﬂﬁS&ﬂPﬁnﬂipﬂTﬂdﬁﬁWﬁnMﬂdeﬁh},WmﬁﬁWi&&mAﬂﬂs
Lo operating rules that relate to financiz) requirements, taking inio accomnt any waiver by ASX; ar

- C® apmmwmm@mwmmmmmﬂ)m ;
. @) restricts its financial services business ticipating in the licensed market and incidental business :
| : supervised by SFE; and b

L (i) complics with the SFf's ope ate of this licence, that relate to financial requiremenis,

L taking into accomnt any waiv
o

r s
| oldlawsemﬂﬁesopﬁunsmﬁ%%ﬁ‘éagﬂ ts” H”" nnder section 9 of the Act immediately prior
P to 11 March 2002 which were "secitifies" ab; Sectigii 92(1) of the Act fmmediately prior to 11 March 2002

- .

Option 1 means the reasonable estimate pit acﬁmﬁlusﬁshbuﬁetbasiswhae&m]icmseeisrequﬁedm:
: @ prepaxeaprojecﬁunof&ne]icmsee’scash. 7¥'over at least the next 3 months based an the licensee’s reasonable

L estimate of what is likely to happex: over this term; and
(®) document the licensee's calculations and assumptions, and describe in writing why the assumptions relied upon
Lo are the appropriate assumptions; and ‘

L ASIC

i : 19
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© npdale&ueptcjecﬁmof&xeﬁcemee‘smshﬂnwswhm&memshﬂuwsceasemmer&lenextsmmﬂlsurifﬁ'ue
licensee has seasan to suspect that an updated projection would show that the Ecensee was not meeting
paragraph (d) of this definition; and
{d) demanstrate, based on the projection of the licensee's cash flows, that the licensee will have access whenneeded
to enough financial resources to meet its liabilities over the projected term of at least 3 months, inclnding any
)] hold(o&srﬂ:anastmstee)mbeﬂ:e&usﬁeufare]evanth‘nstﬂmtholds,mcashanmmeqnalwm%ofﬂ:e
greater of:
® the cash outflow for the projected period of at least 3 manths (if the projection covers a period longer than 3
months, the cash outfiow may be adjusted to prodnce a 3-month averags); or
(i) the Heensee'sactnal cash outflow fo  recent financial year for which the licensee has prepared a
profit and loss statement, adjust i.3-month average.

to:
(2) prepare a projectic
what

paragraph (d) of this defimition; and
{d) demonstrate, based on the projection of the licensee's cash flow, that the licensee will have access whenneeded to
enongh financial resonrces to meet its liabilities over the projected term of at least 3 months, incnding any

ASIC

At lun Tt &
Erenmis Cocmiwlen.
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Forihepurposesnfﬂn‘sdeﬁniﬁmrefuenmsm&leﬁmee'smshﬂawtnchdemymhﬂowohrdevmmt

regnlated trost accgunt mearns:
(&) aﬁnstamunﬂmahﬂahedbymauﬂmﬁsedtnshempmaﬁmmdﬂﬂmlmvda%mTaﬂmpm
(b} asolicitor's trust account; or

{¢) aresl estate agend's trust accomnt; ar

(d) a trust account maintzined by an entity ot

an the licensee and that provides protections similar to the

ition, and is approved by ASIC for the purpose in writing.

relevant trust means, for the purp dotion 1" and "Option 2" of this Heence, a tmst
an by the licensee is carried on as trustee of a

trast; and .

(b) thatitisnota ‘y.x‘_z‘.

o a4 .
FEPETVISION]

in snbsection 10(1) of the Supermumation

o

DI styled as a trust account that is audited at least
hefe the auditor's report states that in the auditor's

()

(i) tomeet expected expenses (notincliding
i) pmdhgappﬁcaﬁmhaquhhgamn@gemdpayhguwh&mﬂcmhmddﬂmlwhea@ﬂﬁﬁmmd
(e conttacmal,laaseur]icemerightsﬂ:atarenoﬁsﬁgmb]eacceptwiﬂl&lecmsmtofﬂlemembemrﬂmtitwould

not be reasonably practicable to assign (other than to a new responsible entity) and arty documents evidencing
those contractual, lease or licence rights; and

ASIC

AusrallanSryutirs &
eres

(+ Cramiwire
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{f) assets of trivial value; and
g leviesda&meshaﬁngs&mewﬁchmhﬂdhmmuﬂwﬂhmAusﬂaﬁmADlstyledasamm&m
Emdiﬁdatkasthﬁmmaﬂybyamgisﬂredmmmdﬁmwhmﬁe%&mﬁemﬁﬂhpuﬁdeﬂ
mﬁerapmﬁbkmﬂy'sbmdmmﬁmmmmmemdmmm&emdﬂuﬂsophﬁmﬁemhﬁ
beenoperatedhamurdmcewiﬂ:lﬂmtmsl;and
() morigages or docaments of title held under a mortgage where:
(6] parﬁmlarmembemhnveaspeﬁﬁcbmeﬁdalmlegalﬁﬂeresththemmtgage;mﬂ .
() mmmmmmmmmwmmmmﬁmdhmﬁm)
dﬂmmmmbﬂmmhmammm(mhﬂaﬁmm
mortgages acquired before Division 2 7Bappﬁesmmminihemgisberedschmeadisdnsme
docament mnder Chapter 6D of the Al 4 offer of interests in the registered scheme conferring rights in
i mmodiately P‘ﬂ-{m‘wﬂlemwand

of fhe relevant members (at the time of arguisition

m mafiring beyond 12 months unless
apmmalty; and

er Division 3 of Part 7.8 of the Act or the

a7 —ersecﬁm%lBofﬂleAct;md
lifstisee a certain sum except to the extent that the asset

_%respectofmoneyurpmpertyhe]dby&ato&lﬂ
tmder Division 3 of Part 7.8 of the Act; and

(b) 8% of the vahues that reflect ohibry’ d

is adequately secured or is a right g
Hrensee in an accouxyt under sectior

{c) the following amounts for contingent

scheme) of which the licensee is trustee:

i) 5% of any contingent liabilities that can
financial products except:

{A) during the 5 business days after the commitment is assumed; and

@anﬁﬁedmderanmderw:iﬁngot sub-underwriting of

ASIC

Aniybun Beartiin i
ettt Ermmitslm
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B dmhgmypeﬁoditismﬂawfﬂbameptappﬁmﬂmsfmﬂmﬁnmdﬂpm&ucﬁbw}ﬁ:hﬂae
mdawﬂﬁngrdains(sunhasmdﬂmbmﬁmm(s)maacﬁmlﬂlﬂ)mdthepeﬁodmdmgs
bushessdaysaflar&eﬁstdaymwﬁchﬂbecﬁmshvdnlhamptappﬁmﬁms;md

© to the extent that the underwriter holds funds from perscns seeking to acquire the financial products
subiject to the underwriting and

(&) E%dﬁepomﬁﬂﬁabﬁiydmmmﬁabﬂiﬁs&ﬁmbequmﬁﬁadmdﬂadeﬁvaﬁveu&mm
to the extent there is an offsetting position in any of the following or a combination of the following:

{A) the “something else” for the purposes of paragraph 761D(1)(c) of the Ack and

(B) another derivative relating to that something else; and

(C) athing thatis so similar to the ing else as to make the probability of et loss from the liability

under the derivative exceedin in the valne of the thing less than 5% in the reasonable and

..u-uﬁurthe;nn;xsescfaqqﬂyﬁqgﬂhead@nﬂnuﬂda

T

£'a linhility may be treated as trivial if
i 5%

(8) ofany trust (other than'Segiste
defiriition of “adjusted assafsy in

(h) that are deducted under paragrph “Adinusted assets” in this licence as assets to which
recourse may be had for a liability: Ticensee's Hability is limited to those assets but the

istexcegi any excess of the value of the licensee's assets to which
recourse may be taken over the amouritef.thé Habifity; and

{i) thatis the applicable percentage of the curfenitassets that would be acquired in retorn for paying a contingent
Hiability referred to in subparagraph (c)(i) or (i) of this definition including rights against a sub-underwriter (see
paragraph (g) of the definition of “adjusted assets” in this licence).

The licensee does not have to apply the discounts to the value of amounts peyable from a dlient in the ordinary course

of its financial services business for financial producis that the client has agreedtobuy,iéﬂtemmyisreqnﬁredm

J;.

ASIC

Aantadloa St i b
Ly it Cemn ol
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Australian

be—-mdinﬂ:ereasmableesﬁmaﬁmaf&teﬁcmseepmbablywﬂbe—pddnnme&umensﬁmssdaysaﬂerﬂm

surplus liguid fonds or SLF means adjusted assets minus adjasted Hahilities:

@ phsunynmcmaﬁﬁaﬁiiﬁesﬂ:atwmusedhca]mhﬁngadjnsmdﬁabﬂiﬁﬁ and the value of any asseis that
mmmbm(m&eﬁmhmmm&emdnmtmm&apm{smmhﬂﬂy)
that were deducted when calculating the Eeenses's adjusted labilities; and

) nﬁmsmymmﬂ:ﬂwmusedhmlm]aﬁngadjumdmm

value of assets means, for tHis

md/orIDPSpmpertydelemmiﬂdﬂZﬁ SHows = o ,t,%;%:

@ m&;ecaseofassemmawof&fbg_ p2 ﬁ%ﬁmmmmmm&@mm&ﬂm
Act- their value as if at that timegich wisheing prepared; and

b) m&uecaseofaxiyo&terschemeprbpedgf;id{m xS Broperty - its market vatue, For the purpose of this

calculation mortgages held by members régj;ﬁ:gd scheme and managed as part of the scheme must be
treated as assets of the scheme, '

ASIC

Astrilian Sritioes b
Iyt Bocmisa e
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IIGDMS”

Addendum
to
HIFX Limiled

Terms and conditions
for
) Corporate Brokerage Services - New Zedland

- COriTisHIG FOrRIgR EXCharge SaRIgagy " T

Client Name: LM Invesiment Monagement Trading as:

LvIMV aif Currency Profected Ausiralian Income Fund

LMIM aif Austrafian iIncome Fund Cumrency Protected

LMIM atf Instiiutionat Curency Protected Australlan income Fund
LMIM aif Monagemeni Performance Fund

PTAL aif First Morlgage Income Fund

This is an Addendum fo the Terms and Conditions of the Agreement currenily in
force belween HIFX Limited and the above named Client and replaces any piios
addendums (f applicable)

1. Inferprelation
(c) Defined expressions used In the Agreement shall have the same
meaning where they are used in this Addendum,

®) Inthis Addendum:

ComnerckﬂForeg\Bechmgesetmes mcm:fmgmeTem'ﬁmd
Conditions of thaf agreement.

Mark fo Market” means the value of Specified Trades calculated
at the market rafe then prevaiing.

“Risk Threshold” means the amouni specified in Schedule 1 (being
theievel of risk which HIFX Is prepared to cany withouthaving ideen

movement)

“Specified Trades” means such (or al} of the Cheni’s Forward
Trades as HIFX in fis discretion elects fo operate under the terms of

. bdnﬁen_kﬂFxm.ﬁme Cﬁeﬁrp:eserﬂlyh force for prom Of e

T1 W Re ¥

paid any Margin, in the event of any adverse exchangs rate

Jhis Addendiim,

" ‘Varialion Margin Cali* means a call made on the Clent unde
clause 3 of this Addendum.

“slop Loss order” An Instruction from the client fo HlFx to limit on

Taverse FX mGIka ovement, The RSRUCHon § 10 sel one carency
for another of the next best avdiloble price based upon market
liquidity ofter the stop loss rate has been dealt in the wholesale
market,
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4.

L 8.

Concessionary Margin :

The Concessionary Margin set outin Schedule 1 will apply inrespect of the
Specified Trades, instead of the Margin set out in clause 3.2 of the
Agresment. :

Varialion Margin Call

fhem, the following clauses will apply insfead of clause 3.7 of ihe
Agreement:

A3.1 Inthe event that the value of any Specified Trades on a Mark 1o
Market calculation exceeds the Risk Threshold, HIFX may make a
Variation Margin Call and he Client shall immediately provide such
additional funds as HIFX may reasonably specify in the call so as to
restore the net Mark o Market value of fhe Client"s Specified Trades
less any Varlation Margin Calls received fo a ievel below the sk
Threshold that s accepiable fo HIFX. '

Al2 If subsequently the value of the Specified Trades on a Mark fo
market calculation reduces below the Risk Threshold (oecause of
favourable exchonge rate movement) HIFX may n s discretion
retum to the Client such part of any previous Varialion Margin Calis
s it thinks fit, but wiihout prejudice to iis ight fo make fuither
Variation Margin Calls in the event of later adverse exchange rafe
movemerys.

Maluring Trades

~The Risk Thveshoid ismot avaliabierfor i castiiow implicalions o matusing ™

contracts ihat are rolied over. Negaiive cash flows resuliing from rofed-
over coniracts (as a consequenice of being marked to market) must be
paid fo HIFX immediaicly.

Revocation

HIFX reserves the right, ot ifs absolute discretion. at any fime and without
being required fo assign any reason, to revoke the concessions granted
under this Addendum, and fo reveri o the terms and conditions of the
Agreement. Revocation may be for alf or any of the Client’s Specified

Teades. O such revacation, the Margin speciiisd by clouse 3.2 sholbe

- Inrespect of any Specified Trades, and while this Addendum-applies to ™ s - o

" vésfored and HIFX may moke such Margin Call under clause 3.7 asisthen

appropriate.

Signed by the Cli

Signed by HIFX Limited:

ri
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HIFX Addendum Page 3

Schedule

Risk Threshold Nil

Concessionary Margin
Concessionary margin requirements

> Margin required to be maintained with HIFX is 500%
_ equivaent of the face value of the coniracts plus any
P adverse mark o market vardation,

Maximum Term of Forwerd FX confracis

> Six months is the maximum lerm fhat LM Funds can

Maximum open exposure of Forward FX confracts

> Maximum amount of open forward transaclions s
capped af AUD150 milion. This s cumuladive cap for all
LM s open foreign exchange posifons held with HFX Lid,

. Daily revaiuations

> The day'smark-o-market rate and valuation of forward
positions will be advised to LMiM dally by email by
approximataly midday NZ fime.
Stop loss

» Inaddition fo the above margin requirements, LM Funds

- WIlTiGVE T STop-0ss order being 5.00% above or below

the moming’s mark-to-markei rate, depending on the
currency exposure, with the rate being adjusted by the
‘ variation margin due, once the position size for that fund
o exceeds a totat of AUD$5mIo. An example of the stfop

I Calculae § BEow

» The stop loss will be adjusted fo reflect the cureni days
Mark to Market rate only upan vaticiion margin being
received ond credited info HiFX's bank account,

e » HiFX will email LM to advise the Stop Loss rafe in use
each day. LM will advise HiFX if they dispuie the stop
loss rate, in absence of which fhe Sfop Loss rate is
deemed o be agreed.
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HIFX Addendum Page 4

o Example of stop loss calculation
s  Open position - long 46 million NZD versus fhe AUD.
M s  Moming MTM rafe is 0.8168 e
men- - ———--—-a- -~ Nfeyiatiorrmargincall-of $A306,600; B
: 5% of 0.8168 = 0.04084
- 0.8168 - 0.04084 = 0.7760 (rounded)@ NZD46,000000 = A535696,000 +
. AS$300.0000 = A$33,996.000
AS533,996,000 / NZD46,000,000 = 0.7825 :
M
- i
) e —— L w |
M :
L.
i
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i

LM AUTHORISED USERS

The following is a list of users authorised to transact via phone/fax/email on behalf of LM Investment Management.

LM Investment Management Lid

| FULL NAME POsS* EMAIL ADDRESS SIGNy/
1 _ OFUSR
‘ EghardvanderHoven 1| Evenderhoven@imaustralis.com 2
r1 | AndrewPeik 3 apetrik@imaustralla.com
Eryn Wison 2 . | evison@imastraa.cim / /C:_k
Ashieigh Mckenna 2 " amckerna@imaustraliz.com m
Virginita Battison 4 vbattisson@imaustrala.com Rttt .
Cimis Phills 4 philips@inusirali.com @
Lo | o e 4 JitEnvegér@imasirai .m';_;Z_ e
~ i~ .. — — .
ﬂ:‘_..mimnémﬁug 'ﬂwmmm':

'wmmmpmwwmmmm

U LDvadanFC[Acmurrlmt;BAmﬂstaga-#AdnunUﬂicer

mmamsmmmmmemn@mmmmmmmmmm aswtﬁned,onbei-alfofm

b Invéstment Managemesnt.

Name of Signing Officer Position
i
| Signature of Signing Officer Daie

wol

: 3OLD COAST | SYDNEY | HONG KONG | AUCKLAND | QUEENSTOWN| LONDON | DUBAI | JOHANNESBURG | BANGKOK  wwwi Lilaugtralia.com

AUSTRALIA HEAD OFEIGE Level4 8Beach Rd Surfors Paradise QId 4217 Australia T+81 7 5584 4500 ¥ +61 7 8592 2505 Freecali 1800 062 919 E maligl Maustralia.com

PO Box 485 Surfers Pamadice Qid 4217

ABNB8077 208 461 Resporsible Enify and Austrafian Financisl Senices Lisenses No. 220281
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. Margin Call Agreenzeni

- This--Margin Call -Agreement-{“Agreement’®)-is-entered. -into-by- Associated -Foreign -+ o

Exchange, Pty Ltd (“AFEX™) and LM Investment Management Ltd [EM Australian
Income Fund} (the “Client™) with respect to forsign exchange contracis entered into
between the parties on, afier and prior to the date this Agreement is executed by both
parties (“Foreign Exchange Contracts™) upon the following terms and conditions.

s 1.  General Cond

(a) Forcign Exchange Contracts include forward contracts, which may have

L - settlement dates up to 12 months from the date of any such transaction as may

be agreed between the parties.
(b) Execution of this Agreement will not obligate either AFEX or Client to enter

- info any Foreisn Exchange Contracts, which will be subject to separate

agreements between the parties.

(c) This Agreement and all Foreign Exchange Contracts between the parties are
subject to the terms and conditions of the Business Accomnt Application
(“Application™ and the Master Forward Contract (“Master Contract”)
executed by Client, each of which. is incorporated into this Agreemeut by
reference. Uulessaxpress!yaxcludedormdiﬁedmwr&mg,ﬂ:eﬁamsofﬁﬁs

: Agreementwill_apply_toemh Fmelgn Exnhang Contmct entered mi:o

Esere o L e o T T

2, Margin Regquirement

AFEX requires that a Margin be paid by the Client subject to the following
covenants and conditions:

(a) If AFEX determings, in its sole discretion, that the net market value of all of

B ﬂ‘e Che“t’s OP‘m Fﬂre!gn Exchange Conn-acts has declmed and 1he unraahzed

Dollars, the Client is required to post with AI’EX a cash margin in the amount

of $100,000.00. Each time the net market value of all of the Client’s Open

Foreign Exchange Contracts declines and the unrealized loss when marked to
. market increases by a further $§100,000 00, the Clien is regnired fo post with

; J m&cmwraﬁer%mﬁa*paymmﬁnfsmhﬂmgm-mmm(s)mﬂ—bvw

AFEX an addifional cash margin in the amount of $$100,000.00 (“Margin
Amount®) to” secure” payment of Client’s obhganons under "its Foreign
Exchange Contracts. Payment of such Margin amount(s) is due before Spm on
the day AFEX gives Client notice of its demand for payment (“Margin Call”)
provided that such notice is made by AFEX before 2pm on that day. If the
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evidenced by a payment confirmation from an Australian Bank.

3.

AFEX:

before 11am the following business day, Payment of Margin amount must be

emedy for Failure to or Ma nirement

If AFEX does not receive the Margin Amount when dae, AFEX, at its option and
in its sole discretion, may close out any or all of the Client’s open Foreign
Exchange Contracts and apply the proceeds first to reimburse AFEX for the
amounts due under the Foreign Exchange Contracts, including all realized losses,
and remit. the balance of the proceeds, if any, to Client. If the proceeds of
disposition are insufficient to folly satisfy the amount owing to AFEX, then Client
shall pay to AFEX the difference within 1 working day.

Associated Foreign Fxchange, Pty Ltd

By:

Print Name: Justine Hartman

Tite: Global Credit Manaper

SR

ety

Date:

Client (to sign below):

-
ya

" Pint Name: CHEE VDRI prnt Name: Lo

£

Title: :blngi.mﬂ. Title: (_7/{-@
STATE A
2
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“GDM9”

8973 - LM Administration Piy Ltd

Statement of Position
Assets
Cash Assets .
10801 LMA-Suncorp #130262727
10903 LiMA-Suncormp PAYG/GST holding acct
11040 IC-Drake Piy Lid
11045 IC-Trustes for Ekard Property Trust
11055 IC-Lauxes
11065 IC-L Coomera Ply Ltd
11070 IC-Trustes for Ekard Investments
27103 Loan Peter Drake
11105 IC-Baronsand Pty Ltd - Trustee of MclMuririe FT
11135 IC-PC Drake
11160 Drake Maragement Trust
11501 Rental Bonds Held
11502 Security Deposits Held
Cash Assets
Invesiments
12000 Investment in FMIF
12001 Investment in ASPF
12002 Investment in LM CPF
12010 L Investment Management Canada Lid
12400 Petty Cash-Cash on Hand
Investments
Receivables
13085 Tax Receivables{ICA)-Current
13080 Other Receivable
13095 Loan Management Fee Recelvable
Recelvables
Current Assets
Fixed Assets
Property
17010 Computer Software at Cost
17011 Less Accum Dep-Computer Software
17015 Software Davelopment Costs
17020 Computer Hardware at Cost
17030 Plant and Equipment at Cost

19-Mar-13
Book Value
3

-5,082.06

0
299,116.53
317.484.83
1,676,834.62
26,091.00
925,104.40

77,800.00

0
26,609,699.83
1,709,555.49
£3,080.07

372825
31,693,51287

37.468.83
4198364

80,000.00

122,512.98
1,000.00
282,965.46

9,695.79
162,782.38
228,852.04
401,230.1

32,377,708.54

3,580,051.73
-1,373,586.31
500,471.00
191,785.76
190,804.40
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17031 iess P&E Accumulated Depreciation

17060 Furniture & Fittings

17061 iess F&F Accumulated Depreciation

17070 Leasehold Improvements

17071 less Accum Depreciation Leasehold improvements
17080 Smali Business Pool-General(low value pooi?)
17210 _ Land & Building-Improvements

Property

Fixed Assets
TOTAL ASSETS

Priority Creditors - Employees

23007 Accrued Payroll Lisbility-Superannuation
Wages & Super
Leave Ertitlements
PILN
Excluded Employees
Total

Funds Available for Unsecured Creditors

Unsecured

creditors

20000 Accournts Payable (Fund Comms Payable)

20001 Other Payables

20020 Fund Exp’s pd by LMA (to be reimbursed by Fund)
20500 Interest Payable - CBA Line of Credi

20740 GST Inputs

20750 GST Qutputs

20820 ATO BAS Submission

20834 Tax Arangement with ATO

23002 Accrued Depreciation Expense

23003 Accruad FBT Liability

23005 Accrued Payroll Liability—PAYGWH-Current Year
24502 Income Received in Advance (Arrears)

24504 Hire Purchase Liability

24510 Income Received in Advance-Development Mgt Fees
25250 Premium Funding

11085 1C-LMIM Litd

-72,270.00
451,593.84
-233,048.00
2,061,628.94
-81,322.00
19,885.53
7.,875.00

5,243,859.89
5,243,859.89

37,621,568.43

53,007.33

53,097.33

37,568471.10

153,584.50
53,723.85
-271,421.92

0

-260,793.37
1,412,932.80
3,838,847.32
-3,050,000.00
400,000.00
-8,620.00
45,483.00
1,468,800.29
138,834.02
13,000,377.87
6,960.57
265,004.37



7 Total

Surplus/{(Deficif)

17,196,583.10

20,371,888.00
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“GDM11”

From: Sarah Wooster [mailto:SWooster@piperaiderman.com.au] On Behalf Of Amanda Banion
Sent: Monday, 8 Aprii 2013 3:25 p.m.

Cc; Shaan Palmer; Amanda Banton

Subject: LM Investment Management Limited

Further to our earlier comespondence, we are considering applying to the court seeking a
change in responsible entily of one or more of the funds managed by LM Investment
Management Limited (LM), which are now in the control of administrators. The primary reasons
for applying for such an order are as follows.

Pursuance of Claims Against LM and related parties relating to the mismanagement of the
funds

A change in responsible entity will enable claims available to unit holders to be brought against
LM and its assaciated parties relating to the mismanagement of the funds and the resultant
losses sustained by unit holders. Such claims may provide a second source of money that unit
holders will not otherwise have available to them if such claims are not pursued. if LM remains
respansible entity this will present a significant hurdle to the investigation and pursuance of
these claims as LM is uniikely to bring a claim against itsetf. This hurdle is already apparent as
the administrators have confirmed that unit holders will not be treated as creditors of LM unless
they are able fo properly particularise and quantify their claims against LM and that will be
exhemelydifﬁwﬂunlessanewresponsibleenﬁlyisablatoamssﬂ!ebooksand records and

‘undertake a proper investigation of the potential claims.

Independence
Themmhadpmomﬂeaﬁngswiﬂ!manﬂﬁsadmrsmdwhﬂaﬂle
m_mmmmmmwmaammwmmmwﬁtm
wﬁpreserﬁawrﬁdhduemmse,whid&mheavddedﬁanmmmm
ted

Whiat We Need From You

We wish fo understand the desires of unit holders. Accordingly, please answer the following in
relation to the client(s) you represent.-

1) What are the names of your client(s) as they appear on the register of the raspective
funds?

2)  Which LM managed fund(s) did your client(s) invest in?
3) How much money did your clieni(s) invest in the fund (s) and have not been repaid?

4) Would your client(s) be supportive of a change in responsible entity in principle?
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Please provide answers fo the above by retum email (or otherwise by close of business on
Tuesday 9 April). .

Yours sincerely,

Amanda Banton o
Partner | Piper Alderman
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. From: Muller, Ginette
Sent: Wednesday, April 10, 2013 9:38 AM
T To Lobb, Renee
.. Subject: 'FW: Article from NZ
") Follow Up Fiag: - Follow up
| Flag Status: Completed
‘ below

" ! From: Muller, Ginette
. . Sant: Tuesday, 9 April 2013 6:29 PM

To: philip.pan@au.kwm.com; Bender, Damian; Park, John; Lachlan McIntosh
« » Subject: FW: Article from NZ

[

r‘: 1
|
i

.h-'ﬁ _——

ri

From: Francene Mulder Jmallio:FMulder@Imaustralia.com]
Sent: Tuesday, 9 April 2013 6:22 PM

-+ To: Bender, Damian; Stokes, Andrew

' ez Mallick, Jack; Billings, Daniel; Clark, Justin; Dunn, Joaﬁne; McBryde, Sally; Mcintosh, Lachian; Michelle Batlard;

"’ Muller, Ginette; Park, John; Eghard van der Hoven; Katy Phillips
 Subject: RE: Artice from NZ

r

© 'Dear Ali,

LJ

It is a real fishing expedition.

s o Note the big lie where they state LM has had previous dealings with FTI.
|

[ .

this respect?

Success — here it Is below. They are definitely looking to make an application to the court.

They state there has been mismanagement of the funds as a fact —and it is certainly not a fact, or proven.
They talk about LM's remaining as RE. As | understand it, we are suspended and FT| has a temporary licence in

o They state there is an impediment as unitholders are not creditors. Am sure there is a legal technical reason

Look forward to seeing your Dear Amanda letter John, when finalised.

. Kind Regards,
- Francene

why this is not so as Unitholders are equity stakeholders in the assets of the funds?

. From: Sarah Wooster Imailto:SWooster@gigeraIderman.com.aul On Behalf Of Amanda Banton

- Sent: Monday, 8 April 2013 3:25 p.m.
“* Ce: Shaan Palmer; Amanda Banton
. Subject: LM Investment Management Limited
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i

Further to our earlier correspondence, we are considering applying to the court seeking a change in responsible entity o~
one or more of the funds managed by LM Investment Management Limited {LM), which are now in the cantrol of
administrators. The primary reasons for applying for such an order are as Tollows.

pursuance of Claims Against LM and related parties relating to the mismanagement of the funds

A change in responsible entity will enable claims available to unit hoiders to be brought against LM and its associated

parties relating to the mismanagement of the funds and the resultant losses sustained by unit holders. Such claims may
provide a second source of money that unit holders will not otherwise have available to them if such claims are not
pursued. if LM remains responsible entity this will present a significant hurdle to the investigation and pursuance of
these claims as LM is unlikely to bring a claim against itself. This hurdle is already apparent as the administrators have
confirmed that unit holders will not be treated as creditors of LM unless they are able to properly particularise and

- quantify their claims against LM and that will be extremely difficult uniess a new responsible entity is able to access the

books and records and undertake a proper investigation of the potential claims.

_, independence

The administrators have had previous dealings with LM and its advisors and whilst the administrators are independent

_ i practitioners, we consider that the potential confiicts that may arise in relation to their duties owed to LM as a company

and their duties owed to unit holders will present a conflict in due course, which can he avoided if an independent

A,

' * responsible entity Is appointed. i

what We Need From You

. We wish to understand the desires of unit hoiders. Accordingly, please answer the following in relation to the client{s)

you represent:-

1) What are the names of your client(s} as they appear on the register of the respective funds?

12} Which LM managed fund(s) did your client(s) invest in?

'J 3) How much money did your client(s} invest in the fund (s) and have not been repaid?

., 4) Would your client(s) be supportive of a change in responsible entity in principle?

Pliease provide answers to the above by return email {or otherwise by close of business on Tuesday 9 April).

Yours sincerely,

Amanda Banton
Partner | Piper Alderman

"t +61292539929 | f +612 9253 9900
. abanton@piperalderman.com.au | www.piperalderman.com.au

Francene Mulder

Executive Director - Distribution/Product |



.+ T+617 55844500 | D +617 5584 4529| F +61 7 5502 2505 | E fmulder@Imaustralia.com
" AlLevel 1,38 Cavill Ave Surfers Paradise, 4217, Queenstand, Australia | P PO Box 485, Surfers Paradise, 4217,

... Queensland, Australia
www.LMausiralia.com

: i This e4nal and any files transmitted with it are confidential and are Intended solely for the use of the recipient to whom it i5 addressed. If you are ot
| the intended recipient or the person responsible for delivering this e-mail to the infended recipient, you are advised that any use, dissemination,

* * forwarding, printing, or copying of this e-mail and any file atiachments is strictly prohibited. if you have received this e-mail in emor, you musi destroy
the original fransmission and any attachments and immediately nofify the sgndar by reply e-mail,

ol

From: Bender, Damian [mailto:Damian.Bender@fticonsulting.com]
" Sent: Tuesday, 9 April 2013 3:31 PM
. | To: Stokes, Andrew :
Cc: Mallick, Jack; Billings, Daniel; Clark, Justin; Dunn, Joanne; McBryde, Sally; McIntosh, Lachlan; Michelle Ballard;
r 1Muller, Ginette; Park, John; Francene Mulder
| Subjecks Re: Article from NZ

- - Francene

' ‘Qee below as Michelle is away , is it possible to get a copy of Bantons letter , clearly it is full of factual errors .

gent from iPad
r iDamian Bender
_ |Senior Managing Director

_F T1Consulting

- +61.7.3225.4904 direct
+61.7.3225.4999 fax
'Damian. Bender@fticonsulting.com

-

122 Market Street

Brisbane QLD

4000

" |Australia

; jw\\rww.ﬂiconsulﬁng-asia.com

" "We"ve joined FT1 Consulting — click here to learn more

| :On 09/04/2013, at 1:22 PM, "Stokes, Andrew" <Andrew.Stokes@fticonsulting.com> wrote:

Lo

Dear all,

L This has just appeared on the stuff.co.nz site in New Zealand, which feeds into Fairfax Business
publications.

Kiwis sought to fight Aussie mortgage fund
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ROB STOCK
Last updated 14:47 09/04/2013
Share

A high-profile Australian lawyer is looking for New Zealand investors to join an action against
Ausiralian mortgage fund LM. '

Amanda Banton has written to financial advisers representing Kiwi investors whose dwindling
investment is frapped in the giant Australian fund, seeking to act for their clients.

New Zealanders have about A$140 million (NZ$172m) trapped in LM's frozen First Mortgage
Income Fund. ' _

It was reported last week that Banton of Piper Alderman, who has made a name for herself in
successfil multi-million-dolar civil suits against Standard & Poor’s and Lehman Brothers, was

considering taking a case against LM's directors.

LM, founded by New Zealander Peter Drake, called in FTI Consulting as voluntary
administrators last month, fearing it would be unable to pay its debts as they fell due.

g

Advisers to LM's New Zealand clients havé now received a letter from Banton asking whether
they would Iike to join the planned action.

The letter from Banton said Piper Alderman was considering applying to the court in a bid to get
new fund managers appointed to some fimds still under LM's control, something it appears to
believe would make it easier for a case to be progressed against the directors.

"Such claims may provide a second source of money that unit holders will not otherwise have
available to them if such claims are not pursued,” the letter said.

"If LM remains responsible entity this will present a significant hurdle to the investigation and
pursuance of these claims as LM is unlikely to bring a claim against itself."

FTI Consulting has told unit holders they won't be treated as LM creditors unless they could
properly particularise and quantify their claims.

Piper Alderson said that would be difficult to do unless a new entity was able to access the books
and records and investigate potential claims.

Banton's letter claimed FTT Consulting, formetly part of the Korda Mentha group of companies,
had had previous dealings with LM that could present a potential conflict.

But in a media briefing to the media last week, FTI Consulting had said it had no prior dealings
with LM, other than to the prepare for the orderly conduct of the administration.

|
[T

- Confidentiality Notice:
- This emall and any attachments may be confidential and protected by legal privilege. if you are not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure,

o

4
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i copying, distribution or use of the e-mail or any attachment is prohibitad. If you have received this emall in error, please noiify us immediately by repiying

Lt

. to the sender and then delste this copy and the reply from your system. Thank you for your cooperationh.
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" e Forwarded message —~~-----—

-~ From: Amanda Banton <ABanton@piperalderman.com.auw>
~ Date: 10 April 2013 16:45
Subject: Application for appointment of Trustee or Receiver to LM Managed Performance Fund { Maddison

o Estate)

_ To: Amanda Banton <ABanton@pipetalderman.com.au>
_ Cc: Shaan Palmer <SPalmer@piperalderman.com.au>, Lisa Gallate <L.Gallate@piperalderman com.au>

}' We refer to recent emails. We uhderstand that you
~are a unitholder of the LM Managed Performance
| }Fund (the Performance Fund). The Performance

Fund has to date been managed by LM Investment
Management Limited (LM). As you will know, LM

_'was placed into voluntary administration and

Admmmtrators have been appointed to LM.

Apphcatwn by Administrators to be appointed as
Recewers or Trustees of the Performance Fund

The Administrators of LM have filed an apphcatmn
_in the Supreme Court of Queensland, Brisbane
" Registry to be appointed as the several receivers and

. managers (or trustees) of the Performance Fund
- until farther order of the Court. The application is
listed for hearing this Friday 12 April 2013 at

~10.00am.

Opposition te Application

2



We wish to urgently establish (by 10am tomorrow

_morning Sydney time) whether you are content for
.. us to act for you, as a member of the Performance

“Fund to oppose the application to appoint the
. Administrators and instead seek to have

- independent interim receivers (or trustees)

| lappointed to the Performance Fund instead.

The application would require that we enter a Notice
" of Address for Service on your behalf and prepare

‘ ”’hn affidavit, which would detail the basis upon

Wlnch you oppose the appointment of

y -*Admlmstrators of LM and seek to have mdependent

“receivers appointed to the Performance Fund. You

. would not be required to meet our legal costs of the

“application and you would not be required to attend
"the hearing. The affidavit would be prepared and
_sworn by myself on the basis of your instructions to
;lo S0.

Reasons for opposmg appomtmem of Administrators

| \The reasons for opposing the proposed appointment
" of the Administrators to be Receivers (or Trustees)

- of the Performance Fund are as follows:

Conflict
.
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~ There are potential conflict issues that arise if the

" Administrators of LM are appointed as the
- Receivers (or Trustees) of the Performance Fund.

. In the “declaration of independence” attached to the

' Administrators’ Report to creditors of 21 March

2013, the Administrators posed the question “what

. are the possible conflicts between roles as Voluntary
Admmzstrators and Responsible Entity” and in

~ response to that determine that no conflict arises.

- The reasons for that determination are said to be, O

 inter alia:-

It is common practice for Administrators to be appointed to a group
of companies and trusts and the mere existence of intragroup loans
and other dealings does not of itself give rise to a conflict.

The services agreement between LMA [LM Administration Pty L1d,
a related entity of LM and its service entity that provide
management services for a management fee] and LM is “deemed to
be terminated forthwith” upon the appointment of Administrators.
In respect of the duties as Administrators and those owed to the )
funds, the Administrators state “the Trust assets will need to be
realised to meet the claims of the Trust creditors and members. The
Trust assets are held by an independent custodian. The
Administrator is the only person entitled to exercise the
RE/Trustee’s right of indemnity. To separate the roles of the
Administrators and the RE/Trustee would likely only add delay,
duplication, and additional complexity to the detriment of creditors

and members of the funds.”



Lo

- ] " The Administrators can approach the court for directions If any
conflicts or other issues arise.

~ In their response to the above question, the Administrators concede

| ( the possibility of conflicts arising that would require them to

_approach the Court. This approach necessarily means that if such

~ conflicts arise and applications are made to the court, the cost will
_ likely be borne by the Performance Fund and ultimately the umit |

. 'holders.

'|In this regard we note that the Annual Financial Report for the LM

" First Mortgage Income Fund to 30 June 2012 states in the notes to the
Dﬁnancial statements that the Performance Fund has second mortgages
" "’ on loans that are first mortgages of the LM First Mortgage Income
ﬁ%‘und totalling approximately $60 million, and that the Performance
“Fund may pay development and construction costs on those related
"loans and will fund interest payments from time to time within
_approved loan facility limits. During the 30 June 2012 year, interest

| payments totalling $635,000 were paid by the Performance Fund on :
H.behalf of borrowers. - |

 "The fact of these related party loans, adds further complexity to the ‘
"lissue of the appropriateness of the appointment of the Administrators |
**of LM to become Receivers (or trustees) of the Performance
: EEFund. These related party loans require investigation by a party that
" independent of LM and the Administrators. These issues between
L 'the various stakeholders highlight the real possibility that conflicts

 will arise,

-/ Further, there is the issue of the investigation and prosecution of the

‘| potential claims of unitholders against LMA, LM, and the potential

- conflict that would exist for the Administrators, if appointed as

" Receivers (or trustee) of the Performance Fund to investigate the

" claim against the party (LM) that they control. This issue is discussed

| below.

: |
| | |

|
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Unit holders may be deprived of the right to vote on the DOCA
notwithstanding that the DOCA may compromise their rights by
releasing claims against LM,

. Further any action for mismanagement of the funds
" is best brought by the responsible entity (or Receiver
'~ or trustee) of the fund. That will pose a serious
' conflict for the Administrators as they control the
" party that the claim would be brought against. Such
.. action is best brought by a new RE. The only other
- avenues are for ASIC or the unit holders (as a class)
/}o bring the action. ASIC is unlikely to bring any
~..such claim and a unit holders class action is difficult
"-to bring as the case law is uncertain as to the rights
~ of unit holders to bring a class action.

_ Further potential conflicts

~There is a real possibility that conflicts may arise as

' -between the various funds as there are interrelated

~ (ebts and first and second ranking securities by

_.each of the funds in respect of some of the same

~properties. Whilst we cannot detail the full range of

" potential conflicts that may arise, one example of a
~conflict that we consider may arise would be in
~circumstance where a fund holding first ranking
~_security wishes to sell a property and is prepared to

7



: r'1

; 'do so for a lower price than the fund holding the
'second ranking security (because the fund with a
. first ranking security is making a full recovery on its
ﬁ”‘jFund with the second ranking security may wish to
~.develop a project to realise a better return and the

| ‘fund holding the first rankmg security may wish to
 isell.

~Alternative Appointments

 Trilogy, who is the RE of the LM Wholesale Fund
“has consented to be a Trustee of the Performance
Fund. They are not eligible to be appointed a Court
~ ~Appointed Receiver of the Performance Fund. In
“this regard you will need to consider the potential
. conflicts that may arise as between the Performance
Fund and the Wholesale Fund (and pOtentially the
Income Fund). A copy of Trilogy’s consent is
attached

Further Korda Mentha has consented to being
“appointed as the Receiver or Trustee of the
- Performance Fund. Attached is a letter from Korda

‘Mentha.

O

O
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" Please confirm you are content for us to file an

- appearance on your behalf in the matter and

-~ indicate which of the appointments you support,
that of Trilogy or that of Korda Mentha. We again
. confirm that you will not be liable for any fees if we

" file an appearance for you and act on your behalf.

" 'We require your urgent response to this email by
. return email by 10am tomorrow morning (Sydney

" time) or by calling myself or Shaan Palmer on 9253

)920 or Lisa Gallate on 9253 3855S.
' Kind regards

"7 Amanda Banton
L)
‘ Pariner | Piper Alderman

if]@Hpeerermm
-

.t +61292539920 | m +51424 166 859 | f +61 28253 9800

 (>

-abanton(@piperalderman.com.au | www.piperalderman.com.au

Loz
SededercdkiR kR khkh ke khkhRddokiekhokok ik Rede ke dodeddekdododoiokdeidodok bk kdoke dedededok ek dededniok k-

- WARNING: This e-mail is from Piper Alderman.

. The contents are confidential and may be protected by legal

professional privilege. If you have received this e-mail in error,

-+ please reply to us immediately and delete the document.
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This message has been scanned by SurfControl pic. www.surfcontrol.com
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“GDM12"

SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND

REGISTRY: BRISBANE
NUMBER: BS 4728/10

' First Plaintiff: KOSHO PTY LTD ACN 104 663 792
AND
Second Plaintiff: CITY CO PTY LTD ACN 099 0223 743
AND
Defendant: TRILOGY FUNDS MANAGEMENT LIMITED

ACN 080 383 679

SECOND FURTHER AMENDED STATEMENT OF CLAIM

1. The First Plaintiff (herein “Kosho"), at all fimes material to this
proceeding:

. (@)
A (b)

(©

was and is a company duly incorporated according to law,
and capable as such of being sued in its corporate name;

was and is a “corporation” within the meaning of the Trade
Practices Act 1974 (Cth) (herein the “TPA?);

was (and remains) the registered proprietor of land more
particularly described as Lot 2 on SP 107404 County of
Ward, Parish of Gilston Title Reference 50257163 and
located at 114-122 Nerang - Broadbeach Road, Cafrara in
the State of Queensiand (herein the “Carrara Land’).

SECOND FURTHER AMENDED  TressCox Lawyers

i STATEMENT OF CLAIM Level 40, Central Plaza 1
oL 345 Queen Sirest
Form 16 ir.22; 148 BRISBANE QLD 4000

Tel: 07 3004 3533

(L Filed on behalf of the Plaintiffs Fax: 07 3004 3599



2.  The Second Plaintiff, City Co Pty Ltd ACN 099 023 748 (herein
“City Co°): '
(8) was and is a company duly incorporated according to law,
and capable as such of being sued in its corporate name;

() was and is a “corporation” within the meaning of the TPA;

() was (and remains) the registered proprietor of land more
particularly described as Lot 2 on RP 70727 Parish of
Gilston, County of Ward, Tille Reference 12831223 and
located at 3 Beach Road, Surfers Paradise in the State of
Queensiand (herein the “Surfers Paradise Land").

3. Club Cavill Pty Ltd ACN 099 023 711 (herein "Club Cavill'):

(8@ was and is a company duly incorporated according to law,
and capable as such of being sued in its corporate name;

{b) was and is a “related” entity of Kosho and City Co as
described in the Corps Act;

(c) was, until effective resumption in December 2005 by the
Department of Main Roads (herein "DMR’), the registered
proprietor of land more particularly described as Lot 3 on
SP180847 Parish of Gilston, County of Ward Title Reference

50586172 being adjacent to and abuting the eastem

boundary of the Carrara Land (herein the “Resumed Land").

4, Adam Slijderink (herein “Slijderink’), at all times material to this
proceeding:

(a) was an employee or agent of the Coast Land international
Group of Companies including Kosho and City Co;

123



(b)
{©)

- ag-such, had the title of “CEQ — Project Partner”;

acted on behalf of Kosho and City Co in respect of the
transactions and matters referred to in this pleading within
the scope of his authority.

City Pacific Limited (herein “CPL"):-

@)

(b)

(©

(d)

)

was at alf material times, and is, 2 duly incorporated public

company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange;

was at ail material times a financier and financial investment

manager, altematively, a provider of “financial sefvices’

within the meaning of that term as used in Division 2 of the

Australian Securities and Investments Commission Act 2001

(Cth) (herein "ASIC AcF); |

unitil on or about 20 July 2009, was the Manager and

Responsible Entity (within the meaning of Part 5C.2 of

Chapter 5 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) ("Corps Act?))

of the City Pacific First Morigage Fund (that being the name

of the fund from 30 November 2007) (herein the "CPFM

Fund®) which fund was: _

() constituted on 23 June 1998 by Deed;

(i) registered with ASIC under No. ARSN 088139477,

(i) altematively, a financial product’ within the meaning of
that term as used in Division 2 of the ASIC Act;

was at all material imes a trading corporation within the

meaning of that ferm as used:

(Y inthe TPA;Or .

(i) alternatively, in Division 2 of the ASIC Act;

was at all material imes when engaging in the conduct

alleged herein, engaging in “irade or commerce” within the

meaning of that ferm as used:
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() inthe TPA,

(i) alternatively, in Division 2 of the ASIC Act;

is now, and since about 7 August 2009 has been, in
liquidation.

Steve McCormick (herein “McCormick™), at all times material to this

" proceeding:

(a) was an officer in CPL's employ,

(b) as an officer in the CPL's employ, had the title of “Group
Executive Property Development Finance™;

(¢) acted on behalf of CPL in respect of the transactions and
matters refemred to in this pleading;

(d) in so acting on behalf of CPL, acted within the scope of his
actual authority as CPL’s "Group Executive Property
Development Finance™;

(e) alternatively, in so acting on behalf of CPL, acted within the

scope of his ostensible authority as CPL's “Group Executive

Property Development Finance”, such ostensible authority

arising from:

(i) the fact that CPL employed McCommick in that
capacity and authorised him fo use that title;

(i) the fact that McCommick's conduct referred to in this
pleading fell within the scope of the usual authority of
an executive officer described as “Group Execufive
Property Development Finance”;

(i) the fact that CPL did not, at any material time, convey
fo Kosho any material restriction with respect to
McCormick’s authority on behalf of CPL.
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8.

Alistair McCosh (herein “McCosh”), at all times material to this
proceeding:

(a) was an officer in CPL’s employ;,

(b) as an officer in CPL's employ, had the title of “Lending
Manager™;

{c) acted on behalf of CPL in respect of the transactions and
matters referred to in this pleading;

(d) in so acting on behalf of CPL, acted within the scope of his
actual authority as CPL's “Lending Manager”;

(e) altematively, in so acting on behaif of CPL, acted within the
scope of his ostensible authority as CPL's “Lending
Manager", such ostensible authority arising from:

(i) the fact that CPL employed McCosh in that capacity
and authorised him to use that title; .

(i) the fact that McCosh's conduct referred to in this
pleading fell within the scope of the usual authority of
a senior officer described as “Lending Manager”;

(ii)  the fact that CPL did not, at any material time, convey
to Kosho any material restriction with respect to
McCosh's authority on behalf of CPL.

The Defendant (herein “Trilogy"):-

(a8} - was at all material times, and remains:-
(i) acompany duly incorporated and capable as such of
been sued;
(i) a public company listed on the Australian Stock
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Exchange;

(b) was at all material times a financier and financial investment
manager, altematively, a provider of “financial services’
within the meaning of that term as used in Division 2 of ASIC
Act;

{c) was atall material times a trading corporation within the
meaning of that term as used:

() inthe TPA;Or
(i) alternatively, in Division 2 of the ASIC Act;

(d) was at all material times when engaging in the conduct
alleged herein, engaging in “trade or commerce” within the
meaning of that term as used:

(i) inthe TPA;
(i) . altemnatively, in Division 2 of the ASIC Act.

TRILOGY REPLACES CPL AS RESPONSIBLE ENTITY

g.

10.

On or about 20 July 2008, Triogy became and has been the
Manager and Responsible Entity (within the meaning of Part 5C.2
of Chapter 5 of the Corps Act) of the CPFM Fund, now described as
the Pacific First Mortgage Fund (herein the “PFM Fund’).

Upon Trilogy becoming the responsible entity of the PFM Fund:

(a) pursuant to section 601FS(1) of the Corps Act, the rights,
obligations and liabilities of CPL in relation to the PFM Fund
became the rights, obligations and liabilities of Trilogy,
including in relation to the matters pleaded herein;

(b) pursuant fo section 601FT(1) of the Corps Act, upon Trilogy
becoming the responsible entity of the PFM Fund, a
document to which CPL was a party, in which refefence is
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made to CPL or under which CPL acquired or incurred a
right, obligation or liability, or might have acquired a right
obligation or liability if CPL had remained the responsible
entity, which document is capable of having effect after the
change in responsible entity has effect as if TFM (and not
CPL) was a party to it, was referred to in it or had or might
have acquired the right, obligation and liability under it,
including in relation to the matters pleaded herein.

CARRARA LAND DEVELOPMENT
11.  Inor about January 2009:
(a) Kosho was desirous of proceeding with the construction of a

(b)

{c)

residential unit development on the Carara Land, described
as the “Abadi Residential Village® (herein called “the
project”) and required substantial funding:

(i} as part of a restructure and in order to cover Kosho's
present position with a then existing facility with CPL
of $12.6 million;

(i)  to assist with sales and marketing, development and

construction costs of the initial part of the project,
described as “Stage 1A™;

Club Cavill was the beneficiary of a substantial compensation
claim as a consequence of the resumption of the Resumed
Land by the DMR (the “DMR compensation claim’);

Kosho submitted a finance application for the project to CPL.

11A. _Thereafter:

(@)

CPL in the period January to March 2009, reviewed the
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finance application and Kosho, after various amendments to

the finance application at CPL's request, submitted a funding
proposal in March 2009 (‘March funding proposal’);

Particulars

The March funding proposal was provided by Email from
Sliderink to CPL (by Phil Sullivan) dated 2 March 2009
(4:52pm) comprising a funding submission tiled “Funding
Partner — Information Memorandum®; draft marketing budget

and cashfiow model

(b) CPL on or about 26 March 2009 indicated its approval of the
finance lication. subject to approval of the

Commonwealth Bank of Ausiralia, with drawdown being end
of May fo mid June 2009;

Particulars
The indication was provided oral CPL (by John Ellis and

McCormick) at a meeting on 26 March 2009 at CPL's QOffices
between Sliiderink and Reiko Fujino (Kosho & City Co) and
Phil Sullivan, John Ellis and McCormick (CPL) the substance
and effect of what was stated being as follows:

Sliiderink: “If we get the CBA approval py 19 April we should
be in a position to malke the first drawdowns at end

of May 2009 for payment mid June; that sound

right to you guys?
John Eliis; “That is about right.”

Steve McCormick: "l agres.”

(©) Kosho on 2 Apdl 2009, after various amendments fo the
March_ funding_proposal at CPL's request, submitted a
revised funding _proposal _("Revised March _funding

proposal®);
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12.

Particulars

The Revised March funding proposal was provided by Email
from_Slijderink to CPL (by Phil Sullivan) dated 2 April 2009
and comprised a revised funding submission fitled "Funding
Partner —_Information Memorandum® together with the
following Annexures:

Tifle Deed

Company extracts

Registration Plans

Valuations

Site Photos and Survey Plans
Statement of Design Intent,

Preliminary _design _drawin and
Architectural __ drawin Current

Approval)
g. CLI key resources resumes
h. Feasibility and Cashflow

i. Staging Plans  and Building
Numbering Plans

J. Development Approval
k. Ceriificate of currency
L Cons_truclion Estimate of Costs

m. Matusik Property Insights Project
Posiiioning Report
n. Unit Floor Plans

-~ ® 8 0 O

CPL by letter of offer dated 24 June 2009 to Kosho (herein “letter
of offer’), offered a finance facility (on the terms and conditions
contained therein):

(a) to cover Kosho's then present position with CPL and to assist

130



13.

14.

(b)

(©)

(d)

10

with the sales & marketing, development and construction
costs in relation to Stage 1A of the project;

in the amount of $16 million for:

()] Current position $12,610,000
(i)  Construction/Consuitants $2,193,830
(i) Interest (to be retained) $860,000
(iv) Contingency $336,170

to fund the whole of Stage One (119 apartments and 1600m2
retaillcommercial units over 36 months) of the Abadi
Residential Village in_accordance with the Revised March
funding proposat;

required, as a condition to the provision of finance, Keshe
and Ciub Cavill to waive gssign all rights and entilement to

the DMR compensation claim ho Clu ill
assign _all rights and enfillements under ine ijee _
ent n D d Club Cavill to Sunrise

Waters Pty Ltd in_exchange for a three year finance facility
and reduced interest rate over the 3 vear finance facility term.

On 24 June 2009, Kosho accepted and executed the terms of the
letter of offer and returned the duly executed letter of offer to CPL
(herein the “finance facility”).

CPL (by its Solicitors, Minter Ellison) on 1 July 2009 pursuant to
and in performance of the finance facility hand delivered to the

Solicitors of Kosho original documents for execution (herein “the

documents for execution®) comprising:

copy of the variation letter of offer dated 24 June 2009;
deed of variation of charge between the lender and the borrower (in
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triplicate); -
™ 4, fixed and floating charge between the lender and City Co Pty
: Limited, third parly chargor, (in triplicate),
5 deed of guarantee and indemnity given by Ms Reiko Fufino in favour
fo the lender, {in triplicate);
6 third party mortgage given by City Co Pty Limited in favour of the
lender (in triplicate);
7. underieking and authority to complete and disburse moneys
(borrower);
8. underiaking and authority to complete (City Co Ply Limited),
9. certificate as fo legal advice (borrawer);
10.  certificates as to legal advice (guarantors),
. 11.  cerfificates as to legal advice (third party mortgagor);
. 12.  Consumer Credit Act declaration by the borrower;
Vo 13. Censumer Credit Act declaration by the third party mortgagor,
14. statutory declaration as to the property (homower);
r 15.  statutory declaration as to the property (third party morigagor);
; 16. corporate declaration as to the property (borrower);
17.  corporate declaration (third party morigagor); and
18.  our memorandum of costs...”

15. Kosho agreed to and executed, or caused to be executed, each of
the documents for execution and retuned the duly execution
documents for execution by hand delivery to CPL (by its Solicitors,

| Minter Elfison) on 2 July 2009.

EXPRESS TERMS

: 16. At all material times, there were terms of the finance facility (herein
il “express terms”), that CPL and Trilogy:

_ (@) would (subject to the terms and conditions therein) advance
< funds to Kosho under the finance facility to enable Kosho to
meet its current position and funds the constructions costs of

v the project;

(b) that the amount of funds to be advanced was in the sum of
$16 million for:

()] Current position $12,610,000
o (ii) Construction/Consultants $2,193,830
(i} Interest {to be retained) $860,000
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{©)

(d)

(@)

12

{ivy Contingency $336,170
(special condition (g)) provided for funds fo be advanced
under the facility generally as outlined in the Total Facility
Limit;

{special condition (g)) contemplated construction (funded by
advances on the facility) and settlement of sale of the
commercial pavilion (part of Stage 1A) to be completed by 28
February 2010;

provided for expiration of the facility on 30 June 2010 (page
2, Term).

16A. _Kosho or City Co satisfied (or was not required or otherwise
disabled by CPL fro isfving) each of the followi cial
conditions contained in the finance facility, namely:

a Acknowledgement Letter 2.07.08
Advice Hickey
' Lawvers to
Minter
Ell‘ggn
mail
b Statement of Position Kosho fo Satisfied 30.06.09
from Directors CPL
20.08.098
30.06.09 _
Delivered by Satisfiad 2.07.09
[+ Privacy Act Form hand to
Minter
Ellison
d Memo and Articles Dellvered b Satisfied 2.07.09
and Trust Dead hand o
Minter
Ellison
e Valuation Report 3 Deliverad by Satisfied 27.07.08
Beach Road (io be hand and
provided by 31 July email fo
2009) Minter
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Ellison
f Site visits by iender il requested
| Payment Claims N/A McCosh dated {
_July 2009 " |
h Risk Insurance Satisfied 2.07.08
Letter Kosho to
i Satisfied CPL (McCormick)
dated 6 April 2009 |
{ N/A
k N/A
Lender to erect
] si on site Nil required
m Email CPL
Board approval to Kosho Safisfied 24.06.08
n Outzource of finance
by lender N/A
Offer of finance Delivered by
-] subiect o any other hand to
matier CPL panel Minier Satisfied 207.09
solicitor advises to Efiison
adequately secufe ‘
this advance
1] Offer subject o Provided !
provision of under cover Setisfied 29.06.09
unconditional of leiter
commerdial contract | Kosho fo
CPL
] Offer condifional on Kosho disabled
setilement of from safi
commercigl property Special Condition
28 February 2010 Q by CPL's failure
to advance
construction funds
[ Contingency amount | Contingency
amount N/A
IMPLIED TERMS

17.

At all material imes, there were implied terms of the finance facility
(herein “implied terms”), that CPL and Trilogy:

(@)

would do all such things and take all such steps as may be
necessary to enable Kosho to have the benefit of the finance
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(b)

{©)

(d

(e)

14

facility,

would act reasonably, and_reasonably expeditiously, in their
consideration of, and in determining issues of satisfaction in
relation to, the conditions precedents under the finance
facility; |

would in all times act in good faith in their dealings with

~Kosho in relation to their consideration of, and in determining

issues of satisfaction in relation to, the conditions precedents
under the finance facility;

would not unreasonably delay, in its consideration and
determination of Kosho's compliance with the requirements
of the finance facility or, facilitating drawn down of the funds

for the development so as to disable Kosho from complying
with:

{i)__. special condition (q) of the finance facility;

{ii} ___ special condition (s) of the finance facility;

alternatively, would not unreasonably delay the advance of
funds so as to disable Kosho's compliance with the finance
facility.

The implied terms are:

(@)

(b}

implied from the terms of the finance facility itself and in order
to give business efficacy to the transaction embodied in the
finance facility; or

alternatively, implied by law.
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DEED OF ASSIGNMENT

19.

Special conditions (s) & (t) of the finance facility provided:

18

{t

This offer of finance is conditionat on, and subject te:

(i) the borrower entering info a deed of assignment and consent
in relation to the agreement between the Department of Main
Roads, Kosho Pty Ltd, Club Cavill Pty L&l (Assignment
Deed) to be prepared by and on terms satisfactory to the

© Lender;

{ii) the borrower causing Club Cavill Pty Ltd to enter into the
Assignment Deed;

(i)  the Depariment of Main Roads confirming that it is satisfied
with the terms of the Assignment Desd; and

(v)  the Assignment Deed being entered into and binding on the
Barrower and Club Cavill Ply Lid (and the Bormower
providing two originals of the Assignment Deed executed by
both the Borrower and Club Cavill Pty Lid to the Lender)
within 2 business days of receipt of the Assignment Dead.

As part of this facility the Cily Pacific First Mortgage Fund agrees to
mbatecustsandfeestoﬂ:ebumwertoanmdmummmﬁof
$2,800,000.00. This is compensation for the transfer of the rights
and obligations to Sunrise Walers Ply Lid as agreed between Club
Cavill Pty Lid (as related entify of the borrower) and the Department
of Main Roads, in relation fo the adjacent Sunrisa Waters property in
accordance with special condition (s).

The compensation is paid on the basis that it is in full and final
setlement of all claims that the Borrower and/or Club Cavill Piy Ltd
may have at any time in relation to the resumption of the land from
the property of the Department of Main Roads

The compensation will be paid by way of a discount fo the prevailing
interest rate as well as a rebate of application and administration
fees that would otherwise have been charged on this facility...”

EVENTS THAT HAVE TRANSPIRED

20.

CPL (by its Solicitors, Minter Ellison) on 23 June 2009:

(a)

(b)

prepared a seven (7) page draft deed of assignment and

consent to assignment of deed of assignment (herein “draft

assignment deed”);

provided the draft assignment deed to Crown Law on behalf

of the DMR.
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21.

23.

24.
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By 23 July 2009:

(a)

(®)

Crown Law (on behalf of DMR) responded to Minter Ellison
(for CPL) in respect of the draft assignment deed;

Kosho (by Slijderink) emailed Minter Ellison (for CPL)
requesting a copy of the draft assignment deed with marked

~ up changes required by DMR.

On 24 July 2009, Kosho (by Slijderink) emailed Minter Ellison (for
CPL) requesting a copy of the draft assignment deed with marked
up changes required by DMR.

On 27 July 2008, Kosha (by Sljderink) wrote to Minter Ellison (for
CPL) formally confirming its acceptance of the marked up changes
from Crown law (for DMR), confirming its understanding that all
conditions of the letter of offer were satisfied and that CPL was only

waiting on the deed of assignment {o permit drawdown and nofing
Minter Ellison was advancing post haste.

On 29 July 2009, Kosho (by Slijderink):

(@)

(b)

emailed Minter Ellison (for CPL) confirming its understanding
that all conditions of the finance facility were satisfied and
that CPL was only waifing on deed of assignment to effect

Same;

telephoned Anthony Perich of Minter Ellison and was
informed that Trilogy had taken over as responsible entity for
the PFM Fund and that Minter Ellison had completed their
due diligence and were advancing approval from Trilogy as
to the proposed changes to the draft assignment deed
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17

sought by DMR;

emailed Minter Effison (for CPL) confirming the conversation. |

25. On 31 July 2009:

(@)

(b)

Minter Ellison met with Trilogy in respect of the finance
facility and the draft assignment deed;

Kosho (by Stijderink) wrote to Minter Ellison (for CPL)
confirming discussions were held with Trilogy in relation to
the draft assignment deed.

26. On 12 August 2009, Kosho (by Slijderink) emailed Trilogy (Michael
Finlayson) noting that Kosho:

@

(b)

had complied with ail conditions of approval with the only
outstanding matter to be resolved (the signing of the draft
assignment deed) being delayed as a consequence of the
change in responsible entity;

required the advance of facility funds to service operational
costs and advance the project.

27.  On or about 21 August 2009, Kosho (by Slijderink) telephoned
Minter Ellison (for CPL) and was informed by Anthony Perich that
Trilogy funds had been frozen until the Commonwealth Bank of
Australia (herein “CBA") had completed a review of proposed

Trilogy cashfiows (“CBA frozen representation’).

27A. _Trilo

did naot ever withdraw. aualify or otherwise isabuse the

plaintiffs about the CBA frozen representation. notwithstanding the
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CBA had lifted the hold over Trilogy's facilities and the PFM Fund
by 10 August 2008.

Particulars
| efter from Allens | inkiate ssCox 1a 1 Jul
2012,

" 28.  On 24 August 2009, Kosho (by Slijderink) emailed Trilogy (Michael

Finlayson):

(a) requesting a meeting to discuss the finance facility;

(b) noting that delays in advancing the funds under the facility
and making payments was due to the CBA;

(c) noting that the CBA had previously approved the facility to
Kosho prior to issuing the letier of offer.

29, On 1 September 2009, at a mesting with Neal Hinrichensen and
Michael Vella and another representative of Trilogy, Kosho (by
Skijderink, Reiko Fujino and Brian Scott) was informed (“funds
availability representation”):

(@) cashflow issues between Trilogy and CBA were likely to be
resolved within one to two weeks;

(b)  shortly thereafter funds would be available to Kosho fo
enable it to advance the project through Trilogy gither from
the CBA or other funds. '

29A. The funds availability re entation was not relevantly with

or qualified by Trilogy.

139



30.

31.

32.

33.

AL Y
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On 2 September 2009, Kosho (by Shijderink) provided to Trilogy
(Neal Hinrichensen) the information requested in their meeting of
the previous day.

On 7 September 2009, Kosho (by Shjderink) emailed Trilogy (Neal
Hinrichensen) requesting timing for the advance of funds and
resolution of issues with CBA and noting delays were costiy to
Kosho.

On 11 September 2008, Kosho (by Slijderink) emailed Trilogy (Neal
Hinrichensen) requesting an update on resolution of cash flow
difficuities and noting that all of Kosho's assets have been cross
collateralized and Kosho was experiencing difficulty from the
shoriage of operating funds.

On 11 September 2009:

(@) Trilogy (Neal Hinrichensen) emailed Kosho (by Slijderink)

noting Trilogy hoped to have a position by the following
Mohday and requested detzils on condifions precedent, deed
of assignment, security documents and pre sale commercial
contracts.

(b) Kosho (by Slijderink) emailed Trilogy (Neal Hinrichensen)
providing the requested information and noting that all
conditions precedent had been completed and satisfied with
the exception of the signing of the draft assignment deed.

On 15 September 2009:

{a) Kosho (by Slijderink) emailed Trilogy (Neal Hinrichensen)
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35.

36.

37.
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requesting confirmation as to fiming of first draw down; -

(b)  Trilogy (Neal Hinrichensen) emailed Kosho (by Slijderink)
requesting costings for construction component with quantity
surveyor's review, summary of loan componenfsand
approvals/ plans of Stage 1A.

Kosho (by Slijderink) provided the requested information to Trilogy
(Neal Hinrichensen) by emails dated 22 September 2008 and 25
September 2009.

On 25 September 2009, Trilogy (Neil Hinrichensen) emailed Kosho
(by Slijderink) acknowledging receiving the requested information
and noted that Trilogy was - “...working with Minters to finalise
their due diligence on the CP’s [conditions precedent] which will |
take around a week. We should be then in a position to recommend
moving forward. We won't be able to advance any funds prior to
then. Whilst this may not be ideal our hands are tied under the new
amangements. | will advise once Minters have completed their
review”,

On 28 September 2009, Kosho (by Slijderink) emailed Trilogy {Neil
Hinrichensen) stating - “further to our earlier discussions we
confirm that funds allocated for the Abadi Residentiat Village Stage
One A are somewhat contingent upon monies being received by
Ralmain Trilogy from other third party settlements. We also
understand that such funds should be available with 2-3 weeks
however you have raised concern in that it is refiant upon third
parties for provision of same and delays may be greater than 3

weeks...”,
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On 9 October 2009, Kosho (by Slijderink) emailed Trilogy (Neil
Hinrichensen) confirming understanding that Minter Eliison had
completed due diligence investigations in the previous week and
that Kosho was to receive further advices in the week of 9 October
2009 as to timing for drawdown.

On 19 Qctober 2009:

(a)

(b)

Kosho (by Slijderink) emailed Trilogy (Neil Hinrichensen)
requesting an response ‘to emails and phone messages in
regards to the timing of the first draw down and timely
advance of loan facility™;

Trilogy (Neil Hinrichensen) emailed Kosho (by Stijderink)
stating - “further to previous curr&epondencé, | understand
Minters will be issuing a letter in the next day or so updating
the position...”

By letter date 20 October 2008, from Minter Ellison (for Trilogy) to
Hickey Lawyers {for Kosho) wrote stating —

“We note that there are a number of outstanding conditions precedent in

a.
b.

C.

respect of the above facility, including:

an unconditional sales contract for the commercial property;

a building contract with an independent and appropriately qualified
third party consuitant;

a civil works contract with an independent and appropristely qualified
third party consultant; :

deeds of security in respect of agreements in items b and ¢ above
(which will be prepared upon provision, and review of, the relevant
agreements), .

agreement to the deed, and sign off by, the Depariment of Main
Roads and il relevant parties;

copies of the following documents previously requested:
i certificates of currency (noting our ciients interests)
ii evidence of payment of council rates
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jiievidence of payment of land tax. '
In addition, our client is reviewing the due diligence enquiries relevant to
this facility, including the valuations. To enable it fo complete these
enquiries please provide us with financial accounts of the guarantor,
borrower and mortgagor...”

41. By letter dated 27 October 2009, Hickey Lawyers replied to Minter
Ellison noting:

(a) the copy unconditional commercial sales contract was
provided on 29 June 2009 and Minter Ellison had on 11
August 2009 confirmed it was held on file;

(b) that the parties had dealt with the issues in (b), (c) and (d) in
emails dated 1 July 2009;

{c) the draft assignment deed was in the hands of Triiogy but
that Kosho.and Club Cavil had approved the terms of the
earlier deed provided by DMR on 27 July 2009;

{(d) copies of the documents in (f) had been provided on 2 July
2009;

(e) copies of other documents had been provided on 29 June
2009 and 30 June 2009.

41A. Thereafter, between 9 November 2009 and 21 December 2009,
Kosho did request of CPL or Trilogy;

(a) updates, from time to time, on progress of the Deed of
Assignment and satisfaction of special condition (s) of the

finance facility;

(b) the expedition of the provision of fhe Deed of Assignment for

execution by Kosho and Club Cavill in order to satisfy special
condition (s) of the finance facility:

(c) likely dafes for drawn ‘down of funds under the finance

——
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facility.

Pardiculars

(a) Kosho (Slijderink} fo Trilogy 9.11.
(Hinrichsen)
{b) Kosho (Sliiderink) to Trilogy 12.11.09
(Hinrichsen)
Kosho (Slijderink) to Trilogy 16.11
(Hinrichsen)

Kosho (Slijderink) to Trilogy
(Hinrichsen)

Kosho (Sliiderink) {o Trilogy 24.11.09
(Hinrichsen)

Kosho (Sliiderink) to Trilogy
(Hinrichsen)

e

:

E
=
B

E

.
-
nd
]

Kosho (Sliiderink) to Trilogy .12.09
(Hinrichsen)

g & B

Kosho (Slijderink) {o Trilogy 11.12.09
(Hinrichsen)

]
>
e,
N
[

Kosho (Slijderink) to Tril
Hinrichsen

Kasho (Slijderink) {o Trilogy
(Hinrichsen)

s[e
>
g

B
N
3

Kosho {Slijderink) to Trilogy
{Hinrichsen)

42. On 22 December 2009, Trilogy:

(@)
(b)

{c)

appoinied Brian Noble of Clayton Uiz as its Solicitors;

noted that an assignment of rights under a deed of
assignment with DMR was a condition precedent to the
facility being provided;

advised that a draft assignment deed had been submitted to
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Crown Law (for DMR);

(d) expscted to hear back from Crown Law in the first 2 weeks of
January 2010.

On 15 January 2010, Kosho (by Slijderink) emailed Clayton Utz
(Brian Noble) requesting information as to progress and timing for
completion of the draft assignment deed.

On 28 January 2010, Clayton Utz (Brian Nobie) emailed Kosho (by
Slijderink) noting that Clayton Utz had received a response from
DMR in relation io the draft assignment deed to which Clayton Utz
were replying and Clayton Utz expected to be in a position to
provide a settled deed within 7 — 10 days.

On 9 February 2010, Kosho (by Sfijderink) emailed Clayton Utz
(Brian Noble) confirming that DMR had agreed to terms of draft
assignment deed and requesting a meeting to discuss facility.

On 12 February 2010, Clayton Utz (Brian Noble) emailed Kosho (by

Slijderink):

{a) advised that Sunrise Waters Pty Ltd had confirmed
acceptable to the terms of the draft assignment deed; and

(b) stating - “On Tuesday moming | sent the Deed incorporating
a number of amendments requested by Crown Law back to
them for approval. When Crown Law approves the terms of
the Deed | will send the Deed to you. | will chase them down
on Friday as to their comments on the Deed | sent them

today..."
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50. On 26 February 2010, Michael Quinn of Q5 Law was appointed
Solicitor for the Plaintiffs and wrote to Clayton Utz reserving their
rights under the finance facility.

BREACHES
51. As at the date of commencement of this Proceeding, Trilogy:

{a) has had possession of (and retains) the benefit of each of the
documents for execution (and the equitable interests granted
thereunder) provided by Kosho pursuant fo and in
accordance with the finance facility;

(b)  has had in excess of eight (8) months to consider the terms
of the draft assignment deed and satisfy itself as fo the
requirements for any changes proposed by the DMR as early
as July 2009;

(¢) failed or refused to make any or any additional advances to
Kosho to enable sales & marketing, development and
construction of Stage 1A in accordance with the finance
facility.

52.  Trilogy, by the jts conduct pleaded hersin (ante and posf), has:

(a) failed to do all such things and take ail such steps necessary
to enable Kosho to have the benefit of the finance facility;

(b)  notwithstanding the facts and matters pleaded in 14, 15 and
16A herein:

() unreasonably delayed in its consideration and
determinaticn of Kosho's compliance with the
requirements of the finance facility, and in particular the
draft assignment deed;
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MISLEADING AND DECEPTIVE CONDUCT
55. Further or in the alternative:

(3)  on or about 24 June 2009, CPL (by McCormick and McCosh)
represented orally to Kosho (by Stijderink) that funding would
be available within 30 days, in accordance with the cash

‘ flows provided in January 2009;

(b)

©

56. Kosho and City Co relied on each of the representations:

{@) [n55(a) above
()] in entering into and executing the finance facility;
(i)  in agreeing to special condition (s) in relation to the
assignment of compensation o Sunrise Waters Pty
Lid; ’
(ili)  in granting or extending the securities comprised in
the documents for execution;
(b) in55(b) & 55(d) above:
()] in continuing in and with ance facility:
(i)  infailing to take or ing, steps to seek or obtai

alternate congtruction finance.
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56A. Further or alternative ch of the representations were as to a

57.

58.

“future matter” within the meaning of s.51A of the TPA.

The representations:

(a)
(b)

were commitied in the course of frade or commerce; and

in the premises pleaded in paragraphs 14, 15, 16A and 20 fo
50 hereof, ware conduct which was misieading or deceptive
in contravention of: '

s.52 of the TPA {now s.18, Schedule 2 of the
Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (Cth));

(i)  altematively, s.12DA of Division 2 of the ASIC Act.

in_so far as the representations was were as to_a future maiter,
there was no reasonable basis for making i each. in that:

(@

(b)

()

(d)

on 20 May 2009 nofice was given of an exiraordinary
general meeting of members of the PFM fund, of which
CPL was responsible entity, to be held on 25 June 2009,
for the purpose of removing CPL as responsible entity;

on 23 June 2009 CPL failed in an atiempt to obtain an
injunction restraining the meeting:

on 24 June 2009 the meeting was held, and the members

- voted to remove CPL as responsible entity and replace

CPL. with Trilogy;

the CBA frozen re ptafion f; because as was
e G the CBA had not frozen merely blace
empora on Trilo cilities and the PFM Fu

until 10 August 2009 and that hold was spent prior to the

e of the making of the CBA frozen representation.

150



30

Particulars
Letter from Allens Link o TressCox L dated 31 July 2012,

() Kosho and City Co rely upon s.51A of the TPA.

Unconscionable conduct

59. Further or alternatively, Kosho and City Co sayv as sef out below 'in
paragraphs 60 fo 99.

60.. Kosho and City Co repeat and rely on paragraphs 1 — 10 and 20 —
58 above.

61. On 13 February 2009, at a meeting:
(a) Kosho (by_Sliiderink) told CPL (by Ellis and McCormick),

as was the fact, that:

(i) Stage 1A funding was required to design the first
commercial building, civil works and landscaping;

(ii) a Put and Call Option contract had been executed

in_respect of the commercial alioiments on the

development. and was unconditional;

()  a10% deposit had been paid into Hickey lawyers

trust account;
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65.

66,
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() Kosho tabled a copy of the_exec! Put and Call Option
contract at the meefing wiih CPL.

Further:

(a) on 1 April 2009 Kosho (by Sliiderink) told CPL (by letier to

Ellis), as was the fact, that there was an_unconditional

contract for the commercial alloiments on the development
with a 10% deposif paid;

(b) CPL (by Ellis and McCormick) understood the statement in
subparagraph (a) fo refer fo the Put and Call Option

contract

Further, a copy of the Put and Cali option contract was provided to
CPL or Trilogy: :

(a) on 8 April 2009 (in a landmark Valuation):
(b) on 29 June 2009;

(c) on 2 July (to Minter Ellison); and

(d) on 11 August 2009 {by hand).

Af no {ime befween 13 February 2009 and 20 October 2009 did
CPL_or Trilogy express the view that the Put and Call Option:
contract was unacceptable or did not satisfy special condition_(p)

of the finance facility.

On 268 March 2009 CPL (by Ellis and McCormick) stated its

agreement to the likely timetable being that paymenis under the
then proposed finance facility would commence two months after

approval of the facility by the CBA.

On 13 May 2009:
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68.

(a)
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CPL. (by Ellis and McComick).

{)] agreed fo Kosho using its own construction
company for the development construction:

(ii) agreed to give Kosho additional time beyond the
12_month period of the then proposed finance

facility if Kogho required time to find an altemative
financier in the event that CPL decided not to fund

T A I O e e e e e———s

further stages of the development.

in mid June 2009 CPL McCormick) told Kosho telephone

call to Slijderink) that:
(@ Minter Ellison had commenced preparation of the draft

(b)

(@)

(o)

assignment deed for issue to the Depariment of Main
Roads:

it was CPL's intention fo seille the deed as soon as

R WWaO Al o B e ———————

possible.

On 22 June 2009:

CPL sent a draft facility letter fo Kosho, with a schedule
attached which set out the agreed amount and timing of
the payments necessary to carry out ihe construction

works the subject of the proposed finance facility;

CPL (by McCormick) told Kosho (by Slijderink) that:

(i) CPL was working towards the payments under the
proposed finance facility commencing at the end
of July;
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70.
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(ii) CPL understood that_any significant delays in

commencement and fiming of the payments under
the proposed finance facility would adversel

impact on the programme for development:

(i) therefore CPL would work with Kosho if any delay
in the payinents was required: and

(iv} CPL expected fo start the payments at the end of
July, and make them reqularly thereafter.

Kosho relied upon each of the matters pleaded in paragraphs 65
fo 68 above;

(a) at each respective date prior to 25 June 2009, in taking
' steps thereafter to further the negotiations with CPL for the
finance facility,

(b) when entering into the finance facility on 25 June: and

(0) in taking steps after 25 June to satisfy the conditions of the
finance facility.

Fusther, at all material times CPL knew, as was the fact, that:

{a) development costs were required for the design of the
construction works:

{b) that desian had to be complefed prior to inviting tenders
for the civil and building work. and the engagement of the
civil and building work confractors.

Particulars: the knowledge was held by Ellis, McCosh_and
McComnick.
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By reason of the matiers pleaded in paragraphs 60 to 70 above,

as at 24 June 2009 CPL knew (by the knowledge of McCosh,
McComnick, Ellis and Minter Ellison), as was the fact:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

®

@

the timing on the development programme was tight and
delays in_commencement and timing of the payments
under the proposed finance facility would adversely impact
on the programme for development:

development costs were required for the désign of the
construction works:;

that design_had to be completed prior to inviing tenders
for the civil and building work, and the engagement of the

civil and building work contractors;

the existing facility had been extended from 19 April 2009
during the period when CPL was receiving and

considering, _including at Board level, the Kosho
application for finance;

its assessment of the satisfaction of conditions precedent
had fo be achieved as quickly as possible fo permit the
reqular_payments that would allow the development to
proceed;

Kosho was pressing for CPL’s . assessment of the

satisfaction of conditions precedent had to be achieved as
quickly as possible to permit the regular payments that
would aliow the development {o proceed.:

Kosho required funds to be released as scon as possible
to proceed with the development:
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(k)
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- Koshe required the draft deed of assignment to be

finalised as quickly as possible fo permit_funds to be
released for the development:

Kosho was relying upon CPL to progress their assessment
of the conditions precedent as quickly as possible and in

" any event so that funds could be released by the end of

July 2008;

Kosho reguired the enis under the facility in
accordance with the cash flow schedule attached to_the

finance facility document dated 24 June 2008;

payments in accordance with the cash flow schedule

attached to the finance facility document dated 24 June

2009 were necessary for the development {o proceed in
the 12 month period from 25 June 2009.

On 1 July 2009 CPL (by erail from McCosh) agreed that

(@)

(b)

()

special condition of the facility referred o

draws for construction under the proposed_ civil and
building contracts:

finance facility drawdowns could be used for conguitant
and_development costs which occurred prior to the civil
and building contracts being finalised; and

initial progress claims for consuliants’ expenses (that is for
non-consiruction claims) could be made without the

reguirement for the constructions contracts and civil works
coniracts.
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On 2 July 2009, in reliance on the matters pleaded in paragraph

72 above, Kosho (by letter that day) told CPL (by Minter Ellison)
that:

)] copies of building and civil consiruction coniracts would be

provided as available;

(b} the trig_artite agreement befween Kosho, the builder and

CPL referred to in the facility letter dated 24 June 2009
would be entered into prior to letting the .construction
contracis.

At no time between 24 June 2009 and 20 October 2009 did CPL

or Trilogy express the view that the tripartite agreement was to be
provided notwithstanding that

(a) the design of the construction works had not been carried

out:

(o) the building and civil construction contracts had_not been
finalised: and

(c) no drawdowns had been permitted for consultant and
development costs.

On_1 July 2009 CPL (by letter from Minter Ellison) required certain
documents to be provided.

On 2 July 2009 Kosho provided all fhe required documents apart
from:

(a) a valuation from PRP. which was yet to be finalised; and

b) the assignment deed. which had not been finalised.
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On or about 27 July 2009 Kosho ! and deliv
letter from Slijderink to Minter Ellison enclosing copies of the PRP
. . mai t 27

from-Slijderink—Hickey Lawyers to Minter Eflison}:

(b) stated its understanding that the documents delivered to
that point finalised all mafters requiring docyments {o be
submitted apart from the draft assignment deed;

{c) sought CPL’s confirnation of that fact:

(d) nofified its acceptance of the amendments to the draft
assignment deed which had been made by Crown Law:

and

(® requested the draft assignment deed to be provided for |

signing.

At no time between 27 Juiy 2009 and 20 October 2009 did CPL or

Trilogy express the view that the provision of documents as at 2
July 2009 was deficient.

On 16 Julv 2009 CPL emailed a copy of the draft assignment deed
to Kosho.

80A. The Plaintiffs repeat and rely on the CBA frozen _g;grgsegta;ion and

80.

the funds gvailability represeniation.

On about 20 July 2009:
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(a)  the Depariment of Main Roads {by Walkerley) told Kosho

(by Slijderink) that the Depariment of Main Roads wanted
the draft deed executed as soon as possible, and would
attend to it promptly;

(b) Kosho (by Slijderink) advised CPL of the response of the
Depariment of Main Roads.

On 22 July 2009;

(a) Kosho became aware that Trilogy had replaced CPL as
responsible entity:

) Kosho (by letter to McCormick) asked CPL fo clarify what
was happening in light of the change of responsible entity.

On_23 July 2009:

(a) the Department of Main Roads (by letter from Walkerley)
advised Kosho that Crown Law was engaged fo deal with

the draft assignment deed and had already responded by
providing an amended deed;

®) Crown Law provided a copy of the amended deed to
Kosho.

On 27 July 2009 Kosho (by letter that day) advised Minter Ellison
that it accepted the amended deed provided by Crown Law.

On 29 July 2009:

(a) Minter Ellison (by Lim) stated to Kosho (by Sliiderink) that
they were seeking Trilogy's response to the amended
deed provided by Crown Law;
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() Minter-Ellison (by Perich) stated to Kosho (by Sliiderink)
that Minter Elison were meeting Trilogy the foliowing day
to obtain approval fo settle the draft assignment deed.

Notwithstanding requests by Kosho (by Slijderink) for information
as to the progress of the draft assignment deed:

(a) on 31 July, by email fo Perich:
(b) on 3 August, by telephone to Perich;
(c) on 12 August, by email to Finlayson of Trilogy:

(d) on 17 August, by emailto Perich;

{8} on 21 August, by telephone to Perich: and

(h and 11 September, by email to Vella of Trilogy:

Trilogy did not, during the pericd from 29 July to 11 September
2009:

(@) take any or any reasonable steps to finalise the draft deed:

(h) give instructions to Minter Ellison to finalise the deed;

0] make contact with the Department of Main Roads or
Crown Law to progress the finalisation of the draft deed.

On 20 October 2009 Tritogy (by letter from Minter Ellison) stated to
Kosho that:

(a) there were a number of outstanding conditions precedent,
including:

n unconditional sales contract for the commercial

{) an unconditional sales contract for the COMMETLIA

property;
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(ii) a_building contract with an independent and
7 approptiately qualified third party consuitant,

(iii) a civil works contract with an independent and
appropriately qualified third parly consultant;

) Trilogy was reviewing the due diligence enquiries relevant
to the finance facility, including vaiuations.

On_15 September 2009 Trilogy (by email from Hinrichsen) advised
Kosho that trilogy was then “working through the file as quickly as
we can®, and requested further information, which was provided on
25 September 2009,

On 25 September 2009 Trilogy (by email from Hinrichsen) advised -

Kosho that:

(@) Trilogy was then working with Minter Ellison io finalise
their due diligence on the conditions precede:

(b) that would “take around a week";

(c). It would not be in a position to advance any funds before
then.

On 12 November 2009 Trilogy (by email from Heinrichsen) told
Kosho Sliiderink) that:

(a) Trilogy had asked for a_review of the draft assignment
deed by its solicitors in Sydney:

(b) there were amendments_they would like to make to the
draft deed.
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On 12 November 2009 Kosho (by email from Slijderink) requested
that it be told what the proposed amendmenis were S0 that Kosho

couid consider them.

On 19 November 2009 Kasho (by email from Slijderink) requested
that Trilogy advise what the proposed amendments were.

Notwithstanding the requests on 12 and 19 November 2009
Trilogy failed or refused to advise what amendments they were

seeking to the drait assignment deed, and did not provide a copy
of it to Kosho. ‘ ‘

In_approximately mid December 2009 (on a date that cannot be
further particularised until after disclosure):

(a) Trilogy provided a copy of its amended deed to Crown
Law; but

(b) Trilogy did not provide a copy of iis amended deed to
Kosho.

Between July 2009 and the provision of the amended deed in mid
December 2009;

(a) no contact occurred between Trilogy and Crown Law in
' relation to the draft assignment deed:;

(b) no contact occurred between Trilogy and ihe Department
of Main Roads in relafion to the draft assignment deed:

(c) Trilogy refused to provide Kosh with a copy of
amendments it was proposing.

In the premises, in the period from 23 June 2009 to 24 June 2010,

Trilogy:
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unreasonably _delayed” in its consideration of, and
response in relation fo, Kosho's requests for sieps fo be
taken to enable it to comply with the special conditions
under the finance facility, so as io enable an early
drawdown of funds, and in any' event prior to 30 June

2010; in particular the unreasonable delay occurred in the
following periods:

@

(i

(iii)

(iv)

v)

between 27 July 2009, when Kosho advised that it
agreed to the amendments proposed by Crown
Law to the draft assionment deed, unfil 24 June
2010, during which fime a_copy of the draft
assignment deed was not provided to Kosho or
City Co;

between 23 June 2009 and 1 September 2009, at
which time Trilogy had the first meeting with
representatives of Kosho and Gity Co,
notwithstanding that it knew that from 14 July
2009, that Kogho and City Co had stated that the
matter was urgent;

from 23 June 2009 to 15 September 2009, being
the fime which elapsed between Triloay replacing
CPL as the responsible entity, and when it sought
additional documents from Kosho;

between 23 June 2009 and 25 September 2008,
during which period Trilogy's due diligence on the

special conditions had not been finalised;

between 23 June 2009 and 14 October 2009, at
which point Trilogy first announced its opposition
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“"to_Kosho's proposed form of _contract for the

commercial _building and for_the construction
contraci;

between 23 June 2009 and 22 December 2009,
peing_the time elapsed between when Kosho
informed Trilogy that it agreed to the amendments
to the draft assignment deed proposed by Crown
Law, and when Trilogy retumed a copy of the draft

assignment deed fo Crown Law for _its
consideration;

the period between 22 December 2009 and 12
February 2010, being the time which elapsed
between when Trilogy retumed a copy of the draft

assignment deed to Crown Law for__its
consideration, and Crown Law's failure to returmn a

R R R e e e e S et

copy of the draft assignment deed;

the period between 27 July 2009 when Kosho and
City Co signified their agreement to Crown Law's
draft_assignment deed and 23 February 2010,
when Trilogy stated its position fo be that it would
not review the status of special conditions until the
draft assignment deed was finalised;

the period between 27 July 2008 when Kosho and

City Co signified their agreement to Crown Law's
draft assignment deed and December 2010

during which time there was no. or no meaningful,
contact with Crown Law or the Department of Main
Roads to _progress the finalisation of the draft
assignment deed.;
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(x}  the period beiween 22 Decernber 2009 when

Trilogy announced that it had returned its_draft

assignment deed to Crown Law, and 25 March
2010, when Trilogy and Crown Law had their first
x meeting in relation to the draft assignment deed;

[(1)] failed or refused fo consider and advance the satisfaction
of the special conditions other than that relating to the draft
assignment _deed;  particulars are contained in the
paragraphs referred fo above and in the email
communications from_Clayton Utz to Kosho on 17

o February 2010 and 23 February 2010;

(c) failed or refused fo take reasonable steps to advance the
satisfaction of the special condifions:

(d) unreasonably _delayed in its _ consideration and
determination _of _Kosho's compliance with the
| reguirements of the special conditions. and in particular
L that relafing to the draft assiopnment deed;

(e) failed fo act as pleaded in paragraph 20A above:

' L
(S
1 .

= ® acted as set out in paragraph 52 above.

96. On 20 Aprit 2010 Trilogy (by Andrew Griffin. in a meeting with Paul
Brinsmead_and Peter Madrers) stated words to the effect of the
following in relation to Kosho, Slijderink, and the development the

- | subject of the finance facility:

(a) that slider dick cunt don't worry in two months we will fuck

him up;_they are a problem for us but we have a plan for
him and Kosho just wait and see;
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{b) Kosho and City Pacific Limited have acted illegally and
will be prosecuted:;

(c) we have done a deal with a Queensland Minister and we
will obtain approval even without land owner's consent; we

don't need their compensation rights any more.

In the premises of the matters pleaded above, the court should

infer that Trilogy’s conduct was a deliberate tactic to ensure that it
did not have to provide the funds under the finance facility.

In_the premises of the matters pleaded in paragraphs 60 fo 97
abave, the conduct of Trilogy pleaded in paragraph 95 above was:

)] conduct in trade or commerce within the meaning of that
term under the TPA;

(1)) conduct in connection with the supply or possible supply of
services to Kosho and City Co, within the meaning of that
term in s 51AC(2) of the TPA;

(c) conduct in breach of s 51AC(2)(a) of the TPA.

By reason of Trilogy’s breach of s 51AC(2) of the TPA, Kosho and
City Co (and each of them) have suffered (and are liable to suffer)

loss and damage. Particulars are get out in paragra hs 110 and
111 below.

Further or alternatively, Kosho and City Co say as set out below.

By the conduct referred to in paragraphs 55, 64 - 68, 72, 74, 78,
79 CPL represenied that:

(a) CPL would take all necessary steps to progress the
provision of funds in a timely manner, and in_ any event in
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_accordance with the schedule attached to the finance
facility document;

funds would be provided in a timely manner and in any
event in accordance with the schedule attached to the

-finance facility document;

CPL was in a position to_do the matters pleaded in
subparagraphs (a) and (b) above, and/or bring those
matters {o pass.

L 102. In_the premises, the conduct of CPL pleaded in paragraph 101
. above was:

@

(©

conduct in trade or commerce within the meaning of that
term under the TPA;

misleading_or deceptive. or likely fo mislead or deceive,
within the meaning of .52 of the TPA, in that:

(i) there was no reasonable basis for making the
representations in light of the matters pieaded in
paragraph 58 above;

(i) from 25 May 2009 onwards there was a
reasonable possibility that CPL would be removed
as responsible entity of the PFM fund:

(iii} on 24 June 2008 CPL was removed as

responsible _entity and even though CPL

chailenged that removal there was a reasonable

prospect that the challenge would not succeed:;

conduct in breach of s 52 of the TPA.
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In refiance upon the conduct pleaded in paragraph 101 above:

(a) Kosho and City Co relied upon that part of the conduct
which occurred prior to 25 June 2009 in entering into the

finance facility;

() Kosho and_City Co relied upon that part of the conduct
which ocgurred after 25 June 2009 in continuing to seek
the provision of funds under the finance fagility from CPL
and Trilogy.

(@) continued the representations referred to in paragraph 101

save that Trilogy was now in the ition fo!

occupied by CPL;

(b) Trlogy would take all necessa to progress the

provision of funds in a timely manner, and in‘any event in
accordance with the schedule attached fo the finance

facility document;

(c) funds would be provided in a timely manner and in_any
event in accordance with the schedule attached fo the

finance facility document;

(d) Trilogy was in a position to do the matters pleaded in
subparagraphs (a) - (c) above, andfor bring those matiers

{0 pass.

In the premises, the conduct of Trilogy pleaded in paragraph 104
above was:
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(a) conduct in trade or commerce within the meaning of that
ferm under the TPA:

(b) misleading or deceptive, or likely to mislead or deceive,
within the meaning of 5.52 of the TPA, in that:

()] in_so far as the representations are as to future

matters within the meaning of 8.51A of the TPA,
Kosho and City Co rely upon s.51A;

i) by reason of the matiers pleaded in paragraphs
80-97 above the court should infer that there was

no reasonable basis for making the
represgntations. or altematively that Trilogy never
intended o provide the funds under the finance
facility,

(c) conduct in breach of s 52 of the TPA.

106. In _reliance upon fhe conduct pleaded in paragraph 104 above

Kosho and City continued to seek the provision of fu_nds under the
finance facility from Tril and none other.

107. By reason of the conduct pleaded in paragraphs 101 _and 104 .

above Kosho and City Co have suffered loss and damage,
particulars of which are set out in paragraphs 110 and 111 below.

Failure to Discharge Security Over Surfers Paradis nd

107, On or ab 8 October Kosho, as borrower red into
loan agreement with e Public Tr a of eensland as
Cusiodian for CPL as trus or the CPFM Fund ("Custodian”
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as lender, and with CPL,_as the “financial supply facilitator”, for a

r the project (the

107B. _The s of the fi nance facility rel included terms
a8 at-
(a) I e fi ance facility en 18 months from
e dal i advance:
(b)

1

{c) ant to special condjfion
o rele any encumbrance over the aradi
Land upon the project Loan to Value Ratio ("LVR") not
exceedin % 0 basis of “Land Value As ls With
D A val’,
._The inifial nce to Kosho under the first finance facill S

made on 19 Ocfober 2007 so that the term of the first finance
facility ended on 19 April 2009.
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M 107D. The terms, L d “Land Value As ls With Development

(d) were not defined terms in the first finan cili

B 10 e plainfiffs will rely on the first finance facility for its fuil

$12,028 322 48
(o)  the"Land Value With Development Approval® fo
. Carrara Land was $17.5 million;

¥ Particulars

Landma ite valuation report daied 1 h 2009 for

g (c) theproject's LVR was 68.73%.

7H. 8 April 2 Kosho wrote to CPL and requesied the release of

b LVR did not 71.5% (“8 April 2009 lefter”
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1071 about 4 § m the Custodian was replac
st Company Fiduciary Setvices Lid a U i i
as trustee of the CPFM fund ("Second Custodian’).

At no time since the 8 Apiil 2009 as CPL or Ti

(@) ded 8 April 200 letfer:

(b) released. or instructed the Cugiag or Second Custodian

Expiration of Finance Facility

108. On or about 30 June 2010:

(a)___the finance facility expired (as provided in the finance facility
(page 2. Term));

(b)__ Trilogy made demand of Kosho under the finance facility;

109. On or about 15 October 2010 Trilogy appointed a controller to the

security properties whom was later replaced on 15 November '

2010 when Trilogy appointed a Receiver:
(a) tothe Camara Land:

(b}  to the Surfers Paradise Land.

Loss AND DAMAGE

110. Kosho and City Co (and each of them) have suffered {and are
liable to suffer) loss and damage as a consequence of Trilogy's

breach.

111. By reason of Trilogy's breach:
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Kosho was precluded from progressing the development and
construction of the project on the Camrara Land and has

Profit i

"JiL‘ oss of Opportunity to Eam Levelopme

respect of the Carrara La at July 2008 an
30 June 2010):
Kosho has lost the value of iis investment in the Carrara

Land and the project and has suffered Loss of Equily in the

City Co has lost the value of its investment in the Surfers
Paradise L.and and:

i. has suffered Loss of Equity in the Surfers
Paradise Land (a as at July 2009 and

30 June 2010):

ii. has ed Loss of Opportunity in the

Surfers Paradise Land (assessed as at July
2009 and 30 June 2010);
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()] further particulars will be provided, in the form of a forensic
accounting experts report, after completion of interlocutory
steps including disclosure herein,

AND THE PLAINTIFFS CLAIM:

21.  Damages in the-amount 6. $80.570,390 for breach of contract.
32. Further or alternatively, damages:

= a. pursuant to s.82 for breach of 5.52 of the Trade Practices Act

1974 (now s.163, Schedule 2 of the Competition and
Consumer Act 2010 (Cth));

b. alternatively, pursuant to s.12GF of the Australian Securities
and Investments Commissions Act 2001 ("ASIC Act’).

3. Damages or other relief or remedy for unconscionable conduct
der the ASIC Act or TRA.

54.  Such further or other order as this Honourable Coust may deem
meet.

85. Interest pursuant to the Supreme Court Act 1985.
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- 76.~ Costs.

| Signed:

55

efe, Solicitors for the Plainiiffs

Description:

This second further amended pleading was seitled by Mr Robes Bain QcC

and Mr | A Erskine of Counsel.

NOTICE AS TO DEFENCE

Your defence must be attached to your notice of intention to defend.
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LAWYERS
SYDNEY | MELBOURNE | BRISBANE | CANBERRA TressCox
.. - - - ABN93 281 58 357
Level 4
40 Creek Streel
Ourref  AXM:MZN:098998 Bictane QLD 4000
PO Box 5714
Brishane QLD 4001
31 January 2013 bhore 01 7 5004 3560
Fax 61 7 3004 3599
Attention: Zac Chami DX 248 Bristenn
Clayton Utz wireEecom.y
Level 15 :
1 Bligh Street _ Contact
SYDNEY NSW 2000 Mericn Niesirj
(07) 3004 3506
BY EMAIL: zchami@claytonutz.com Partner
Alex Mortariy
sbumett@claytonutz.com (07) 3004 3533
Dear Sir

Kosho Pty Ltd & Anor v Trilogy Funds Management Limited
- Supreme Court of Queensland Proceedings BS4728/10

Rieko Fujino ats Trilogy Funds Management Limited & Ors
Supreme Court of Queensland Proceedings BS10543/10

We refer to the above matiers and the order of Justice Applegarth made 27 November
2012.

We enclose by way of sevice our clients’ outline of submissions, to be filed on
1 February 2013.

Yours faithfully
TressCox

Ttaslont

/,,axAIex Moriarty
Email; Alax_Mariarty@ftresscox.com.ad

b848836_1.DOC/MN

A member of lha Amarisans Law Flim Assoclatior - ALFA ntarrelonal
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o SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND

REGISTRY: BRISBANE
NUMBER: BS4728/10

Kosho & Anor -v- Trilogy Funds Management Ltd

SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND

REGISTRY: BRISBANE
NUMBER: BS10543/10

Trilegy Funds Management Ltd & Ors —v- Rieko Fujino

OUTLINE OF SUBMISSIONS FOR KOSHO/FUJINO INTERESTS

e The Indemnity Clause (Clause 12) " T 65
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THE FACILITIES

2007 dealing

1. Trilogy Funds Management Ltd (“Trilogy”) asserts the 2007 lending (which Trilogy
describes as the ‘First Facility’)' “expired with no money having been repaid on if, and
with interest of some $3.7 million having been accrued™ and “a second facilily was
entered into on 24 June 20092 That is inaccurate. The 2007 facility did not expire.
Rather it was rolled into the 2009 facility, which then expired on 30 June 2010.

2. Trilogy’s pleaded case® is that the 2007 facility was varied by extending its term to 30
June 2010 and increasing it in amount to $16 million. Shorily prior to that, City Pacific
Limited (“CPL”) (of its own motion and to facilitate the parties’ coming to terms on that
variation and extension) had extended the term of the 2007 facility to 30 April 2009.
Such variation and extension had been contemplated by the language of the 2007 Letter
of Offer for the 2007 facility’ and that had also been the tenor of Kosho Pty Lid’s
(“Kosho™) March 2009 Revised Funding Submission.’

3. 30 June 2009 passed unremarked. The variation and extension had operated to extend the
term. That is not to be conflated with alleged conditions theremmder being satisfied for
further lending thereunder. So much was reflected in Trilogy’s Notices of Demand for
payment made 8 Juty 2010,

4, The facility limit of the 2007 facility was not extended beyond the approved $12,600,000
facility ceiling and no default notice ever issued for that facility.

5, At no time prior to 30 June 2010, was Kosho ever in breach of the 2007 loan or the
finance facility after variation and extension in 2009, as seems to be suggested by
Trilogy.

Finance Facility

6. It is the (admitted) Letter of Offer dated 24 June 2009 (*finance facility”"), which Trilogy
describes as the ‘Second Facility™® that formed the basis of the legal relationship between
the parties; no other loan agreement was drawn or executed (or required by CPL). The
accepted 24 June 2009 Letter of Offer was the variation and extension referred to in
Kosho’s Statement of Claim as the (relevanf) finance facility. The only further

! Trilogy Submission fifed 10 December 2012, para. 1(a)

2 Trilogy Submission filed 10 December 2012, para. 1(a)

3 Trilogy Submission filed 10 Decsmber 2012, para. 1)

+ Amended Stafement of Claim in BS10543/10, pacas. 8 and 9 (Guarantee action)
§ Exhibit 2, Ttem 47, page 1483 referring to “extend the faoility .."

& Exhibit 2, fiem 27, pages 647-996

7 Exhibit 24, paras. 17, 18 and Exhibits thereto

® Trilogy Submission filed 10 Decsmber 2012, para. 1(b)
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11.

12,
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documents that Kosho executed were fixed and floating charges and mortgages over
relevant properties’ as apprehended by that facility.

The 24 June 2009 Letter of Offer provided “that the omowunt of funds to be advanced was
in the sum of 316 million for: '

(i Curvent position $12,610,000
()  Construction/Consultanis A © $2,193830
(iii)  Interest (to be retained) $860,000
()  Contingency $336,170

The finance facility provided the extension of the extant $12,610,000 loan and additional
funds for sales, markel:iné, finalisation of plans and drawings, consultations and costs of
construction of the commercial component of the project (“Abadi”) which was to be
used as Kosho’s onsite sales office. The additional component of $2,193,830, was
funding for Stage 1A of the project.

Time constraints in the making of the further advance(s) thereunder were essential.

The finance facifity contemplated a $16m facility (after bringing into account the
“uroceeds of sele of the Commercial Property $2,647,937...""). - The requircment in
specia!eondiﬁon(q)ﬁrsaleofiheCmmemialepmytosetﬂeonorbefnre 28
February 2010, informs the implication of terms for timely advance of the further loan
fiunds for which Kosho contends. So, too, does the recognition by Trilogy of key time
frames or events reflected in other firther express terms including that the Letter of Offer
expressly provided for the “expiration of the facility on 30 Jume 2010 {page 2, Term)™"
and drawdown schedule attached thereto.

Trilogy, in its approach to the construction of the finance facility, seeks to dissect and
construct each term of the Letter of Offer in isolation. That approach is artificial and
ignores the surrounding circumstances known to the parties at the time of comiracting and
the purpose and object of the transaction itself.

On settled principle, the finance facility, being a commercial contract, ‘should be given a
business like interpretation’.’? An individual contractual provision cannct properly be
construed in isolation. The proper construction of a commercial coniract is to be
determined by what a reasonable person in the position of the parties would have
understood the provision to mean. That requires consideration not only of the text of the

® Exhibit 24, para. 13

19 Exhibit 2, Item 47 page 1482 under Total Facility Amount

H SFASOC, para. (¢); TFAD, para. 16(d)

T g0e Plativum United IT Ply Ltd v Secured Mortgage Management Ltd (in Lig) [2011] QCA 163 per Fraser JA at [6] and authorities
fhere considered: see also Toll (FGCT) Piy Lid v Alphapharm Piy Ltd {2004) 219 CLR 165 At 179 [40}; International Air Trangport
dssociation v Ansett Australia Holdings Ld (2008) 234 CLR 151 at 174 [53]; Byrmes v Kendle (2011) 243 CLR 253 at 284 [9§)
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particular document but also the surrounding circumstances known to the parties at the
time of contracting and the purpose and object of the transaction.”

Lender’s Absolute Discretion Argument

13. Trilogy seeks to rely upon an absolute disc:retim‘:14 arising out of an express term of the
nature refered to in Questband.” That well-known principle is: “when the terms of a
contract confer upon one of the parties to it an absolute or unfettered discretion to do or
refrain from doing an act, the term must be given effect and the words conferring the
discretion their full force”.'®

14.  The Letter of Offer provided:"

“Please note that we also reserve the right to withdraw or amend the loan
approval at any time without liability at our absolute discretion if, in our opinion
or the opirion of the Lender's solicitors, there grises any matter .which may
adversely affect the proposed loan... ” [emphasis added]

15. The stipulated discretion is “ahsolute” but only arises, and the operation of the provision
is dependent, upon a relevant opinion being held or formed by Trilogy or its solicitors:
“if in our opinion or the opinion of our Lender’s Solicitors, there arises any matter
which may adversely affect the proposed loan”. There is no evidence that Trilogy (or its
solicitors) at any stage formed such an opinion; indeed, there was no suggestion of that.

16. _ThereismevidmcethatTrﬂogy(mitssoﬁcﬂms)msidmdmmﬂterexisﬁdwpable
of having any adverse affect on the proposed loan. Moreover, at no stage was Kosho
informed of any matter considered by Trilogy (or its solicitors) that may have “adversely
affect{ed] the proposed loan” nor was Kosho given any notice of any purported reliance
upon such discretion in the finance facility.

17. The submission erects a fiction. The finance facility reserved a right on the part of

Trilogy to withdraw or amend the loan approval in ifs discretion and on cerfain pre-
condition but Trilogy did not ever (or ever seek to) do that.

EXPRESS TERMS
Special Conditions

18. Trilogy asserts non-satisfaction of only three conditions of the finance facility: (p), (q)
and (s).

1 se Pacific Carriers Ltd v BNP Paribas (2004) 218 CLR 451 at 462; see also JV Property Syndicates P/L v Croalgbill Ltd [2005)
QCA 479 (smd cases cited therein) at [18} §{2005] QCA 479

Wrilogy Submission filed 10 December 2012, paras. 8 -9

5 2000) QSC7

% Ouesthand, ibid, per Chesterman JA at {102]; see also Fraser JA teld in Platiem United I Piy Lid v Secured Morigage
Managzment Ltd (i Lig) [2011] QCA 162 at {5} citing Quastband, Chesterman JA and Fryberg J agreeing

1 Bxhibit 2, Hem 47, page 1487
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Special Condition (p)

19.

20,

2L

23,

Trilogy contends'® that special condition (p) was not satisfied because Kosho did not
provide a copy of an unconditional sale contract for the commercial property.

Special condition (p) was satisfied (certainly as accepted by CPL as substantia]
performance which binds Trilogy) and further or different compliance was not otherwise

required.

Kosho presold the commercial building comprising Stage 1A of the project to a Japanese
businessman,"® Hiroo Ota, who on 28 January 2009 paid into the frust account of Hickey
Lawyers the $800,000 deposit”” payable under the contract.

The deposit remained there until October 2010 (at which time Kohso had to terminate the
Put and Call option).”!

The Option deed” is a style of conract recognised by PAMDA of the type ofien used in
off:the-plan “multiple lot” commercial sales in the development industry in Queensiand.

The submission of Trilogy ignores the terms of the Pat Option. There are no rights to
terminate reposed in the Buyer and all the flexibility lay with the Seller:

(a) chnse62-irmvocableoﬂ'erbyﬁmmuoenterintobhdingagreememforthe
purchase of the lots from Grantor

(b)  if the Buyer did not exercise the Call option, the Put option entitled Kosho to
compel execution of a contract in tetms of the Schedule 2 Contract (which is
unconditional in its terms)

(c) Kosho could act under an irevocable power of attorney given at clanse 14.1 to —
(i) sign on buyer’s behalf the unconditional contract
(i) sign any such other forms required by PAMDA
(iii) do all acts and things grantee required to do in connection with the deed

(iv) execute all documents the grantee required to execute under the
miconditional contract

(v) register the power of attorney with titles office
The Buyer had no latitude relevantly and Kosho could have compelled the Buyer’s entry

into (and later settlement of) the contract. Under the terms of the document, Hirco Ota,
was bound unconditionally and irrevocably to the Put Option, which was capable of

™ Frilogy Submission filed 10 December 2012, paras. 32 - 43
1 Exhibit 2, Item 18, pages 428-541

0 Eyhibit 2, para. 228, Item 18, pages 426-427

M Exhibit 2, paras. 230 - 231

2 Exhibit 2, ftem 18, page 435
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being exercised by Kosho, regardless of any action or inaction by him, to compel the
unconditional contract (Schedule 2) and settlement (being 30 days after date of contract).

26. By clause 12.2, the security bond was to be credited toward the deposit payable under the
' unconditional contract — the security bond was equal exactly to the 10% deposit amount
payable under the contract (viz, $800,000).

27, Trilogy relies upon the fact that Kosho could terminate but again this ignores the fact that
the clanse 28.1 is a clanse for Kosho’s benefit alone (clanse 28.2). In any event Kosho
had obtained its Development Approval on 20 January 2009* in the same month that the
Put and Call Option was executed and prior to Kosho’s approaching CPL for finance.
This issue was never raised with Kosho and had it been, Kosho would have waived the
oppertunity. It was entirely in Kosho’s interests to obtzin finance and seitle the sale of
the commercial property. Clauses 28.2 and 28.6 make clear that clause 28 was for the
benefit of Kosho and could be waived.

28,  CPL had full knowledge of the particular form of document entered imto;™ it was
discussed in detail during pre-contractual negotiations with CPL executives;™ Kosho
informed CPL of the presale (which represented a 100% presale of Stage 1A) and the
faact that it was in the form of a Put and Call Agreement”

29.  The sale of the commercial property occurred over the period December 2008 - early
2009. CPL was told of it in February 20092 It was not an issue for CPL as Mr
MoCormick - “...thought at that stage the only thing outstanding was the deed of
assignment....”...it (ie drawdown) was “imminent...very close

30. McCormick referred to “a final report that Pilot Partners prepared, there was mention in
there of the Kosho facility and that it had all been approved by that stage and that draw
downs were scheduled to occur in July...” ¥

31.  McCormick knew of the Put and Call as early as February 2009 and he and Mr McCosh
put together the Letter of Offer of 24 June 2009 (perhaps with assistance of Minter
Ellison) and CPL Board approval followed (prior to the Letter of Offer being sent), all
based on the revised March 2009 Funding Submission provided om 2 April 2009
(“funding submission”) which contained a copy of the Put and Call Option.

32. On no fewer than five occasions over many months a copy of the Put and Call Option
agreement was provided to CPL and Trifogy:™

B Exhibit 2, Hem 18, page 463 - Clanse 26.3 of Contract Date for Completion

 Exhibit 2, para. 44-45, Item 13, page 374-376

 Exhibit 2, paras. 90-91, 220, Exhibit 3, pares. 53-55, Exhibit “AKS-117

% Exchibit 2, paras, 63 - 67

7 Exhibit 2, paras. £4, 66

 Exhibit 2, paras, 54, 64

2 72-82, lines 57-58, T2-83, live 5

#1223 lines 34-57; The Pilot Partners rapart refired to by MeComick was not disclosed by Tritogy in this proceeding
M 7285, lines 35-41

2 Exhibit 2, paras, 87-85, 94-96, 220, 311-312
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(2) on 2 April 2009 (included in the March 2009 Funding Submission);
(b)  on 8 April 2009 (in a Landmark Valuation);

{c) ont 29 June 2009;

(d on2hly (ﬁ Minter Ellison); and

(9  on 11 August 2009 (by hand).

At no time between 13 February 2009 and 20 October 2009 did CPL or Trilogy express
the view that the form of the comtract was unacceptable or did not satisfy special
condition (p) of the finance facility.” In contractual formulation, Kosho’s proffered
performance was accepted (as it well should have been) and the condition was satisfied.

Trilogy relies™ upon a single request in a letter dated 20 October 2009, from Minter-

Ellison (for Trilogy) to Hickey Lawyers (for Kosho) specifying a “shopping list” of
items:

“We note that there are a number of outstanding conditions precedent in respect of
the above facility, incheding:
a. anunconditional sales contract for the commercial property;
b. a building contract with an independent and appropriately qualified third
pariy consultant;
c.  acivil works contract with an independent and appropriately qualified third
party consultant;
d  deeds of security in respect of agreements in items b and ¢ above (which will
be prepared upon provision, and review of, the relevant agreemenis);
e. agresment to the deed, and sign off by, the Department of Main Roads and ail
relevant parties;
f  copies of the following documents previously requested:
i  certificates of currency (noting our clients interesis)
ii  evidence of payment of coumcil rates
ili  evidence of payment of land tax.
In addition, our client is reviewing the due diligence enqumesrelevant to this
Jacility, including the vatuations. To enable it to complete these enquiries please
provide us with financial accounts of the guarantor, borrower and morigagor...”

That submissjon ignores the detailed response from Hickey Lawyers dated 27 October
2009°° stating the copy unconditional commercial sales contract had already been
provided on 29 June 2009 and that Minter Ellison had on 11 August 2009 confirmed it
was held on file:

g

(@)  an unconditional sales contract for the commercial property

1. Owr client instructs that they provided a copy of the unconditional Put and
Call Commercial Sales Contract via email directly io the Responsible Entity
of the PFMF on the 29 June 2009 (refer Annexure A). We are further
instructed that an additional copy was provided by our client directly to
Minter Ellison Layers on 11 August 2009.

o Exhibit 2, para. 232

3 Trilogy Submission filed 10 December 2012, para. 33
3 Exhibit 2, para, 394, liem 129, pages 2081-2121

% Exhibit 2, para. 394, Item 129, page 2081
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2. Minter Ellison has previously confirmed that a capy is held on file. Please
see email from your Anthony Perich dated 11 August 2009 attached in
Annexure A

3. We are instructed that out client has previously advised and provided the
Responsible Entity with copies of the commercial sales contract prior to
receiving and signing the contractuol loan documents on the basis the
Responsible Entity was satisfied with the Contract form and materials
provided. :

4. We confirm that we hold $800,000.00 in our trust account, being the
security bond paid by the Graniee under the Put and Call Option Deed.

5. Owr client instructs that the provision of $800,000.00 represents a
substantive commitment from the buyer...”

The letter also stated:™’

«_.To be clear, my cliemt considers that they have provided all the required
items in accordance with the Letter of Offer and have already complied with ol

conditions precedeni in a timely and proper fashion.

Provision of such materials gave rise to the signing and formation of contractual

loan documents between our respective clients on the 2 July 2009
Mr Slijderink on 30 October 2009 emailed those documents to Trilogy (Neil
Henrichsen).*® There was no response to that correspondence from Hickey Lawyers, let
alone demur, and despite follow up by Mr Skijderink and Hickey Lawyers.”

There was never otherwise any mention to Kosho that the particular form of Put and Call

Option did (or may) not have satisfied the requirement of special condition (p). Nor was

there ever any request for a different form of contract.

Trilogy submiis (without citing authority) that “a failure io advise another party to a
coniract that they have not met their obligations is, without more, no basis to say that the
relevant obligation ought be expunged from the comtract” [emphasis added]. Even if
correct that recognises that regard must be had to the circumstances known to the parties
and the particular facts of the case. ¥t was for Trilogy to reject the proffered performance
if it thought it had such entitlement. It did not, and continued not to do that in the face of
the Hickey Lawyers® letter,”” moreover.

The evidence shows that Trilogy (by Clayton Utz) seemed content to wait finalisation “of
the terms of the Deed” of assignment with the Department of Transport and Main Roads
(“DTMR") before it would “review status of the loan conditions™" apparently on the
basis that Deed and special conditions were “interdependent™ but fhat cannot be and is
not an answer to the unconditional sales contract issue. Neither the Deed of Assignment
nor its terms had anything whatsoever to do with the particular form of the sales contract
for the commercial property. Were Trilogy not satisfied with the particular form of

57 Exhibit 2, para. 354

* Exhibit 2, para. 305, liem 130, page 2122
 See Exhibit 2, paras. 395, 399-403
 Exhibit 2, para, 395, Item 130

4 Exhibit 2, Hem 170

2 Byhibit 2, Hem 167
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contract, it could (and ought to) have challenged the proffered performance. The first
time that Trilogy raised with Kosho that special condition (p) was not satisfied was in the
Defence filed in this proceeding.

The requirement of special condition (p), particularly when construed having regard to
the surounding circumstances known to the parties a the time of confracting and the
purpose and object of the transaction, was satisfied on the evidence.

Alternatively, Kosho was entitled to consider (as was the case) the requirement satisfied
‘in which circumstances Kosho was excused from some other literal performance of the

condition.?

Special Condition (g)

Special condition (q) provided: *

“This offer is conditional upon the commercial property settling on or before 28
February 2010”

Onimpmpm'mnsuucﬁon,andhwingmgndmﬂaesmoundingchcmstameskmwnm
the parties at the timie of contracting snd the purpose and object of the transaction, the
condition was a condition subsequent to the making of the advance, the predominant
purpose of which was to enable construction of the very building (commercial pavilion)
thesubjectofﬂ:eConu'actthatthecmdiﬁon(q)mﬁredtobewlﬂedbyZSFebmm-y
2010

Manifestly, objectively, construction of that building was entirely dependent upon the
provision of fimds by Trilogy. The construction costs were expressly contemplated and
referred to in the funding submission® which clearly identified that fanding was required
for *construction’® and identified the “timing of the required funding’.”

The funding submission referred to the commercial property and the finding required for
Stage 1A (Schedule One: Building Costs “Stage One Construction Costs - Commercial
Building A... $880,0007).*

As to the timing of loan advances, the finding submission had annexed a spreadshest®
(“spreadsheet™) that clearly showed the setflement of commerciat property ($2,750,000)
in month 7 of the project Time Line — with construction costs required to build the
commercial property to be drawn down at - Month 3 - $318,750 — Month 4 - $318,750 -

 geg pases referred to under heading ‘Dispensation with Performance of Condition®
* Byhibit 2, Item 47, page 1486

4 Exhibit 2, Item 27, pages 665, 676-678, 938953

% Exhibit 2, Item 27, page 659, 665

1 Exhibit 2, Ytem 27, page 653, cash flow at pages 670-673

& Exhibit 2, Item 27, page 677

* Fyhihit 2, ltem 27, pages 670-673
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Months 5 and 6 - $225,000: see “Construction Costs” under heading “Development
Costs” and cf. Construction Spreadsheet.”

It was the “Construction Costs” component of the funding submission spreadsheet that
CPL incorporated info the cashflow attached to the Letter of Offer (“cashflow
schedule”y”’ - and which itself adopted a month-to-month timetable for cash
requirements commencing (it may be readily inferred) on the date of first drawdown.

The cash amounts in the cashflow schedule coincide with the numbers in the spreadsheet
plainly showing the anticipated (and agreed) timing requirements for the construction
funding. Objectively, it was a timetable for payments. A matter supported: and
unchallenged, in Alastair McCosh’s affidavit.”

Moreover, Mr Slijderink in September 2009 (by email) identified (and confirmed) to Mr
‘Neil Hearichsen (for Trilogy) the construction cost requirements for the building.™

It was the failure to advance the monies intended for construction costs that disabled
Kosho from being in a position to satisfy special condition (g).
Inevitably Kosho was disabled from satisfying special condition (q) by reason of

Trilogy’s condnct, in failing to advance (fimeously or at all) any funding, whether
intended for pre-construction or construction, under the finance facility.

Special Condition (s)

53.

54.

Special condition (s) provided:

“(s)  This offer of finance is conditional on, and subject to:

{0 the borrower entering into a deed of assignment and consent in
relation to the agreement between the Department of Main Roads,
Kosho Pty Ltd, Club Cavill Pty Ltd (Assignment Deed) to be
prepared by and on terms satisfactory to the Lender;

(i} the borrower causing Club Cavill Pty Ltd to enter into the
Assigrment Deed;

(iii)  the Department of Main Roads confirming that it is satisfied with
the terms of the Assignment Deed; and

(v}  the Assignment Deed being entered imto and binding on_the

Borrower and Club Cavill Pty Lid (and the Borrower providing two
origingls of the Assigmment Deed executed by both the Borrower

and Club Cavill Pty Ltd to the Lender) within 2 business days of
receipt of the Assignment Deed. ” [underline added]

No Assignment Deed was ever presented to Kosho for its execution and return within
two business days as required by sub clause (iv). Such execution and retumn was the only

obligation with which the clause burdened Kosho.

0 Exhibit 2, em 27, pages 670-673

5\ Exhibit 2, Item 47, page 1490

2 pxhibit 16

3 Spe also Exhibit 16, Affidavit of McCosh, para. 6 (unchailenged)
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Otherwise, it was incumbent on Trilogy to facilitate the timeous satisfaction of that
special condition. It lay entirely in the control of Trilogy to facilitate what was
contemplated by the Letter of Offer — a simple deed of assignment of rights already
existing under the 2007 Deed of Agreement, which rights would only become operative
upon waiver by Club Cavill Pty Ltd (“Club Cavill”) of its compensation rights.

It failed to do so despite the passage of twelve months. What Trilogy did instead was to
seek to exploit the opportunity to extract new and additional rights for the benefit of itself
and a defaulting borrower of Trilogy, Sunrise Waters Pty Ltd (“Sunrise Waters™).

The first draft Assignment Deed emerged on 23 June 2009 — prepared by Minter Ellison
— and (properly) songht merely to assign the rights and entitlements under the 2007 Deed
of Agreement (as contemplated by Letter of Offer).”

Moreover, the first draft Assignment Deed contained a provision whereby Club Cavill
waived its rights to compensation” as comtemplated by the unequivocal
acknowledgement signed by Club Cavill and attached to the Letter of Offer.”

On 22 July 2009,” Crown Law provided its response to CPL with markups (such
markups being minor drafting matters with no substantive difference from Mimter
Fllison’s proposed terms). There were no areas of material disagreement that emerged -
at that stage there was substantial accordance and concirence as to the terms.

Kosho (by Mr Slijderink) communicated™ to CPL its acceptance of those terms.

Beiween 22 July 2009 and 11 December 2009 — Trilogy did nothing on the evidence
(sufficiently or amything at all) to progress the Assignment Deed with Crown Law or
Kosho. ' ‘

After Trilogy’s appointment as Responsible Entity on 22 July 2009, it tock five months
for Clayton Utz (for Trilogy) to produce and provide an entirely new draft to Crown Law
— which correspondence noted:™
“My client is in a position to require Club Cavill to assign ifs rights under the
deed and the right to compensation arising from the resumption referred to in the
de ”»
This docament was a very different, effectively new deed pursuing a radically changed
purpose. It is notable (amongst other things) that Club Cavill had already at least since
Jupe 2009, in accordance with the Letter of Offer agreed to waive its right to
compensation, as reflected in the first draft Assignment Deed. When Trilogy entered on

 Exhibit 2, para. 325, Item 95, page 1915-1924
 Exhibit 2, Jtem 95, clause 3 on page 1920

4 Exhibit 2, Tem 47, page 1491

7 Trial Bundle pages 401-41¢

%8 Exhibit 2, para, 332 and Ttem 73

# Pxhibit 11
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that course is not plain but, to inference, its embarking on that course in opportunistic
self-interest would explain the long unproductive delay until then. '

Trilogy submits® it did not delay unduly — pointing to an email exchange of 16 July 2010
— biut this was almost one month after facility had expired,” after demands were made on
8 July 20102 and proceedings had been commenced by Kosho in May 2010. Reliance
on the July 2010 exchange, apparently manufactured ex post facio to serve and protect
Trilogy’s interests, is risible.

Moreover, the content of the email dated 16 July 2010 (8:51am)” from Neil Henrichsen
to Clayton Utz and Crown Law is instructive:

“Brendon/Bricn

Can you please chase up Crown Law on this matier. The delay in final agreement is
becoming ridiculous given we had an agreed position back in March. I an almost
inclined to let Club Cavill/Kosko back in to sort this out™ [umderline added]

as is the response (1:03pm)™ from Robyn Hill which states:

“Dear Brendon
Irefer to your clients email below.
As you are aware, I am not in the office today.

The latest amended draft of the Deed was received by me on Friday 9" July at 4:55
pm, only four business days before your client sent the email.

Accord: the is not Crown Law’s, " [undertine

Neil Henrichsen’s email demonstrates both that Trilogy considered Kosho had the ability
to setile the matter quickly and that Trilogy had deliberately excluded Kosho from
resolving the matter. '

Both the representatives of Trilogy, by then the controlles™ of the Sunrise Waters land,
and Crown Law, even as late as March 2010, had considered that a suitable consensus as

“to the form of a particular document had been reached; by July 2010, Crown Law were

expressing their frustration with the delay; and Trilogy (by Clayton Utz) had sought to
introduce “new issues which were not originally part of negotiations”. Trilogy, not
Crown Law, was responsible for the delay.

 Trilogy Submissicn filed 10 Deceraber 2012, para. 58

9 Exhibit 2, Itemn 47, page 1483

€ Fyrher Amended Defence and Counterclaim BS10543/10 (Guarantse Action), para. 27

2 Exhibit 36

8 Exhibit 36

8 Trilogy was (in effict) standing in the shoes of Suarise Waters from the date of appointment of Receivers to Sunrise Waters by
Trilogy, who was from 12 January 2010 mortgagee in possession of Sunrise Waters land
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The last draft Assignment Deed, provided on 6 September 2010, contained new termss —
again some 3 months after the facility had expired,” after demands made by Trilogy on
8 July 2010%® and proceedings commenced in May 2010.

Tn order to satisfy its obligations under the Letter of Offer, Trilogy had to take reasonable
steps to arrange merely an assignment of rights already existing and contained in the
Deed of Agreement with DTMR to Sunrise Waters, and not to attempt to negotiate a
new, substantially different and commercially advantageous arrangement for itself. It
indulged in illegitimate opportunism.

In any event, the time spent or taken (or caused to be taken) by Trilogy in taking steps to
satisfy itself as to the particular form of Deed of Assignment constituted unreasonable
delay in the circumstances.

As at July 2009, Kosho had done all that it could do, including obtaining from Club
Cavill its waiver of any rights to compensation as part of the funding package under the
finance facility. So much is made clear from the terms of special condition (£):

“%)  ...This is compensation for the transfer of the rights and obligations to
Sunrise Waters Pty Ltd as agreed between Club Cavill Piy Lid (as
related entity of the borrower) and the Department of Main Roads, in
relation to the adjacent Sunrise Waters property in accordance with
special condition (5).

The compensation is paid on the basis that it is in full and final
- settlement of all claims that the Borrower andior Club Cavill Pty Ltd
may have at any time in relation to the resumption of the land from the
property of the Department of Main Roads... ™
The 2007 Deed of Agreement was not the source of Club Cavill’s right to compensation
— that arose as a consequence of the Notice' of Resumption and the operation of the

Acquisition of Land Act 1967 (Qld).

‘The Letter of Offer did not contemplate the assignment of compensation rights to any of
CPL, Trilogy or Sunrise Waters — as Trilogy knew from an email from Mr Slijderink
(December 2009) requesting a copy deed to facilitate execution by DMTR (it noted that
only Club Cavill had rights and obligations in respect of the compensation).

It went nowhere for Clayton Utz (by Noble) to seek to have (in the last version of the
deed dated 6 September 2010) recognition of assignment to Trilogy and waiver by
Trilogy of Club Cavill’s compensation rights.

Kosho was disabled from satisfying special condition () by Trilogy’s unreasonable
delay, alternatively, by reason of Trilogy’s absence of good faith manifest in its

5 Exhibit 36

& Exhibit 2, ltem 47, page 1483

% Purther Amended Defence and Cotnterclaim BS10543/10 (Guarantes Action), para. 27
 Exhibit 2, Item 145, pape 2140
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illegitimate pursuit of self-interest in seeking to seftle upon a form of Deed of
Assignment with DTMR.

On balance Kosho has established that, acting reasonably and in good faith, the parties
ought to have executed the Deed of Assignment shortly after Kosho gave its notice on
27 July 2009 that it accepted the Deed promulgated by DTMR on 22 July 2009. Trilogy
has not demonstrated otherwise.

Sumrise Waters DA/Planning Issue

71.

78.

79.

81.

82,

83.

Under the Letter of Offer, Trilogy had to arrange a mere assignment of the 2007 Deed of
Agreement, nothing more.

The terms of the Letter of Offer did not permit Trilogy to change or renegotiate the terms
of the 2007 Deed of Agreement or, indeed, to consider possible anciliary benefits to
Sunrise Waters. Nor did it place (implicitly) amy condition on Kosho in its satisfaction of
special condition (q) to improve the probability of ohtaining or satisfying the Sunrise
Waters development approval or consents or to improve the efficiency and profitability
of Sunrise Waters’ development.

Trilogy has provided no evidence as to what (if any) amendments or consents were (in
fact) required by Sunrise Waters to satisfy development conditions.

Trilogy raises two whimsical maiters relating to the development approval obtained by
Sunrise Waters in its efforts to seek o justify its delay — the access comidor and
pedestrian access — matters entirely independent of the 2007 Deed of Agreement and the
Letter of Offer.

Club Cavill sought access to the land for flood mitigation and stormwater purposes —
hence the 2007 Deed of Agreement dealt with flood conveyance and storage issues
relevant to potential and fikely development on the land. The 2007 Deed of Agreement
provided Club Cavill sufficient access to develop the land with these factors in mind.

The submission of Trilogy™ is incorrect and ignores the terms of the 2007 Deed of
Agresment.

The 2007 Deed of Agreement’® between Club Cavill, Kosho and DTMR already granted
to Club Cavill full rights and entitlements to enter the resumed land and to complete all
works required to implement the Preliminary Approval and any Future Approvals.”
Recital I and L provided -

“I By letter dated 4 August 2006, the Council issued the Preliminary Approval. 4
copy of the Preliminary Approval is annexed to this Deed of Agreement as

™ Trilogy Submission filed 10 December 2012, para. 52
7! Exhibit 2, ltem 17, pages 382~423
™ Exhibit 2, Ttem 17, page 382
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Schedule 1. The Preliminary Approval was in vespect of the River Central
Precinct Land, the Hill Central Precinct Land and the Resumed Land.

. The DMR has agreed to enter this Deed of Agreement to grant to [Club Cavill]

and the successors in title to [Club Cavill], full rights and entitlements to enter
the Resumed Land to complete all works requived to implement the Preliminary

Approval (should that be granted by the Court), including satisfaction of any
conditions of approval, and any Future Approvals (and to comply with their

conditions)... "

By clause 1 -

“the Preliminary Approval” means the preliminary approval contained in the
negotiated decision notice by the Council dated 4 August 2006...and
annexed...as Schedule 1. Where that phrase is used in and after clause 3 of this
Deed, it also refers to a preliminary approval of the development application
granted by the Court in identical terms to that contained in Schedule 1 or
different terms.”

Clause 4 provided -

“

4. THE DMR'S OBLIGATION AND LICENCE
() Subject to clause 8, the DMR grants to [Club Cavill]...respective
successars in title, any future owners of the Lands or part of the Lands
or Lots created by a building lot or volumetric lot subdivision of the
Lands __their servants and agents and all persons authorised by the
owners of the Lands from time to time full right and liberty to:

(@)

®

(©
d

(e

have access to the Resumed Land and pass and repass over the

Resumed Land ...for all purposes connected with the execution
of the works contemplated by the Preliminary Approval and any
Future Approvals;

excavate and remove the Resumed Land soil and do other works
for the purposes of flood mitigation and as otherwise required
by the Preliminary Approval and any Future Approvals;

construct any works or install any devices in the Resumed Land
mecessary for stormwater treaiment in accordance with the
Preliminary Approval and any Future Approvals;

wtilise the Resumed Land for passive recreation/open space
pursuits as contemplated - by the Development Application
including amy path or bikeways in accordance with the
Preliminary Approval and any Future Approvals...”

84. There was nothing in terms of a ‘services corridor’ or ‘bicycle pathway’ requirement
under the preliminary approval™ thet Club Cavill (and any successor in title) was not
already entitled to have done under the terms of the 2007 Deed of Agreement.

85.  Notably, a condition for the creation of a ‘services corridor’ was not included with the
preliminary approval and nor was any later imposition of any such condition entered into

evidence by Trilogy.

T Negotiated Decision Notics — Exhibit 2, Item 17, page 401
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Under the 2007 Deed of Agreement, Kosho was already able to undertake any Works
required to satisfy any development approval or future approval — including the access
corridor and pedestrian access. The terms of the grant were sufficiently wide to
contemplate such matters of detail which would be the subject of future detailed designs
and regulatory approvals.

Even as late as September 2010, Clayton Utz were requesting things already granted to
Club Cavill under the 2007 Deed of Agreement.

Trilogy plainly sought to leverage a simple assignment to negotiate additional benefits
for the Sumrise Waters development (which by then was an asset controlled by Trilogy),
all the while, it can be inferred, obtusely ignoring its extant obligations under the Kosho
loan facility.” Any suggestion that Trilogy could frustrate or delay the Kosho loan
facility to obtain a ‘better deal’ for Sunrise Waters is untenable. Trilogy was concerned
not with the increasingly perilous position of Kosho but with its position in and with
Sunrise Waters.

Moregver, Kosho, despite a litany of requests, was never consulted or included in any
correspondence from date of Trilogy’s appointment to the date of commencement of this
proceeding concerning negotiations as to the terms of the Assignment Deed.

Tripartite Agreement between Borrower, Builder and Mortgagee

90.  Trilogy allepes™ that the facility was subject to and conditional upon a tripartite
agreement being entered info between Kosho, Trilogy and a third party builder.
o1 The Letter of Offer (at top of page 3) under heading:
“SECURITY
To be taken
. Tri-Partite Agreement between the Borrower, Builder and Morigagee”.
™ Exhibit 36

™ Mr Brinsmead's evidence concerning Teitogy’s, by Mr Griffin's, position [T2-66, lines 1 - 19] was:

Could you tefl his Homour what that was?7— We made a suggestion at the meeting that the land had some significant access
issues and other issues and that the land was probably worth: very little unless thes issaes were resolved. We said that Adam
Slijderink and his company Kosho Co needed to be negotiated with. Without any frther advance on that discussion,
Andrew Griffin made it very clear 1o u5 that he had litfle time for Adam. He made some derogatory comments about him
and he suggested that Adam had heen acting somehow illagally and that in regard to the access fssues he had done some deal
withtheQueenslandMilﬁsterandﬂmseisstmwmﬂdaﬂgoawayandowsnggesﬁonthatﬁ:elandhadbigpmblemsmdwas
of Titfle value was wrong because be had solved them all.

Do you recall, after that meeting, conveying to Mr - that is, telling Mr Shijderink something of what had heppened at the
meeting?—~ Yes, T did.

ThefactofmeeﬁngshetweenDManerGﬂﬂinwasmfemdtoinﬂteevidceoerMﬁ:lms[‘l‘Z-ﬁD,linsSMﬁ]:

Well, can you give his Honour the substance and effect of what Mr Griffin said coneerning Mr Slijderink?- I think Mr
Griffin was focused on possibly discrediting the claims that we had suggested Adam Skijdesink had made and fhet is being
able to resolve the issues with the easement. He said to us that he had been - he had had signifioant mectings with the
DepartmntosthRnadsandhadcumetomagmementorhehadmageemmt-hadmecmdagmmm I cannet recall
exactly, but that's - you know, that's the sort of cantext of the conversation and Mr Griffin's comments were basically just to
discredit those claims, I believe. .

TFAD, pana. 16(e)(f)
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The clause appears under the broad heading “SECURITY" (commencing at middle of
page 2) and does not appear under the heading “SPECIAL CONDITION”,

It does not, as a matter of construction, comprise a special condition in the sense used

elsewhere in the Letter of Offer (commencing bottom of page 3). On any reasonable
view, it is not, as Trilogy submits, a condition precedent to the drawing-down of non-
construction advances under the facility, which would have enabled the development to
be progressed. ' .

The evidence of Mr McCosh” {not challenged in cross-examination) confirmed that
“initial progress claims for consultant expenses efc (i.e. non-construction claims) can be
made without the requirement for the construction contracts and civil works contracts™.

It was only draw-downs to meet constraction costs that were dependent upon the coming
into existence of the construction coatracts and civil works contracts.”

That was supportedbytheevidenceoerMcCurmickat'I‘ranscriptZ—9l,lines 1-30:

“Can you recall that subject in this or any other meeting being raised, that there
would be need for Kosho to have access to some of the additional funds even before,
for example, concluding a builder's agreement and the like?— Yes, that was——

What can you tell his Honour of your recollection of that topic?— Well, the request
would have come traugh to access some of the approval or approved funds that
had been allocated for the likes of whether it was architecture or planwing or any of
those fzes and that was not wusual, that was very usual. If we looked at a lot of the
development projects and approvals that were made, we - the way we did it, we
allocated various we call them buckets that made up the total amount that was
loaned and those buckets might be for marketing, they might be for planning, they
could be for legal fees and they would be for construction and so on. Certain
buckets would be allowed access to, as long as, you know, there was - we were
happy with what they were looking for and they were within the letter of affer for the

Jacility.

Was it ever your view or your intention in respect of the letter of offer to say thay, for
example, a tripartite agreement, Kosho, financier and builder, had to be struck
before additional funds could be obtained for finalisation of design?— No, no.

Did that make sense at all?- No.

Or is it just nonsensical?— Well, it doesn't make sense...”

It is entirely unexceptional that there be drawdowns of the agreed loan for consultants’
and other non-construction development expenses prior o finalisation of construction
contracts. The requirement of the finalisation and execution of the tri-partite agreement
as a pre-condition to any drawdowns asserted by Trilogy ignores the suronading

71 Fxhibit 16, para. 11(a); Exhibit “AM-3
7 Exhibit 16, para. 11{b); Exhibit “AM-3"
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circunstances known to the parties at the time of contracting and the purpose and object
of the transaction.

98. Kosho, prior to entering into the Letter of Offfer, had received. confirmation from McCosh
in an emai] dated 1 July 2009 in response to an emait from Mr Slijderink of the same
date:”

“Adam

Your understanding is correct.

Initial progress claims for consultants expenses efc (ie. non-construction claims)
can be made without the requirement for the construction coniracts and civil works
contracts.”

99. It was never the objective infention of the parties to require entry into the Tri-partite
agreement prior to advances for non-construction expenses and progress claims.
Trilogy’s submission®" that Hickey Lawyers® detailed letter of 27 October 2007 ignored
this condition is false, as it was addressed in detail.*

100.  Plainly, no pre-construction draws meant no finalised drawings or designs, no building
confract — and no Tri-partite agreement.

101. Trilogy (as Lender) did not ever provide a draft Tri-partite agreement to Kosho.

162. Kosho had obtained quotes and revised quotes for the commercial building and had a2
builder ready to proceed, pending finalised drawings or designs: Kuzmicz (Silverback
Constructions).® The final quotation was dated 15 June 2009, before the Letter of Offer
was executed, and Silverback Constructions needed only a 12 o 16 week lead-time o

. complete the Pavilion.®

 IMPLIED TERMS

Legal Principles
103. Tn Questband Pty Ltd v Macquarie Bank Limited," Chesterman JA summarised the
principles concerning the implication of contractual terms as follows:*

“The relevant legal principles are:

1. 4 term will not be implied into a contract if the implication is comtrary to or
inconsistent with an express term of the contract or with the intention of the
parties as revealed by the terms of the contract. Tamplin (FA) Steamship Co
Ltd v Anglo-Mexican Petroleum Products Co Ltd [1916] 2 AC 397 at 422;
Castlemaine Tooheys Ltd v Carlton and United Breweries Ltd v Tooth & Co

 Bxhibit 2, ftem 55, page 1517

 Trilogy Submissions fited 10 December 2012, para. 62

¥ Exhibit 2, page 2082, paras. 6 - 13 and the annexures referred to therein

8 pohibit 14, Affidavit of Kuzmicz, Exhibits “AK-1", “AK-2"

% Exhibit 14, paras. 4, 7

% [3008] QSC 7; affinmed on appeal in Questband Pt Lidv Macquarie Bank Limited [2009] QCA 266

% [2005] QSC 7 at [102]; adopted by Fraser JA (with whom McMurdo P and Fhilippides J agreed) on appeal 20097 QCA 266 at[113,
[32), {66]
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Led [1987] 10 NSWLR 468 at 487; BP Refinery (Western Port) Pty Lzd v
Hastings Shire Council (1977) 52 ALJR 20 e 26 (condition 5).

When a contract provides that something is to be done but does not fix a time
Jor the act the law implies a term that the act must be done within q
reasonable time. York Air Conditioning and Refrigeration (4/S14) Pty Lid v
The Commonweaith (1950} 80 CLR 11 at 62.

When by a comtract an act is required to be performed within a reasonable
time what is a reasonable time is a question of fact which depends upon the
circumstances including the context in which the contract was made. The
limit of a reasonable time is determined by reference with what is fair to
both parties. Perri v Coolangatia Investments Pty Lid (1982) 149 CLR 537
at 567-8. Whether a reasonable time, or more than a reasonable time, has
elapsed must be decided at the point when the lapse of time is said by one
party to have become unreasonable. It cannot be determined at the date of
the contract. Rudi’s Enterprises Pty Lid (1987) 10 NSWLR 568 at 576. A
relevant fact is delay by the party complaining abowt the lapse of time.
Laurinda Piy Lid v Capalaba Park Shopping Centre Pty Lid (1938- 1989)
166 CLR 623 at 638-9. When what is in issue is the exercise of a right or the
giving of a notice what is a reasonable time is to be determined by reference
to the circumstances when the right is to be exercised (Business and
Professional Leasing Pty Lid v Akuity Pty Ltd [2008] OCA 215 at [16] or
when the notice is given; Australion Blue Metal Ltd v Hughes [1963] AC 74
at 99.

The term implied by law into every contract that each party agrees to do all
such things as are necessary on his part to enable the other party 1o have the
benefit of the contract (Butt v M'Donald (1896) 7 OLJ 68 at 70-71) extends
to contractual promises but not to a commercial benefit which a party to a
contract expected to obtain from its performance. Jackson Melanese Pty Ltd
v Hemsen Building Products Pty Lid [2006] OCA 126 at [50] - [51];
Australia Media Holdings Pty Lid v Telstra Corporation Lid (1998) 43
NSWLR 104 at 124-3.

Terms may be implied by law or because the contracts in question belong to
a particular class; or to give business efficacy to the particular contract the
parties made. Breen v Willicms (1995-1996) 186 CLR 71 at 102. ...

When the terms of a contract confer upon one of the parties 1o it an absolute
or unfettered discretion to do or vefrain from doing an act the term must be
given effect and the words conferring the discretion their full force. Murphy
v Zamonex Pty Lid (1993) 31 NSWLR 439; Australian Mutual Providence
Society v 400 St Kilda Road Pty Ltd [1991] 2 VR 417. The conferral of an
absolute discretion on a party to a contract excludes an obligation to act
reasonably in the exercise of the discretion. Vodafone Pacific Lid v Mobile
Innovations Ltd (2004) NSWCA 15 para 193.”
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104.  What is a reasonable time is a question of fact that depends upon the circumstances

including the context in which the contract was made.

105.  The circumstances which are relevant in determining a reasonable time do not include

those which were under the control of the party performing the services®® and the

relevant considerations which govern the reasonableness of the time taken must be
determined as at the date of the coniract.

106.  Astothe principle - “that each party agrees to do all such things as are necessary on his
part to enable the other party to have the benefit of the contract”, the law is neatly
" summarised in Secure Parking (WA) Pty Ltd v Wilson,” per Buss JA¥.,

“The implied duty of eack parly to a contract lo cooperate in the performance
of contractual obligations

[88] The parties to a contract may be nnder an implied duty to cooperate in the
performance of contractual obligations.

[89] In Mackay

v Dick (1881) 6 App Cas 251, Lord Blackbum stated the

applicable principle, as follows:

I think I may safely say, as a general rule, that where in a writien
contract it appears that both parties have agreed that something
shall be done, which cannot effectually be dome unless both
concur in doing i, the construction of the contract is that each
agreestodoallthatisnecessmytbbedaneonhispﬂﬁrtke
carrying out of that thing, though there may be no express words
to that effect. What is the part of each must depend on
circumstances (263).

Lord Blackburn's statement was cited with approval by Isaacs J in Ray v Davies
(1909) 9 CLR 160 at 170.

[90] In Secured Income Real Estate (Aust} Ltd v St Martins Investments Pty Lid

(1979) 144 CLR

596, the parties were agreed that the contract between them

imposed an implied duty on each party to do all that was reasonably necessary
to secure performance of the contract. Mason J (Barwick CJ, Gibbs, Stephen and
Aickin JJ agreeing), after referving to the statement of Lord Blackburn in

Mackay, said:

It is not to be thought that this rule of construction is confined to
the imposition of an obligation on one confracting pary lo

cooperate

in doing all that is necessary to be dome for the

performance by the other party of his obligations under the
contract (607).

Mason J then referred (607), with approval, to this observation of Griffiths CJ i
Butt v M"Donald (1896) 7 QLJ 68:

3 [2009] QCA 266 at [31] per Fraser JA

citing Hick v Raymond & Reid [1893] AC 22; Sopov v Kane Constructions PiyLid (No 2}

[2009F VSCA 141 per Maxwell P, Kellam JA and Whelan AJA; Teling Developmenis Pty Ltd v Stay Enterprises Pty Ltd, [198412 Qd

R 585 at 591, citing Re Longlands Farm
at 608
¥ (2008) 38 WAR 350

[1968] 3 All ER 552 4t 536 per Cross J and Postlethwaite v Freelond (1880) 5 App Cas 599

% With whom Martin CJ agreed. Mupray ATA adopted this summary at {178}
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It is a general rule applicable to every contract that each party
agrees, by implication, to do all such things as are necessary on
his part to enable the other party to have the benefit of the
contract (70-71).

Mason J continued:

It is easy to imply a duty to co-operate in the doing of acts which
are necessary to the performance by the parties or by one of the
parties of fimdamental obligations wnder the contract. It is not
quite so easy to make the implication when the acts in question
are necessary to entitle the other contracting party to a benefit
under the contract but ave not essential to the performance of that
party's obligations and are not fundamental to the contract. Then
the question arises whether the conlract imposes a duly 1o co-
operate on the first party or whether it leaves him at liberty to
decide for himself whether the acts shall be done, even if the
consequence of his decision is o disentitle the other party to a
benefit. In such a case, the correct inferpretation of the contract
depends, as it seems to me, not so much on the application of the
general rule of construction as on the intention of the parties as
manifested by the contract itself (607-608).

[91] The general principle of construction, according to which parties are taken
Magmemdaaﬂﬂm#mmbbmmymsmp@rmm of their
contract, was reiterated more recently in Park v Brothers 20057 HCA 73;
(2005) 80 ALJR 317 [38] (Gleeson CJ, Gummow, Hayne; Callinan and Heydon
JJ). Also see Nullagine Fivestments Pty Ltd v Western Australian Club Inc
(1993) 177 CLR 635 at 659 (Deane, Dawson and Gaudron JJ); Fitzgerald v F J
Leonhardt Pty Ltd (1997) 189 CLR 215 at 219 (Dawson and Toohey JJ), 226

and Gummow JJ); Peters (W4) Ltd v Petersville Lid [2001] HCA 45;
(2001) 205 CLR 126 [36] (Gleeson CJ, Gummow, Kirby and Hayne JJ).

[92] The duty to cooperate does not, however, rise above the promises made by
the parties to the contract. In other words, the duy 'cannot over-ride the express
provisions of the contract”: Alcatel Australia Ltd v Scarcella (1998) 44 NSWLR
349 at 368 (Sheller J4, Powell and Beazley JIA agreeing). Also see Maitland
Main Collieries Pty Ltd v Exstrata Mt Owen Pty Ltd [2006] NSWSC 1235 [49]

(Bergin J).”
107.  Where performance of the contract is conditional on some event which is fo any degree
within the control of a party, that party must co-operate reasonably in bringing it about.
Failure to co-operate in that way will generally disqualify the defaulting party from
relying upon the non-fulfilment of the condition, or, to put it differently (as is sometimes
done), courts will, in such cases, treat the condition as having been satisfied. In
Expectation Pty Lidv Pirnacle VRB Ltd,®® Steytler I held:™

“4s will be apparent, the parties were obliged, by cl 6 of the Letter Agreement,
to negotiate in good faith to close the transactions contemplated in the Letter
Agreement in an expeditious manmer and as soor as practicable. Even if that had
not been so, it is a general rule applicable to every contract that each party
agrees, by implication, to do all that is necessary on ils part io enable the other
party to have the benefit of the contract: Buit v M'Donald (1896) 7 QL7 68at 70

# [2002} WASCA 160
At {89]; Miller ] agresing
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- 71 and Secured Income Real Estate (usiralia) Ltd v St Martins Investments
Pty Lid (1979) 144 CLR 596 at 607. It follows that if performance of the contract
is conditional on some event which is to any degree within the control of a party,
that party must co-operate reasonably in bringing it about. Failure fo co-opercrte
in that way will generally disqualify the defaulting party from relying upon the
non-fulfilment of the condition, or, to put it differently (as is sometimes done),
courts will, in such cases, treat the condition as having been satisfied: see
Newmont, above, at 352; GR Securities Pty Ltd v Baulkham Hills Private
Hospital Pty Ltd (1986) 40 NSWLR 631 at 637; Mackay v Dick (1881) 6 App
Cas 251 at 270; Foran v Wight (1989) 168 CLR 385 at 433 and Paltara Pty Ltd
v Dempster (1991) 6 WAR 85.”

108.  Expressed in another way, when a contract is conditional, terms may be implied that
neither party will do anything to prevent fulfitment of the condition, and that one of the
parties will make reasonable efforts (or do their best) to see that the condition is fulfilled.
Tn Duncan v Mell”" a contract for the sale of a leasshold interest was contingent upon
ministerial approval of the sale. Before that approval was gramted, the purchaser
obiained a second leasehold interest that mads it highly unlikely that approval would be
granted in respect of the first sale. The sale was ultimately not approved. Cullen CJ
(with whom Pring ¥ concwrred) held:"

“ds every comiract implies that neither party will do anything to prevent its
performance, the contract between the plaintiff and the defendont implied that
neither should do arything to prevent the consent of the Minister being given.

If nothing appeared beyond the fact that the Minister had refused his consent,
the plaintiff would be entitled to say “this contract failed, not because of
anything dome by me, but because of the exercise of a discretion by the Minister
which could not be controlled.” ... [I]t seems 1o me that the correct conclusion is
that the Minister's refusal was the direct consequence of the act of the plaintiff in
purchasing from McGrath after he had emtered into this contract with the
defendamt.”

Harvey J (as His Honour then was) held:™

“It is also, I think, an implied term on the part of both purchaser and vendor that
neither will do any act which would jeopardise the consent. 1 do not think the
purchaser in any wise warrants or agrees that he has done nothing io jeopardise
the consent or that he is a person to whom the Minister would grant his consent,
but I think he does undertake that he will not do anything which will jeopardise
the consent.”

109. TIn Butts v O’Dwyer,” a contract provided for the lease of land subject to certain
legislative provisions, which provisions invalidated any such lease without the consent of

% (1914) 14 SR (NSW) 333

2 At337-338

# AL339

% (1952) 87 CLR 267; cf also Fitagerald v FJ Leonhardt Piy Ltd, (1997) 189 CLR 215; “though ultimately, it may be that the correct
interpretation of the particular contract depends not o much an the application of the general rufe of construction as on the intestion
of the parties as manifested by the contract itself”. Secured Mncome Real Estate (4ustralia) Ledv St Martins Investments Pty Lid
(1979) 144 CLR 596, 6078
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the relevant Minister having been obtained. Dixon CJ and Williams, Webb and Kitto JJ

held:*

“In other words the parties may enter inlo a transfer subject lo a condition that -

it is not to become effective unless the Minister's consent has been obtained.

Prima facie this would import an obligation on the part of the person giving the

transfer to do all that was reasonable on his part to the end that the Minister's

consent might be obtained. Such a condition could be either express or implied.

There is in the present case no express condition as in Roach v Bickle (1915) 20
CLR 663, but we think that such a condition should be implied. It has been held
in cases too numerous to mention both before and after the classic statement of
Bowen LJ in the case of The Moorcock (1889) 14 PD 64, at p 68 that the law
raises an implication from the presumed intention of the parties where it is

necessary to do so in order to give fo the transaction such efficacy as both
parties must have intended that it should have. Similar implications were raised
wnder other sections of the Crown Lands Consolidation Act in Duncan v Mell
(1914) 14 SR (NSW) 333, at p 339; 31 WN 113, at p 114, and Egan v Ross
(1928) 29 SR (NSW) 382; 46 WN 90.”

Dispensation with performance of condition

110.  In K&K Real Estate Piy Itdv Adellos Pty Ltd® Young JA beld:”

“The leading case on...dispensations is Peter Turnbull & Co Pty Lid v
Mundus Trading Co (dustralasia) Pty Ltd [1954] HCA 25; 90 CLR 235,
where Dixon CJ said at 246-247:

“ . it was always the law that, if a contracting party prevented the

fulfiliment by the opposite party to the contract of a condition
precedent therein expressed or implied, it was equal o
performance thereof But a plaintiff may be dispensed from
performing a condition by the defendant expressly or impliedly
intimating that it is useless for him to perform it and requesting
him not to do so. If the plaintiff acts upon the intimation it is just
as effectual as actual prevention.”

It is clear that the intimation need not be express. It may be conveyed by

conduct.”

111.  In Madlins v Kelly-Corbent® Muir JA considered the principles concerning such
dispensation:”

“[18]  Mason CJ explained the consequences of affirmation of a contract by an

innocent party afier repudiatory conduct by the other parly in Foran v
Wight as follows:

“4 failure by the innocent party to freat an anticipatory breach of an
essential term as a repudiation and to terminate the contract has the
effect of leaving the contract on foot, in which event it vemains in

* At 279280

% 12010) NSWCA 302
5 At [921,[93]; Giles JA concurring {at [4]) and Hendley AJA agreeing

% 12010}

QCA 3534

% At [18]- £28] (all footnotes omitted); Fraser JA and Boddice ] agreeing
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of interest, fees and/or margins applicable to any accommodation was varied in

the manner set out in that notice: ¢f Paragon Finance Ple v Nash [2002] 1 WLR
685 at 699-700; {2002] 2 All ER 248 at 260-261. In my opinion it is appropriate to
imply a term of good faith in the facility agreement as a matter of law.

[152] So far as those authorities which condone an exclusion of a term otherwise
implied by law are concerned, there was, in my view, no express provision (o this
effect and no inconsistency in the terms of the facility agreement or in the matrix of
facts in which the transaction took place to lead to such a result.

[153] I'was invited to depart from Burger King on the basis that any extension af
the type of contract in which an implication as a matter of law should be made
should be circumscribed and not extended to commercial contracts generally.
decline to do so. I regard myself as bound by Alcatel (at 369) and Burger King (at
[167] and [168]) to the view that such implication arises or may arise in
commercial contracts.

[154] In my view, once it is accepted that a term of good faith may be implied in a
contract of a particular type as a matter of law if it is both reasonable and
necessary to do 5o in the sense specified in Byrne, there seems no good reason to
cardinethegpesqfcaﬂm?bzwhichthempﬁcaﬁonwmormaﬂowfor
extension of the categories in limited circumstances only.

[155] The Court of Appeal in Burger King did not discuss the content of the
intplied term of good faith save to comment, apparently favourably, upon the
apparent equation of the notions of reasonableness and good faith in Alcatel (ot
369). The matter was considered by Barrett J in Overlook (at [61]-(67]). His
Honour concluded that the implied obligation of good faith underwrites the spirit
of the contract and supports the integrity of its character. 4 party is precluded
Jrom cynical resort to the black letter bt is not fixed with a duty to subordinate
self-interest entirely. The duty is not one o prefer the interesis of the other
contracting party. Rather it is a duty to recognise and to have due regard to the
legitimate interests of both parties in the enjoyment of the fruits of the contract as
delineated in its terms. The cross-claimants submitted that I should adopt his
Honour's delineation of the content of the duty and I am content to do so for the
purpose of this case, mentioning only that the content of the implied term of good
faith may need further scrutiny to avoid being merely a slogan.”

Trilogy’s delay

116.

Trilogy has breached the implied terms of the finance facility including its obligation of

good faith, by Trilogy’s:

(a)  failing to do all such things and take all such steps necessary to enable Kosho to
have the benefit of the finance facility;

(b)  uoreasanably delaying in its consideration and determination of Kosho’s
compliance with the requirements of the finance facility, and in particular the
draft assignment deed; |

(c) failing, and unreasonably refusing, to advance funds under the finance facility;
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(d)  failing to advance funds under the finance facility by (at the latest) end October
to early November 2009, so as to enable Kosho to commence development or

_ construction of the project;

(e) alternatively, delaying arbitrarily and capriciously in its consideration and
determination of Kosho’s compliance and satisfaction with the requirements
necessary to comply with the conditions imposed by CPL in the finance facility;

(f) by reason of the above, disabling Kosho from complying with special conditions
(q) and (5) of the finance faility.'"

Significantly, Kosho was not asking Trilogy to do anything outside of, or inconsistent
with, the contract. It is objecting to Trilogy’s failure to fulfil its obligations consistently
with and under the contract.

Not once did Trilogy indicate to Kosho that finding would not be provided or suggest
that Kosho look elsewhere for finance. There were excuses,'” there were promises,''*
the CBA bank was blamed," the DTMR was blamed,"® there was implied blame about
other people taking their time to cousider a proposed deed of assignment of a certain
benefit and so on,'"” but never materially was there a suggestion of non-performance by
Kosho. Nor did Trilogy seek the assistance of Kosho in advancing the finalisation of the
Desd of Assignment with the DTMR, despite repeated requests by Mr Slijderink. "

All that the DTMR was being asked to do was merely to consent to the assignment and

ﬂleywerenotinaposiﬁontoplltemacondiﬁonsonit.ug

The delay on the part of Trilogy to atfend to satisfaction of the special conditions and
Letter of Offer was unreasonable and unfair to Kosho. i was cynical and inexcusable.

From as early as July 2009, Trilogy knew of the position and status of the Kosho loan
and the imminent requirement for Kosho to draw down the agreed further lending to
advance its development. Trilogy also knew that drawdowns were scheduled to
commence in July 2009. Trilogy aiso knew that the loan facility had all been approved
by that stage, subject only to the Deed of Assignment issue.

Mr McCormick

122,

The evidence of Mr McCormick confirmed the fact and extent of Trilogy’s knowledge of
the status of the Kosho facility from as early as July 2009:

120

(a) he had overall supervision of the loan book for the mortgage fun

112 SFASOC, paras, 52, 53

1B Bxhibit 2, pasas, 215217, lems 82, 128, 139, 134, 167, 170

M Exhibit 2, paras. 244, 265, 300(c), ltems 141, 163

1 Exhibit 2, paras. 349, 356-364, 376-377, ltems 108, 111, Exhibit 3, paras. 69-86 and Exhibits thereto
U6 Exhibit 2, paras. 412, 417, 424, Trial Bundle pages 480-481

7 Byhibit 2, para. 386, 389, 359, Items 134, 144, 148, 158

118 Byhiit 2, para, 200, Item 86, page 1745, Exhibit 3, paras. 87-93, Agreed Trial bundle pages 480, 481
1 1243, Knes 29-30
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after CPL was replaced as responsible entity he remained engaged by Trilogy as

a consultant;'”’

in July 2009, he made Trilogy aware of the imminent need by Kohso of funds
under the Letter of Offer; >

he and Mr McCosh were flown to Sydney to spend a day with Trilogy where
they worked through each loan of the fund outlining what the position was and
what was required going forward; > '

there was no question in his mind as to where the subject loan lay and how close

was the need for it o happen;'**

he presented Trilogy a dossier of every loan in the loan book including Kosho
and a report prepared by Pilot Partners;'

in the final report prepared by Pilot Partners there was mention of the Kosho
facility and that it had all been approved by that stage and that draw-downs were
scheduled to occur in July sqlziectonlytotheDeedofAssignmentism. That
was the only thing outstanding. ™

123. So from the commencement of the time period contemplated by the Letter of Offfer,
Trilogy knew the loan facility was approved, that drawdowns were scheduled (and
osded) to commenoe in July 2009 and that the only outstanding issu rolated to the four
or 50 page Deed of Assignment whtich had been prepared by Minter Eflison, reviewed by
DTMR and virtually in final form. Moreover, for the first six or so months from the
commencement of the time period contemplated by the Letter of Offer, Trilogy had
access to the assistance of two of the very officers formerly at CPL who had put together
the Letter of Offer and had had the carriage of the loan facility for CPL. The evidence of
Mr McCosh'?’ and Mr McCormick' was that Trilogy did not ever have recourse to
them to seek to advance the loan and the finalisation of the Deed of Assignment.

Mr McCosh

124.  The evidence of Mr McCosh was that during that period he “was not at any time
consulted to review or settle any problems raised by CPL or Trilogy with the Finance
‘Facility” and he “was not aware of what decisions Trilogy made in relation to the Kosho

128 2,81, Lines 24-28
121 72,81, tine 30F
12273 2, Hines 4547

12 1281, line 55 - T2-82, fine 1ff
12 7282, lines 14-16

125 72-82, 1ines 45-55

126 7282, tines 52-58 — T2-83, linesi-3

12713 78, Yines 36-41

128 73.8, line 52 - T3-9, finc 21
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loan facility upon or after their appointment as responsible entity for the CPFM
[Fund]n.llg

Contrary to evidence of Mr McCosh; for the entire 12 month facility period contemplated
by the Letter of Offer (and ending on 30 June 2010), Trilogy, on its case, was
supposedly:

(a) still eamnestly and studiously conducting (with the assistance of newly
appointed solicitors) due diligence in terms of the conditions in the Letter of
Offer;

{b) considering still whether the special conditions bad, in fact, been satisfied by
Kosho;

all this while the development lay idle, whilst monthly inferest on 2 substamtial facility
accumulated to the obvious defriment of Kosho, and in circumstances where Kosho and
City Co Pty Litd (“City Co™) were hamstrung, in a real commercial sense, City Ce having
effectively, and on the strength of assurances made by CPL, recommiited the Surfers
Paradise Land as collateral security in support of the facility contemplated in the Letter
of Offer.

Cash flow requirements, timing of advances & CPL/Trilogy knowledge of same

126.

127,

128.

129,

130,

The time frames for the provision of the finding were, to Kosho, critical.

The time frames contemplated by the Letter of Offer itself were also the situation (and
reality) inherited by Trilogy. Trilogy was apprised of Kosho's imminent needs for funds
by Mr McCormick.™® The time frame for the provision of funds, and the critical

importance thereof to Kosho, comprised an integral part of the negotiations leading to the
finance facility.

There was (and could be) no doubt on the part of CPL as to the expected (and actual)
cashflow™ requirement of Kosho in terms of proceeding with Stage 1A.

The cashflow schedule attached to the Letter of Offer:
(a)  was prepared by CPL, not Kosho;
(b)  incorporated as part of the Letter of Offer, also prepared by CPL;

(c)  was based on cash flow requirements contained in the revised March 2009
Funding Submission provided on 2 April 2009.

Mr McCosh’s evidence (unchallenged in cross-examination) was that: “the cashflow
schedule attached to the Letter of Offer represented the intended payment schedule for
the 2009 facility”."*”

120 Botiibit 16, pares. 13 - 14
B 7381, lines 4547
13 Exhibit 2, ltem 47, page 1490
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131.  The evidence of Mr McCormick'™ established knowledge by CPL:
(2) that drawdown was required as soon as possible, and expected in July 2009; and
(b)  that Minter Ellison had been instructed to expedite the formal documentation. -

132.  Kosho’s requirement for cash drawdowns in accordance to the document attached o the
Letter of Offer:

(a) was critical;
(b)  wasknown to CPL;
()  indeed was expressly contemplated by the Cashflow Schedule prepared by CPL;

(d)  was made known to Trilogy in July 2009 and plain on the material in Trilogy’s
hands.

133.  Mr Slijderink, in a meeting with Trilogy staif on 1 September 2009, confirmed Kosho’s
cashflow and finance requirements.’™ These requirements were further outlined in emails
by Stijderink to Trilogy on 11 September 2009, 22 September 2009,"*" 28 September
2009,% 16 Novermber 2009, 18 November 2009, and 24 November 2009'.

134.  The evidence discloses delay on the part of Trilogy well beyond amy delay that might be
described as reasonable or that might have been reasonsbly contemplated by the parties
in the context of the Letter of Offer, the sorrounding circumstances known fo the parties
at the time of contracting and the purpose and ohject of the transaction.

MISLEADING AND DECEPTIVE CONDUCT

135. In the alternative, Kosho claims that Trilogy is liable to Kosho for loss and damage
suffered by reason of the making of certain representations, "' which were relied upon by
Kosho and were conduct which was misleading or deceptive in contravention of section -
52 of the Trade Practices Act 1974 (Cih) (TPA”), or altematively section 12DA of the
Australian Securities and Investments Commission Act 2001 (Cth) (“ASIC Act”).'”

136. Kosho alleges three misleading and deceptive representations by CPL’s and Trilogy's
representatives: viz, that:

122 Exhibit 16, para 6

13 73,87 lines 32-56, T2-83, lines 3-5, T3-7, lines 13-32
34 Ehibit 2, pares. 356-364
135 Biyibit 2, para. 368

136 Exhibit 2, para 375

U7 pchibit 2, para. 380

138 Exhibit 2, para. 403

129 Byhibit 2, pare. 404

1 Exhibit 2, para. 407

1 SFASOC, para. 55

12 SEASQOC, para. 55 - 58A
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(&)  onorabout 24 June 2009, CPL (by McCormick and McCosh) represented orally
to Kosho (by Slijderink) that funding would be available within 30 days, in
accordance with the cash flows provided in January 2009;'®

(b)  onorabout 21 August 2009, Kosho (by Slijderink) telephoned Minter Ellison,
then Trilogy’s lawyers, and was informed by Anthony Perich that Trilogy’s
funds had been frozen until the Commonwealth Bank of Australia ( “CBA”) had
completed a review of proposed Trilogy cashflows (“CBA frozen

representation™);'* and

(v on 1 September 2009, at 2 meeting with Neal Henrichsen and Michael Vella and
another representative of Trilogy, Kosho (by Skjderink, Rieko Fujino and Brian
Scott) was informed: ‘

() cashflow issues between Trilogy and CBA were likely to be resolved
within one to two weeks; and

(i) shortly thereafter funds would be available to Kosho to enable it to
advance the project through Trilogy either from the CBA or other funds

(“funds availability representation™).'”

The evidence of both Mr Slijderink'*and Mr McCormick proved that the 24 June 2009
representation was made. Whilst Mr McCormick’s recollections of his dealings with
Kosho in mid 2009 were not as vivid as Mr Shijderink’s, his testimouy confirmed that:

“there was certainly no question as to where [the Kosho] loan was at and how
close it was to need to happen”;”

“in our [CPL’s] records and in our cash flows it was always July for that first
drawdown™.'®
Each of the CBA frozen representation and the fimds availability representation was
proved especially given that Mr Slijderink was not challenged on his evidence™, and
Trilogy did not call (or explain the absence of) the representors, Mesars Perich,
Henrichsen and Vella, Trilogy’s natural witnesses.

The CBA frozen representation and funds availability representation were also

continuing representations which were never relevantly withdrawn or qualified by
Trilogy."™® This was also proved by Mr Slijderink’s extensive recounting of his dealings

143 SEASQC, para. 55(a)

144 SEASOC, pares. 27, 27A and 55(b)
45 SFASOC, paras, 20, 29A and S5(¢)
6 Eehibit 2, paras. 134 - 135

W7 79.83, Yines 15-17

18 T3.7, lines 31-32

19 pyhibit 2, pares. 345, 361

13 SFASOC, paras. 2TA, 29A
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~ with Trilogy in his primary affidavit,'”' all of which evidence was left relevantly

unchallenged by Trilogy.

Kosho’s reliance on each representation in the manner alleged'” is also proved by

" unopposed (and unconiroversiaf) aspects of Mr Slijderink’s primary affidavit.

Each of the representations was, taken in proper context and viewed in a natural and
commonsense way (as those certainly were by Mr Slijderink), a representation about a
future matter within the meaning of s 51A of the 7PA. In substance, each representation
was about the forthcoming commencement of drawdowns (or forthcoming removal of
impediments to drawdowns) for Kosho to advance its project in accordance with CPL*s
“Compensation Reconciliation Schedule” at Annexure A to the 24 June 2009 Letter of
Offer (the cashflow schedule).

It is fatal to Trilogy’s defence that Trilogy did not adduce any evidence to rebut the
presumption that it (and its statutory predecessor, CPL) did not have reasonable grounds
for making any of the representations. The application of s 51A(2) of the TP4 and s 12
of the ASIC Act correspondingly to make out Kosho’s misleading and deceptive conduct
claim against Trilogy is unexceptional. While those provisions are for evidentiary
facilitation and impose no strict burden of proof on the representor to establish the
reasonableness of the grounds for the firture representation (other than an obligation to
lead some evidence to rebut the presumption), it is effective as proof that the future
representation was misleading where that minimal obligation is left unmet by the
represemtor. So much is trite but as explained (Flick J) in Alpine Beef Pty Ltd v Trycill
Pty Ltd [2010] FCA 136 [at 76}:

“Notwithstanding some divergence as to the manner of operation of s 514(2) (cf
Readymix Holdings International Pte Ltd v Wieland Process Equipment Pty 1.td
(No 2) [2008] FCA 1480 at [91] to [99]), it is considered that that provision is
to be interpreted and applied in the manmer explained by Emmett and Allsop JJ
in McGrath v Australion Naturalcare Products Pty Ltd [2008] FCAFC 2, 165
FCR 230. Emmett J there observed:

[44] Under s 514(1) of the Trade Practices Act, a representation is to be
taken to be misleading if it is a representation with respect to any future
matter and the maker of the representation does not have reasonable
grounds for making the representation. Under s 51A(2), the maker of the
representation with respect to any future maiter is to be deemed not to have
" had reasonable grounds for making the representation unless it adduces
evidence to the contrary. However, if evidence is adduced by a representor
to the effect that the representor had reasonable grounds for making the
representation, the deeming provision will not operate. Where the
representor adduces such evidence, it is then a matter Jor the Court to
determine, on the balance of probabilities in the ordinary way, whether or

B Eyhibit 2
122 SFASOC, parz. 56
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not the represemtor had reasonable growmds for moking the

representation...”
There is 2 considerable irony in Trilogy’s misconceived attempt to gain something'*?
from the evidence of Messrs Fazzolari, McCosh and McCormick. Nome of those
gentlemen said anything illuminating Trilogy’s taking a position antagonistic to that of
Kosho, in opportunistically attempting to serve Trilogy’s interests as earlier discussed.
None of those gentlemen had a role or gave any evidence which warranted, let alone
required, his being examined or cross-examined about such things. Rather, none of Mr
Griffin and others, Trilogy’s natural witnesses, were called to address the matters of
which Kosho complained. That was so notwithstanding the evidence of Messrs Madrers
and Brinsmead and other repeated reference to the “Trilogy people”™ and their
involvement in Trilogy’s correspondence and records.

Nor did Trilogy disclose or adduce any internal documents which reasonably ought to
exist conceming the Kosho facility, such as Pilot Partners’ report, loan and asset reviews,
rqceivers’mporls,valuaﬁons,emailsandthelﬂm,passingbetweenMrGﬁﬁn and
Trilogy’s staff reflecting what Mr Griffin had, according tv the Pearls’ witnesses, said
about Trilogy’s attitude in preferring Sunrise Waters’ interests over the Kosho loan
facility.

Tt is Trilogy which, repeatedly, is to be viewed askant from a Jones v Dunkel perspective.

IONCONSCIONABLE CONDUCTY

Kosho also claims that Trilogy engaged in conduct in breach of section 51AC(2) of the
TP and further or in the altermative section 52 of the TPA'™ Kosho relies upon
equivalent provisions in the Competition and Consumer Act 2010. The relevant conduct
is pleaded in paragraphs 60 to 97 and paragraphs 101 and 104 respectively of the Second
Further Amended Statement of Claim.

In terms of mora! obloquy or turpitude in the end it is (it is submitied) a value judgment
for the Court on the whole of the facts and circumstances of the particular case.

In this case, Kosho had a performing loan (one of few) in CPL's loan books; it had the
added advantage of the services of a proven successful developer (Mr Slijderink) at the
helm; it had established relations and secured sales from overseas investors (total $8m
for whole of Stage 1A and whole of commereial part of Stage 1B) - going into the 2009
facility Kosho already had 22.6% of presales for Stage 1B; it had an established network

of institutional investment purchasers (Gore and his ilk); it had a track record of securing

substantial funds from non-bank lenders (Goh) in a very short period of time; and

15 gee for example Trilogy Submissions fited 10 December 2012, para. 74
14 SFASOC, para. 98
18 SFASOC, para. 102, 105
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required 70-80% presales fo obtain funding from those non-bank lenders and 80-100%
presales to qualify for finding from traditional lenders (Banks) - this it could not achieve
without the advances promised by CPL and Trilogy.

Trilogy_ de]-a'yed egregiously (even intentionally were one to believe the Pearls
Australasia witnesses) to the economic harm of Kosho; it actively excluded Mr Slijderink
from anything to do with the finalisation of the Deed of Assignment; it made promises
and gave assurances of imminent funding with no suggestion that funding would not be
forthcoming; it knew (because it was being told by Mr Slijderink) of the perilous
financial predicament and jeopardy the delay was direcily causing Kosho and the project;
it failed to take advantage (active or at all) of the knowledge and experience reposed in
McCormick and McCosh despite Trilogy hiring them for that very purpose; it delayed
unduly (by its lawyers) in chasing down issues more concerned with Sunrise Waters®
interests and which had already been dealt with in the Letter of Offer (Club Cavill waiver
of compensation) and the 2007 Deed of Agreement (access to resumed land for
pedestrian pathway and services corridor).

As earlier observed, Trilogy served its own ulterior and extraneous imterests
opportumistically to improve Trilogy’s financial position; which was neither permitted
nor required by the approved finance facility.

CAUSATION

Whether cast in contract (being put in the position as if the promise(s) had been
performed) or remediation of misleading and deceptive conduct and/or unconscionability
(to be put in the position that would have obtained but for such conduct) the result here is
effectively the same. The Abadi project was fime-sensitive as was City Co’s hotel
project. The projects were well conceived and viable notwithstanding the GFC. Trilogy
did not lend when it should have lent; it promised that it would lend and reinforced that
by continuing like promises and representations (which is to the same effect); it served
its own illegitimate ulterior purposes to improve its financial position at the expense of
Kosho and City Co; by not lending it prevented those companies pursuing their projects
— in City Co’s instance because it prevented the circumstances occurring which would
have released City Co’s land from being collateral security; and, not to be forgotien at
the core of things, by not lending in accordance with the 24 June 2009 Letter of Offer —
the finance facility — it caused the circomstance to arise that required outstanding monies
— the extended initial loan — to be repaid when it had compromised Kosho’s ability to do
that because, as Trilogy well knew, Kosho’s ability to do that lay in the successful
pursuit of the project which had been approved for further funding in the cognisance of
the GFC and afier revision of the funding submission which specifically addressed that.
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On that basis Kosho’s and City Co’s properties were taken out of their hands by
Trilogy’s appointment of receivers and that concluded any prospect of Kosho and City
Co being able to pursue their projects.

Debi-funded property development is time-sensitive and any unreasonable delay in the
provision of funds can be critical to the success or failure of the development; a point
that was unapologetically belaboured by Mr Slijderink in all of his dealings with CPL
and then Trilogy. CPL responded in a timely and businesslike manner in conirast to
Trilogy’s gyrating approach.

Trilogy crippled and then defeated those projects in the same timeframe which should
have been effectively the foundation year for the Abadi project with resultant facilitation
of City Co being able to pursue its project with its land available to it as primary security
for that project. Instead of having fhat foundation Kosho was faced with the ruination of
its project by Trilogy’s persistent failure to lend in accordance with its promise of 24
June 2009 and related assurance of advances of loan funds appropriately promptly to
mest timeframes of which it had been repeatedly apprised and which it and CPL had
accepted as an incident of the lending by the Letter of Offer explicitly based on that plan.

Each of Kosho and City Co is to be compensated for the worth of the lost opportunity
inhering in their respective projects. '

To meet that liability Trilogy now iries to denigrate the worth of the respective projects
both intrinsicaily and to the exireme extent that the Court is invited to concluds that the
projects would not have been finded (in absolute) because of economic circumstances.

Whilst, of course, regard must be had for risk through contingencies and exigencies, in
assessing the worth of the lost opportunity it is well-settled that it is erroneous to proceed
on the crude basis of enquiry whether, as a matter of probability, an event would have
happened. Such “50% prospect or betier” may be appropriate to the disposition of a
maiter where the central issue is whether or not an event has occurred but it is
inapplicable to determination of an issue whether something would or may have
occurred.

That was the point of the High Court’s explanation in Sellars v Adelaide Petroleum
NL". which is just as applicable to breach of contract sounding in the worth of the lost
opportunity to pursue future development as it was to contravention of the Trade
Practices Act and the like.

16 (1094) 179 CLR 332
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The majority of the Court explained"”’ the distinction between determination of whether
an event has occurred and, on the other hand, how the likelihood of the future event
occurring is to be addressed in the context of the worth of a lost opportunity. Likewise
their Honours, by reference to Commonwealth v Amarn Aviation Pty Ltd,'*® affirmed that
a lost commercial advance or opportunity was a compensable loss even if having less
than 50% likelihood that that would have been realised; that damages were to be assessed
by reference to the probabilities and possibility of what would have happened (not just
preponderant probability); and that what was to be compensated is the value of the lost
chance iself, the Defendant not being allowed to take advantage of the effects of its
wrongdoing to escape liability by pointing to the obvious, viz that it was theorstically
more probable than not that a less than 50% chance of success would have resulted in
failure. That is reinforced by their Honour's reference to Chaplin v Hicks'™ reminding
that in contract the loss of the chance to win a prize, caused by 2 breach of confract to
provide the chance, was compensable notwithstanding that, in probability, it was more
likely than not that the Plaintiff would not win the prize. It is only if the chance is so low
as to be regarded as speculative, “say less than 1 percent™, that the chance will be
effectively disregarded.
Here, the worth of the loss under contract and detriment under statute is the loss of the
worth of the chance to have pursned the project(s). Trilogy’s approach to that is, it is
submitted, wrong because Trilogy procesds on the basis of challenge specifically
rejected by the High Court in Sellars.

Pre-Sales

Kosho Sales and Murketing Strategy

160.

161.

Kosho had a defined sales and marketing strategy. It was detailed, considered and
formulated reflecting then current market conditions. It had been tuned and refined
through the fong experience demonstrated by Mr Slijderink as a property developer on
Gold Coast and elsewhere. It could be adapted o moving market conditions and focused
on local, international and investment markets. It had broad appeal to over 50s, the
retirement market and property investors.'®

Kosho had made substantial expenditure in advancing the marketing strategy in
anticipation of construction progress payments, a significant amount of that made before
the finance facility.'® Kosho was not starting any pre-sales campaign from a “pil” base.
It had already secured in relation to Stage 1B the sale of the entire ‘commercial

~ component’ [this was the balance $8m purchase of which the $800,000 represented a

7 by veference to Malec v JC Hutton Pty Ltd (1990) 169 CLR 638
158 (1991} 174 CLR 64

19 F1QT 1] 2KB 785

10 Exhibit 33, para. 6, T7-16, lines 34-37

1 76-91, tines 1640
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10% deposit — i.e. total contract amount under the Put and Call option was $8 million for
Stage 1A and the whole of commercial property content for Stage 1B].

Kosho®s detailed marketing budget and sales and marketing strategy was scheduled to
commence from the first month following drawdown of the necessary funds.'® Kosho’s
merketing strategy was outlined in its revised March Funding Proposal'® provided to
CPL/Trilogy."®

In reality Kosho had already secured 22.6% of the required 100% of debt coverage pre-
sales at the time of submitting the revised Funding Submission in March 2009.'

A key part of the sales strategy included the construction of the commercial building in
Stage 1A, known as the “Pavilion™,'®® which was expected fo be under construction in
about September 2009'¢’ and complsted by about February 2010,

The construction of the Pavilion on the project site, together with a temporary sales
booth, was to be used in conjunction with Kosho’s planned “whisper campaign™®,
designed to build momentum to the formal opening of the project'™ and would have
generated interest and sales in the project.”” Once constructed, the Pavilion was to be
uscd as a sales office!™, and would have been beneficial for the long-term marketing
campaign of the project.’™ '

Kosho was ready and willing to commence pre-sales marketing of the residential uniis
immediately upon the advance of fimds under the finance facility: “we. [were] ready to

roll with nearly everything to go ... All we nesded was funds to go and implement the
o 174

program.

In that regard:

(a) Kosho had various marketing plans and material including information
memoranda, on-line sales brochures and mail out brochures™ prepared in early

2009'", coloured floor plan (layout) images,”” 3D imaging and panoramic photos
of the project site;'™

122 Exhibit 33, para Gc.iv, v.

18! Eyhibit 2, item 27, pages 678 - 682

16 Prchibit 2, para 358, 375, T2-11, lines 19-22

165 Eyhibit 2, Jiem 27, page 647;ad i include two offshore sales achieved and the further 5 expressions of interest Kosho had
achieved 32%% of presales for Stage 1B :
1657651, tines 57-58, T6-52, lines 1-13, T6-67, limes 44-51

167 7691, lines 50-51

187691, line 53

189 7652, limes 5-7

V0 T6-52, lines 5-7

717691, lines §4-58, T6-H2 lines 1-5

12 71.81, Iines 47-49

1% T6.67, lines 44-51

1% T76.02, ines 12-14

¥5 Rhibit 5;, Exhibit 33, para. 6c.ii

5 7211, lines 4243

17 Byliibit 6; T2-11, lines 19-21, Exhibit 33, para. 6c.iii
17 Exhibit 9
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(b) other marketing material in the way of mail-outs and hand-outs were also ready to
be compiled;'™

(c) Kosho had also briefed external media consultants who were awaiting instructions

to commence the “whisper campaign”;"™

(d) advertising had already commenced in publications such as “Retirement Life";'®"

(e) Kosho had obtained advertising approval from the Gold Coast City Council for
biliboard signage, street signs and flagpotes;™

{(f)  Achieved two offshore sales (contracted)'™ and further 5 expressions of interest. 34

In mid-2009, Mr Slijderink had also been in contact with Mr Michael Gore of

" Equitisolutions, which was a specialist Gold Coast project/investment marketing

company. Mr Gore was prepared to immediately proceed with a specialised sales
campaign for the project.'®

Mr Slijderink gave further detailed evidence summarising the state of Kosho’s marketing
and sales strategy, particularty:'®*

“I note that in my finding submission to Cily Pacific, 1 included a whole section
on how we were going to do our presale marketing, our whisper campaign,
prelaunch, hard sales, et cetera. We'd also allocated in the budget I think it was
$24,750 from memory, on or about that sort of number, starting from month one.
We - prior to commencing the facility with City Pacific, I had a hard brochure
prepared which was a brochure 1 previously atiended here in the last
proceedings, if thay's the word to use. I also had an e-mail brochure prepared so
we could saturcte oll the marketing compinies and the real estate agents
database, and that's a black, sort of, brochiwre so it would come up on the screen
very vivid, the imagery. We also had engaged our PR consultamis for owr
prelaunch whisper campaigns and things like that. Our editorials and all that
sort of stuff We started some marketing by way of Retirement Life, so the
magazine, we'd already started advertising the development with them. Timeless
- my buddy the Timeless Development, things like that. So we'd already started
gaining some momentum late 2008, early 2009, and we're expecting to just build
off the back of that and roll straight through with this whisper campaign.”

It was not suggested to Mr Stijderink that anything of what he said was wrong,

misconceived or other than he related.

As Trilogy now comtends in its submissions,'® Mr Slijderink is “clearly an experienced
property developer who is keen to ensure that the projects he underiakes are successful
and profitable”. This is also supported by Mr Slijderink’s Curriculum Vitae and its long

76 91, lines 4346

W Exhibit 33, para. 6e.vi

1 T6.91, line 31

12 -16.92, Tines 9-12

18 Eyidence thereof provided in Exhibit 35, page 3

18 Syhibit 33, parss. a.b,

5 myhibit 31, pases. 1, 3,7

% T¢.0], lines 1637

" Trilggy Submission filed 10 December 2012, para, 112
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128 There is

track-record of successful developments now spanning three decades.
nothing, in this sense, to suggest that Abadi would not have met with the same success

enjoyed by him previously.

The abiding impression is of a professiona! and experienced operator, well positioned to
see through the usual exigencies of developments on the Gold Coast, in the prevailing
economic climate. Kosho, through Mr Slijderink and Ms Fujino, also had an established
network of international investors, as evidenced by the Hiroo Ota coniract and their
association with Mr Goh. Abadi was, and remains, an appealing product differentiated
from its market and adjusted in terms of its product and price point to meet post-GFC
market conditions.

As at the time of Trilogy’s breach in mid-2009, Kosho had not started its sales and
marketing campaign nor construction and thus remained in a position where it could
flexibly adapt the Abadi project to ensure it continued to mest its market.

In the end, however, Kosho’s presales and marketing sirategies were unable to be
implemented in the absence of the required funding from Trilogy."™

Kosho ariiviputed sales rates reasonable

175.

176.

177.

178.

Trilogy’s submission'® attacks the premise of using Riverwalk and Sphere as
“comparatives” to Abadi — for the purpose of analysing sales rates and prices
notwithstanding that both CBRE™ and Landmark White' considered those successful
developments as apt and direct comparatives to Abadi, a view later supported by PHV
Valuers in review.

Kosho had identified and adopted a sales rate for the project between 4 and 6 sales per
month. This was in line with the sales and marksting strategy and its cash flows and
feasibilities were also based on this.

Kosho only required 4.75 sales per month to achieve 100% presales in 12 months, But
Koshe did not need 100% presales to qualify for additional finance — it only required
sales equivalent to 100% of debt coverage which equated to 70% presales or 47 units and
that could be achieved at a sales rate as low as 4 sales per month.

The expert evidence as to achievable monthly sales was:
(@) PHV (MrKogler)- 5 -6 per month;'”
(b)  Landmark White - 4 - 5 (with average 4.75) per month; and

(¢) CBRE™ 3 -4 per month.

18 Exhibit 2, ltem 112, pages 2020-2030

159 Ayended Firther and Better Particulars para. 3(a), Exhibit 2, paras. 324, 375, ltem 120, T6-51, lines 1-3, T6-54, lines 15-20. T¢-
62, lines 7-9.

¥ Trilogy Submission filed 10 December 2012, para 101b. ‘

9 phibit 2, ltem 27, pages 709-771

¥2 Exhibit 2, tem 28, pages 1002-1432

¥ Exhibit 19, Annexure 13
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179.  The refrospective review by PHV in terms of Sphere and Riverwalk disclosed achieved
sales rates (in fact) in line with the upper-end of those forecasts. Actual sales achieved at
Riverwalk Precinct were 5.81 units per month and actual sales achieved at Sphere were
5.73 units per month.

180.  Kosho’s sales did not have to perform as well as those comparable developments.
181.  Interms of the results for 2009 —2010:

(2) 1.07.09 to 30.12.09 in 6 months - Riverwalk achieved 32 sales at average $538k
($100k more than Abadi average);

®) 1.07.09 to0 30.06.10 in 12 months - Riverwalk achieved 53 sales totalling $28M
— the same selling period Kosho anticipated — at average $534,542 per unit;

{c) 1.07.09 to 30.06.10 in 12 months - Sphere totalled 51 sales totalling 524,300,000
at average $476,000 per unit,

182,  This evidence was not rebutted by Mr Norling or any other expert on behalf of Trilogy.

183.  Not only did Kosho not have to sell as many units as those comparable developments, it
could sell at 2 much lower price point - at average $438,000.

184.  Kosho’s product fell within the sub $500,000 category - the market:
(8  MrMcCormick said'® was the best performing; and
(b)  Mr Norling said"® fared better than anything above it.

185.  On the whole of the evidence, Kosho could very reasonably have been expected to have
achieved 4 sales per month — which extrapolates to 48 over a 12 monﬂ:_periodto meet
100% of debt coverage, which equated to 70% presales or 47 units.

Mr Norling

Qualifications

186.  MrNorling (as was properly conceded):"’
(a) is not a financial adviser;
(b) is not a valuer;
(c) is not an investment adviser;

(d)  is not a financier and had not undertaken any finance research in respect of the
Gold Coast since 2008;

(e) professes no expertise in the field of sales and marketing for property developers.

194 Eyhibit 2, Ttem 27, pages 709-771

1957291, lines 51-52

16 7735, lines 1-34

871723, lines 55-58, 77-32, lines 15-33, also see Exhibit 37, para. 15, pages 26-27
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Midwood report

187.

188.

189.

190.

191.

192,

He relied heavily upon the Midwood report which, (by his own admission) is prepared
utilising ad hoc (selective) third-party response from property developers.

Mr Norling confirmed the Midwood report to be an unreliable data source, confirming
that it is anecdotal information only and subject to the reporting bias, and truthfulness, of
the salespeople called by Midwood”s staff, '*®

Mr Norling was then (perhaps understandably) confused as to whether that reporting bias
might lead to an under-reporting or over-reporting of actual sales activity, depending on
the particular motivation of the salespeople cailed by Midwood.'”

Mr Norling placed more faith in the reliability of the Midwood report than its author 2%

even after his attention was drawn for the first time to its author’s very broad disclaimer

of any reliance being placed upon it, ™ and after admitting he did not even know what

are the author’s qualifications.”™

Tt is the disclaimer in the Midwood repost itself which is most instructive, viz:
"Information contained in this report is to the best of the author’s and publisher's
knowledge accurate as at the dote of printing. The report should not be used as a

general guide and should not be construed as a representation by the author or the
publisher as to the accuracy of its conterts. ™

The Midwood report cannot be relied upon as a definitive or reliable source of actual
sales activity on the Gold Coast — though useful for identifying general market frend — it

is of lite use in ascertaining the factual matrix of actual sold and setfled properties

and/or the proposed market acceptability of any proposed specific development.

Sales rates

193,

194.

195.

Mr Norling adopted an unduly and unreasonably pessimistic view in terms of 2 sales rate
of one unit per month.

Under cross-examination it became clear that Mr Norling’s assertion that Abadi would
likely have achieved one sﬂe per month was based on nothing more than his general
feeling rather than any clear and cogent analysis. He frequently admitted matters which,
although not touched upon or left unexplbred in his own report, undermined and
confised his own position, while demonstrating his lack of any careful analysis.

Mr Norling’s assessment of likely sales of one unit per month was based on several
fallacies, each undermining his analysis:

i%79.18, lines 51-5
157710, lines 120
0 77.20, lines 36-39
»177.19, lines 12-29
22 77.19, limes 10-11
5 7720, lines 10-21
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(a) Mr Norling, as an economist based in Brisbane with no direct experience of the
Gold Coast property market, based his analysis of likely sales rates on yet another
secondary data source, namely the Midwood report; however Mr Kogler, who was
the only appropriately qualified expert called by either party with direct experience
in that market, iabelled the report as being unreliable “hearsay information™ and
not as accurate as his own research** The Midwood report, according to Mr
Kogler, is compiled by its employees ringing up developers and sales offices and
asking, “How many sales have you made this month?;”" and

(b) Mr Norling expressly disclaims in his report any property valuation expertise, and
yet his assessment of likely sales is based on his (non-expert) views that Nerang
sales data, and the Nerang market, which inciuded the Boulton Ridge Estate, are
comparable to Abadi for valuation purposes. These views were cogently rebuited
by Mr Kogler’s visual presentation and testimony;™™ and

(¢) Mr Kogler’s analysis is based on a comparison of actual sales rates and prices
achieved by the Riverwalk Precinct and Sphere development in 2009 and 2010,
using RP Datz as his source; however these developments and their sales data were
rejected by Mr Norling on the technical and fallacious basis that Abadi falls within
the Nerang municipal boundary; yet inexplicably for a market the size of the Gold
Coast, Mr Norling did not perform or proffer any alternative project’s marketing
and sales records to underpin his assumption of “1 unit sale per month™.

The artificiality of Mr Norling’s reliance on “Nerang” is underscored by Trilogy’s own
description of the Abadi site as being at “Carrara™ ™"
CBRE and Landmark White were (and are) expert international and national valuers

engaged in (and familiar with) the relevant market at the relevant time. At the time, in -
the circumstances that prevailed, those experts largely agreed on anticipated sales rates.

The PHV review’™ - based on actual RP Data — demonstrates actual sales rates on
comparative developments, as matters have transpired and confirms results in the market
consistently with the views of Kosho’s experis dispelling the artificially pessimistic
picture painted by Mr Norting, Norling did not rebut this factual data.

Tellingly, Mr Norling did not undertake any analysis of any of the Abadi, Riverwalk or
Sphere development projects (all integrated master-planned developments) and did not
consult any registered property valuers in compiling his report. His evidence is
unreliable as to saleability. It is, at best, an impressionistic and very general overview of

his own preference.

¢ T4.68, lines 20-24, T4-77, lines 1824

%5 T4.68, lines 32-36

257470, line 41 - T4-73, line 23

7 prilogy Asset Review 2009 at Exkibit 3, “AKS-20", page 304
X8 Exhibit 19, Annexure 12
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200.- - Mr Norling was not adamant that those developments were not comparable to Abadi —
o but rather merely said he “...could not necessarily agree that” Riverwalk and Sphere

were “comparable product”>®

'201.  Mr Norling admitted there is still some level of construction going on the Gold Coast
post September 2008.2** although he was not in a position to say how much.”"*

202.  Mr Norling also conceived of upwards of $4 billion in aggregate sales on the Gold Coast
from sales greater than $5 million each transaction — being “not in a position to say that I

A don’t believe the figures™.2"

203. He admitted that Queensland since 2008 has maintained the highest intra-Australian
| migration rate, consistently outperforming other States,”” and that the great bulk of
- people migrating come to South-east Queensland. ™

204.  He admitted that althongh he had not “separately teased out the data”, *** his view was
that of those migrants to South-east Queensland:™

“the Gold and Sunshine Coasts have gained the greatest shares, and the Gold
Coast has obtained a greater growth than the Sunshine Coast.”

= 205.  He admitted that:*’

“there is in general terms an undersupply of retirement village stock, that is
independent living unit stock, that are appropriately priced for retirees.”
206. Mr Norling’s conceded increase (“spike”) in sales shown in his own Report occurred
during the same period that Kosho's stock would have been marketed for sale,® but he
| failed properly to concede™ that level of activity altered his desoription of the effects of
: the GFC.

17726
20 T7.9, lines 48-49
2 17.10, Lines 7-8
n -1-7_9
237714, lines 28-33
V! 247715, lines 12
28 T7-15, line 9
26 T7.15, fines 10-13
Pl 2777-15, Hines 2125
! 25 T7.28, lines 10-45:
o “We can see that over the 2008/2009 yeer as against the 2000/2010 year, the residential sales rate, in fact, douhles more or less
from 162 to 364 in 2009/20107— ...
And youfl ses that the seles rates, as I have suggested, when you total them up increase in the 20097/10 year to 364 from
162 over the 2008702 year; are you conscious of that?- Qkay. Ihave not added the four quarters up, but I nots that
- thequaﬂe:mdinchvember'wmdtheqnm‘lerendingl’ebmaryztlln,thaewasalmgespikeinsalesmthosetwo
v quarters, and that is likely to have resulted in the ‘09710 figares being higher, and substantially higher, than the
'08/09 fipures, comect.
i But nonetheless whether it be described as 2 hile or spike or anything else, that is, in fact, the performance of the market it that
| : fiscal 2010 year?—- Thatis.
N All right And that is the segment of the market to which you place Abadi, of course?-- Well, yes, Abadi would be competing
against that product.
All right. Competition aside, of 2 segment, of 2 type, Abadi may have other competitive advantages, but of its type that's where
you placeit, You bave sald so in the opening words in paragraph 36?— Yes, yes."
197747, lines 7-%;
“My learmed friend put 1o you, Mr Norfing that you had not considered the approximately §4 billion worth of
sales sbove $5 million of sizeable sites. Does your filure in this respect undemnrine or alter your description of the effect of the
T GFC on the Gold Coast property market?— No, it doesn't”.




207.

208.

209.

210,

44

Mr Norling’s assertion™ that the fall in Gold Coast sales volume post 2008 must be a
demand-side effect rather than supply-side related is inconsistent with countervailing

findings elsewhere in his report, viz.:

(a) that the median price sale peaked at $395,000 in 2008 and then again in 20107 —
it is self-evident that a peak median price is not attributable fo 2 lack of demand;

(b)  that the 38% fall in sales volume between 2007 and 2008 understated the
underlying demand for units on the Gold Coast;™

(c) that there was an undersupply of retirement village stock,” a major segment of
the Gold Coast market.

Mr Norling’s evidence of a 90% sales drop™” is an overstatement of the effects of the
GFC based on limited and selective data:

(a)  without lopical comparisons of selected.data— e.g. he compared November to
November with June to June, rather than January to December or July to June
only - not even by comparing any corresponding 6 or 12 month periods can one
discern the alleged 90% sales drop from his table;

(b)  on incomplete data sets — his table shows figures for August and November 2012
is “n/e™;

(¢)  ignoring the 2009-2010 period which is the very period that Kosho's stock would
have been released to the market;

(d)  ignoring periods with less favourable comparisons from his (and Trilogy’s)
perspective, e.g. the 20% difference in sales from Nov 07 to Aug 08 when
compared to Nov 09 to Aug 10; and

(e) ignoring the Pricefinder data (actual settled sales) for Nerang and Carrara
(proximate to Abadi and ignoring the remainder of the whole of the Gold Coast)
(combined Table at 39 and 42) in his repost that show actual sales in:

() 2009 — 407 Units;
(ii) 2010 — 302 Units;
(iii) 2011 — 223 Units.
The evidence and data in Mr Norling’s report does not support the conclusion that Kosho
was likely only to achieve sales of only one wnit per month in the years 2009 —2010.

Had funding been advanced, Kosho’s sales and marketing would have ocourred from
Tuly 2009 to June 2010.

0 Echibit 37, para. 38.

1 Exhibit 37, pava. 30.

2 pehibit 37, para, 31.

1715, lines 2125

#477.20, sec also Exhibit 37, paras. 36-38
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In the period that Kosho would have been in the sales market, there was no marked
decrease in sales — rather the market had rebounded strongly; the Norling repott itself
demonstrates sales in medium rise product doubling (162 increasing to 364)”° when
compared to the previous 12 month period and with an increase in sales vafues also being

achieved — as Mr Norling conceded in cross-examination.™

" The improvement in sales and general market over the 2009 and 2010 period gave rise to

an improved sales market and conceived end to GFC conditions by end of 2010 end early
2011; a professional view formed by Norling himselfZ Yet this was not considered in
his review of the Iikely sales achieved over that period.

Mr Norling accepted even the Midwood report showed the retirement market to have
been undersupplied with 6000 dwellings required over and above those already
availabieZ Mr Norling failed to have any proper regard for the massive undersupply.

Importantly, Trilogy did not lead amy evidence of valuations, competing feasibility
analyses or other enalytical dissection of Kosho's constitution of the Abadi project to
rebut the evidence of Kosho. The only inference ought be that such evidence was not
available.

Surfers Paradise Land - Value and Feasibility Study

215.

216.

217.

Mr Kogler'’s $4 million valuation and its ancumpmymgfeasibﬂlty study of the Surfers
Paradisel.andoughtﬁobeaocepmdbytheCumtasreﬁableand independent. It was
prepared for and relied on by CPL in July 2009 for first mortpage purposes for the 2009
facility. Trilogy did not adduce any competing vatuation or feasibility evidence.

The criticisms using Mr Norling as its principal antagonist which Trilogy levelied at Mr
Kogler's valuation are based on a selective misreading of Mr Kogler’s un-contradicted
evidence in cross-examination.

According to Mr Kogler, the difference between the $5,202 per square metre of land

value, which he ascribed to the subject property, and those properties yielding only
$2,000 per square metre (which is the value contended for by Trilogy) is accounted for

by the following factors:
(@) the subject property is a central CBD site;™
(b) by contrast, the other sales identified by Trilogy’s Counsel were:
() “finge”, and “not within the immediate location of the CBD";™" and

(i) “significantly inferior” to the subject property;”'

% Exhibit 37, pare. 36, page 7 “July 2008-June 2009 vs July 2009-june 2010”°
6 7728, lines 11-34

27 Exhibit 37, page 5, para26

487715, lines 15-25

2 74.51, line §

#74.51, lines 56
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1232

(¢) the subject property allowed for a plot ratio in a range of 4:1 to 6.5:17° whereas

in most cases outside the CBD the plot ratio would be limited to 41,2
(d)  none of the comparable sales used by Mr Kogler was an hotel. ™

Mr Kogler’s evidence was that the difference in values between the comparable sales
analysed by him™ was not simply due to the fall in the market in between 2007 and

2009. Rather the change in market conditions and the risks presented by the GFCiothe

Gold Coast market were already accounted for by Kogler’s valuation.” Mr Kogler took
a sophisticated and informed approach to accounting for the change in market conditions
between 2007 and 2009, as was explained by him in cross-examination.”’

Mr Kogler explained cogently there was and remains 2 market for a boutique hotel in the
Surfers Paradise CBD, with the Surfers Paradise Land being one of the last available
sites. :
The conservative nature of Mr Kogler’s $4 million valuation is also apparent from the
fact that it is only $200,000 greater than fts $3.8 million statutory unimproved land value
(for land tax) as at 30 June 2008

Trilogy’s submission that Mr Kogler made no allowance in his feasibility stady™ for the

cost of capital or for interest in his valuation, and that ons or both of these factors (it is

unclear on Trilogy's sabmissions which) comprises a “$10 million oversight™™"' is

inaccurate and misunderstands Mr Kogler’s methodology in his feasibility study, which

in fact:

(a) projeqted that a developer of the hotsl would conclude the project with 2 40%
equity position in the land and development, being approximately $10 million.
This was an equity position as at completion, including jand value and
development profit; \

(b) the feasibility study performed by Mr Kogler reflects the position that City Co
would have been in had it undertaken the development, namely starting with a $4
million wnencumbered property as its initial equity position, then used to obtain

finance.

B4 51, lines 23

2 Eyhibit 19, Annexure 7, page 25
237458, lines 4142

2474.58, lines 55

5 pxhibit 19, Annexure 7, page 23

2% Exhibit 19, Annexure 7, pages 19 and 26
&7 T4.52 and T4-53

2874 76, line 6-7, T4-78, lines 30, 56

59 pyhibit 17, Anmesure 7, page 10

¢ pehibit 17, Annexure 7, page 308

21 Trilojy Submission filed 10 December 2012, para. 32,
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292, Trilogy's submission®” to the effect that Mr Kogler did not make any allowance for the
cost of demolishing the existing building on site in his feasibility study is fallacious. Mr
Kogler’s testimony was:2?

“[Mr Horton] Yes, and so in valuation terms, that's a worse, isn't it, it has to be
demolished?—[Mr Kogler] It needs to be demolished on re-development, yes.

Do you make any allowance for demolition in your calculation of the existing
building?— No, I1don't.”

223.  The question put to Mr Kogler, and his answer, was clearly directed towards his
valuation of the site, for which Mr Kogler used the direct comparison method, and not
towards his foasibility study. It is the latter which grounds City Co’s claim for its lost
opportunity to eam development profits and which Trilogy’s submission seeks to
impugn. Mr Norling notes the requirement for demolition of the existing building in his
report®* The feasibility study does not include a specific line item for “demolition costs™
however the common sense view is that this must be taken up by the project’s
“construction costs”. This was not put to Mr Kogler in cross-examination.

224.  Trilogy’s somewhat cute assertion®™ about the “unreality” of the hotel development

being sold in 3 months after opening, given the hypothstical natare of three years’
EBITDA, does not take into account Mr Kogler’s explanation about how such
{ransactions are negotiated in practice based on a projection of three years® EBITA 2%
Shnﬂaﬂyﬁlesugesﬁmﬂmﬂlemlespmcesswmldneedmbeoomplﬁedin3mmihs
doesnotaﬂowﬁxasalesmpaignmmmmcingdwingﬂwﬂmonﬂmnsﬂucﬁonphase
as one would expect. | |

925.  As tothe design of the hotel and the amenity of the basement level nightciub:

(a) the ground floor plan for the hotel shows that the night club entry is quite
separate from the hotel entry and both front onio, and together with the service
entry and cafe entry comprise, the hotei drop offfpick up layby area”’

(b)  obviously the night club was soundproofed’® and separated from guest rooms on
the higher levels by the ground floor;

(c)  Trilogy’s manufactered assertion”” that the fact the nightelub was to be held in
strata title diminishes the hotel operator’s comirol is not supported by any

3 Trilogy Submission filed 10 December 2012, para 82b

43 1450, lines 48 - 52

4 pyhibit 19, Annexure 7, page 14

5 Trilogy Submissions filed 10 December 2012, para. 820

67462 lines 26-41, which reads:
Bt it would be settling in April 2011 without having any throe year such stabilised EBITDA?- That's true, howsver, the
negotiations for the sale would need to have been done onths projections completed.
Yes?— In & new hotel asset a vendor would be quits silly to negetiate the sale of a hotel based on EBITDA in year ane, because
it's well known fhat year one is 8 commencement of aconsolidation period.
Ve Your EBITDA would nomally be mmuch Sower than when it would be stebilised over time and it's not unconmon fora
siews asset to negotiate 2 sale based on stabilised year three, which is why - in these cases you would need to do a discouited cash
flow, which I've done, using the projections rather than the EBITDA in year one.”

37 Exhibit 19 (Lytres Report), Anncxure 7 (PHV Valuation), Appendix 7~ plan entitled 736 Amended Ground Floor Flan indicating

Drop Off/Pick Up Layby to PHV Valuation

8 Byhibit 19, Armexure 7, Appendix 7
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evidence. The nightclub operator would be subject to body corporate by-laws
addressing these factors.

Mr Norling’s views on availability of firance
226. At paragraph 91 of Trilogy’s submissions, in terms of the effects of the GFC on credit
markets, Trilogy has sought selectively to adopt only those parts of Mr Kogler’s

evidence it contends are supportive of its case and seemingly comsistent with the
evidence of Mr Norling.

227. Mt Notling contended that there was no chance of the project being funded but the
reality (on cross-examination) was that he focussed only on the “big four banks™,
ignoring second tier, mortgage and privaie lenders and the like and, even so, had to
acknowledge that post — GFC, projects on the Gold Coast had bee funded by the banks,
unsurprisingly on & case-by-case basis.>*’

228. M Norling’s opinions, although no doubt subjectively valid to him, were insnbstantial
andumeﬁableinanyobjecﬁveordhectsmsepertainingtoAbadLhavingheen
inmmssedwonhimbymmonlyofhisrecmtpmfessiumlexpaimmmdhﬁmsts
maintained as a property consultant, viz: 2! '

(a) his consulting firm has had clients in the last four years that “can’t get finance”;

(b) hishaving“readﬂiepresswidelyaboutmewithdmwalofSuncorpﬁumthe
property sector™;

(c) his baving read, “with interest the tightened lending criteria by Australia’s big
four banks™;

(d)  his having “seen the ABS dafa on reduced commercial and home lending
finance” and having read the Midwood report.

229. When cross-¢xamined specifically on whether all of these factors had prevented
substantial development from going ahead on the Gold Coast, Mr Norling conceded it
had not**

230.  When it came to factors genuinely probative of Abadi’s ability to obtain finance:

(@)  Mr Norling had not undertaken any analysis of what projects had commenced,
been funded and been successful on the Gold Coast since 2008, nor had he tried
to ascertain where funding on the Gold Coast came from;™

# Trlomy Submissions filed 10 December 2012, para 82e.iii
2077.45, line 5-T7-46, line 47
2511745, lines §-18, which read: “1 have clients in the last four years that canit get finance. ) have projects that have fallen over,
consulting jobs that have fallen over. 1have read in the press widely about the withdrawal of Stmcorp from the property sector. 1
have read with intevest the tightened lending criteria by Austrafia's big four banks. 1 have seen the ABS data on reduced commereiaf
and home lending finance. Ihave read and quoted the Midweod Reports stements historically about this. So Fm suggesting to you
that it's nat a matter of my imagination.”
2 T7-45, Hines 23-26 which read:
“Now, that said, al those factors have not prevented development going ahiead as we discussed at the ouiset, and substantial
development?— No - some developments are able to proceed, particolarly those developments that are not— or especially those
developmients that are not reliant upon those iraditional financing sources.”
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(b)  Mr Norling agreed that uitimately banks lend on a project by project basis
depending upon the project, the quality of the people running the project, where
the project is pitched in market and in concept.*

By contrast, Mr Kogler’s balanced and informed perspective on whether each of the

Surfers Paradise and Abadi projects would have obtained funding from 2009 through to
2012 was:

(a) i respect of the Surfers Paradise hotel project, funding was and is available on

the Gold Coast from overseas private equity investors, “especially in the hotel
industry”;* and

(b)  in respect of Abadi, that it was less amenable to that type of overseas private
equity finance and more so suited to “traditional lending” while noting,
importantly, that the sources of finance on the Gold Coast have traditionally
extended beyond the “cight main banks” >

The market for Abadi and Abadi’s positioning for its market

232,

233.

Mr Norling’s pejorative evidence about his perceived mismatch between the Abadi
concept and its high level of amenity when compared to the existing market for mnits “so
close to the Nerang Railway station” ought be rejected omtright in favour of the expert
evidence led by Kosho including:

(@) each of the three valuations of the Carrara Land (CBRE, Landmark White and
PHV) relied upon by Kosho, which closely considered every aspect of the site’s
amenity (both positively and negatively affecting value), its jocation and Abadi’s
product offering; and

() Mr Kogler's cogent and detailed visual demonsiration,”” aud his accompanying
testimony, concerning the development site’s locality and amenity, and the
superior nature of the Abadi development to the mess of very different and
unappealing 4-9 storey apartment blocks and townhouses constituting Bouiton
Ridge™®

The attack on Mr Kogler is gratuitous and baseless. His demolition of Boulton Ridge

was measured, well-detailed and well-based. It arose directly out of and in response to

cross-examination. He was knowledgeable and assured in identifying the particular
matters which made good his confident rejection of Boulton Ridge as any litmus and,
indeed, the “Nerang” theory relied on by Trilogy, at large. The things he detailed

(including visually) were stark, sensible and manifestiy correct. He was an impressive,

1 7746, lines 18-21

H T7.46, lines 22-32

57476, lines 42-46

26 TA.77, lines 1-3

5 Employing, the Court’s “visualiser” technology
287470, line 41 to T4-73, line 23
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informed, experienced and objective witness able and prepared to justify in detail, the
well-qualified and comprehensive valuation opinicn he provided including as regards
local amenity and transport considerations.

Mr Kogler's evidence concerning the sales rates and prices that would have been
achieved for the life of the development and for the 2009-2010 financial year™ is to be
preferred to Mr Norling’s more generalised and (as he expressed if) quite subjective

assessment,

Trilogy’s assertion®™ that Mr Kogler “accepted in cross-examination that the wnit sales
he advanced in Annexure 13 and particularly at page 2 were of ‘absolutely no help when
one is talking about the Carrara and Nerang apariment markets’ misinterprets Mr
Kogler's testimony. Mr Kogler's testimony was:*'

“IMr Horton] When it comes to your armexure 13, and particularly the second
page of that annexure, page 2 of 2?—{Mr Kogler] Second page, yes.

The unit sales you advance as being informative are for the Gold Coast as a
whole, is that right, on that page?— Yes.

And I want to suggest to you that's absolutely no help when one is talkin g about
the Nerang/Carrara market?— Not specifically, no.”
Mr Kogler’s testimony only went as far as to say that the Gold Coast sales data used by
hhnpmﬂymsuppoﬁhismalysismsnotspciﬁmﬂyappﬁmblemﬂaeNermgICanma
marke:whichsaysmﬂ:ingabmﬁwheﬂ:ﬁritvmsnotappﬁcabletothedwelopmmt

Read properly, Mr Kogler’s evidence is consistent with his analysis of likely sales
rates’® which was principally supported by actual sales achieved at the Riverwalk
Precinct and Sphere developments. Mr Kogler confirmed that:

(@) the Riverwalk Precinct and Sphere developments were comparable projects;”® and

(b) projects such as Boulton Ridge and Emerald Lakes, aithough more proximate to
the development “may as well be 50 kilometres away”,”* were like “cheese and
chalk” when compared to the development™ and, in the case of Emerald Lakes,
the developer had “completely missed [the] market” 266

Mr Norting’s evidence was most damaging to his own thesis when it came to the crucial
question of defining and then examining the correct market for the development’s units.
In his report, Mr Norling incongruously relied only upon broad market data to form very

9 Bochibit 19, Annexures 12, 13

# Trilogy Submission filed 10 December 2012, para. 1010
261 T4.57, Hnes 28-35

% Bx 19, Annexure 12

93 T4.63, line 53

4 7467, line 20

#5467, line 25

26T4.72, fine 53
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specific (and damning) views on the prospects of Abadi. Yet he admitted, io the contrary,
thatzm
“If one wanis to value a property or a unit, or one wants to define a specific
marketing program for a particular development, then, yes, one has to drill down
1o the details of the product positioning of thal particular product.”
In his evidence, Mr McCormick had elegantly linked CPL’s prediction of success for the
project to it being appropriately pitched to its market, when he said as follows:™®

“the [sub-3500,000] price range was in that area that would move. ”

But Mr Norling admitted he had not considered in his report the market for units in the
crucial sub-$500,000 price range:>®
“I haven't separately undertaken analysis of the price changes for those units
priced below the $500,000 range. But I would agree that the dramatic effects
that we've seen at the high-rise units market is likely to still be evident in the
medium rise or the lower price point units, but may not be as dramatic.”
Havhgconsideredﬂlemaﬁerfmﬂleﬁmﬁmetmdsrms-examinaﬁomMerﬁng
expressed what must be taken to be his honest, un-guarded and un-varnished views of the
market for units in the sub-§500,000 price range:™
“Yes, that sub $500,000 market is, in my view, likely to have better weathered
the storm than the high-rise and the higher priced high-rise units.”
Mr Norling then gave evidence that Abadi would attract buyers who might originally
tend towards other locations on the Gold Coast and high-rise units. Thus the demarcation
in his report between the high-rise markets and four to nine storey markets was revealed
as an artificial consequence of data used by him from the Midwood report (albeit
intrinsically unreliable) and Pricefinder. To wit, he said™"
“So I think that there are purchasers that would look widely across, but, no, I'm

not suggesting to the Court that the only purchasers that would be interested in
Abadi are those that want to be in four storeys to nine storeys only.”

And then, illuminating the limitations of his report’s analysis and findings further:
“The product that you've described [Abadi] is more likely io be saleable tham an
expensive waterfront high-rise apartment within.this same difficult market”; m
and

“The design of Abadi and the landscaping and the commercial facilities and the

pools and ponds that were provided and its elevation offering views and
exposure to sea breezes, are all things that I think would be favourable to
purchasers. "™

3 17.17, lines 2-30
#872.21, lines 51-52
% T7.24, lines 34-39
m77.25, lines 14
M 77.44, lines 15-19
M 7725, lines 3135
7744, fines 37-41
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Thus there is no need to discount the achievzble sales targets established by Mr Kogler,
even if one accepts Mr Norling’s evidence that the broader macro-economic malaise
must have affected the Gold Coast market to some extent. As Mr Kogier confirmed, his
analysis of the development was that it was already appropriately adjusted fo market for
the effects of the Global Financial Crisis (T4-73, lines 8-23):

“IMr Bain] But speaking of what you mow just as it presents now of Abadi as it
was approved or finded and agreed to be funded in 2009, how daes that sit with
what you just a said of hitting the market of being appropriately sized and
priced?—{Mr Kogler] This has been the trend not only in the early years after
the GFC but certainly currently. The unit size and price points are significant in
the success - the sales success of the project in the market place.

And your view of Abadi as a valuer?— Well—

Is it appropriately pitched?— Indeed so, and I think that from a unit size and
design point of view, that's why I thought that Riverwalk and Sphere [were
comparable] - if you look at my analysis, wnit size, et celera, et cetera, it fitted
the correct designation of the market place at the time.”

Mr Gore

245.

246.

247.

Mr Gore, whilst a licensed real estate agent, has for many years operated a property
investment and marketing firm. Thatﬁrmhadsuoowsfnl_lymarketeerSlijderink’s
other project aud achieved 28 settled sales in 20097

Trilogy's criticism of the evidence of Mr Gore ignores the fact that his buyers are pre-
qualified and purchase on loan capacity and rental retuens — defined financial investment
parameters. The purchase is a non-¢motive decision — buyers do not necessarily see or go
to sits, but are more concerned with rentability, depreciation schedules, long term capital
pain, location to transport nodes and market acceptance. ™

The submission”™® misuderstands Mr Gore’s evidence - his clients are driven by
financial performance, tax depreciation, tax effective investments, rental yields, and long
term capitel growth™” — Mr Gore’s comment was from an investment product point of
view — 5o long as a particular investment product met those requirement — it met product

requirement.

Mr Goh

248,

The evidence of Mr Goh confirmed that money was available to fund the Abadi project

and that he definitely could fund ™™ And he had previously lent the substantial sum of

$30 million to Kosho on very short notice — five business days.2”

™ mxhibit 31, para. 2, T6-21, lines 1-4

5 76,24, line 31 - T6-25, line 6, T6-25, lines 29-47, T6-26, lines 226F
T Trilogy Submission filed 10 December 2012, pare. 160

M 7624, line 31 —T6-25, line 6, T6-26, lines 22-28, 43-49

28 148, Hnes 1-4,T6-13 line 30

287610, lines 10-14, T6-48, lines 39-46
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He is a high net-worth person with knowledge of the project and who deals with his own
family’s (and not investor’s) money — he is not bound by regulatory exactitudes of bank
lenders. He has undertaken extensive lending throughout Australia — short term, mid
term and long term funding - and taken a property developer equity position — mezzanine
or full funding — subject to his having ﬁnds available at the relevant time. He was not

merely a mezzanine lender®®

He did have money at the time Kosho would have required it — subject to 70-80% pre-
sales being achieved — not dissimilar to Westpac; as a total requirement of sales
assuming 80% pre-sales: 43 sales approximately, and given Kosho already had 7 sales by
EOL only 36 sales over 12 mornths would have been reguired to then approach Goh2"

His evidence confirmed™® pre-sales were required fo progress any facility with his
assistance.

The effect of his evidence is — had Kosho obtained pre-sales of at least 70-80% (T6-13
and lne 30) of required fimding — he could and would have considered favourably the
provision of finance for the project.

'I'hereisnothingremarkableinmefmtthatl{oshohadnotappliedforﬁnanee-itknew
pm-sdeswererequkedmdﬂmewasﬁﬁiepoh:tinapplyingmﬁlpm—saleshadbeen
achieved.

Mr Norling conceded funding was available from non-traditional lenders® Mr Goh was
one such a lender.

The obtaining of funding from Mr Goh was much more then merely spectlative
possibility, it was a real and tangible prospect with a lender who had already loaned
substantially greater funds on the same project and who was, on good terms with Kosho.

Lytras Report

256.

The absence of valuation evidence for Trilogy on which to challenge that for Kosho and
City Co has been noted, as has been Mr Kogler’s demolition of Mr Norling’s unqualified
and inappropriate advancing of Boulton Ridge as a comparator and the “Nerang” theory.
The simple position remains that the valuation evidence for the Kosho interests was
comprehensive and cogent; it took accouﬁt of all the matters of location, amenity, type of
development, market reaction, broader economic circumstances post GFC, and
saleability in the usual way. In that process, to the extent that any of those considerations
may have tempered the ascription of value, that was done in 2 conventional way and it
was not properly suggested to Mr Kogler that there was any want of methodology in his
work (or in that of anyone else which he adopted). Mr Norling’s cbservations about

18 T4.10, lines 3-4, T4-16, lines 24-28

%t Behibit 30, para.l 1, T6-12, 32-35, T6-13, lines 1-2
= T6.11,

W T7.46, line 40
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matters of valuation and realisable value did not rise above his advancing his subjective

and general impression of economic circumstances based on the Midwood report when
any such considerations had already been taken in by qualified valuers well cognisant of

the same circumstances.

Mr Lytras’ work, adopting the valuation evidence provided for the plaintiffs
appropriately did not have to re-hash valuation considerations. Mr Lytras did not feign
to be a valuer and he was entitled to proceed that way. It is, with respect, not necessary
to rehearse what is said out in Mr Lytras’ report™ (especially given his summary of
opinion in the second section of it). Indeed, to do so, would risk unhelpful gloss being
intruded.

As earlier observed this is a matter in which the Court’s assessment of the worth of lost
opportunity(s), if found, is just that — a matter for the Court’s assessment. Suffice it thai
the plaintiffs predictably contend for sigmificant compeasation but recognise that Mr
Liytras has assisted the Court by identifying bases on which some discounting may (in the
Court’s judgment) be appropriate; what Mr Lytras reforred to as his “framework” ™

hMcﬁcmshnceweaddressthefewﬁnﬂmwﬁsiderﬂionsessayedwiﬂ:MrLyﬁas in
cross-examination.

M Lytras® assumption of the availability of development finance beyond the term of the
original (2007) lending™ was appropriate. Considerations about that have been
addressed above and there was a sensible reliable prospect of such funding being
obtainable, Aay latent risk in that sounds only at the level of being a component of
discount, not as a basis for rejection of the plaintiffs’ claims. That also extends to the
pursuit of City Co’s hotel project taking in any lead time until (Trilogy acting properly
and reasonably) the Surfers Paradise Land was to be released from commitment as
security for the Abadi project”

The continuing validity of the 2009 cashflows as explained by Mr Slijderink and as well-
based in the un-refuted valuation opinions for Kosho were not something that Mr Lytras
had to re-engineer. Nonetheless, it is instructive that Mr Lytras did address those with
Mr Slijderink and did not simply “pay = lip service™™® — i.e. accept uncritically — the
cashfiow. In effect Mr Lytras spot tested or stress tested those in discussion with Mr
Stijderink — “to give [Lytras] more comfort as much as anything ..” 2s he put % and on
occasion sought further material or explanation from Mr Slijderink. That care by Mr
Liytras is not to be overlooked because it was an experienced accountant’s ensuring that

4 Exhibit 19

B574.5, lines 2029

35746, lines 11-15

377410, lines 19- 24: in which regard the 2009 Letter of Offfer at special condition (j) replicated the earlier provision for the release
of mortgage of City Co's land featured in the 2007 Letter of Offer, the spreadsheet attaching to revised March fimding submission
reflects the intended/expected timing; and Exhibt 2, pages19-~21, 25, 30, refate relavant discussion between Mr Slijderink and CPL
#8747, lines 142

19 74.8, lines 15-20
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what Mr Slijderink (a proven and experienced developer) presented passed muster as a
proper and reliable work of its type and was not evidently wanting. Mr Lytras’ being
satisfied of that is hardly surprising given that CPL had assessed it in the same way as

evidently entirely satisfactory, especially after the revisions in cognisance of the GFC -

which informed the revised March funding submission™ and, of course, at no stage
thereafter did Trilogy, for its part, assert there was anything wanting about that or
suggest, for example, that the cashflows were no longer of reliable currency for the
purposes of making the advance under the finance facility (or as regards any future
funding for the project).

It is insiructive that CPL had accepted the Abadi cashflows, while there is no evidence
that Trilogy had, at any time prior to these proceedings commencing, raised any concerns
with the financial modelling or viability of the projects.

Not only was Mr Lytras entitled fo be satisfied about the cashflows but his testing of
those with Mr Shijderink may fairly be seen as having provided further justification and
assurance as regards Kosho’s (and Trilogy’s) continuing reliance on those.

In like regard, Mr Lytras tested the underlying market demand/take up rates and sale
prices which informed the cashflows and was satisfied of how that had been treaied by

Mr Slijderink in reliance upon the “various reports that have come through ... the market .

taking up the demand, the supply”*' Again Mr Lytras was not affording “lip service™
but required to be satisfied of apparently sound basis in Mr Shijderink’s work and what
Mr Slijderink was proceeding upon in the way of expert opinion and Mr Lytras had that
satisfaction.

Mr Lytras was also himself atientive to the underlying expert analyses on which Mr
Slhijderink’s work proceeded. For example Mr Lytras (very justifiably and correctly)
took the “message” from Mr Kogler’s opinion:
“ . that despite [the Gold Coast economy 2009/2010 the product was going to be
—~ for example was going to be pitched — in particular Abadi was going to be
pitched — at a level that would be acceptable to the market and I guess My
Kogler's report to me gave me some confidence that sales were still happening in
the Gold Coast. It was not just everything stopped. ™
That apt observation by Mr Lytras highlights the superficiality of Mr Norling’s
pessimism. In short (and at the risk of tedious repetition) Kosho’s Abadi development
and City Co’s boutique hotel were adapted and pursued in an appropriate consciousness
and embrace of post-GFC considerations. The analysis of those projects must be very

specific to them rather than being inappropriately degraded by GFC-driven anxiety about

20 The recognition of the pending GFC for six to nine montis befbre the collapse of Lehman Bros in Septerrber 2008 and on and
fvom that that event recognition of the full impact of the GFC was explained by Mr Lyires at T4-39 iine 12 - T4-41, line 22

=4 1198, Tines 2023

22 7441, lines 56 - T4-42, line 3
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a “parlous economy” or “the Gold Coast™ , in contrast to the close analysis upon which
Kosho and City Co proceeded very soberly and with much work and expertise.

267. It may be noted that Mr Lytras’ report™ did not address a couple of matters that may be

taken into account,

268.  He explained that the time value of money as a basis of discount back to the claim dates
is something that is sometimes done and sometimes not and if not why not™ He
identified the potential conflict in outcomes between discount at inflation rates set
against a stafutory interest rate applicable to the claim as a sound foundation for his
having left any such discount aside (and that it was he who had elected not to include
02

269.  Accepting that there should be discount for development risk on the Gold Coast™ he
emphasised!heneoessitymgaugethatasrelaﬁngmaCmmketnot“Nemg”
market and re-emphasised, also in that context, the significance of PHV’s confirmatory

work on properly comparable developments and retrospectively, which was not
challenged and emphatically supports Mr Shjderink’s and Kosho's analysis.™”

270. Mr Lytras identified other risk(s) which may ground discount but did not allocate any
fignre to those:™ those were inability to obtain finance for the fiture stages of the
development, any blow-out of costs in relation to it; higher interest rates on future
finance, selling and obtaining completion of contracts struck off-the-plan. Those things
noted, it was not suggested to Mr Lytras (ar anyone else) that those factors meant that the
Abadi project would fail post GFC; rather, quite deliberately, Trilogy's exploration of
that with Kosho’s witnesses were left at the level of identifiable risk, which is telling.

271.  Mr Lytras has separately accounted for substantial equity available to Kosho and City Co
in their properties in the combined sum of $8,767,410 as at 30 June 2009 and $7.329,574
as at 30 June 20102° As Mr Lytras opined,”™ the equity in each property was an asset
which, putting to one side the further benefits, namely the profits from the projects that
could have flowed from them, has been lost in its entirety.

272.  Put another way, Mr Lytras’ assessment of the fost development profit from each project
 necessarily assumes, for there to have been Q profit, that all project-specific expenses and
liabilities including the finance facility and subsequent (extended or new) facilitics would

have been progressively repaid in fill, according to their terms. The “loss of equity in the
properties owned” component “gives some certainty to the Court”,"" as Mr Lytras put it,

2 Exhibit 19

29 74-33, lines 39-, T4-34, line 1

957433, Fme 47 - T4-34, line 8

574 34, fines 30-32 where he offered 2 “stab in the dark™ “in the range of 20 to 35 per cent” for that development risk
37 T4.34, lined8 ~T4-35, line 7, T4-36, line 411

28 74.35 lines15- 56, T4-36, lines 2-35

9 Exiiibit 19, paras. 822, 9.14,

30 Bxhibit 19, peras. 2.8, 2.9.

! See T4-24, lines 10-13
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and conceding the risks (both upside and downside) of further movements in value, that
the companies enjoyed substantial equity that only would be diminished in the (unlikely)

event a project did not break even.

Discharge of Surfers Paradise Land as security for the finance facility

273.

274,

275.

276.

271.

278,

In terms of the probable release of the Surfers Paradise Land, Trilogy’s submissionsoz is
entirely false. Provisions for the release of the Surfers Paradise Land were included in
both letters of offer and the conditions for its release well understood (and agreed).

The 2007 Letter of Offer at special condition (j) stated —

“6)  The Lender agrees io release any encumbrance over Lot 3 Beach Road
upon provision of-

(1) alternate equivalent security (cash or property) to the value of
$3,460,000 (GST ex), or

() the Project Loan to Value Ratio (LVR) not exceeding 71.5% on the
basis of "Land Value As Is with Development Approval”

Any alteration to the ariginal security as detailed in Security To
 Be Taken above is to be acceptable to CPL acting reasonably. ™

The letter of 8 April 2009 from Kosho (by Mr Slijderink) is hardly remarkable given that
it sought release of the City Co landpﬁortoﬂ:edmofappmvalofﬂleﬁnmneﬁcility—
i.e., 24 June 2009.
Indeed Kosho’s letter (8.04.09) stated —

“Notably the existing security is sufficient to protect any City Pacific Limited

interests in regards to the funding facility.

We look forward to confirmation that the City Co Pty Ltd Lot 3 Beach road
property has been discharged as cross collateralized security.

We further confirm that on acceptance of owr refinance application recently

submitted for gpproval City Co Pty Lid will again provide Lot 3 Beach Road as
cross collateralized security... ' [underiine added]

It is not surprising then that a similar provision as that contained in the 2007 Letter of

Offer was included in the 2009 Letter of Offer, viz. -

“() The Lender agrees to release any encumbrance over Lot 3 Beach Road upon
provision of $3,000,000.00 cash payment and/or achieving Project (Stage 14)
loan to value ratio of 67% and/or fidure Project Sub-stages achieving a loan to
value ratio less than 70%. Any release of security will be subject to an updated
valuation of the remaining security property dated within 20 days of the
release.”

This was as 2 direct consequence no doubt of the conversations between Mr Slijderink

and John Ellis and others — Exhibit 2 at page 19 (paras. 81-82) and pages 29 -31

(commence para. 115, bottom of page 29) -

302 Trilgpy Submission filed 10 December 2012, para. 27(h)
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Sltijderink: . “Ok..now in regards to the cross collateralised security I
confirm we are in agreement that we will put Lot 3 Beach Road
back in as cross collateralised security on the proviso that when
we demonstrate Stage One (4) LVR does not exceed 67% noting
$2.800,000 in prepaid interest monies and/or if we provide
alternative security to achieve the 67% and/or pay cash to the
value of $3,000,000 you will release the property. Agreed?”

Steve McCormick: “Agreed”.

John Ellis: “Agreed”.
Reiko Fujino: “What does this mean? "
Slijderink: “Ir means that once we have locked in the costs for consiructior

and civil works and demonstrate maximum 67% LVR as
proposed for Stage One A Beach Road will be released as
security. Also if the LVR went to say 100% and we wanted to
discharge beach road we have to pay 33,000,000 in cash.”

Reiko Fujino: “So this can happen quickly”

Slijderinic: “Yes once we finalise detailed design we can finalise costs.
That'’s correct, yes?”

Jorm Ellis: “Yes™.

This was not challenged in cross-examination.
This is also consistent with the evidence of Mr McCormick at T2-86, line 15ff -

Do you remember any conversation on that accasion about the City Co Beach
Road property?— Yes. I know M Stijderink was very keen for us lo release thay
as part of the security, which we weren't in agreeance with, however, did agree
that if certain loan to security ratios were fulfilled, then that was an option.

Do you recall from the 2007 facility there having been a right in the borrowers,
provided an LVR was at a certain level, to require the Beach Road property to be
released as a security?— Yes, it was.

T was never the intention of either Kosho or CPL that the Surfers Paradise Land remain
as collateralized security for the term of the finance facility.

The evidence is entirely consistent with City Co’s desire that the property be released as
the earliest opportunity — no doubt to enable it to proceed with its own development.

Had Trilogy advanced the funds under the finance facility, it is more probable than not
that the City Co property would have been released as cross-collateralized security.
Kosho and City Co lost that chance by reason of the failure of Trilogy to advance those
(or any) funds.

Kosho could only get to the stage of release with the funds promised to it under the
finance facility — the fimds to enable it to inter alia to commence its presales campaign
and to construct (and in February 2010 seitle the contract for) the Pavilion.

Tt is unremarkable, as was correctly conceded by Mr Slijderink in cross-examination s
that Trilogy might have insisted npon a fresh valuation of the Surfers Paradise Land prior

3B T6-55, lines 29-33
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to its release; similarly it is unremarkable that City Co did not obtain that fresh valuation

given how events unfolded.

5601 of the Corporations Act 2001

286.

287.

Upon Trilogy becoming the responsible entity of the PFM Fund:

(a)

®

pursuant to section 601FS(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, the rights,
obligations and liabilities of CPL in relation to the PFM Fund became the rights,
obligations and liabilities of Trilogy, including in relation to the matters pleaded

herein; and

pursuant to section 601FT(1) of the Corporations Act, upon Trilogy becoming
the responsible entity of the PFM Fund, a document to which CPL was a party, in
which reference is made to CPL or under which CPL acquired or incurred a right,
obligation or liability, or might have acquired a right obligation or liability if
CPL had remained the responsible entity, which document is capable of having
eﬂ’ectaﬁerﬁechmgeinmsponm‘blemﬁtyhaseﬁ‘ectasifWM(andthPL)
was a party to it, was referred to in it or had or might have acquired the right,
obligation and lisbility under it, including in relation to the matiers pleaded
herein.

In short Trilogy is fixed with liability arising from CPL’s conduct, agreement(s) and
dealingshrelaﬁontothesubjectfacﬂityjustasmuchassuchmingsinitsﬁmeasﬁne
responsible entity.

288.

289.

290.

291.

Ms Fujino relies upon the matters pleaded by way of defence by Kosho in its action and
taken up in her Defence and Counterclaim*™

Ms Fujino relics on the matters also agitated by Kosho for its part for discharge of or
release from her guarantee. In the alternative there is no realisable sum on the guarautee
having regard to Kosho’s entitlements on its counter-claim.

Ms Fujino abandons the additional matters in her pleading as regards her personal
capabilities and the circumstances of her executing the subject guarantee: viz sub-
paragraph 12(b) and paragraphs 12A fo0 25 (inclusively) of her Counterclaim.

Pursuant to the terms of the Guarantee:

"2 Guarantee

™ Noherty & Ors v Murphy & Anor [1996] 2 VR 553, Murphy v Zamonezx Pty Ltd (1993) 31 NSWLR 439; of Forsyth v Gibbs 2009]
1 Qd R 403, Young v NAB [2004] QASCA 298
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The Guarantor unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to the Lender the
due and punctual payment of the Moneys Hereby Secured to a maximum of the
Guaranteed Amount in consideration of the Lender agreeing to provide or to
continue to provide the Loan to the Borrower under the Loan Agreement. "

Principles

292.  The authorities illuminating the proper construction of guarantees are conveniently
analysed in Erect Safe Scaffolding (Australia) Pty Lid v Sutton,® where Basten JA said:

" Principles of construction

[23] Before considering the proper coustruction of the indemnity clause, it is
desirable to identify the principles governing the exercise. These were sel out in
the joint judgment in Andar Transport Pty Ltd v Brambles Ltd [2004] HCA 28;
217 CLR 424 at [17]-[23] (Gleeson CJ, McHugh, Gummow, Hayne and Heydon
JJ). Their Honours affirmed the principle stated by Lord Oliver of Aylmerton in
Coghlan v SH Lock (Australia) Ltd (1987) 8 NSWLR 88 at 92 in relation to
"certain well-known principles of construction in relation to guarantees™:

Swhadocmentfaﬂstobecomh&edsﬁcﬂy;itistobereadmm
proferentem; and, in case of ambiguity, it is to be construed in favour of
the surety.
[24] Those principles were restated in Ankar Pty Lid v National Westminster
Finance (Australia) Lid (1987) 162 CLR 549 at 561, in the joint judgment of
Mason ACJ, Wilson, Brerman and Dawson JJ:

At law, as in equity, the traditional view is that the liability of the surety
issa'ictissimijmismdthafambiguomcomracmalpmﬁsionsshouldbe
construed in favour of the surety.

[25] In this respect, Andar Transport followed Char v Cresdon Pty Ltd (1989)
168 CLR 242 at 256 which, in the joint judgment of Mason CJ, Brennan, Deane
and McHugh JJ, set out with approval the passage just quoted from Ankar. The
principles were applied in Chan so as lo relieve a guarantor of the obligations of
the lessee under a lease in circumstances where the lease, though executed, was
not registered and thus had no effect in law, as opposed to giving rise to
equitable rights flowing from the execution of the agreement.

[26] In Andar Tramsport, the application of the principles resulted in an
indemmity clause being read down so as to limit the indemmily given by the
appellant to "the indemmification of Brambles against any vicarious liability
which Brambles might incur against third porties”: at [24]. That result was
achieved primarily because of the contractual convext which allowed that "a suit
against Brambles premised upon vicarious liability was, in these circumstances,
a distinct possibiliy”: at [25]."

#5 (2008) 173 R 412; [2008] NSWCA 114
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Discharge for the Lender's Failure to Make the Further Advance

293,

204,

205,

Rowlatt on the Law of Principal and Surety observes:>"

"It is essential that the principal should get the full bemefit to procure which the =

surely intervened: otherwise the surety will not be bound. Thus, where the debt
guaranteed was o be incurved in consideration of the conveyance of property
subject to specified encumbrances, and there was another emcumbrance
unknown to the surety and forgotten by the creditor, the surety was relieved.

Where the guarantee was in consideration of a bank ‘lending' the principal the
sum of £1,000 for seven days from the date of the guarantee, and the bank,
without placing £1,000 to his credi, merely honoured cheques upon his current
account, which did not create an overdraft of £1,000 within the seven days, it
was held that the surety was not liable...”

Tn Lensworth Finance Limited v Worner,”™ Worner executed a guarantee in favour of
Lensworth in consideration of the sum of $121,000 agreed to be lent to the principal
debtor at the guarantor's request. In fact less than that amount was lent, because the
borrower, after drawing down $33,750, had failed to pay an amount of development
costs that it was supposed to have paid, and had been dilatory with its interest payment,
and the bank had relied on grovisions in the agreement with the borrower, of which the
guarantor was not aware, entitling it to decline, in those circumstances, to make further
advances. It was held that the gnarantor was not liable, as the lending of the full amount
was a condition precedent to the gnarantor's Hability arising. Andrews J said:™"®

"fn Eshelby v Federated European Bank Limited [[1932] 1 KB 254], Swift J sets

out statements to the effect that a guarantor is entitled to be held only ‘to the

strict letter of his engagement'.”
His Honour then set out a lengthy passage from the judgment in that case, and
continued:™ |

"4 statement of Mellish LJ in Burton v Gray [[1873] 8 Ch App 932, 937],

although dealing closely with the facts in that case, is a clear illustration aof how
such statemerds are io be applied:

'T am clearly of the opinion, on the construction of this document, that
umless £1,000 sterling was advanced for seven days in accordance with
the consideration as stated in the commencement, this guarantee and
mortgage never came into operation. ... It seems to me quite impossible
to put any other meaning on the words than this: ‘if you will advance
£1,000 instantly for seven days, then, and not otherwise, I agree to give
the deposit of title deeds and fo become security”’

36 4% g4 at 84-85 (fovtnotes omitted)
07 (1579) Qd R 159; Sec also Ankar Pty Lid v National Westminster Finance (Australia) Limited (1987) 162 CLR 549 at 553-556

= At 165
At 166
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In my view, the plaintiff here failed to lend the sum of $121,000, relying upon
conditions which cowuld not be tacked on to the guarantee and the defendant was
thereby discharged from any obligation thereunder.”
Where the expression "condition precedent" is used in this context, it means a condition
precedent to liability under the guarantec (sometimes referred to as a condition
subsequent, in contrast to a condition precedent to the formation of the contract),>™® and
not a condifion precedent fo the guarantee contract being formed.

Trilogy breached the finance facility and failed to advance the agreed further funds. As in
Lensworth, it does not matter that some moneys had been advanced. Therefore, the
guarantor is discharged from liability under the guarantee.

The Exclusion Clause (cl. 4) does not Protect the Lender

298.

299.

Clause 4 of the gnarantee provides:

"4, Unconditional nature of obligation

The liability of the Guarantor under this Guarantee shall not be affected by

anything which, but for this provision, might operate to release or otherwise

exonerate it from iis obligations in whole or in pari, including, without

limiting the generality of the foregoing:

(a  the grant to the Borrower, the Guarantor or to any surety or other
person of any time, waiver or other indulgence, or the discharge or
release of the borrower or any other security or any other person;

()  the amendment ... of enforceability, failure, loss, release, discharge,
abandonment ... either in whole or in part ... of any Transaction
Document or any Encumbrance or Guarantee now or in the future held
by or in favour of the Lender from ... the Borrower ... or by the taking
of or failure to enter into any Transaction Document or lo take any such
Encumbrance or Guaramtee or any Tramsaction Document or amy
such Encumbrance or Guarantee becomes void or voidable;

whether with or without the consent of the Guarantor.”

That clause is directed to some provision that "might operate to release or otherwise
exonerate” the guarantors from a liability that has already arisen. The making of the
advance from time to time up to the full amount is not regarded as releasing a guarantor,
but rather as a condition precedent to liability on default by the principal debior. The
expression "exonerate" implies that there is a liability from which the guarantor is to be
exonerated. Here, the liability has not arisen in the first place.

30 See, ¢.g., Cheshire & Fifoot's Law of Contract, 8% Aust ¢d, paras. [5.211,[204]
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300. The Full Court of the Supreme Court of Queensiand considered analagous

provisions in The Fleicher Orgamisation Pty Ltd v Crocus Investmenmts Pty

Ltd*"! The relevant provisions there included:

"3.

12

. The Guarantor ... agrees and declaves that any compounding,
granting, giving of time, indulgence, waiver, deferment or verying as
aforesaid, or any favour, grace or consideration whatsoever given or
shown by the Mortgagee to the Mortgagor or Yo the Guarantor ... shall
in no way or af no time prejudice, reduce or discharge the liabilities of
the Guarantor hereunder.

... In order to give full effect to the provisions of this instrument, the
Guarantor agrees and declares that the Morigagee shall be at liberty to
act as though the Guaranmtor were the principal debior and the
Guarantor hereby waives all rights in conmection with such provisions
that it might otherwise be entitled to claim or enforce.

... The Guarantor hereby waives all the Guaraniors righis as surety
(legal, equitable, statutory or otherwise) which may at any time be
inconsistent with any of the provisions of this instrument or to the
detriment or disadvaniage of the Mortgagee.”

301. In a compromise with the principal debtor, the lender had agreed to a discharge of a
mortgage given by way of security for the loan in retum for part payment of the debt.
The judge at first instance held that these provisions did not stop the guarantor from
being discharged. However, on appeal, his decision was reversed, and the lender was
held entitled to recover from the guarantor. Shepherdson J said:>"

"The question then is - did clause 6 exclude the second defendant’s right to

contribution and right to the benefit of every security held by the plaintiff.
The answer to this involves a question of consiruction.”

302.  After considering a number of cases, his Honour concluded:*”

"t may be said that these cases are referable to their own facts ... but they all
show that a party originally a surety may contract himself out of certain rights
which he, as surety, would otherwise have against the principal creditor, and
may make himself liable to the creditor as if he were the principal debior and
not simply a surety.

I have come 1o the firm view that in clause 6 the second defendant agreed to
be sued as if he were the principal debior and he agreed that the plaintiff
would not be subject to special restrictions imposed on it as creditor, including
his right analogous to marshalling of securities ... and his right, assuming he did
have it, or requiring the plaintiff to obtain and retain ail securities listed in
clause 6 of the heads of agreement."”

311 11988]2 Q4R 517
lllAt 524
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304.

305.

306.

307.

308,

64

Williams ] came to the same conclusion, relying on clause 3, as well as

clauses 6 and 123"
Ryan J said”"

"It is ... well established that a surety may be deprived by a provision in the
guarantee of the comtractual right which he would otherwise have to be
discharged by the release of securities.”

After setting out clause 3, his Honour continued:

"The learned Irial judge expressed the opinion that the authority given by the
guarantor to the financier in clause 3 ... was not sufficiently wide to authorise
the financier to release a security given by the second guarantor.”

However, after a detailed analysis of clanse 3, his Honour keld that it did not save the
guaranee.

His Honour went on to consider clauses 6 and 12, and concluded”'® that notwithstanding
ﬁemquhemmﬁbmadthedocmaﬁagahstﬂwcmdﬂor,ﬂ:emﬂhlgmmdedforby
the guarantor deprived them of all effect.
Bntinﬂ:iscase,wheﬁlerornotsuchaclmmepmmctsﬂ:elderdependsonaclose
analysis of the precise terms of the clause. Tt is submitted that the clause in the present
easedoesnotmtectﬂlelendﬂﬁomﬂlecmsequmofmfnlﬂhnentofacmdiﬁou
precedent to the gnarantor’s being liable, as opposed to events happening after the
gnarmﬂorhasbecomeliablemmnsequenceofadeﬁn&bymebmmwer.

Clause 5 (Principal and Independent Obligation)

309. Clause 5 staris:
S, Principal and independent obligation
This Guarantee shall be:
(@ A principal obligation and shall not be treated as ancillary or collateral
to any other right or obligation;

310. The fact that the guarantee is not ancillary or collateral does not insulate against the
principles referred to above applying: that is to say, the making of the further advance
and the planning of the contemplated security are still conditions precedent to liability,

o A1 537

35 A1 540

HE AL 543
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The Indemnity Clause (Clause 12)
311.  Clause 12 starts:
“12.  Indemnity against avoidance of moneys hereby secured

If any of the Moneys Hereby Secured ... are or may be irrecoverable
from the Borrower and amy such Momeys are not recoverable from the
Guaranior by the Lender on the footing of a guaramtee, them and in
each case:

@) the Guaranior, as a separate and additional liability, indemmifies
the Lender ...;

312.  In the present case, the moneys secured are not irrecoverable from the borrower. It is
submitted that is not & case of the mongys lent being irrecoverable. So clause 12 does not

apply.

31 January 2013
R.G. Bain QC
LA. Erskine

[Counsel for the Plaintiffs in Procesding 4728/10 and the Defendant in Procseding 10543/10]
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Trlogy Funds Management Limited

Directors' report

The Directors of Trilogy Funds Management Limited (Responsible Entity) (Company), a wholly owned
subsidiary of Trilogy Capital Services Pty Limited (TCS) present thelr repart together with the financiat
repost for the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2012.

Corporate Information

The Company is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The registered office and principal place cf the

Company is:

Brisbane Club Tower
Level 10

241 Adelzide Street, Brisbane, Queensland

Directors

The names of the directors in office at any time during, or since the end of the financial year are:

Name and gualifications Age

Robert M Willcocks 64
independent Non-Exacutive
Chairman

BA LLB, LLM

Rodger | Bacon 66
Executive Deputy Chairman
BCom(Merit), AICD, SFFin

John C Barry 60
Executive Director
BA, ACA

Philip A Ryan 51
Executive Director and
Company Secretary

LL B, Grad Dip Leg Prac,

FTIA, FFIN

Experience and special responsibilities

Chairman of the Audit, Compliance and Risk Management
Commitice

Former pariner with the law firm now called King & Wood
Mallesons. _

Mr Willcocks has been a director (including Chairman) of a number
of isted public companies. He is cumrently a director of the following
listed public companies: ARC Exploration Limied, APAC Resources
Limited (Hong Kong listed) and Living Cell Technologies Limited.
Chaimmarn - Responsible Entity since 8 October 2009

Member of the Audit, Compliance and Risk Management
Commiitee

Former exacutive director of Challenger intemational Limited

Mr Bacon is a director of several public and privale companies
including, Financial Services Institute of Ausbalasia and Trilogy
Capital Services Pty Lid.

Direclor — Responsible Entily since 8 July 2004

Member of the Audit, Compliance’ and Risk Management
Committee

Former executive director of Chalienger Intemational Limited

Mr Barry is a director of several public ardl privale companies
including Trilegy Capital Services Ply Lt and Chairman of Westpac
RE Limited

Director — Responsible Entity since 9 July 2004

Mr Ryan is a solicitor and member of the Queensiand Law Socisty
Inc.

Member of the Compliance Commitice

Former pasiner of a Brisbane kaw firm

Mr Ryan is a director of several private companies including Trilogy
Capital Services Ply Lid

Direcior — Responsible Entity since 13 October 1997
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Directors' report
Directors {continued)
Rohan G Butcher 43 Member of the Lending Committee
Non-Executive Director Consultant to several mejor public and private companies providing
Grad Dip PM. BASc(QS), development management services
Registered Builder, Director — Responsible Entity since 29 July 2008
Licensed Real Estate Agent
Nigel A Chammier 61 Chaimman of the Audit, Compliance and Risk Management
independent Non-Executive Committee (resigned 14 May 2012)
Director Chairman of NAC Investrents (Qid) Pty Ltd and a Director of
OAM, RNO1ki, FAPI, several private companies
FAIDC Mr Chamier is the Honorary Consul for Sweden

Former Joint Managing Director (Qid) Jones Lang LaSalle
Director — Responsible Entity since 14 Oclober 2008 (resigned 14
May 2012)

Direclors have been in office since the start of the finemcial year to the date of this report unless
otherwise stated.

Principal activities
mcmmmmmrmwmmm.mmamwm
for the following registered man=ged ivestment scheme's (Scheme's):

Trilogy Monihly tncome Trust (TMIT);
Trilogy Wholesale First Mortgage income Trust (TWPMIT),
Pacific First Mortgage Fund (PH egly City Pacifi +
Trilogy Investor Choice Madilink Property Syndicate (Medilink);
Tritogy Investor Choice Melboume Campus Office Syndicate (Mefboume Campus);
Trilogy HealthCare RETT (Heaithcare REIT);

Cape Park Funds (Cape Funds); '

Trilogy Epping Commercial Office Property Trust (TECOFT);

Austgrowth Property Syndicate No 18 (APSPS);

Austgrowth Property Syndicate No 18 Unit Trust (APSUT);

Brisbane Property Syndicate (BNEPS) - (Property sold on 11 November 201 1M

Brishane Property Syndicate Unit Trust (BNEUT) - (Property sold on 11 November 2011);
Canberra Properly Syndicate (CANPS) - (Property sold on 12 Ociober 2012); and
Canbera Properly Syndicate Unit Trust (CANUT).

There has been no significant change in the nature of this activity dusing the year.

Review of operations

Financial sumrmary

The Company produced a net profit after tax of $10,588 for the year ended 30 June 2012 (2011: Profit
$56,686), after recording impairment losses of $99,022 (2011: $81,463). Total revenues reduced by
18.0% in comparison to the previous financial year, largely as a result of the decline in the gross asset
value of the PFMF.

During the year, the Company repaid $400,000 (2011: $500,000) against its subordinated loan faciliy,
resulting in a balance at year end of $1,750,000 (2011: $2,150,000). The tolal assets of the Company
amountad to $4,310,580 as at 30 June 2012 (2011: $5,210,789).
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited
Directors’ report

Dividends

No dividends were declared or paid during the year (2014: nil}, or since the end of the year.

Significant changes in state of affairs

In the opinion of the Director’s there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company
that oceurred during the financial year,

Events subsequent to the end of the reporting period

Proposal to replece LM Investment Management (LM) as Responsible Entity

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Company has issued a Notice of Meeting (NoM) and
Memorandum {EM) to unitholders in the LM Wholesale First Mortgage Income Fund (FMIF)

and the LM Cumrency Protected Australian Income Fund (CPAIF), following a meeting convered by

certain investors in those funds to occiss on 1 November 2012 to consider and pass resolutions to

replace LM with Trilogy Funds Management Limited as Responsible Entity for the FMIF and the CPAIF.

Appoiniment as Responsible Entily

A meeting was held on 4 June 2012 and resumed on 14 June 2012, to vote on a resoiution to remave
APGF Management Limited (APGF) as Responsile Entity of APS Number 21 and APS Number 24
(property syndicates), and replace them with Trilogy Funds Menegement Limited. Legal proceedings
were issued suhsequent o the unitholder meeting.

On 9 August 2012 Justice M. Wiison made a consent order that APGF be removed as Responsible
Entity, and Trilogy Funds Management Limited be appointed Responsible Enfity for the property
syndicates subject to the follawing terms and conditions fisted in the Commitiments Note 19,

On 13 August 2012 the Company was listed on the ASIC register as Responsible Enlity for both property
syndicates,

The books and records of the Scheme were transfemred to the New Responsible Entity on 17 August
2012,

Sale of investment propeities

Canberra Syndicale and the Unit Ti _

The investment property held by the Canberra Properly Syndicate was sold on 12 Octaber 2012. The
Responsible Entity will proceed to wind-up the Scheme.

The Trilogy Healthcare REIT (Crows Nest)

A contract of sale for the Crows Nest property owned by Trilogy Hestthcare REIT was signed on 22
October 2012, with seitfement scheduled for 30 days after the exchange of contracts. The Respansible
Entity will proceed to wind-up the Scheme foliowing the setflement of the property.

Other than the flems mentioned above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the
financial.year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature
likely, in the opinion of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Company, the resuls of
those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company, in future financial years.

Likely developments and expected results of operations
Further information about likely developments in the operations of the Company and the expected resuits
of those operations in future financial years has not been included in this report because disclosure of
the information would be likely to'result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company.

Environmental regulation

The operations of the Company are not subject to any particular or significant environmental regulation
under a law of the Commonwealth or of a State or Temitory. There have been no known significant
breaches of any other environmentat requirements applicable to the Company.
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited
Directors’ report

Options granted
No options over issued shares or interests in the Company were granted during or since the end of the
financial year and there were no options outstanding at the date of this repert.

Audit, Compliance
and Risk
Management:
Committee
Mectings of Directors’ Board Meelings Meetings
. A B A B
Robert M Willcocks () 1 5 6 4
Rodger | Bacon " 10 2 2
John C Barry " 10 6 5
Philip A Ryan 1" 1 - -
Trevor J D Gibson {resigned 1 August 2011) 2 2 - -
Rohan C Butcher 11 11 -
Nigel A Chamier (resigned 14 May 2012) 10 6 5 4

A=Numbemfnml§ngsheﬂdmhgﬂneﬁmeﬂ1ecﬁedmmsinoﬁceduﬁngmeperh¢
B = Number of meetings attended.
(*) Leave of absence granted.

indemnification of Directors and Officers

mﬁngmem.TCSpaHammmdﬂnmispthWﬂmme
w«mcmmmmmmemzmmﬂmwmmm
officers of the Company ({including agentsufﬁ:eCotmy)mtofhepmpeﬂyofﬂmCDﬂMminst
(a,mmmmmmmmmmmwmmmmma
uimkﬂpmeedhgshwtﬁduiﬁgeumrﬂbgivminﬂmtpason’sfamw.orinwhid'tmeperson
isanqxﬁiﬁd,urinﬂummechhnwiﬂzanappl@mmMaﬁmmwsMpmaeeﬁngsm
which the court arants relief to the person under the Corporations Act 2001 (Ach); and
(b) liability incurred by the person, as a director or officer of the Company or of a related body
corporate, to another person (other than the Company or a selated body corporate) uniess the
liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of goad faith.

No indemnities have been given or Insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the financial
year for the auditor of the Company.

Litigation and contingent liabilities

Litigation involving borrowers of the PFMF and other Scheme's

The Responsible Entity of the PFMF is party to [figation with borrowers {Kosho Pty Lid (Receiver &
Manager Appointed) and City Co Ply Lid (Receiver & Manager Appointed)) alleging it had breached the
finance facility agresment or, alternatively, the Trade Pracfices Act 1974 (Cth). The maximum awardable
amount for this contingent liabiiity is estimated to be $81 million. The Responsible Entity has filed a
defence denying liability in respect of this claim in June 2010.

The Responsible Entity's evidence in chief was filed and served on 10 September 2012, the frial
commenced on 24 September 2012 and was expected to run for 7 days. On 2 Qctober 2012 the matier
was adjourned to 26 November 2012 (for 3 days) by reason of the borowers’ request 1o tender
additional evidence {to which the Responsible Entity objected). The borrowers were ordered {0 pay the
Responsible Ertity's costs, fixed at $24,000, by reason of the adjournment.

The Company is also party to ather proceedings in its capacity as Responsible Entity, however Directors
are not aware of any material fiability likely to arise to the Company as a result of litigation matters,

4
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited
Directors' report

Litigation and contingent Habilities {continued)

Dispuia with borrower

The Company was awarded judgement for unpaid application fees due from a borrower during the year.
The borrower subsequently appealed the rufing to the Queensland Court of Appeal, which was
unsuccessful. The barrower has since sought leave fo appeal to the High Court of Australia for which a
decision is pending.

The Company has recently served a banknptcy notice on the borrower and hawve received legal advice
to the effect that i the baniquplcy action is successful, the borrawer will be preciuded from pursuing his
appeal. The Campany is unable to determine the likely amount of the recovery should it be successful in
its action.

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in
any proceedings to which the Company is a party under section 237 of the Act

Auditor’s independence declaration
The Auditor's independence dectaration is set out on page 6 and forms part of the Directars’ report for
the year ended 30 June 2012

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors of the Company.

Philip A Ryan Rodger | Bacon
Dated: 31 October 2012 Dated: 34 October 2012
Brisbane Brisbane
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Tel: +61 7 3237 5999 Level 18, 300 Queen 5t
Fax: +61 7 3221 9217 Brishane QLD 4000,
www,bdo. com.au GPO Box 457 Brisbane QLD 4001

Austraiia

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY P A GALLAGHER TO THE DIRECTORS OF TRILOGY FUNDS
MANAGEMENT LIMITED

As the lead auditor of Trilogy Funds Management Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012, | declare
that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

«  the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and
- any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

A Ga
Director
BDO Audit Pty Ltd

Brisbane, 31 October 2012

BDO Audit Py Lt ASH 33 134 022 BT0 is 3 momber of 3 national associtlon of independent entities which are atl members of 800 Australia Lid ABN 77 050
110 275, an sl Timited by g E00 Andle Pty Ltd 2nd 8O0 Awstralia Ltd are mevnbers of 800 Ionat Ltd, A UK Umited
by guarantec, and farm part of the intemattonal 300 natwork of independent member Fims, Liabllity mited by 3 schieme spproved under Professional
Standards Legislatia {other than for the acts or oamissions of financial services licenteas) in each Stale or Terricory athor than Tasmanla.
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Trilogy Funds Ménagement Limited
Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Revenue and other income

Revenue from borrowers

Revenue from managed investment schemes
Other revenue

Expenses

Accounting fees
Amortisation expense
Auditor's remuneration
Direcior’s fees

Expenses from managed investment schemes
Finance costs

impairment losses

+ Trade and other receivables
« invesiments

Legal fees

Managemeni fees

Other expenses

Profit far the year before tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive incoma
Total comprehensive income for the year

Note 201: 201;

4(a) 474,857 367,801
4(p) 4903592 6,218,462

4c) __166916 192450

5545405 6,778,715
(2865)  (4.379)
(1,834)

§ (12,985)  (25,060)
17 (100,326) (106,222

(785,305}  (828,953)
6  (243959) (318448

9(a) {72,698)  (81,463)
10 (26,324) -
(21,443)  (24.382)

15(a) (4,246,040) (5,319,039)
_(16,069) (12,173)

@B ) 67119
15,578 58,596

7 40 (1910

The Statement of comprehensive income is to be read [n conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial
statements.

7
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2012
Note 2012 201
$ $
Current assefs
Cash and cash equivalents 8 2689317 2,140,107
Trade and other receivables 9 _ 1211341 2245901
Total current assels 3,902,658 4,386,008
Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables 9 145,000 218254
Investments in joint ventures 10 - -
Deferred tax assets 7 606,537
Total non-curmrent assets 407,822 824,791
Total assets 4,310,580 5,210,799
Current liabifities :
Trade and other payables 11 1,665,581 1,735,163
Borrowings 12 - 100,000
Total current liabilities 1,665,581 1,836,163
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables " 149,000 149,000
Bomowings 12 1,744687 2,138.449
Deferred tax fiabilities 7 244,088 591,551
Total non-current liabilities 2,137,775 2,879,000
Total liabilities 4,714,163
Net assets 18(c) 507,224 496,636
Equity
Share capital 13 382,400 392,400
Retained eamings 114,824 104,236
Total equity 507,224 496,636

The Statement of inancial position is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the finarcial

statements.

8
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited
Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2012

2012 2011
Note $ $
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 6,394,131 4,848,125
Payments to suppliers - (5,325,383} (5,036,331)
- Interest received 122,822 156,682
Finance costs 240,360 315,881)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 14 951,210  (347,408)
Net cash provided by/{used in) Investing activities - -
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceads from borrowings - -
Repayment of bomowings {400,000) (500,000)
Net cash used in financing activities 400,080
Net incressef{decrease) in cash held 551,210 (847.405)
Cash at beginning of financial year 2,140,107 2,887,512
Cash at end of financial year ' 8 mg? 2,140!107

The Statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financiat
statements, .

10
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 30 June 2012
Note1  Reporting entity
Trilogy Funds Management Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Trilogy Capital Services Pty Limited
(TCS) is a public company limited by shares, incorporated in Brisbane on 13 October 1997, and
domiciled in Australia. The financial report is for the year ended 30 June 2012, ‘

The Company holds an Ausiralian Financial Services Licence (AFSL), and is the Responsible Entity
and Manager for a number of managed investment scheme's (MIS).

The registered office of the Company is located at Brishane Club Tower, Leve! 10, 241 Adelaide
Street, Brisbane, Queensland, 4060.

Note 2  Basis of preparation
{a} Statement of comphiance

The financial statements are a general pupose financial report which .has been prepared in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards including Austraiian Accounting Interpretations and
the Comporations Act 2001 (Act). The financial statements cover Trilogy Funds Management Limited
5 an individual enfity. The financial statements of the Scheme conplies with Internaional Financiat
Reporting Standards and interpretations in their entirety.
Mﬁmmmmmmmammmmbmdmmm
modified where applicable, by the measurement at fair value for investment properties, financial
assets and financia] kabififes

This financial repoit has been prepared for a for-profit entily.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of Triogy Funds Management
Limited an 31 October 2012

{b) Interests in joint ventures
Ainﬁﬂvaﬂmhammmmmﬂmwﬁammmmnm
activity that is subject to joint control. The financial statements of the joint venture are prepared for
masamempomngpeﬁodasmemmpany.uﬁngmmmwdes.Ad]uSMmBam
made to bring into fine any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist in the undeslying records of
the joint ventura,

{¢) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Austrafian doflars, which is the Company’s functional
currency.

(d} Key assdmpﬁons and sources of estimation

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recqgnised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods
affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in
applying accounting policies that have most significant effect on the amounts recognised are
disclosed in: ‘

« Note®: Impairment losses (Trade and other receivables);
« Note 10: Investments In joint ventures (impainment losses);

11
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note2  Basis of preparation

{e) Key assumptions and sources of estimation
+ Note 13: Cumulative redeemable preference shares;
» Note 15(a): Financial risk management (credit risk).

Note 3  Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presenied in these
financial staterments, unless otherwise stated. The Scheme has not early adopted any accounting
standard.

{a) Financial instruments

(i) Classification

Investments and financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial instruments: Recognition and
.Measurement are categorised as either financial assets at fair value through profit or toss, loans and
receivables, held-to-maturily investments, or available-for-sale financial assets. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired or originated. Designation is re-
evaluated at each reporiing date, but there are restrictions on reclassiying to other categories.

{i} Recognition
The Scheme recognises financial assets and financial abifilies on the date it becomes a parly to the

contractual provisions of the instrument.
arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets or financial liahiliies are recorded.

{iH) Measturement

Financial instruments are measured initiafly at fair value plus transaction costs except where the
instrument is classed at fair value through profit or loss in which the transaction costs are expensed
immediately. Transaction costs on financial assets and financial fiabilifics are amortisad over the fife
of the asset or isbility using the effective interest method.

Subsequent to initial recognition, all instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value with changes in their fair value recognised in the profit or loss.

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Such asseis are recognised initially at fair value plus any directiy atiributable
fransaction costs. Financial assets classified as loans and receivables subsequentiy are camied at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate methed, less impairment losses, if any.

Financial Fabilities, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are measured at amorfised
cost using the effeclive interest rate.

(iv) Impairments

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or less, are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporling period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when
there is abjective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred afier the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated futire cash flows of the investment have been
affected.

An impairment loss in respect of a receivable camed at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent
increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively fo an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised.

12
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 3.  Significant accounting policies (continued)
{a) Financial instruments {continued)

(v} Derecognition
meMderewgnmsaﬁnancialassetwhenﬂwntractualrighlstomemshﬂowsfmmﬂ\e

ﬁnancia!assetamﬁemnhansmmeﬁnmdalassetandmetansbrquaﬁﬁeshrdemgnmm in

aucardance with AASB 139,

The Scheme uses the weighted average method fo determine reafised gains and losses on
derecognition of financial assets.

A financial Eabillly is derecognised when the obligation specified in the coniract is dischasged,
cancelled or expires. '

{vi) Specific instruments

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises curent deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short-tenm highly liquid
mmmﬂmwmmmmmmmammmwmmmmm
dchmsinﬁm.ﬂmmmwmdmwmﬁshmmm
than for investment or other purposes.

(3) Revenue recognition
Mbmummmmnsmemmmmmmmme
Cmmnymﬂﬂemmmmmre&bwm.mmgmmnmm
also be met before revenue is recognised:

Revenue from bormowers

Administration and performance

The Company derives a fee from borrowers for managing the lending operations of the morigage
hves_imeutsﬂmuas. ﬂ:efeeisremgﬁadmmuewlmﬂwcmnpawhasarightbmheme
revenue.

Application, setliement and exil fees

The Company is entitied to a fee from borrowers on the approved value of loans. The fee is
recognised as revenue on the date the loan has seftied.

Revenue from MIS

Trust establishment fees ‘

The Company is enfitled fo an establishment fee on the date of acquisition of a property for a
syndicate. The fee is recognised as revenue on the date of acquisition.

Equily peneration fees

The Company is entitied to an equity generation fee for raising investor funds to reduce the debton a
property syndicate. The fee is recognised as revenue on a propoitional basis to the amount of funds
raised.

Selling and performance fees
The Company may be entitled to a fee from the sale of a propesty syndicate where the net proceeds
from sale exceed a particular benchmark. The fee is recognised as revenue when the Company has

a right to receive it.

13
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note3  Significant accounting policies (continued)
(@} Revenue recognition {continued)

 Cost recovery fees
The Company levies a fee on the Pacific First Mortgage Fund (formerly City Pacific First Morigage
Fund) (PFMF) for the provision of cusfodian and investor regisiry semvices. This fee is determined by
applying 12 basis points {bps) p.a. (plus GST, less reduced input tax credits (RITC)) to the gross
asset value of the Scheme.

Inferest revenue

inferest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method. All revenue is stated net of the
amount of goods and services tm: {GST).

Other

The Company incurs direct expenses on behalf of the MIS which it seeks recovery from the Scheme
atcost. Cost recovery fees are recognised as revenue when the Company has a right to receive it

{b) Expenses
All expenses, including management fees, are recognised in the profit or loss oa an accruals basis.
{c) Taxation
Income tax

_ The income tax expense for the year is the tax payable on the current period's taxable income based
on the nafional income tax rate for each jusisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and
fiabifities atiributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and fiahiliies and their
carying amounts in the financizt statements, and o umesed tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected
to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities are setiled, based on those tax rates which are
enacted or substantially enacted for each jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are appiied to the
cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences arising from the initiad
recognition of an asset or a liabiity. No deferred tax asset or fiabiiity is recognised in relafion to these
temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, ather than a business combination, that at the
time of the fransaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss,

Deferred tax assels are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if
it is probable that future taxahle amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred tax assets and (iablities are offset when there Is a legally enforceable right to offset curment
tax assets and Fahiiities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entily has a legally enforceable right to offset
and intends either fo seitfe on a net basis, or to realise the asset and setile the abilty
simultaneously. Current and deferred tax balances atiributable to amounts recognised directly in
equity are also recognised directly in equity.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, axcept where the amaount
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense,
Recelvables and payables in the statement of comprehensive income are shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST
component of tnvesting and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

14
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(d) interest bearing loans and liabilities
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received fess

directly atiibutable transaction costs.

Afer initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective inferest method. Fees paid on the estabfishment of loan faciities
that are yield related are included as part of the camying amount of the loans and borrowings.

Borrowings are classified as current fabifiies unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liabllity for atleast 12 months after the reporting date.
{e) Borrowlngs costs

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair vaiue, net of transactions costs incurred. Borrowings are
mumymammmmmmmmm. Under this

memmmmeaqmmaﬂmﬁmdmm
mwmammwdmemmhmmmmwmmwwm
ﬂ:emofﬁmeassas.wﬁ!md\ﬁmeamemasaeamﬁymdyfmmwm
Aﬂoﬂaerﬁnamemsisaremmgnisadh&epmﬁwlosshﬂspahdhmmymimm

(f) Trade and other recelvables

mmmwdmmammmamﬁmmem _

dehis. Meﬁmmrmmsmmmammﬁsmmm.
Bad debis are witten off when identified.
Amounts are generally received within 30 days of being recorded as receivables.

{g} impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses whether there is any indication that an
asset maybe impaired. The assessment will include considering external and intemnal sources of
information. 1f such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing
the recoverable amount of the asset to its camrying value. Any excess of the assef's canying value
over its recoverable amount is expensed to the profit or loss.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit fo which the asset belongs.

(h) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporiing period for
goods and services received by the Group during the reporting period, which remains unpaid. The
palance is recognised as a cument liabilty with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of
recognition of the fiability.

(i} Share capital

Share capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Company. Any
transaction costs asising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a
reduction of the share proceeds received.

15
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note3  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i} Comparative figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to
changes in presentation for the current year.

(k) New and amended standards and interpretations

A number of new standards, amendments and intespretations are eflective for annual periads
beginning after 1 July 2011, end have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.
None of these is expecied o have a significant effect on the financial statements, except for the
(i AASB 9 Financial Instruments {effective from 1 January 2075)

AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and de-recognition of
financial assets and finsncial liabilities. It simplifies the approach for classification and measurement
of financizl assets compared with the requirements of AASB 139. Financial assets are to be
classified based on (a) the cbjective of the entity's business model for managing the financial assets;
and (b) the characteristics of the contraciusl cash fiows. This replaces the numerous categories of
financial assets in AASB 139. The Responsible Entily does not plan to adopt this standard eardy and
the extent of the impact has not been delermined.

Note4  Revenue and other income Note 2012 2011
$ $
(a} Revenue from borrowers
Adniinistration and performance fizes 202,399 153291
Apphication and settiement fees ‘ 272458 214,510
Total revenue from bomowers 15(a) 474,897 367,801
{b) Revenue from MIS
Expense recoverics - 481,719 458,113
Selling and pesfomance fees 884,243 -
Management fees 3562160 5802270
Management fees waivadirebated {24,530} {51,921)
Tetal ravenue from MIS 15(a) 4903552 6218462
{c) Other revenues
interest revenue 123,362 165,718
Other revenue 43,564 26,734
Tota! ather revenues 166,916 192,452
Tots! revenue and other income 5545406 6,778,715

Note§5 Auditor's remuneration

Durirg the year the following fees were paid or payable for services
provided by the audiior of the Company:

- audit and review of the financial reporis of the Company (i) {8,715) (21,060)
- other assurance services in relation fo the Company (i)
* ¢ompliance plan audit 2,500/ 2,500
11,215, {23,
- ofher services (i)
* taxafion services {1,780) (1,500
1,750) {1.,500)
12,965 25,060

() The Responsible Entity engaged BDO Audit Pty Ltd as the Company's auditor, Total
remuneration paid and or payable o BDO Audit Pty Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2012 totalled
$11,215 (2011: $23,550), which includes an over-accrual of $11,310 from previous financial years.
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 5  Auditor's remuneration (continued)

(i) Taxation services have been undertaken by BDO Ply Lid, a related practice of BDO Audit Pty Ltd.

Note &  Finance costs ' Note 2012 2011
’ $ $
Amortised borrowing costs 12(in) {2,567} (2,567)
Interest expense 120 _ (a41,392) (315.881
243,959) (318,448
Note 7  Income tax expense
The major components of income tax expense are:
income tax expense camprises:
Curvent tax (4838) 124004
Deferred tax {(162) (141,835)
Under provision in respect of prior years - 16,831
Income tax expense g4.ss|=m1 g K] 02
The aggregate amount of income tax expense athributable to the financial
year differs from the amount calculated on the net operating profit. The
diffierences are reconciled as follows:
Accounting profit before tax from continuing operations 15,578 58,596
Income tax expense calculated @ 30% (2011: 30%) 4673y (17.,579)
Less: Tax effect of;
» Permanent differences {317) {162)
* Net overfunder provision from prior year - 15,831
Aggregate income tax expense (4,350 (1910)
Charged
Opening Chargedto  directyto  Exchange Closing
2012 balance income equily differences balance
Defesred tax assets $ $ $ $ $
Current year tax loss 124,084  (124,084) - - -
Carried forward tax losses from
prior years ‘ 26670  (26,670) - - -
Trade and other payables 455,773 (196,851) - - 258,922
606,537 (347,815) - - 258,922
2012
Deferred tax liabilities
Trade and other receivables 591,551  (347.463) - - 244,088
591,661 (347.463) - - 244,088
Net deferred tax 14986  (152) - - 14,834
2011 )
Deferred tax assets
Current year tax loss - 124,094 - - 124,084
Carrled forward tax losses from
prior years 26,670 - - - 26,670
Trade and other payables 47,343 408 430 - - 455,773
74,013 532,524 - - 606,537
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes fo the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note7  Income tax expense (continued)

Charged

Opening Chargedto  directiyto Exchange Closing
2011 balance income equitly differences balance
Deferred tax liabifities 5 $ $ $ 3
Trade and other receivables 57,117 534434 - « 591,551
57,117 634,434 - - §91,551
Net defesred tax 16,896 {1.910) - - 14,986
Note8  Cash and cash equivalents 2012 2011
$ $

Cash at bank and in hand - 966,367 115,097
Short-term bank deposits : 4,725010 2025010

691,397 2,140,107
The effective interest rate on shori-term bank deposiis was 5.70% p.a. (2011: 624% p.a) these
deposits have an average maturity of 183 days (2011: 142 days).
Note®  Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables 43,355 11,536
Other receivable 57128 84,340
Prepaid expenses §,500 -
Interest receivable 36,237 35,707
Related party loan - MIS 15(a) 25 123,818
Related parly receivable - MiS 15{a) 1,055,522 1973917
Related parly receivable - Triogy Capital Services Ply Lid
(TCS) 15(a) 149000 218254
Related party receivable - Cyre Trilogy Investment '
Management Ply Lid (CTIM) 15(a) 14,460 16,583
1,361,228 2,464,155
Impairment losses -
1,360,341 2464,155
Represaented by:
Current 1,211,341 2,245,901
Non-current ‘449,000 218,254

1!350,341 gamss
{a} Provision for impairment of receivables

At 30 June 2012, as part of the annua! balance date review procedures the Company recorded
impairment losses in respect of its trade receivebles of $72,698 (2011: $81,463) for the year. During
the year the Directors wrote off $71,811 as a bad debt (2011: $100,880).

Mevement in the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows:
Opening Charge for  Amounis Closing
balance theyear  writien off balance

2042 . $ $ $ $
" Trade receivables - 72,698 1.811 B87
) - 72,698 111 !811! 887 .
2011
Trade receivables 19,436 B1,463 100,899 -

19,436 81,463  (100,839) =

138
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 9  Trade and other receivables (continued)

(a) Provision for impairment of receivables (continued)

The Company considers that, based on evidence available as at 30 June 2012, the bafance of nat
impaired trade debtors will be recovered in full and accordingly no further impairment losses have:
been recorded.

(b} Past due but notimpaired receivables

The Company has a significant concentration of credit risk with respect to a single counterparty other
than those receivables specifically provided for and mentioned within Note 8. The main source of
ued'ﬂﬁsk&ﬁeCnmpanyismnsidemdbrelatehﬁedmofamtsdewibﬁasRehteﬂparty
receivabie - MIS.

MMMGMMWWSMWMWWNWEMWN
collateral and other credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impaimment provided for thereon.
Amounts are considered as ‘past due’ when the debt has not been settied within the tesms and
conditions agreed between the Company and the customer or cownterparty fo the transaction,
Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debitors
Mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmwmmmmw
repzid to the company.

The balances of receivabies that remain within Initial trade terms (as detailed in the table) are
considered to be of high credit quality.

Past due Past due but not impaired {days overiue)

Gross and r

Amount  impaired lessthan30  31t060 61090 than 80
2012 $ 3 $ 3 $ $
Trade receivables 43,355 - 20,181 14,708 4,645 3,821
Related party
receivable - MIS 1,055,522 - 623927 210,035 205824
Related party loan -
MIS 25 - 25 - - -
Related party
receivable - TCS 149,000 - - - © - 145,000
Related party
receivable - CTiM 14,460 - 14,460 - - -
Total 1,262,362 - 658,593 224743 210469 152821
2011 ,
Trade receivables 11,538 - 11,186 - - 350
Related party
receivable - MIS 1,973,917 - 519208 924,961 517,638 12,024
Related parly loan - : _
MIS 123,818 - 123818 - - -
Related party
receivable - TCS 218,254 - - 19,254 - 189,000
Related party
receivable - CTiM 16,583 - 16,583 - - -
Total 2344108 - 670,883 944215 517636 211374

The Company does not hold any financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated, but which
would otherwise be past due or impaired.

{c) Collateral pledged
No collateral is held over trade and ofher receivables.

18
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes {o the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 10 Investinents in joint ventures 2012 201
$ $

CTIM 26,324 -

Impairment losses (26,324) ~

' = —
The Company entered into a joint venture agreement with Cyre Funds Management Limited (CYRE)
to form Cyre Trilogy Investment Management Pty Lid, a property and invesiment management entity.
Under the Heads of Agrezment goveming the operation, Trilogy Funds Management Ltd holds a 50%
interest in CTIM. The resulis of operations from CTIM are not material, hence no disciosure has been
made in this financial report.

{a) Provision for impairment of investments

At 30 June 2012, as part of the annual balance date review procedures the Company recorded
impairment losses in respact of its investment in CTIM of $26,324 (2011: Not applicable) for the year.
Movement in the provision for impainment of investments is as follows:

Opening Chargefor  Amounis Closing
batence theyear  written off balance

2012 $ $ $ $
Investments - 26324 - 234
- 26,324 - 26,324
2011
Investments - C - - -
W
Note 41  Trade and other payables Note 2012 2011
$ $
Audit and tax fees 20,325 26410
GST payable 157,133 92,655
Income tax payable 4,839 -
Related parly payable - Rojacan Pty Lid 15(a) 149,000 149,000
Related party payable - MIS 15(a) 68,297 -
Related parly payable - BTIM 15(a) 768,163 1,410,142
Related party payable - CTIM 15(a) 213,964 16,583
Related party payable - TCS 15(a) 287,556 6,849
Trade payables 145,304 182,524
1,814,681 1,884,163
Represented by:
Current 1,665,881 1,735,163

Non-current 149,000 148,000
. 1,814,581 1,884,163

Note12 Bormrowings

Loan - Popandnic Ply Ltd (BESF) - 100,000

Loan - Bacon Management Services Ply Limited (BMS) 1,744,687 2,138,449
1!744,687 2,238,449

Represented by:

Current - 100,000

Non-current 4,744,687 2,138449
1,744,687 2,238 440
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Note 12 Borrowings {continued)
The details of borrowings as at 30 June 2012 are set out below:
' Maturity Facility 30 Utilised 30 Facifly 30 Utifised 30

Facility Secured date  Jun2012 Jun2012  Jun2011  Jun2011
Loan BESF () Yes 30/06/2012 - - 200,000 100,000
Loan BMS (i} Yes 28/07/2019 3,150,000 1,750,000 3,150,000 2,150,000
Total facflities 3,150,000 1,750,000 3,350,000 2,250,000
Less unamortised transachion

costs (i) (6,313) (11,551)
Total M i gso,nno 15144.887 3,350,000 2.2385449

() The Company entered inio a loan agreement with Bacon Management Services Pty Limited ATF
the Bacon Family Trust {an entity associated with an Executive Director of the Company) on 24 July
2009. The purpose of the loan was to provide funding in support of the Company's AFSL
requirements (as at 30 June 2012 the amount of the foan which has been subordinated with ASIC
totals $1,750,000 (2011: $2,250,000)). The interest male charged on the faciily is the business
averdraft rate issued by Westpac Banking Corporafien Limited (Westpac) plus 2.00% p.a. margin o
be reset quartedly.

Inisrest 2012 2011
Variable 10.71% 11.81%

The loan was writien on normal commercial terms and conditions. The Company repaid $400,000
against the facility during the year (2011: $500,000).
mmwmanymHBdMaluEnagmmumﬂlﬁcWLHATFmrﬂemm
smemFM(anmanmmmM¢mmmm)mMJm
2011 to fund the costs associated with the Epping Commercial Office Income Trust (EPCOIT). The
Company ulfimately resolved not to proceed with the properly acquisition and the loan was
subsequently repaid. )

(ili) Deferred bomrowing costs comprise all costs in relation to he establishment, arangement and
documentation of the debt facility. Such costs are recognised as part of the amortised cost of the
borrowing using the effective interest method.

Note 13 Issued capital 2012 2011
$ $

{a2) Share capital

Ordinary shares

100,400 (2011: 100,400) fully paid ordinary shares 100,400 100,400
‘ 100,400 100,400

A dlass chares

27,000 (2011: 27,000) fully paid A class shares 27,000 27,000

27,000 27,000
Cumulative redeemable preference shares

265,000 (2011: 265,000) fully paid cumulative redeemable preference
shares 265,000 265,000

265,000 265,000
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Nofe 13 Issued capital (continued) 2012 2011
(b) Movement in share capital Number Number
Balance at 1 July - 392,400 392,400
New shares Issued - -
Shares redeemed - -
Balance at 30 June , 392,400 392400

{c) Terms and conditions

The ordinary shares, A class shares and cumulative redesmable preference shares entitie the holder
to receive notice of mestings and to cast one vote for each share held. Afl shares cany the right to
receive dividends when declared at the discretion of the Directors, however the amount deciared on
the shares of any such class may be at a higher or lower rate than or at the same rate as the dividend
declared on the shares of the other classes provided that the shares in each class are treated
equally. Upon a reduction of capital or winding up of the company, each share class ranks equally
with other shares in the czpital of the Company.

Note 14 Reconciliation of cash flow from oparations with

profit for the year 2012 2011
$ $

Profit for the year 10,588 56,686
Adjustments for: ’
Amertised borrowing costs 2.567 2557
Impairment - loans and other receivables 72,698 81,463
Change in operating assals and Fabiiities:
(Increzse)/decrease in trade and other receivables 1,163,813 (1,722,850)
(increase)/decrease in deferred taxes 47615  (532,524)
Increasef/{decrease) in trade and other payables (69,582) 1,232,819
Increase/{decrease) in deferred tax lizbifilies {347,463) 534434
Adjustmerts for balance sheet.
{increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (172,897) -
Increase/{decrease) in trade and other payables 3,671 -
Net cash provided by operating activities 951,210 !347&

Note 15 Related parly transactions
{a) Transactions with related parties

Transactions between related parties are on normal commeréial terms and conditions no more
favourable than those avaltable to other parties unless otherwise siated.

The following transactions occurred with related pariies:

2012 2011

Transactions recorded in the Statement of
comprehensive income Note $ $
Revenue from borrowers 4(a) 474,897 367,801
Revenue from managed investment scheme's (refer Table
15.1) 4(b) 4,903,582 6,218,462

5,378,489 6,586,263
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Note 15 Related party transactions (continued) Note 2012 2011
(a) Transactions with related parties (continued) . B s
Transactions recorded in the Statement of
comprehensive income
Management fees expense
Management fees - TCS () (1,269,663) (1,032,873)
Management fees - Baimain Trilogy Investment Managernent Ply Limited
(BTIM) (i) , : (2,170,278) (4.285,166)
Management fees - (CTiM) (i) (808,199) -

' (4,246,040) (5,319,038
Finance costs (iv} (241,391} (315881)
Director's fees ' ___{100,325)  {106,222)

{341,716) _ {422,103)

'Esmss! (6.741,142)

Transactions recorded in the Statement of financial position

Assels

Related party loan - MIS (refer table 15.1) 25 123818
Related party receivable - MIS (refer table 15.1) 1,05552 1973917
Related parly recelvable - TCS 149,000 218254
Related party receivable - CTIM 14,460 18,583
Total assets 4,219,007 2,332,572
Lishilies ,

Related party payable - BTIM (768,163) (1.410,142)
Related party payable - CTIM (213,968)  (16,583)
Related parly payable - MIS (refer table 15.1) {68,297} -
Related parly payable - Rojacan Pty Limited (149,000)  (149,000)
Related party payable - TCS (287,556) (6.849)
Borrowings {1.744,687] 44
Total liabilifies (3,231,666) (3,821,023)
Net assets { 2,012,659; (1 .488.451!

() Represents charges by TCS to the Company for the provision of management, client service,
accounting, administration and compliance services; :
() Upon the Company’s appointment as Responsible Entity for the PEMF, it entered into an
agreement with BTIM to provide asset management services to the Company on behalf of the
Scheme. BTIM is a joint venture enterprise between TCS and Balmain Corporation;

(i) Upon the Company's appointment as Responsible Entify for the Austgrowth funds, it entered into
an agreement with CYRE to provide asset management services to the Company on behaif of the
Scheme. CYRE Trilogy is a joint venture enterprise between TFM and CYRE; and

(iv) Represents interest charged on the loan from BMS to the Company.

2

269



Page 30 of 39 Docld: 028349193 ACN :080 383 679

Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 15 Related party transactions (continued)
{a) Transactions with related parties (continued)

2012 2011
Related Related Related Related
Revenue party paty Revenus party parly
Table 15.1 from MIS receivable () payable  from MIS mivable(is) payable
$ $ $ $ $
™IT 73682 15,457 68,207 70177 8,145 -
TWFMIT (119) - - . - -
PFMF 3,662,027 661,242 - 5992703 1,936,130 -
Medifink 51,941 4,792 - 52,254 4,803 -
Melboume Campus 74,420 6,966 - 86,467 7,978 -
Cape Funds 874 1,238 - 277 rif -
TECOPT - - - - 123,818 -
APSPS 52,500 4,813 - 4315 4375 -
BNEPS 556,979 - - §542 5,542 -
CANPS 431 361,039 - 667 667 -
Tritogy Immmmmwlmesm (Mediink);
Tritogy investor Cheice Melboume Campus Office Syndicate (Melboume Campus);
Cape Park Funds (Cape Funds);
Trilogy Epping Commercial Office Property Trust (TECOPT);
Austgrewth Propeity Syndicate No 18 (APSPS);
Brisbane Property Syndicate (BNEPS), and
Canberra Property Syndicate (CANPS).
{c} Related party investments held by the Company
The Campany has no investment in the MiS's it act's as Responsible Entity for.
Note 16 Dividends
212 201M
No dividends were paid nor declared during the year, or the prior year, $ $

The balance of the franking account at year end, adjusted for franking
credits from payment of provision for income tax and dividends
recognised as receivables, franking debits arising from payment of
proposed dividends and franking credits that may be prevented from

distribution in subsequent financial years.
Note 17 Key personnel

52,211 52,211

Fees paid to Directors for attendance at Board meetings dusing the year are as follows:

Post employment benefits {4,122) (4,635)
Short term benefits (96,203)  {101,587)
Total !1005325! 5106.222!
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Note 18 Financial risk management

Overview

The Company's assets principally consist of investments in short term deposits with financial

Specific financlal risk exposures and management

The main risks the Company is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, fquidity
risk, and markel risk relating to interest rate risk.

ThenahmaMataﬁdﬂwﬁnmdalMummmwedbyﬂBCommwammscumdbelow.
Thmtepmentsiummﬁonabommcompany'sweheachofmeabweﬁsks.ﬂ\e
Company's objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk.
TheBomdofDMIsufme(:onmanyhasovemﬂresponshili!yformeestabﬁshmerdandwersight
of the Company's risk management framework. '

TheBoaMisrespo@bfwdevdophgmdmuﬂoﬁmﬂaComﬁsﬁskmnagmNﬂdas,
including those related to MIS. TheRespnmibleEnﬁy’sﬁsknmagaimmﬁdaareembﬁshedto
mmmmmmwuw.mammm&mm&mw
manitor risks and adherence to imits. Risl:nanaganaupoidsmﬂsystmsmmwmgtdaﬂy
fo reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s activilies. :

mmﬁcmmmmmmmmmmmmmm
mhmmaganatmoﬁbmwnﬁmmmwsmmmm
mmmmamdmmmmmmmmmm
faced by the Company.

(a) Credit risk
&eﬁtﬁskbﬂnﬁkﬁﬂammmmmaﬁnaﬁdmmfﬂhiwwgemobﬁgaﬁmm
commitment that i has entered into with the Company and cause @ loss. The Company manages the
exposure to credit risk on an ongoing basis.

The canrying amount of the Company's financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure,
The Company's maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is as follows:

2012 2011
Note $ $

Financial assets .
Trade and other receivables ] 1,360,341 2464155
Total financial assets 1,360,341 2,464,155

All cash held by the Company is invested with approved deposit institutions (ADT's).

The Company has a single credit risk exposura in relation to the management fees receivables from
the PFMF (a schemne for which it acts as Responsible Entity) totalling $661,242 (2011: $1,936,131),
equaling to 48.61% {2011: 78.57%) of total trade and other receivables.

This risk is minimised by regularly reviewing the Company's trade and other receivables. Refer naote
9 for information regarding ageing of trade receivables, and impairments recorded during the peried.

(b} Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Company might encounter difficulty in seiting ils
debts or otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabiliies. The Company manages this
risk through the following mechanisms:

o preparing forward-looking cash flow analysis in relation to its operational, investing and financing
activities;
* monitoring undrawn credit facilities;
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Note 18  Financial risk management (continued)

(b} Liquidity risk {continued)

maintaining a reputable credit profile;

managing credit rigk related to financial assets;

only investing surplus cash with major financial insfitutions; and

comparing the maturity profile of financial lishifiies with the realisation profile of financial assets.

The timing of cash flows presented in the table below to settle financia} fabilities reflect the eafiest
contractual setement dates and do not reflect management's expectations that banking facilifies will
be rolled forward,

The tables below reflect an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities.

Contractual Lessthan 1 Greater than
202 cash flows month 1-3 months 3-12 months 12 months
Financial liabflities $ [ 8 $ $
Borrowings 1,744 687 - 400,000 1,344,687
Tiade and other payables 1,814,581 1613856 31,035 20,690 149,000
Total contractual culflows 3,559 1,613,856 431,035 20,650 1!493!657
2011
Financial liabilities
Bormowings 2,238,449 - 100,000 - 2,138,449
Trade and other 1,884,163 38130 1 803 149,

4122 812 38,130 1 B03 449

Inferest on borrowings have ot been inchuded as they have been paid to the end of the respective
fmancial year. -

{c) Capital management
Management controls the capital of the Company in order to maintain & good debt to equity ratio,
provide the shareholders with adequate returns and to ensure that it can fund its operstions and
continue as a going concem.
The Company's capital management cbjectives aim to:

* ensure that the Company complies with its AFSL requirements;

* ensure sufficient capital resources to support the Company’s operalional requirements;

* continue to support the Company's credit worthiness; and

* safeguard the Company's ability fo continue as a going concern.
Management effectively manages the Company's capital by assessing its financial risks and adjusting
its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses
include the management of debt lsvel, distribufions to shareholders and share issues.
There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the
group since the prior year.

The Company monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. The ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by adjusted assels. Net debt is calculated as fotal borowings less cash and cash
equivalents. Adjusied assets are calculated as total assets less cash and cash equivalents. The
gearing rafios as at 30 June 2012 and as at 30 June 2011 were as follows:

272



J—

Page 33 of 39 Docld; 028349193 ACN :080 383 679

Trilogy Funds Management Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note18 Financial sisk management (continued)

(c) Capital management {continued) Notes 2012 2011
$ $
Total borrowings 12 1,744,687 2238449
Less; Cash and cash equivalents 8 (2,691,317) (2,140,107)
Net debt _ (946,630) 98,342
Total assels 4,310,580 5,210,798
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 8 {2,691,317) (2,140,107)
Adjusted 1,619,263 3070692
Gearing ratio {58.5%) (3.2%)

Thecompany’sgearingraﬁoiswwduetocashandcashequha!entsheiminexoassoftotal
borrowings.

AFSL adjusted net tangible asset requirement
ItkamqnitementoftheCompmy‘sAFSLthatithddaﬁustednettangihlemsets(l\ITA}(referlable

belnw)dn.m.dmmdmmmmﬁrdlwsmmnadsas
Responsible Entity. The amount of this mquirammtasat&ﬂ.lmﬂZWﬁiﬁ.MB,?ZZ (2011:

$2.276,624).

Notes 2012 2011
Adjusted ref assels $ $
Net assets from the Statement of financial position 507,224 | 496636
Adustments: '
Subordinated loan - BMS 120} 1,750,000 2,150,000
Other adjustments , {1.,748)  (72509)
Deferred tax assels (258,922) (606,537)
Deferred tax liabilites 244088 591,551
Total adjusted net assets 2,240,644 2,569,041

The Company has maintained sufficiant NTA in satisfaction of its AFSL for the year ended 30 June
2012.

(d) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, will affect the Company's
income or the value of its holdings of financiat instruments. Market risk embodies the potential for
both loss and gains, The objective of market risk management is to manage and confrol market risk
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

i. Interest rate risk

The majority of the Company's financial liabilties are interest bearing loans which are subject to
variable interest rates. The following table summaries the balances at risk:

2012 2011

$

Loan BESF - 100,000
Loan BMS 1,760,000 2,150,000

1,760,000 2,250,000
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Note 18  Financial risk management {(continued)

(d) Market risk (continued)
i. Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table provides a sensitivity analysis of a 3.00% p.a. increase/decrease in the interest
rate for the above balances at risk at the end of the financial year.

As at 30 June 2012 Profit$ Equity$
+ 3% in interest rates 6,273 513497
- 3% in interest rates 14,203 822 127
As at 30 June 2011

+ 3% in intevest rates 51,138  547.774
- 3% n interest rates 62,234 558,870

il Other market risk
ﬂmOompanyndemosedhoﬂternmteﬁalmketr‘skonﬁsmmmm
(e) Estimation of fair value

Tha camying values approximate the value of the Schems's financial assets and Habilities.

Note 19 Commitments

m&mnemmdmdmkacmummsmszhMmaHdAPGF
mmmvmmmmmwmmmmmufMom
an 4 June 2012) that the following costs be paid on the terms stipulated below:

. msm(mmmwmwmmmssmmmnsmw
Bﬂy)duemdpayabbbyaMlShAPGFMamgarmmmmmeregkhaﬁmdm
Company as Responsible Entity (refer Notz 21). It is a condition of the Court Order that no
interest be charged provided the Company ensure the payment is made on or before 3t
December 2012;

» $17,474 (representing unpaid management fees to a former Responsible Entity) is due and
payable on demand by the MIS to APGF Administration Pty Lid;

* $12,913 (representing unpeid property management fees) is due and payable on demand by an
MIS o APGF Invesiment Management Pty Ltd; and

* $150,000 (representing a portion of the performance fees payable on sale of the property) is due
and payable by an MIS to APGF Investment Management Pty Ltd.

in the event the MIS is unable to pay the amounts stated above by the due date, the Company will be
liable for these debts.

Note 20 Litigation and contingent liabilities

Litigation involving borrowers of the PFMF :

The Responsible Entity of the PFMF ie party to litigation with borrowers (Kosho Ply Ltd {(Receiver &
Manager Appointed) and City Co Piy Lid (Receiver & Manager Appointed)) alleging it had breached
the finance facility agreement or, alternatively, the Trade Practices Act 1974 (Cth). The maximum
awardable amount for this contingent liability is estimated to be $81 million. The Responsible Eniity
has filed a defence denying liability in respect of this claim in June 2010,

The Responsible Entiiy's evidence in chief was filed and served on 10 September 2012, the trial
commenced on 24 September 2012 and was expected to run for 7 days. On 2 October 2012 the
matter was adjourned o 26 November 2012 (for 3 days) by reason of the borrowers’ request to
tender additional evidence (to which the Responsibie Entity objected). The borrowsrs were ordered
1o pay the Responsible Entity's costs, fixed at $24,000, by reason of the adiournment.
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Note 20 Litigation and contingent liabilities {continued)

Litigation involving borrowars of the PFMF (continued)

The Company is also party to other proceedings in s capacity as Responsible Entity for the PFMF,
however Direclars are not aware of any material liability likely to arise to the Company as 2 result of
litigation matters.

Dispute with bomower
The Company was awarded judgement for unpaid application fees due from a borrower during the
year. The bomaower subsequently appealed the ruling to the Queensiand Court of Appeal, which was
unsuccessful. The borrower has since sought leave to appeal to the High Court of Australia for which
a decision Is pending.

Tmmmmhﬁmnwmahmmmnnﬁmmmmmandhmmwiveﬂegal
advice to the effect that f the bankruptcy action is successful, the borrower will be preciuded from
pursuing his appeal. The Company is unable to determine the likely amount of the recovery should it
be successful in its action.

mmmwmmﬁmmmmmwamwmm
in any proceedings fo which the Company is a party under section 237 of the Act.

Note 21  Events subsequent to reporting date

Proposal fo replase LM invesiment Management (LM} as Responsibie Entily
Subsequaﬂhﬂeaﬂdﬂwm&gpaiﬁ,ﬂn%mlmisaﬂamdmm
mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmemm
mtamﬁ»mwmnnwmmmmmammam@
convened by cestain investors in those funds to eccur on 1 November 2012 to consider and pass
resolutions to replace LM with Trilogy Funds Management Limited as Responsibie Enrtily for the FMIF
and the CPAIF.

Appointment as Responsible Entity

A meeting was held on 4 June 2012 and resumed on 14 June 2012, to vote on a resolution to remove
APGF Management Limited (APGF) as Responsible Entity of APS Number 21 and APS Number 24
(property syndicaies), and replace them with Trilogy Funds Management Limited. Legal proceedings
were issued subsequent to the unitholder meeting.

On 9 August 2012 Justice M. Wilson made a consent order that APGF be removed as Responsible
Entity, and Trilogy Funds Management Limited be appointed Responsible Enfity for the property
syndicates subject to the following terms and conditions listed in the Note 18.

On 13 August 2012 the Company was listed on the ASIC register as Responsible Entity for both
properly syndicates.

The books and records of the Scheme were transferred o the New Responsible Entity on 17 August
2012, .

Sale of investment properiies
Canberra Pro CANPS) and the Canbemra Unit T CAN

The investment property held by the Canberra Property Syndicate was sold on 12 October 2012. The
Responsible Entity will procsed to wind-up the Scheme.
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Note 21  Events subsequent to reporting date

Sale of investment properties (continued)

. The Trilogy Heafihcare REIT (Crows Nest) :

A contract of sale for the Crows MNest property owned by Trilogy Healtheare REIT was signed on 22
October 2012, with seftlement scheduled for 30 days sfier the exchange of contracts. The
ResponsibleEnﬁywiﬁpmwedmwind-upﬂtesmemefonowhgmewﬂmmﬁoﬂhempmy.

OMhantheitamsliﬁdabwe.therehasnotariseninmeintenralbetweenmeendofﬂteﬁnancial
ywandthedateof!hisrepnnanyitem.transacﬁonoreve:tofamteﬁalandunusualnanueﬂkely,
in the opinion of the Responsible Entity, to affect significantly the operations of the Scheme, the
resuits of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Scheme, in future financial years.
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Trilogy Funds Management Limited
- Directors' declaration

The Directors' of Trilogy Funds Management Limited declare that:

() The financial statements and nofes, as set out on pages 7 to 30 are in accordance with the i
Corparations Act 2001, including;

re (0] ivmgaﬁ'ueandfairviewofmesmm'sﬂnamialpusiﬁwasatsu.lunemﬂandof

i ilsperfomtanne,fortheﬁnancia!yearendedonmatdate:and

(i complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2011;

{b) the financial report also compiles with Intemnational Financial Reporting Standards as
disclnsed in Note 1; and '

{©) Therearewasonabbgmmdsmbdewematmesmanewmbaabletopayilsdehisasand

i when they bacome due and payable,

Signed in accordance with a resolutions of the Directors of the Responsible Entity.

" Phiiip A Ryan Rodger | Bacon

P Executive Director Executive Deputy Chainnan
Dated: 31 October 2012 Dated: 31 October 2012

- Brisbane Biishbare

N
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the members of Trilogy Funds Management Limited

i
L Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying financial veport of Trilogy Funds Management Limited, which
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2012, the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity, and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the
directors’ declaration of the company.

Directors' Responsibility for the Financial Report

Thedimmammmumihlehrmemmﬁmdmﬁmcmmnmmamardfﬁrﬂew
inmmmmwﬁanmﬁmsmmmmmmmrmmm
MmMamedeMkmwmmleunmnﬁmofmeﬁmndal

£ : mtmuﬁmamwhirmtﬁaeﬂmmmhlmmmmﬁaﬂw

j J m.mm1,medimmsahnmm,inmmmswm1m

: Prmtaﬁmofﬁrmddﬁatanents,ﬂntﬁeﬁnndalmmhmﬂvﬁﬂﬂmﬁm
Financiol Reporting Standards.

Auditor's Responsibility

mepombihmsmmmanopmmmeﬁmdalrepmhasedmwaﬁLWemedw
o auditinammnwmmmﬁanmﬁﬁngsmds.mmmﬂmﬂmwemmﬁywim
Ll MmﬂlmﬁmmﬁwmamwmedMMthm

reasmahleassnameabwtwhahermeﬁnmdalmponisﬁeemmmtmissmanm.

_ An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
i the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.
v In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company's
L preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpase of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s intemal control. An audit also snctudes evaluating the appropriteness
of accounting poticies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for cur audit opinion.

independence

- In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations

- Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which
has been given to the directors of Trilogy Funds Management Limited, would be in the same terms if
given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.

[ BDO Autit Pty Lid ABN 33 134 022 670 {3 & member of & national asociation of independent entities which are all merbersof BOG Austratia Lid ABN 77 030
110 275, an Australfan campany iimited by guarantee, BGO Audit Py Ltd and 800 ustiratia Lid are members of A0 Inbenmtional Ltd, a WK cempany timited
by guarantee, and form past of the 1 800 network of indepenelont member (Ems, Lisbility timited by 3 scheme approved undes Professianal

Standards Logistation {other than for the acts ar omissfens of finanelal services Hoensaes; in each State or Tarritory siher than Tasmania.
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Opinion
In our opirion:

{a) the financial report of Trilogy Funds Management Limited is in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:
] {i givingatrueandfalrviewofmeccmpany'sﬁnandalposiﬁonasatmmmﬂandufits
performance for the year ended on that date; and ‘
! (i) complying with Austratian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Reguiations 2007; and

{b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Stendards as disclosed in
Note 1.

BDO Audit Pty Ltd

Boo
B

Brisbane, 31 Cctober 2012

B0 Audit Py L AN 31 134 012 870 is @ ter of n | 2358 nﬂnﬂepeadmlemll.lvrh!dlmallmmni BOO Augtratia itd ABR 77 050
110275, an Australian company {ited by guarantec, BDO Audit Pty L4d and BOO Australia Lid are svembers of BDO Intermational Ltd, a UK company limited
by ot and famn part of the international BBO network of independent mombar firms. Liability tmited by 8 schewe approved vnder Prafessions!
Standards Legtslation {tier than for the acts or omissions of finaacial sorvices Heensees) In each State o1 Territory other than Tasmania.
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Directors' report

The Directors of Trilogy Funds Management Limited (Responsible Entity), the Responsible Entity
of the Pacific First Mortgage Fund (Scheme), present their report together with the financial
statements of the Scheme for the six months ended 31 December 2012 and the auditor’s report
thereon. '

Responsible Entity
The Responsible Entity is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The registered office and
principal place of business of the Responsible Entity and the Scheme is:

Brisbane Club Tower
Level 10
241 Adelaide Street, Brishane, Queensland

Directors
The names of the directors in office at any time during, or since the end of the period are:
Name Position

Robert M Willcocks Independent Non-Executive Chairman
Rodger | Bacon Executive Deputy Chairman

John C Bamry Executive Directar

Philip A Ryan Executive Director and Company Secretary
Rohan C Butcher Non-Executive Director

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless
otherwise stated.

Review of operations

The net loss atiributable to unitholders for the six months ended 31 December 2012, after
impaimment losses of $9,218,143 (31 Dec 2011: $78,058,320) totalled $6,514,123 (31 Dec 2011:
loss $88,745,917). The impairment losses of $9,218,143 (31 Dec 2011: $78,058,320) comprise
impairments of interest receivable of $5,364,289 (31 Dec 2011: $13,464,457), mortgage loan
impairments of $3,846,001 (31 Dec 2011 $64,469,873) and investment property impairments of
$7,853 (31 Dec 2011: $123,920).

The impairment losses relate to an analysis of impaired mortgage loans during the period and at
balance date to reflect the fair value of mortgage loans and interest receivable of those loans.
These impairment losses represent estimates of losses that may be incurred based on @ number
of assumptions including amounts that may be received upon repayment or sale of the security
properties and the period until funds are retumed. In the current economic climate there is
uncertainty as to the amount that could be realised on the sale of security properties, and the
time it may take o achieve a sale. Accordingly, actual impairment losses incurred may differ
significantly from these estimates. '

Retum of capital fo unitholders

The Responsible Entity made a further return of capitai to unitholders during the period totalling
$6,593,421 ($0.0075 per unit) (31 Dec 2011: $8,844,108).

Finance facility with Commonwealth Bank of Australia ("CBA')

In order fo maintain the covenants of the Facility Agreement, the Scheme was required to repay
$9,000,000 during the reporting period. The balance of the facility at 31 December 2012 was
$10,000,000 (30 Jun 2012: $19,000,000).
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Directors' report

Events subsequent to the end of the reporting period

Finance facility with CBA
The finance facility with the CBA expired on the 28 February 2013. The Responsible Entity has
successfully negotiated a further extension of the facifity. The key terms of the extension are as
follows:

* payment of a $100,000 principal reduction;

* expiry 28 August 2013; :

* 75% of settiement proceeds to be applied to repayment of the CBA facility;

« suspension of further capital repayments, distributions and redemptions in the absence of

CBA's prior wriften consent: and
* reduction of the CBA facility to $6,000,000 by 29 March 2013.

Following the above and other principal reductions made by the Responsible Entity, the remaining
debt under the CBA facility stands at $6,642,604 as at the date of this report.

Sale of securily

Setflement of a residual security forming part of a morigage asset has been effected on 28
February 2013. Net proceeds received totalled $3,716,722 of which $2,787,541 has been applied
to the principal debt pursuant to the CBA finance facifity. '

Other than the items noted above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the
reporting period and the date of this report, any ftem, transaction or event of a material and
unusual nature Ekely, in the opinion of the Responsible Endity, to affect significantly the operations
of the Scheme, the results of those operations, or the state of affeirs of the Scheme, in future
financial periods.

Auditor's independence declaration

The Auditor's independence declaration is set out on page 3 and forms part of the Directors’

. report for the six months ended 31 December 2012.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors of the Responsible Entity.

(%~ Mo

F

Philip A Ryan Roger I Bacon

Executive Director Executive Deputy Chairman
Dated: 14 March 2013 Dated: 14 March 2013
Brisbane Brisbane
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund

interim statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Revenue and other income

Interest revenues - mortgage loans

Interest revenue - cash and cash equivalents
Fees income - mortgage loans

Rental income

Total revenue and other income

Expenses
Auditor's remuneration

Direct property expenses and outgoings
Impairment expense:

» Trade and other receivables

« Investment property

« Investment in financial assets - mortgage loans
Legal fees

Other expenses

Responsible Entity management fees

Loss from operating activities before finance costs

Finance costs:
« Amortisation of loan transaction costs

= Interest expense
Loss attributable to unitholders
Other comprehensive income:

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss for the period

Note 31Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

4

6

9(a)

$ $
5,364,200 12,765,536
118,002 122,624

- 30,257

- 3,189
5.482,292 12,921,608
(79,920)  (78,173)

. 484

(5,366,289) (13,464.457)
(7,853)  (123,990)
(3,845,001) (64,469,873)
(1,297,686)  (23,005)
(283,769)  (185,901)
652,429) (2,082,026)
11,531,947) (30,436,941
(6,049,655) (67,515,335)

(39,589)  (125,343)

(424,879) (1,105,239)

(464,468) (1,230,582)

6,514,123) (68,745,91

8,514,123} (68,745,91

The Interim statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes fo the financial statements.

4
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund

interim statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2012

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Mortgage loans

Investment property
Total assets

Liabilities

Trade and other payables

Borrowings

Total liabilities (excluding liabilities attributable to
unitholders) ,

Net assets attributable to unitholders

Total liabilities

4
6
5

7

31 Dec 2012 30 Jun 2012

$ - §
2,790,632 9,527,617
17,892 23,430
111,667,003 126,870,947
- 217,500

114,475,527 136,639,494

901,826
19,000,000

845,402
10,000,000

10,845,402 19,801,826

103,630,125 116,737,668

The Interim statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes fo the

financial statements.

5
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Interim statement of cash flows
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest received - morigage loans

interest received - financial institutions
Responsible entity fees and other costs paid
Borrowing costs paid

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating
activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Mortgage loan funds advanced

Mortgage loan funds repaid

Acquisition of investment property

Proceeds from sale of investment property

Refund of deposit - investment property

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings

Payments for return of capital

Payments for redemption of units

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 July
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011
$ $

- 231,154

129,722 102,611
(2,266,788)  (2.836,154)
(506,954)  (1,402,895)
(2,644,020)  (3.905,284)
(2,094,038) (7,387,794)
13,384,845 20,147,621
- (3.102)

208,647 -

- 41,250
11,500,456 21,797,975
(9,000,000} (2,900,000)
(6,583,421) (8,844,108)
= (500!000)
(15,593,421) (12,244,106)
(6,736,985) 5,648,585
9,527,617 1,312,625
2,790,632 6,961,210

The interim statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial

statements.

6
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 1 Reporting entity

The Paciiic First Mortgage Fund (Scheme) is a registered managed investment scheme under the
Corporatioris Act 2001 (Act). The Scheme was constituted on 23 June 1998 and will terminate on 23 June
2078 uniess terminated in accordance with the Constitution. The financial report of the Scheme is for the six
months ended 31 December 2012. ,

The Scheme prepared a consolidated financial report for the year ended 30 June 2012, incorporating its
controlled entity. Due to a change in strategy regarding the Scheme's investment properly (Refer Note 5),
there was no longer a requirement to operate a separate entity. As a result the Responsible Endity,
deregistered its controlled entity. The Scheme is no longer required to prepare consolidated financial reports.

Note 2 Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance _

The interim financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with
AASB 134 Interim Financiat Reporting and the Act.

The interim financial report does not include all of the information required for a full Annual financial report, and
should be read in conjunction with the annual financial report of the Scheme as at and for the year ended 30
June 2012.

The interim financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical cost maodified by
the revaluation of selected non-current assets, and financial assets and financia! liabilities for which the fair
value basis of accounting has been applied.

(b) Keyassumptions and sources of estimation

The preparation of Interim financial report requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future period affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying
accounting policies that have most significant effect on the amounts recognised are disclosed in:

» Note 3(a): Material uncertainty regarding going concem;
« Note 4: impairment losses (interast receivable); and
¢ Note 5: impairment losses (mortgage loans).

Note3  Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies and methods of computation applied by the Scheme in this interim financial report are
the same as those appiied by the Scheme for the year ended 30 June 2012.

(a) Material uncertainty regarding going concern

The financial report has been prepared on a going concem basis, which contempiates the continuation of
normal business operations and the reafisation of assets and settlement of liabiliies in the normal course of
business.

During the six months ended 31 December 2012:

* Al parties who had borrowed from the Scheme continue to be unable to repay or refinance existing
mortgage loans due for repayment during the period, resulting in expected cash inflows to the Scheme not
being received as anticipated;

» City Pacific Limited (Receivers and Managers Appointed) (In Liquidation) {Former Responsible Entity), the
former responsible entity of the Scheme, cancelled income distributions to unitholders in July 2008. As a
result, no income distributions were paid during the period,

« As disclosed in Notes 4, 5 and 6, the Scheme recognised impairment losses of $9.218,143 (31 Dec 2011:

$78,058,320);
7

288



Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

" Note 3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

1

(a) Material uncertainty regarding going concern (continued)
e In October 2008 the Former Responsible Entity resolved that the Scheme was a “non-liquid” registered
managed investment scheme in accordance with the Scheme's Constitution and the Act. As a resuit no
redemptions were paid by the Scheme to unitholders from this date until the end of the current reporting

period;

« Pursuani to the terms of the Scheme's finance facility, $9,000,000 (31 Dec 2011: $2,900,000) was repaid
during the period. The repayment was required to ensure the Scheme maintained the facility's covenants;

« Retum of capital payments totalling $6,593,421 (30 Jun 2012: $26,426,561) were repaid to unitholders;
and

* Hardship redemptions totalling $nil (31 Dec 2011: $500,000) were paid to qualifying applicants.

' ‘T'he Directors of the Responsible Entity have prepared the financial statements on a going concem basis, as it

is their intention to:

. Seek an extension to the facility pending the realisation of sufficient cash to repay the residual debt of
$10,000,000 as at the balance date (the extension of the facility untit 28 August 2013 has been formalised
and the residual debt reduced to $6,642,694 subsequent to the reporting date, refer Notes 7 and 12);

. Recommence the retum of capital payments fo unitholders subject to the Scheme having sufficient
Equidity;

e Continue fo fund the maintenance and improvement (where appficable) of security properties in order fo
facilitate the sale of completed properties; and

« Continue, subject fo market condifions, io dispose of saleable Scheme assets in a timely & structured
fashion.

' | The Responsible Entity has prepared cash flow projections that support the Scheme’s ability to meet financial

fiability repayments, and continue funding the maintenance and improvement (where applicable) of security

. properties.
. To continue as a going concem, it will be necessary for the Scheme to:

* Continue the existing finance arrangements with its financier; and
e Realise sufficient cash funds from the repayment or refinancing of mortgage loans to:

- Seek an extension to the facility pending the realisation of sufficient cash to repay the residual debt
of $10,000,000 as at the balance date (the extension of the facility until 28 August 2013 has been
formalised and the residual debt reduced to $6,642,694 subsequent to the reporting date, refer Notes
7 and 12);

- Fund costs associated with the maintenance and improvement (where applicable) of security
properties to facilitate their timely realisation;

- Recommence the retum of capital to unitholders; and

- Fund all other costs associated with the operation of the Scheme.

. in the unlikely event of the above matiers proving unsuccessful, there exists material uncertainty that may cast
“ significant doubt on the Scheme’s ability to continue operating as a going concern. This could result in Scheme

L

having to realise its assets and extinguish its liabikities other than in the ordinary course of business, and at
amounts different from those stated in the financial statements. No adjustment for such eventuality has been
made in the financial statements due to its unlikelihood in light of the Scheme's current projections.
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 4 Trade and other receivables 31 Dec 2012 30 Jun 2012
. $ $

Interest receivable - mortgages 93,735,841 118,760,876
Impairment losses : (93,735,841) (118,760,876)
Interest receivable - financial institutions 7.007 18,726
Other receivables : 10,885 4,704
17,892 23,430

(a) Impaired receivables
At 31 December 2012, as part of the annual balance date review procedures the Scheme recorded impairment
losses in respect of interest receivable of $5,364,289 (30 Jun 2012: $23,701,366) for the period. During the

. period the repayment of & (30 Jun 2012: 9) morigage loans resulted in reafised impairment losses of

$30,389,324 (30 Jun 2012: $29,965,178) in respect of interest receivable.

Movement in the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows:

Opening  Charge for Amounts Closing
balance  the period written off balance
31 Dec 2012 $ $ $ $
Interest receivables - morigages 118,760,876 5,384,289 (30,389,324 83,735,841
118,760,876 5364289 (30,389,324) 93,735,841
30 Jun 2012
Interest receivables - morigages 195,024,688 23,701,366 (29.965178) 118.760,876

125,024,688 23,701,366 !29,965,178! 118,760,876

In assessing whether interest receivable may be impaired, the Responsible Entity's considerations included but
were not limited to:

Valuations of security properties completed by registered valuer fisted on the Scheme's panef;
Appraisals from real estate agents;

Aciual sale prices realised on completed projects;

Recent offers to purchase security properties arising out of marketing campaigns;

Current market conditions as at 31 December 2012;

Status of individual loans; and

Estimated time to realise morigage loans and interest receivable.

These impairment losses represent estimates of losses that may be incumed based on a number of
assumptions including amounts that may be received upon repayment of the loan or sale of the security
property and the period in which funds are returned. In the current economic conditions there is uncertainty as
to the amount that could be realised on the sale of security properties, and the time it may fake to achieve a
sale. Accordingly, actual impairment losses may differ significantly from these estimates.

The Responsible Entity considers that, based on evidence available as at 31 December 2012, the net impaired
interest on remaining mortgage loans should be recovered in full and accordingly no further impairment losses

have been recorded.

Property markets

The ongoing volatility in Australia’s property markets may negatively impact asset values in the future,
however, these financial statements set out the financial position as at the reporting date based on available

evidence and accounting estimates.

it is common knowledge that the property market throughout Australia and particularly in south east
Queensland has been very difficuit in recent times and particularly over the past 4 years.
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 4 Trade and other receivables (confinued)
(a) Impaired receivables (confinued)

Property markets (continued)
In the case of undeveloped land {rural or urban) and finished apariment buildings, there has been

extraordinary weakness and very low fransaction volumes, with some transactions exhibiting severely
distressed sale values.

In carrying out the duties of Directors of the Responsible Entity under the Act, it is necessary to form a view of
the value of the assets of the Scheme, and to increase the impairment provisions where the Directors consider
that would be a prudent course when reporting to unitholders.

In this process the Directors seek and obtain the views of the Investment Manager of the Scheme (Balmain
Trilogy Investment Management Pty Ltd) as it is they who have a good understanding of such assets and the
markets in which they may be transacted.

These views take into account the plans for orderly realisation of assets and the stated policy of 'no fire sales
of assets'.

On a regular basis or when circumstances are deemed to require it, the Directors also seek independent
professional valuation reports to assist in forming their views on the fair values of the relevant assets.
However, it must be recognised that establishing values in markst conditions such as have prevailed in the last
year can be a very difficult exercise. This is especially so if the assets are unusual or unique, such as those
assets secured by property at Martha Cove.

Note 5 Investment property 31 Dec 2012 30 Jun 2012
$ $

‘Balance as at 1 July 217,500 511,159
' Acquisitions - management rights 3,500 -
Less: Impaiment losses - management rights (3,500) (27,807)
Refund of deposit - (16,500)
Acquisitions - residential apartment 520 642
Sale - reskiential apartment A (213,667) -
Less: impairment losses - residential apartment ‘ {4,353) (96,182)
Refund of deposit - (24,750)
Balance as at 31 December : - 346,562

The Investment Manager recommended that the Scheme acquire a residential apartment with a strategy to
gradually gain control over the entire complex (in which the Scheme held a number of apartments as security
for a morigage loan) with the intention of capitalising on the potential development opportunity presented by
the site, in order to maximise the recovery 1o unitholders. The Scheme paid a deposit to acquire an additional
apartment, as well as the management rights over the entire complex.

Subsequent fo the proposed acquisition of the additional apariment and the management rights, the south east
Queensland property market experienced further significant deterioration, which no longer made the
Investment Manager's sirategy feasible. As a consequence, the apartment held by the Scheme was placed on
the open market and sold, with settlement occurring on 17 September 2012. The planned acquisition of the
additional apartment and management rights were aborted and the deposit monies returned to the Scheme.

10

291



"

3

 Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 6 investment in financial assets

Mortgage loans 31Dec 2012 30 Jun 2012
Held directly: $ $
Mortgage loans (i) 390,393,338 542,722 310
Impairment [osses . (278,726,335) (415,851,363)
: 111,667,003 126,870,947
Maturity analysis o
Not longer than 3 months 390,393,338 542,722 310
Longer than 3 months but less than 12 months - -
Total morigage loans before impairment ' 390,393,338 542,722 310

(i) All loans are secured by registéled first and second mortgages and secured over real property in Australia.

As at 31 December 2012, as part of the balance date review procedures, the Scheme recorded impairment
losses in respect of morigage loans of $3,846,001 (30 Jun 2012: $120,231,589) for the period. During the
period, 6 mortgage loans (30 Jun 2012: 9) were repaid in full or in part from the sale of underlying security
properties or refinance, resulting in realised impairment losses of $140,971,029 (30 Jun 2012: $71,954,721) in
respect of mortgage loans.

Movement in the provision for impairment of mortgage loans is as follows:

Opening  Charge for Amounts Closing
balance theyear  written off balance
31 Dec 2012 S $ $ $
Mortgage loans 415,851,363 3,846,001 (140,071,029) 278,726,335
415,851,363 3,846,001 (140,971,029) 278,726,336

30 Jun 2012
Morigage loans 367,574,485 120,231,589 1,054,721) 415,851,363

367,574,495 120,231,589 1,954,721) 415,851,363

{a) Impaired mortgage loans
In assessing whether morigage loans may be impaired, the Responsible Entity considerations inciuded but
were not limited to: , ‘

Valuations of security properties completed by registered valuers listed on the Scheme's panetl;
Appraisals from real estate agents;

Actual sale prices realised on completed projects;

Recent offers to purchase security properties arising out of marketing campaigns;

Current market conditions as at 31 December 2012;

Status of individual loans; and

Estimated time fo realise mortgage loans and interest receivable.

The provision for impairment losses represents estimates of losses that may be incurred based on a number of
assumptions, including amounts that may be received upon repayment of the loan or sale of the security
property and the period in which funds are recovered. In the current economic conditions there is uncertainty
as to the amount that could be realised on the sale of security properties, and the fime it may take o achieve a
sate. Accordingly, actual impairment losses incurred may differ significantly from these estimates.

The Responsible Entity considers that, based on evidence available as at 31 December 2012, and subject fo
market conditions, all unimpaired principal on remaining morigage loans should be recovered in full and
accordingly no further impairment losses have been recorded.

1
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 6 Investment in financial assets (continued)
(a) Impaired mortgage loans (continued)
Property markets

“* The ongoing volatility in Australia’s property markets may negatively impact asset values in the future,

i‘ evidence and accounting estimates.

however, these financial statements set out the financial position as at the reporting date based on available

!

It is common knowledge that the property market throughout Austrafia and particularly in south east

1 Queensiand has been very difficult in recent times and particularly over the. past 4 years.

. In the case of undeveloped land or finished apartments, there has besn exiraordinary weakness and very low

transaction volumes, some fransactions have exhibited the characteristics of very distressed sale values.

in carrying out the duties of Directors of the Responsible Entity under the Act, it is necessary to form a view of
the value of the assets of the Scheme, and to increase the impairment provisions where the Directors consider
that would be a prudent course when reporting to unitholders.

In this process the Directors seek and obtain the views of the Investment Manager of the Scheme as it is they
who possess a good understanding of such assets and the markets in which they may be transacted.

These views take into account the plans for orderly realisation of assets and the stated policy of ‘no fire sales
of assets’.

On a regular basis or when circumstances are deemed fo require it, the Directors also seek independent
professional valuation reports fo assist in forming their views on the fair values of the relevant assets.

' However, it must be recognised that establishing values in markst conditions such as have prevailed in the last

year can be a very difficult exercise. This is especially so if the assets are unusual or unique, such as those
assets secured by properly at Martha Cove.
Note 7 Borrowings

31 Dec 2012 30 Jun 2012
Finance facility (Commoercial bills) $ $

Multi option facility 10,000,000 19,000,000
10,000,000 19,000,000

'+ The details of borrowings as at 31 December 2012 are set out below:

Facility 31  Utilised 31 Facility 30  Utilised 30

" Facillty Secured Maturitydate  Dec2012  Dec2012  Jun2012  Jun2012
A $ $ $

Mutti option facil Yos — 26/02/2073 10,000,000 10,000,000 __ 19,000,000 19,000,000
Total borrowings ____ — 10,000,000 19,000,000

Tota g .
The facility is secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets of the Scheme, providing the financier

-+ with first priority over Scheme assets. The interest charged on the facility is variable and is 5.66% p.a. (30 Jun
. 2012: 6.13% p.a.) at 31 December 2012. The rate includes a margin of 2.50% p.a. (30 Jun 2012: 2.50% p.a.).

Principal reductions o the loan have been made as required during the period to maintain the facilifies loan

. . covenanis.
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 8 Net asset value per unit

31 Dec 2012 30 Jun 2012
Ordinary Contributed Accumulated Ordinary Confributed Accumuilated
units Capital Profit units Capiial Profit
No $ $ No $ $
Balance at the
beginning of the '
reporting period 879,122,759 814,005,922 116,737,668 884,410,563 841 888,392 273,205,601
Units issued:
Units redeemed - - - (5287.804) (1,265908) (1,255,809)
Return of capital - (6,593,421) (6,593,421) - (26,426,561) (26,426,561)
Total
comprehensive
income for the year - - (6,514,123) - - (128,785.463)
Balance at the end '
of the reportin
perioed poring 879,122,759 807,412,501 103,630,125 879,122,759 814,005,922 116,737,668
The net asset value per unit are:
Cents per unit as at 30 June 2012 0.13
Cents per unit as at 31 December 2012 0.12

Units in the Scheme entitie the unitholder to participate in distributions and proceeds on the winding up of the

' Scheme in proportion to the number of units held.

" On a show of hands each unitholder present at a meeting in person or by proxy is entitied fo one vote, and on
.- a poll each member has one vote for each doltar of the value of the total units they have in the Scheme.

, Note @ Related party transactions

(a) Transactions with related parties:
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than
those avaitable to other parties unless otherwise stated.
The following transactions occurred with the Responsible Enfity:
31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Transactions recorded in the Interim statement of profit or loss and other

. i comprehensive income $ $
- Responsible Entity management fees paid (f) (511,620) (713.,684)
' Responsible Enfity management fees payable (i) (140.809) (1,368,342)

(652,429) (2,082,026)

' Expenses reimbursed (ii} (3.949) (35)

(656,378) (2,082,061!
31 Dec 2012 30 Jun 2012

jii. Balances recorded in the Interim statement of financial position $ $

Responsible Entity management fees payable (iii) (140,809)  (1,368,342)
(140,809)  (1,368,342)

(i) The Responsible Entily is entitled fo a management fee of 1.50% p.a. (plus GST less RITC). These fees
are calculated on the total gross asset value of the Scheme. The Responsible Entity has waived a portion of
its management fee during the period in line with its commitment fo return $0.04 per unit to unitholders in April
2011 and a further $0.04 per unit in October 2011. The Responsibie Entity has excluded the unpaid portion of
the scheduled capital repayments from the gross asset value of the Scheme for purposes of calculating the
management fee; 13




Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 9 Related party transactions (confinued)
. {a) Transactions with related parties (continued):
(i) The Responsible Enfity incurs costs on behalf of the Scheme for which it is reimbursed; and

(ili} Due to the delay in a number of asset sales that were due to occur during the previous financial year, the
" Responsible Entity agreed to defer the payment of its management fee for the period 1 Sepiember 2011 to 31
- | December 2011.

Related party transactions

Ly All transactions with related parties are conducted on normal commercial ferms and conditions. There have

‘ been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables.

1 (b) Units in the Scheme held by other related parties

- As at 31 December 2012 no Directors of the Responsible Entity held units in the Scheme (30 Jun 2012: nil).

~ Note 10  Financial risk management

' . The Scheme's financial risk management objectives and policies are consistent with those disclosed in the
! Annual financial report as at and for the year ended 30 June 2012.

(a) Credit risk

.| Loans secured by property at Martha Cove
As at 31 December 2012, the Scheme had the following morigage loans and interest receivable, after

- impairment losses, secured by registered first and second mortgages over land situated at Martha Cove,
" Victoria. The recoverabiity of these loans is supported by independent valuations from registered panel
"' valuers, appraisals from real estate agents, actual sales prices realised and estimates from management in
& relation to the fair value of the security property on an orderly realisation basis.

|, Marina Cove Pty Limited (Receivers and Managers Appointed) (in Liquidation) (Marina Cove) is a 100%

owned entity by CP1- Limited (Receiver Appointed) (in Liquidation) (CP1 Limited) and the owner of various
property holdings at Martha Cove, which comprises the security for the Scheme's mortgage loans and interest

.| receivable noted above. In addition to Marina Cove there are several other property owners with land holdings

at Martha Cove, some of which having sourced financing from other financiers and provided mortgage security

1 Over same.
. . CP1 Limited, Marina Cove Pty Limited and certain other development companies holding the Scheme's

morigage security assets at Martha Cove are in breach of the finance facilities provided by the Scheme and/or
other financiers and have been placed under external administration as a result. o

The properties located at Martha Cove are held in structures that are both cumbersome and complex in nature

~ and, in some instances, involve the interests of other financiers, as well as the Scheme. Given the complex
nature of the Scheme’s exposure at Martha Cove (which is comprised of 9 separate precincts and over 123

_: allotments, the Responsible Entity undertook an intemational expressions of interest (EOI) campaign in

October 2011. The portiolio was offered on an open basis, giving the option of acquiring any, some or all of the
" constituent precincts. This strategy was aimed at generating interest from as broad a spectrum of potential
purchasers as possible and fostering competitive tension among them fo increase the prospects of a
reasonable recovery to unitholders. Several potential purchasers have indicated their interest in purchasing the
selected precincts. Negotiations continue with these short-listed pariies to procure an offer that the
Responsible Entity considers to be in the best interests of the unitholders.

The adopted carrying value of the Martha Cove securities as at 31 December 2012 is reflective of the interest
recaived to date and subsequent to the end of the reporting period (including the time value of money, costs to
hold and realise the portfolio). The terms and conditions of these offers have not been disciosed as they are
commercially sensitive and subject to further negotiations with the various parties.
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

Note 11 Litigation and contingent liabilities

Kosho & City Co a

The Responsible Entity of the Scheme is party to litigation with a borrower (Kosho Pty Lid (Receiver &
Manager Appointed)) and third party mortgagor (City Co Pty Ltd (Receiver & Manager Appointed)) alleging the
Responsible Entity breached the finance facility agreement between it and Kosho or, alternatively, the Trade
Practices Act 1974 (Cth). The maximum awardable amount for this contingent liability is estimated to be $81
million. The Responsibis Entity filed a defence denying liability in respect of this claim in June 2010.

Trial commenced in the Supreme Court of Queensiand on 24 September 2012 and on 2 October 2012 was
adjourned to 26 November 2012 for 2 additional days, culminating with the Responsible Entity putting forth its
case. The Responsible Entity filed and served its written submissions on 7 December 2012 and on 20
February 2013 filed writien submissions in reply to those filed by the Kosho interests.

The parties' closing oral submissions were listed to be heard by Justice Applegarth on 2 March 2013 but were
adjourned to 28 March 2013 at the request of the Kosho parties and notwithstanding the Responsible Entity's
objection fo that adjournment.

Although difficult to predict in the absence of any indication by the Court, judgment may be handed down in the
period June to August 2013.

Federal Court proceedings against former CPL directors and afficers

The Responsible Entily is pursuing a claim against Messrs Philip Sullivan, Thomas Swan, Stephen McCormick
and lan Donaldson, former credit committee members and directors of the Former Responsible Entily, in the
Federal Court of Australia.

The $60 million claim was filed on 27 April 2012 and alleges breaches by the former directors and officers of
their statutory duties under the Act. At the centre of the claim are loans provided by the Former Responsible
Entity to borrowing entities Bullish Bear Holdings Pty Ltd (Receiver and Manager Appointed) and Atkinson
Gore Agricultural Ply Lid (Receivers and Managers Appointed) (In Liquidation) between 2006 and 2009, which
resulted in substantial losses o the Scheme. -

in September 2012 Mr McCormick (third respondent, first cross-claimant) lodged an application to have his
cross claim determined in full prior and separately to the hearing of the Responsible Entity’s claim. Mr
McCormick's motion, which the Responsible Entity opposed, claimed that he ought to be indemnified by the
Responsible Entity for legal costs he incurred in defending its claim against him, at least until the claim is
determined.

., On 26 February 2013 Mr McCormick's application was dismissed by Justice Emmett, who ordered Mr

McCormick to pay the Responsible Entity's legal costs pertaining to that application. Following the Court's
dismissal of the application, a trial date may be allocated at the upcoming directions hearing on Thursday, 14

March 2013, subject to:
(i) a further application which may be brought by the defendants to have the proceedings moved io the

Supreme Court of Queensland (and heard together with another action); and
(ii) the schedule and convenience of the Court, particularly given that a triai judge has not yet been appointed
in Justice Emmett's place following his appointment to the NSW Court of Appeal effective 7 March 2013.

The Directors are not aware of any material liability likely to arise to the Scheme as a result of litigation matters.
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund
Notes to the interim financial statements
For the six months ended 31 December 2012

" Note12 Events subsequent to reporting date

Finance facility with CBA’

.- The finance facility with the CBA expired on the 28 February 2013. The Responsible Entity has successfully
_negotiated a further extension of the facility. The key terms of the extension are as follows;

« payment of a $100,000 principal reduction;

e expiry 28 August 2013;

* 75% of settlement proceeds to be applied to repayment of the CBA facility;

« suspension of further capital repayments, distributions and redemptions in the absence of CBA's prior
written consent: and

* reduction of the CBA facility to $6,000,000 by 29 March 2013.

. | Following the above and other principal reductions made by the Responsible Entity, the remaining debt under

the CBA facility stands at $6,642,694 as at the daie of this report.

~ Sale of security ‘
" geitlement of a residual security forming part of a mottgage asset has been effected on 28 February 2013. Net

proceeds received totalled $3,716,722 of which $2,787,541 has been applied to the principal debt pursuant to
the CBA finance facility.

Other than the items noted above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the reporting period
and the date of this report any item, fransaction or event of a material and unusual nature Rkely, in the opinion
of the Responsible Entity, to affect significantly the operations of the Scheme, the results of those operations,
or the state of affairs of the Scheme, in future financial periods.
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Pacific First Mortgage Fund -
Directors' declaration

in the opinion of the Directors of Trilogy Funds Management Limited, the Responsible Entity of
Pacific First Morigage Fund (Scheme).

(a) The attached financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 4 to 16, are in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (the Act), inluding;

giving a true and fair view of the Scheme's financial position as at 31 Decemnber 2012
@ and of its performance for the half year ended on that date: and ‘
(i) complying with Accounting Standard AASB 134 Inferim Financial Reporting and the
Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting
requirements; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Scheme will be able to pay its debis as
and when they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

(%5~ v~

L

Philip A Ryan Rodger | Bacon

Executive Director Executive Deputy Chairman
Dated: 14 March 2013 Dated: 14 March 2013
Brisbane Brisbane
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Tel: +61 7 3237 5999 Level 18, 300 Queen St

Fax: +61 7 3221 9227 Brishane QLD 4000,

wiww,bdo.com,.au GPO Box 457 Brisbane QLD. 4001
' ' ) Austratia

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REVIEW REPORT
which-comprisesthe statement of Tibancial nosition'as at 3 Decomber hestatementof profiter
1655 andwther comprehensive incoms; siatement:of-cash-Howsfor the'hatfryearended on that-date,

\f-yeai-filianesal fepon con

Indepandence

in-conducting our review, we have-complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2007. We confirm £hat the independence declaration required by#the Corporations Act: 2007, which
has béeii given to the directers.of the respensible entity; would be irvthe same terms if given to the
directors of the responsible entity as at the tifme of this atiditai's veview report.

BDO Audit Pty Ltd ABM 33 134 022 870 is a member of a national association af independent entitfes which are all members af 800 Australia Ltd ABH 77 050
110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee, BDO Audit Pry Ltd and DO Australia Ltd are members of BDO intermational Etd, a UK campany timited
by guarentao, and form part of the internationzi BEO netwsorlc of independent member firms. Liability imited by-t-seheme approved under Professional
Standards Legistation [other than far the acts or omissions of tinancial services licensees) in each Stata or Territary other than Tasmania.
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Conclusion

Based on our review, which is net an audit, we have not begome aware of any matter that makes us

believe ihat the half-year financial report of the P PacificFirst. Mmtgage Fund is:not-inaccordarce-with

he-Corporations-Act. 2001 including:
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8OO Audit Pty Lid ABH 33 134022 870 is a member of a nationa| assactation of independent entities which are all members of BOO Australa Ltd ABIE 77 050
110275, an Australianc limited by 800 Audit Pty Ltd and BDO Austrelia Ltd are members of BDO Interational Ltd, Ui cempany [imited
by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO netviork af independent member firms. Liability lmited by a scheme approved under Professional
Staridards Legislation {other than for the acts or amissions of financial servicas licensees} in gach State o Territory ather than Tasmania.
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Emphasis ‘of Matter - Material Uncertainty Rgggm‘ing ﬁpnhnﬁaﬁqn asa Gmng Concern

yearﬁnan@al FePEl‘t ' ; e
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Brisbane, 128 e 2013

800 Audit Pty Ltd ABM 33 |34 022 870 is 2 member of a nationat association of indeperident entities which are ail members of BOD Australia Lid ABH 77 050
§10 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BOO Audtt Pty Ltd and 800 Austraiia Ltd are members of BOD Internatioral Lid, a UK company {imited
by guarantee, and form part of the internatisnal BDO n tk o ber firms. Liabitity timited by a scheme approved under Professional
Skandards Lesislatton jother thaa for the acts or umissmns of ffnannal services licenseas) in each State ar Territory other than Tasmania,
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8974 - LM Investment Management Pty L.td

l‘G_DM140

Statement of Position 30-Apr-13
Estimated Realisable
Values
$
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash at Bank
LMIM general account 231,533.93
LAIM - MIF 506,507.00
LMIM Rent Acct 1,688.20
Cash Assets 739,729.13
Intercompany Loans .
LM Administration Pty Ltd 775,000.00
LM Administration Pty Lid Nil
IC-LM - Dubai Nil
IC-LM HK Nl
1C-LM UK Nil
Intercompany ' 775,000.00
Current Asseis 1.514.729.13
Non Current Assets
Invesiments
16222 Investment-38 Cavill Av P'ship 2,046,000.00
17200 20 Albaiross Ave ~ 685,000.00
16223 Shares in L.MIM Dubai (LM FZE) Nil
16224 Shares in LM!M Hong Kong Lid Nil
16225 Shares in LMIM NZ Lid Nit
16226 Shares in LMIM UK Lid Nil
Non Current Assels 2,731,000.00
TOTAL ASSETS 4,245,729.13
VA LIABILITIES
LMA Service costs incuired 720,514.00
LMA service costs accrued 403,298.00
Other trading costs incurred and outstanding 195,867.00
Legal Fees to be determined
Remuneration to be determined
Out of Pockets to be determined

Funds Available for Priority Creditors

Less Priority Creditors
Wages & Super

Funds Available for Unsecured Creditors

Unsecured Creditors

to be determined

to be determined

6,000.00

to be determined

1,071,101.00
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Surplus/(Deficit)

to be determined
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